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Sales Revenue

($ rnillion)
$7.41 3

e s o

;

02 03 04 05 06

Total Shareholder
Retum {cumulative annual)

132

02 03 04 05 06

Note: For alf graphs, 2005 and 2008 reported under AIFRS. Prior years as previously reported (i.e. unadjusted for the change to AIFRS).

Eamings Before Interest
and Tax {$ million)

$152.4

06

Paper Sales Volume
{000 tonnes)

4,248

02 03 04 05 08

In this Report. currency is in Australian doflars unless otherwise indicated.

Profit from Ordlinary
Activities after Tax ($ million)

$65.4

Number of Employees
{full time equivalents}

9,67|2

02 03 04 05 06
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: PaperlinXiLimited|and controlied entities !
. ” |
Year ended 30 June 2006 2005 % change I !
1 Sales revenue ] Em 74127 7.574.1 (2)! :
Earnings from ordinary activities before interest, income tax, amortisation and depreciation  $m 257.1 293.0 {12}
Earnings from ordinary activities before interest and income tax Fm 1524 180.1 {15)
Profit from ordinary activities before iax $m 873 111.6 (22|,
Profit from ordinary activities after income tax (excluding ATC) $m 65.4 89.6 27!,
Profit from ordinary activities after income tax (including ATC) $m 65.4 166.6 (61)
Key Ratios
Earnings from before interest and income 1ax 1o average funds employed % 8.2 6.7
Working capital to sales % 16,5 16.1
Operating cash flow $m 258.8 2734
Net interest cover (times) X 2.3 26
Net debt/Net debt and equity % 36.0 359
Earnings per share (excluding ATC) cps 14.7 20.1
Earnings per share {including ATC) cps 14.7 37.3
Dividend per share cps 10.0 255 i
Note: In this staternent, currency is in Australian dollars unless otherwise indicated. ! ‘
2005 results included a one-off benelit of 377 million from entering the Australian Tax Consolidated regime (ATC).
] : ’ B Operating|Earnings JRR Sales Revenue o
' Jun2006 Jun2005 Jun2006 Jun2005 Jun 2006  Jun 2005 J
$m $m sm Sm $m $m [,
Industry Segments
!
Paper Merchanting ‘
* Australasia 270 311 1,230 1,278 508 532 |
* Europe 1235 133.8 4,565 4,867 2,187 2,140 |
* North America 39.9 29.2 1,145 890 569 382
Total Paper Merchanting (1) | 1904 | 1947 6,930 7,035 3261 | 3084]|
« Communication Papers (9.4) 21 674 700 635 623!]
* Packaging Papers 5.3 10.0 242 243 298 292
Total Australian Paper 2 (4.1) 12.1 96)] ea3| s3] a5,
Corporate and Other @l el 95 | 101 122 13!
Operating earnings befare interest and income tax (EBIT) | ib2.4 | 180.1 ] I '“
Net interest (65.1) (68.5)
Income tax expense {21.9) {21.9)
Qutside equity interests 0.0 0.1) |
Inter-segment sates {528) (505) i
Unallocated assets {deferred tax assets) 74 85|
Total 654 | sosm| 7413| 7574 | 4300 | 4167

Noles:

1 2006 EBIT includes net one-off benefit of $9.4 million. 2005 EBIT one-off cost of $(9.8) rmillion, J

2 EBIT includes net one-off cost of $13.6 million.

3 Excludes benefit of entering Australian Tax consolidation regime of $77 million. g
i
I
|
I
|




CHAIRMAN'S
REPORT

#1During 2006 we either

implemented or commenced
implementing a number of
restructuring and development
programmes, which involve
investing current capital and
current eamings to provide
improved profitability and
retums for shareholders in

the longer term.?7




The 2006 results for PaperlinX have
again been negatively impacted by
adverse trading conditions in most
of our major markets. However, the
platform of businesses we have
built up over the past five years has
continued to provide some balance
with the substantial earnings from
our Paper Merchanting operations
continuing to partly ameliorate the
depressed earnings and returns from
our domestic manufacturing
operations.

The results of the past few years
demaonstrate that the paper
manufacturing and paper distribution
industries operate within a tough and
competitive global enviranment, Many
of the macroeconomic factors that
affect the demand for and prices of -
paper products are clearly outside the
control of individual companies,
including PaperlinX. However, we are
able to control how we respond to these
negative factors and take action to
restructure and reshape our businesses
to produce longerierm sustainable
returns. During 2006 we either
implemented or commenced
implementing a number of restructuring
and development programmes, which
involve investing current capital and
current earnings to provide improved
profitability and returns for shareholders
in the longer term.

Cur results for the year reflect the
significant impact of negative
maovements in key external factors,
including global oversupply of paper
caused by excess manufacturing
capacity, a continued weak US dollar
and rising input costs for itéms such
as oil and wood pulp. However, while
all sectors of our business have been
impacted to some degree by these*
external factors, our Merchanting
business has proved 1o be less volatile
an the downside and provided
significant leverage on the upside.
Qur early recognition of this factor

has influenced the strategic direction
of PaperlinX with the result that the
majority of our earnings today is being
cantributed by Merchanting businesses
we have acquired over the past four
years. With the benefit of an 11.5 per
cent return for Paper Merchanting, our
overall return on funds employed of
8.2 per cent is below our targets but in
the top quartile compared with other
global paper companies.

In responding to the current economic
challenges, we have focused on the

key areas within our control such as
operating costs, warking capital
management, logistics and strategic
supplier partnerships and also on the
development of our people. Our focus
is on impraving the returns from our
Merchanting and Manufacturing
businesses and this has involved making
some challenging decisions during
difficult econcmic and trading
conditions. However, the Board and
management have recognised that it is
impgcrtant to invest capital and earnings
now to ensure the longer-term earnings
of our businesses and 1o deliver
improved returns for our shareholders.
We have taken steps 1o strengthen our
existing businesses, to exit businesses
where we do not have competitive
advantage and te acquire businesses
that will improve our market positions
and profitability. Becent initiatives include
commencement of the substantial
project to upgrade the pulp mill and
bleach plant at Maryvale, the closure of
& paper machine at the Shoalhaven Mill,
the acquisition of Cascades Merchanting
in Canada {now catled Spicers Canaday},
the restructuring of our Merchanting
operations in the Netherlands and the
significant rationalisation of our market
delivery operations in the UK, Most of
these actions will have a negative short-
term impact on earnings but are critical
to the long-term success of PaperlinX.

As announced previously, the Board has
activated the Dividend Reinvestment
Plan {DRP) to assist shareholders to
acquire additional shares in PaperlinX
without brokerage, stamp duty or other
transaction costs. The tota! dividend for
the year of 10.0 cents per share
represents a pay-out ratio of
approximately 70 per cent of our
earnings per share.

In the governance area, we have
proposed a restructuring of the
Directors’ remuneration arrangements,
which involves terminating the existing
Non-executive Directors' retirement
scheme and adjusting cash
remuneration to compensate for this
change. This restructuring results in a
slight reducticn in the total remuneration
paid to the current Non-executive
Directors. In addition, the Board has
decided to commence progressive
retirement by Directors 10 avoid a
situation where a number of Directors

e A |

reach their retirement date at the same
time. To assist the transition of new .
Directors into PapertinX, the Board '
intends to have an overlap in tme
between the appointment of new
Directors and the retirement of existing
Directors. This process will continue
over the next few years, but the
intention is to maintain the existing
number of six Non-executive Directers ||
in the longer term. '

On behalf of the Board, | would again j
like to recognise the substantial effort |,
of our management team over the past
12 months and thank all employees far
their effort and commitment during what-
has been another difficult year. | would !
also like to acknowledge the contribution
made over the past six years by

Darryl Abotomey, our foundation Chief
Financial Officer, who retired as a
Director during the vear. i

The Board also appreciates the support
of our shareholders and other

stakeholders as we commit ourselves
to securing the long-term future of |
PaperlinX. ]

David Meiklejohn '
Chairman




MANAGING
DIRECTOR'S
REPORT

412006 was a year of
contrasts. The difficult
external environment that
has impacted our earnings

so much over the past few
years has continued, but we
are also beginning to see the
benefits from our internal
initiatives. These initiatives
are doubly important in tough
\ times; they help mitigate

W negative external impacts and
i} they release funds to support
 our future growth.”f




The theme of this Report is paper.
Paper is a wonderful material. It is
highly versatile. The paper you use
says something about both the
message and the user. Paper has been
part of mankind’s interactions for
thousands of years and is yet to be
rivalled as a way to deliver a message
or relay information.

It is made from renewable fibre sources,
it costs nothing to run once printed and
it is recyclable. Paper from a responsible
and sustainable supplier is just that, the
responsible and sustainab'e way to
deliver your message.

But the paper industry today has too
much manufacturing capacity. This has
impacted pricing and earnings, but we
are now seeing manufaciurers in key
markets recognising that the solution is
in their hands. A significant amount of
North American high-cost capacity has
been shut and European manufacturers
are starting to announce reviews and
closures.,

In this environment we have moved
strategically to reduce our volatility

by building the only true global

paper merchant from our original
manufacturing base. Our results show
that we have not been immune to the
external factors impacting our industry
and Australian manufacturing, but our
results, though well below our targets,
also show that our returns are in the top
quartile compared with our international
sector peers with substantial upside
leverage to improvements in the sector.

We have aggressively pursued a range
of strategic initiatives over the past two
vears. Benefits from these will flow into
2007 and beyond with more positive
initiatives being developed.

{ Group Results ]

The PaperlinX net profit after tax for the
2006 financial year was A$65.4 million,
down 27 per cent on last year's

A$89.6 million {(excluding the benefit of
Australian Tax Consolidation). This result
continues to reflect the structural
imbatances in global paper supply and
demand, along with sharply higher input
costs. It also includes significant one-off
restructuring and closure costs that we
have funded internally through sale of
surplus assets. These one-off costs are
investments in our future, with significant
and growing benefits to eamings in
coming vears as | will discuss later.

After a weaker first half, the underlying
result in the second half of the year
stabilised, showing a lift over the second
half of the prior year.

Group operating earnings before interest
and tax were A$152 million, down 15 per
cent on tast year. We saw weaker results
in our Australasian and UK merchanting
businesses and Australian Paper, and a
strong performance in Nerth America
and Asia reflecting our leverage to any
improvements in the external
environment. Continued focus on
expense management and working
capital helped the Company io generate
operating cash flow of A$260 million.
Working capital was A$92 million lower
than last year (excluding currency
impacts and acquisitions). Reducing
working capital from existing business
activities allows us to improve returns
and to largely fund growth of the
business internally.

While our current profits are not where
we want them to be and not at a level
that allows us to provide the level of
returns we have targeted for our
shareholders, our progress on our
internally generated opporiunities is
encouraging.

Core Operating Principles

These have provided guidance to our

people in prioritisation and decision-

making and are now clearly reflected

in the strategic initiatives identified to

strengthen our business in this difficult

environment. Our care operating

principles are;

+ Strengthen then build off existing
business platforms.

+ Productivity to provide funds to
improve sustainability and growth,

« Simplification.

Actively prioritise activities based on

value creation for our customers,

suppliers and for PaperlinX.

+ Fully leverage our global

opportunities. _

Invest in our people and their skills.

+ Compliance is mandatory.

Results oriented teamwork/success

as a team,




MANAGING DIRECTOR'S REPORT
| Key Strategic Initiatives

In this difficult external environment,
we have followed our core operating
principles to focus on the things within
our control that will build a better and
stronger Company for the long term.
Certainly we have had to address costs
and manage our spending to match our
current level of earnings, but we have
also continued to invest in our people,
our service to customers, and in
expanding in areas where we have
competitive advantages. These
investments have been funded from
reductions in working capital and the
sale of surplus assets.

The list of initiatives highlighted at the
half year is expected to add at least
A$35 million to underlying operating
earnings in 2007, and at least A$100
million in 2009, Additionally, two new
initiatives have been announced. These
initiatives, while having a one-off cost
of around A$12 million in 2007, will
contribute positively to operating
earnings beyond that and meet all of
our return criteria.

Nat all of our decisions have been either
easy or pleasant, but all have been
aligned with our strategic direction and
been important steps towards the
future. The following list shows the key
projects underway across the Group and
their current status:

rMaryvaIe Pulp - Mill Upgrade =~ ]

[ Business Performances I

On schedule, on budget

» To improve paper quality, reduce pulp
production costs, replace 80,000
tonnes of imported pulp and improve
our environmental impact by
upgrading the current pulp capacity
and bleach plant.

| Netherlands Intégration )
On plan, integration underway
* Integration of paper merchanting
businesses in the Netherlands to
realise synergies in commergial print
and packaging services.

|- The Delivery,Co {UK) |

First site operational as scheduled

* Integration of the individuel logistics
operations of UK paper merchants to
optimise cusiomer service, maximise
efficiency and minimise the
environmental impact of distribution
activities.

|European IT Platform |

First implernentation successful

* Creation of a common IT platform to
improve inventory and warehouse
control in order to improve working
capital management, deliver a range
of other synergy benefits and improve
service (0 cusiomers.

| Strategic Supplier Alliances |

Cascades Merchanting Acquisition

{Canada)° :

Complete, year three target return

already achieved {15%+}

* Build economies of scale and realise
synergies by growing Canadian
merchanting platform.

| Exit of Portuquese Market B

Completed

« Exiting small, poorly performing paper
merchanting businesses.

- Shoalhaven Mill Paper Machine

1 |
Closure -

Completed on schedule

= To improve overall operating efficiency
by replacing unprofitable products
made for the expori market at
Maryvale with products that were
previcusly manufactured on
Shoalhaven PM 1,

Progressing as expected

* Working with strategic suppliers 1o
build competitiveness and grow
volumes together,

[ New Strategic Initiatives ]

| Upgrade Maryvale Mill Paper Machine 1}

Complete, uptake improving from sfow

start

* World-class product quality to
gnhance our competitive position.

{PaperlinX Office ]
Plans initiated July 2006
* Comhining three Australian
businesses that service the office

products and stationery market in
Australia.

[ Maryvale Mill Wood Yard |
Conditional agreement reached

* Qutsourced new wouod yard facility for
Maryvale Mill in Australia to further
enhance the quality and consistency
of pulp to be produced at Maryvale's
upgraded pulp facilities.

10

| will now look at our operating
businesses individually.

Our overall Paper Merchanting business
delivered an 11.5 per cent return on
funds employed as a result of volumes
down 1 per cent, revenue down 2 per
cent, but balanced by expenses down

2 per cent and good reductions in
working capital in all regions. This return
exceeds our cost of capital.

Volumes for Australasian Paper
Merchanting were 3 per ¢ent lower than
last year, primarily due to lower volumes
in New Zealand. Market conditions
remained highly competitive, with
average prices down 2 per cent in
Australia and New Zealand. Asian prices
were up 3 per cent, with improved
earnings and market share growth,
Paper Trading was constrained in volume
due to lower exports from Australian
Paper, but still grew operating earnings.

Market conditions remained stronger

in the US than was evident in other
markets, and results in North American
Paper Merchanting reflect both that and
the benefits of internal initiatives. The
acquisiticn of Cascades Merchanting
(now called Spicers Canada) was
completed in March, and delivered
strong earnings and working capital
reductions. Retumns are currently running
at over 15 per cent, already exceeding
the target we set to achieve by the end
of year three. Kelly Paper in the US
performed well. Underlying volumes

in North America were up b per cent,
which included strong growth in
proprietary brands and sheeter volumes
{up 15 per cent). Coast Paper in Canada
has seen a particularly pleasing
improvement in performance resulting
from clear management focus despite
the Canadian market facing many of the
same macro issues seen in other
non-US markets.

European market conditions were again
mixed. Continental European countries
were somewhat more positive than in
the prior year, while the UK market
weakened as the year progressed after
a more buoyant 2005. Given the high
weighting of the UK in our Eurcpean
business portfalio, we saw overall
volumes slightly lower and both marging
and profits impacted. Continued
improvements in expenses (down

2 per cent) and working capital
reductions {(down 7 per cent excluding
acquisitions) were encouraging. Europe
will berefit in coming years from a
number of key strategic initiatives that
will buitd on the acquisition synergies
already successfully achieved.




The external pressures ¢n our paper
manufacturing business, Australian
Paper, have continued. The closure of
the number 1 paper machine at
Shoalhaven Mill is a reflecticn of our
need to make step changes in our
husiness as demanded by this
environment, and will lead to improved
returns. We are investing in areas of
competitive advantage including the
Maryvale pulp mill upgrade, the
cansotidation of Paperlinx Cffice, the
growth of our copy paper brands like
Reflex™, and in other quality upgrades.
Underlying operating earnings have
stahilised over the past three halves and,
while external costs such as oil, pulp and
chemicals have continued to rise and
remain a risk, we believe we are making
the necessary decisions to strengthen
Australian Paper. .

In addition to our internal initiatives we
will need some assistance from the
external market 1o bring Australian Paper
to an acceptable level of return.

Branding and Why We Do It |

The value proposition we offer our
customers is more than a sheet of paper.
We must be competitive on price, but
we must also help our customers to
realise the value from the suite of
services we offer beyond that sheet of
paper. lt involves quality and reliability,
a wide range, availahility and the ability
to deliver when and where needed.

It involves knowledge and technology
skills. We also have unique global
reach. All of this allows us to offer our
customers relevant and meaningful
value propositions that are represented
by our brands.

In the last year we saw growth in our
branded volume of 8 per cent, well
ahead of the market.

Qur People

How we bring together the collective
knowledge and enthusiasm of our
people will determine our long-term
success. To support our pecple and
grow their skills we must invest in them.

In 2006, we completed training for
around 300 of our most senior
managers, looking at leadership skills as
well as introducing a common approach
to building economic profit to create
value for shareholders.

We have an advanced sales training
programme underway 1o provide our
salespeople with additional tools to be
able to better define and communicate
our value propositions to our cusiomers,
and we will continue to roll out new
programmes to support the
development and growth of our people.

Workplace safety is also a key priority
for our people at PaperlinX. Qur
Sustainability Repert highlights many of
the initiatives occurring across the Group
in this area. Qur key measures of
performance in this ares, 'ost time injury
frequency rate (LTIFR) and medically
treated injury frequency rate (MTIFR),
waere down 27 per cent and 26 per cent
respectively on last year with a
particufarly good improvement in the
European businesses and with the
impact of the "Search for the Future’
initiative at our Maryvale Mitl.

(Conclusion__]

This year has been about focus.

Focus on our products. Focus on the
areas within our control. Focus on our
customers and our unique offering.

To be successful we need to be better,
Better than we are today and better than
our competition. We need to have the
best product portfolic with differentiated
products. We need simple and clear
value propositions. Our focus this year
has moved us well down this path.

While there do appear to be more
positive developments occurring within
the industry to address saome of the
structural issues | have mentioned,
husiness conditions remain challenging.
We will remain focused on delivering
the commitments to our shareholders,
suppliers. customers and our employees
that we can control.

| would like to thank my fellow
employees for the progress we have
made this year and for the courage they
have shown in looking for new ways of
doing business. The energy and
collabaration to identify and deliver
better ways of operating are increasingly
visible across the Company and
underpin our future success.

/ow- l:n;%

Thomas P Park

Managing Director and
Chief Executive Officer

)
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.




MANAGEMENT

David Lamont

Chief Financial Officer

David joined PaperlinX as
Chief Financial Officer in
February 2006 and has
worldwide responsibility for
finance, taxation, commercial,
legal, audit and business
systems. David was previously
Chief Financial Officer of

BHP Billiton's Carben Steel
Materials business and has
held a number of senicr finance
roles in the mining, chemical
and agricultural industries.

David Goldthorp

Executive General Manager,
Corporate Development

David returned 1o the position
of Executive General Manager,
Carporate Development for the
PaperlinX Group in July 2006,
Cavid previcusly held the role
of Chief Operating Officer,
Australian Paper from
September 2003 and has beld
a number of senior operational
positions during his tenure,
David's new role will support
the continued strategic
development of the Group.

Ross O'Brien

Executive General Manager,
Human Resources

Ross joined PaperlinX in

March 2003 and is responsible
for developing the Group's
worldwide human resources
and environment, safety and
health policy and strategy.

Ross has held varicus senior
executive level roles in human
resources and operational areas
in Australia, the US and Europe.

David Shirer
Executive General Manager,

. Corporate Affairs

David was appointed Exegutive
General Manager, Corporate
Aftairs in May 2004 and has
responsibility for investor
relations, external
communication including

rmedia relations, and internal
communication. David joined
PaperlinX in 2000 as Executive
General Manager, Corporate and
Investor Relations and has broad
experience in investor relations
and the finance industry.

13

* Canada. Chris has an extensive |

* positions in Australia and

Tom Park ]
Managing Director and |
Chief Executive Officer ;
Tom was appointed Managing .
Director and Chief Executive
Officer of PaperlinX Limited in
February 2004, He was
previously Chief Executive |
Officer of Goodman Fielder 1|
Limited and Chief Executive i
Officer of Southcerp Limited.
Tom has broad business i
experience in Australia, Asia,
North America and Europe.

|
i
H
i

Chris Creighton

Prasident, PaperlinX North
America

Chris was appointed
President, PapeslinX North
America in March 2001 and
has responsibility for the
aperations in the US and

background in merchanting |
and has held various senior i [

North America, -

!
Eduard de Voogd I
Chief Executive Officer,
PaperlinX Europe l
Eduard was appointed !
Chief Executive Officer, {
PaperlinX Europe in November. ;.
2003 and has responsibility !
for the growth and strategic I
direction of the Merchanting I '
businesses in Europe. Eduard !
has held a number of senior
rmarketing and management
positions in PaperlinX's .i
European operating companieifsl.
|

Group General Manager,
Merchanting Australasia
Martin was appointed Group 5 .
General Manager, Merchanting
Australasia in November 2005,
with respoensibility for Australia)
New Zealand, Asia and F‘aper!
Trading. He was previously
Regional President, UK and |
Ireland and joined the PaperlinX
Group in 2002 as Managing ||
Director of Bunzl Fine Paper in
the UK, later renamed The Paper
Compary, Martin has over ]|’
30 years of experience in Paper
Merchanting.

Martin Fothergill I

Executive General Manager,
Australian Paper !
Jim joined PaperlinX in July 2006
and has responsibility for thej/.
Australian Paper manufacturing
operations. Jim was previously
with International Paper/Carter
Holt Harvey inthe USand 1|
New Zealand. Prior to this he!
held various operational, capital
and strategic roles during his' |-
28 years in the international
pulp and paper industry.

Jim Henneberry . '
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OUR GLOBAL NETWORK OF

' 37 PAPER MERGHANTS IN
|28 COUNTRIES PROVIDES

SUPERIOR LOCAL CUSTOMER
RELATIONSHIP MANAGEMENT
COMBINED WITH THE EXPERTISE
OF A GLOBAL LEADER.




- GLOBAL PAPER
MERCHANTING
- PLATFORM

Europe

Adria Papir
Alpe papir
Axelium

Bratislvaska
papierenskd
spolocnost

Budapest Papir
BuhrmannUbbens
Caledonia

CC&CO Group
ContactHorne Paper
Deutsche Papier
DM Paper

DRiern Papier
Epacar

Finwocd Papers

Howard Smith
Paper Group

Mercator Papier
Ospap

PaperNet

PaperNet Austria
PaperNet Denrnark
Polyedra

Proost en Brandt
Robert Horne Group
The M8 Paper Group
The Paper Company
Udesen

Union Papelera

Australasia

Dalton Fine Paper
Dalton Web Papers
Spicers Office Papers
Spicers Paper
Winpac Paper

North America

Coast Paper

Kelly Paper Company
Papier Turgecn
Spicers Canada
Spicers Paper Inc




PAPER MERCHANTING
OVERVIEW AND
RESULTS

International paper markets provided
mixed opportunities for our paper
merchants in 2006, with our focus

on internal initiatives providing the
highlights for our businesses. Good
progress was made to strengthen and
grow our global platform and to
prioritise our activities in areas that
create value for our customers,
suppliers and for PaperlinX.

In a continuation of the mixed market
conditions seen over the past few years,
overall earnings before interest and tax
of A%196.4 million for Paper Merchanting
was 2 per cent lower than in the prior
year on sales revenue of A36.9 billion.
Earnings included net benefits of

$9.4 miilion from the sale of surplus
property assets, which maore than

offset one-off costs associated with a
number of the strategic initiatives and
restructurings being undertaken in the
Paper Merchanting business. Underlying
operating earnings were impacted by
lower average prices and lower volumes
in the key merchant markets of the
Netherlands, UK and New Zealand.

Cost increases, while mitigated by
management of expenses and other
internal initiatives, also impacted.

Sales Revenue
(A% millicn)

$6,930

02 03 04 05 06

Our Paper Merchanting businesses have
continued to produce sound returns in
the difficult 2006 environment, with clear
potential upside from any improvements
in market conditions. The return on
average funds employed (ROAFE) of
11.5 per cent was above our cost of
capital. Overall expenses were reduced
by 2 per cent as management made
good progress against its targets despite
the rising input costs, such as oil,
Working capital reductions have
continued to be a focus and remain an
opportunity, with all key business areas
at lower levels than a year ago. Working
capital is a measure of the amount of
money we have tied up in running our
business. Reducing working capital
results in improved returns even in
difficult markets as we become
increasingly efficient with the capital

we use. This is a key measure of our
improving productivity.

Earnings before Interest
and Tax {AS millien)

$1904

02 03 04 05" 08"

1 2005 andt 2006 ara reportad under AIFRS

We have continued to invest in our
businesses and we have funded that
growth internally through the working
capital reductions, productivity gains and
the sale of surplus assets. This growth
is seen in the acquisition of Spicers
Canada in March 2008, the ongging
growth in sales of proprietary brands,
our investment in advanced sales
training that we are rolling out across
the Group and the IT investments being
made in Europe. We are seeing
increasing momentum in Paper
Merchanting as best practice is shared
and growth initiatives are developed
across the Group.

Sales Volume
{000 tonnes)

3,813

02 03 04 05 06
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Paper
Merchanting
Europe -

Business Summary

The European market was challenging
throughout 2006. Demand in continental
Europe was scft but relatively stable
throughout most of the year, while the
UK market continued to deteriorate.
With the UK representing around a half
of our European Paper Merchanting
activity, this clearly impacted on our
overall results. Coated fine paper prices
continued to soften in 2008, while
uncoated paper prices showed gains
late in the year to close up 2 per cent
con the prior year. Coated paper is the
key produci category for Paper
Merchanting. Overall volume was off
slightly, but we saw good growth in
sales of our proprietary branded
products {up & per'cent) and an
improving stock/indent sales ratio, both
helping tc hold margins in a difficult
market. Proprietary branded paper now
represents some 20 per cent of
European sales volumes.

Qur European business has continued to
perform well against its industry peers,
providing returns above our cost of
capital and adding positively to
shareholder value. The business is well
positioned as the leading European
paper merchant to benefit from any
improvements in the European market,
while business initiatives will ensure that
the underlying performance of the
business is enhanced. The successful
move inte Europe has been a vital
ingredient in PaperlinX's development

of a balanced business platform and will
be a key par of the ability of the Group
to grow returns for shareholders in the
future.

Results

Sales revenue of €2.7 billion was down
2.8 per cent on the prior year on sales
volume of 2.5 million tonnes. Earnings
before interest and tax were €74.5
million, down 4.1 per cent, impacted by
the softer UK market, weaker ¢oated
paper prices and increasing fuel costs,
partially mitigated by lower expenses
{down 1.9 per cent). The result also
included a range of cne-off items, both
positive and negative. One-off costs
were associated with a number of
strategic initiatives to improve long-term
business performance, while gains were
made from a successful programme to
sell surplus property assets. The net
impact of these items was a positive
contribution of €6.7 million. Of note was
the strong performance of our Danish
business, which in the last 18 months
has successfully acquired and integrated

[ Finland
Denmark
freland

B United Kingdom
Netherlands
Belgium
Germany

H Poland

B} Czech Republic
Austria
Slovakia
Hungary
Croatia

B Slovenia

(taly

France

Spain

B Serbia

Results for Europe
include South Africa

2006

two small businesses into its existing
business and is now making record
profits and returns, showing the benefits
of 'balt-on” acquisitions to existing,
successful businesses.

Highlights

The European business has actively
pursued a number of key strategic
initiatives that will contribute significantly
to the Group's future earnings. These
initiatives are largely in addition to the
acquisition synergies already achieved,
and have been developed to their
current point by local business teams
supported by Group resources where
needed. The list of activities underway
is 100 long to cover fully, but the three
key projects are:

* The Delivery Co — the creation cof an
integrated logistics group across our
three UK paper merchants. This
programme is on schedule, with the
first integrated site in Ipswich
operating smoothly.

Netherlands integration — integration
of two of our three Dutch paper
merchants and the consclidation

of packaging wholesale activities.
European T roll-out — installation

of a common IT platform across

our Eurcpean merchant business.
The first site for this fourto-five-year
programme has been successfully
implemented in ireland, and will

roll out across Europe on a controlled
basis.

|_Financial Highlights 2005
Sales revenue (Em) 2,828 2,748
Earnings before interest’and tax {Em} 777 745
Sales volume {000 tonnes) 2,634 2,458

A recent survey amongst thousands of printers ;
confirmed the allround top performance of Hello™,
Europe's number one woodfree coated paper
brand, because it gives printers actua! influence
on product and service improvements.,
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Paper
Merchanting
North America

Business Summary

The US market saw only modest growth
in demand, but pricing benefited from
supplier discipling, with reducing
capacity seeing uncoated paper prices
up approximately 4 per cent and coated
paper prices up close 1o 2 per cent in
aggregate. The Canadian market was
challenging throughcout 2006, especially
in the eastern provinces of Ontaric and
Quebec. A volatile Canadian dollar added
further challenge. Paper prices in Canada
declined by almost 2 per cent overall.
PaperlinX North America saw growth
ahead of the market in its underlying
business, and with the successful
acquisition of Cascades Merchanting
(now Spicers Canada) in March 2006
cur overall position in North America
has been considerably strengthened.
Cverall revenues for our business were
up 9 per cent on the back of an
improved sales mix, while underlying
volume (excluding Spicers Canada} was

also up 5 per cent. Proprietary brand
sales and sheeter volumes grew

15 per cent, with a continued focus on
this differentiated offering to customers
creating shared value.

The acquisition of Spicers Canada has
given us complete geographic coverage
in the Canadian market. It has well-
developed graphic arts supplies and
industrial packaging businesses, which
offer additional opportunities for us 1o
grow in the complementary area of
non-paper print and digital-related
segments.

Results

Sales revenue of US$849 million was up
28 per cent on the prior year on sales
volume of 509,000 tonnes. Earnings
before interest and tax were US$29.6
million, up 35 per cent, with underlying
earnings, excluding Spicers Canada, up
17 per cent. Operating expenses were
higher as a result of the commission- -

based remuneration structures in the US,

while other expenses reduced. Overall
working capital rose as a result of the
Spicers Canada acquisition, but once
adjusted for this, was at a record low.
As in other regions, rising fuel costs
increased logistics costs.

Highlights
The undoubted highlight for the year
was the successful acquisition of

Spicers Canada. The integration has
gone extremely well, with year three

Kelly Paper Stores
Southern California - 31
Northern California— 10
Arizona - 4 Nevada - 1 Seattle - 1
3 Regional Distribution Centres

- = B Montreal

target returns already exceeded and
many future opportunities identified.
Results for the four months since
acquisition were a significant positive
contribution, ghead of initial
expectations.

Our existing Canadian business, Coast
Paper, showed significant improvement
over last year in both earnings and
returns. Strong management of margins
was a majar centributer in a market that
only reflected modest growth. Working
capital was alsc reduced and the ratic 10
sales saw further improvement.

Kelly Paper in the US delivered an
excellent result with increases in
revenue, margin, operating profit and
returns, and reductions in working
capital and expenses. As with many
operating companies, Kelly Paper’s
management and employees have
delivered a number of internal initiatives
to further enhance both financial
performance and commitment to
superior customer relationship
management.

Spicers Paper in the US offset
commodity-related margin pressure
with @ combination of improved prices,
valume and mix. Continued progress
was made on proprietary brands and in
satisfying customers leoking for
envircnmentally certified papers. Further
gains were also made in reducing
working capital, helping Spicers Paper
to achieve a noteworthy improvement
in returns,

Edmonton St John's
Calgary @ Seattle
Saskatoon Portland

B Vvancouver Minneapolis

B Regina B Sacramento
B winnipeg Bl Denver
Sudbury Kansas City
B Toronto St Louis

H Kitchener San Francisco
Bsllaville Las Vegas
Ottawa Los Angeles

B San Diego
Quebec City Phoenix

Dartmouth Tucson
B Hawaii

Financial Highlights 2005 2006 |
Sales revenue (US$m) 662 849
Earnings before interest and tax (USBm)  21.7 29.6
Sales volume ('000 tonnes) 416 509

Qur Sustainable Advantage Grades help
customers to select papers with socially and
environmentally responsible credentials,
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Business Summary

The Australasian Paper Merchanting
business consists of three regionat

groups: Australie and New Zealand,
Asia and Paper Trading.

2006 was a disappointing year for
Australian and New Zealand Paper
Merchanting with the slow market

conditions and competitive environment
impacting across the board. Earfier in the

year, the New Zealand market suffered
falls in prices. volumes and margins,
which moderated towards year end.

The Australian market saw more stable

market volumes with generally flat

pricing. Increases in logistics costs were

unable to be passed on. Despite this,
overall expenses were still 7 per cent
below the prior year benefiting from
business restructurings in the 2005
fiscal year.

PaperlinX's Asian Paper Merchanting
businesses have finished a phase of
restructuring and integration of
husinesses acquired as part of the
Buhrmann acquisition.. This year has
seen the beginnings of the benefits of
these activities with solid gains in market
shares in profitable business areas.

QOverall sales volume and sales revenue
for Paper Trading were constrained by
Australian Paper’'s focus on the
Australian domestic market, Operating
earnings improved as the business saw
benefits from previous restructurings.

Results

Strong competition and currency
relativities have continued to impact
on margins in both the Australian and
New Zealand markets, with lower
volumes in New Zealand and sales
realisations down around 2 per cent.
Sales volume was down 3 per cent while
revenue was down almost b per cent
and operating profit was down 17 per
cent. Working capital saw a significant
reduction supporting returns.

Demand was quite stable in Asian
markets through the year although
increased regional supply kept some
pressure ¢on prices. Qur volumes were
11 per cent higher on the back of good
gains in market share. Sales revenue
was up 12 per cent and operating profit
was up 16 per cent.

E Darwin
Townsville
Brisbane
Bl Sydney

H Canbersa
B Melbourne
Hobart

El Adelaide
El Perth
Auckland
Wellington
Christchurch
Dunedin
I8 Singapore
Malaysia
Vietnam
Hong Kong

B China i

B Taiwan

&

[ Financial Highlights

2005 « 2006

Sales revenue [ASm)

1,288 1,231

Earnings before interest and tax {ASm)

311 27.0

Sales volume {'000 tonnes)

873 846

Australian-made Impress® is a luxurious
coated paper with outstanding environmental

credentials, ideal for prestigious print applications

such as annual reports and magazines.
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- - . i
Paper Trading improved earnings despite
both lower volumes and sales revenue, F
with lower expenses benefiting margins.

For the overall Australasian Paper h
Merchanting group, sales revenue of
A$1,231 million was down

4 per cent on the prior year on sales
volume of 846,000 tonnes. Eamings
before interest and tax were A$27.0
million, down 13 per cent. Overall
working capital was reduced by 15 per
cent. As in other regions, rising fue!
costs increased logistics costs. X

Highlights

The focus for Paper Merchanting
Australasia has been on improving the |
key controllables within the business. |
In all regions the business has gone
through a remodelling process to build),!
on its business strengths. The significant
reduction in working capital is a key i
indicator of the work that has occurred |’
as it continues to consolidate its #
resources. i

PaperlinX Merchanting Australasia has
taken a leadership position within the |
Forest Stewardship Council's chain-of- |
custody process by becoming one of the
first merchants to become FSC certified
in the Australian, New Zealand and Hong
Kong markets, and able to meet the |
grawing interest in products witha |},
sustainable fibre source. ; |,
|
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AUSTRAI.IAN PAPER’S
COMMUNICATION PAPERS
AND PACKAGING PAPERS ARE
RELIED ON EVERY DAY IN
BUSINESSES AND HOMES
ACROSS AUSTRALIA, NEW
ZEALAND AND ASIA.




AUSTRALIAN PAPER
OVERVIEW AND
RESULTS

Our Australian paper manufacturing
business, Australian Paper, has a
unique position as a leading regional
packaging papers manufacturer

and is the only manufacturer of
communication papers in Australia.
Our competitive advantages include
our local supply of copy papers, a
secure source of sustainable fibre,
the Reflex™ brand and long-term
packaging paper contracts. However,
with significant competition from
paper imported from global markets,
imported pricing translated to
Australian dollars has a key influence
on the results for Australian Paper.

Earnings remained under significant
pressure during 2006 as the combination
of soft demand, weak pricing and rising
costs continued to impact. Overall
operating earnings of A$(4.1} million
included a net one-oif charge of

A$13.6 million for the closure of the
number 3 paper machine at our
Shealhaven Mill and commissioning
costs for the number 1 paper machine at
Maryvale Mill offset by profits on asset

Sales Revenue

(A% million}
$916

02 03 04 095 06

sales. It also reflected the continued
impact of depressed Australian paper
prices, oversupply in global paper
markets and higher input costs,
especially pulp prices and energy and
chemical costs. In the current
environment of weak pricing it is not
possible to pass on these cost
increases. With paper prices down

4 per cent on average and costs up,
average margin per tonne of product

sold has been under significant pressure.

This pressure remained going into the
2007 financial year.

To strengthen this business,
management has actively moved ahead
on a number of key initiatives to improve
returns from the current unacceptable
levels. The upgrade of the number 1
paper machine at Maryvale Mill in
Victoria, Australia, has been completed
and product is reclaiming market
position, though at a rate slower than
initially planned. The Maryvale pulp mill
upgrade announced in August 2005 is
progressing to plan. The currently higher
level of global pulp prices further
enhances the expected returns from this

Eamings Before Interest
and Tax (A% million)

$(4.1)

HUUal

02 03 04 05" 06"

1% 2005 anci 2006 are repocted under AIFRS
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project. The number 1 paper machine
at Shoalhaven Mill was closed in March
20086 as planned, with product now
heing produced at the Maryvale Mill and

less profitable exports being eliminated|!

Incorporating the new paper grades had
some impact on machine efficiency at
the Maryvale Mill, but this has now
largely been addressed. A conditional
agreement has been reached to
outsource the Maryvale Mill wood yard
to supply high-quality wood fibre 1o the
upgraded pulp mill, helping to further
reduce costs and improve efficiency.

Additionally, PaperlinX Office has been
launched, combining three PaperlinX
businesses that supply the Australian
office products and stationery markets
with improved service and a clearer
praduct offering.

Sales Volume
{000 tonnes)

817

02 03 04 05 06




Australian Paper
— Communication
Papers

Business Summary

Australian Paper is Australia's only
manufacturer of communication papers,
with all other communication papers
imported into the Australian market.
Australian Paper has a number of key
strategic advantages that are unigue,
including local supplier advantage, being
closer to customers with the ability to
offer greater levels of service, and strong
local brands. Reflex™ office papers ofier
custormners papers that are better for the
Australian environment {with waste
diverted from Australfian landfill) along
with improved product characteristics
and service reliabitity.”

However, surplus global capacity and
generally static demand combined with
the strength of the Australian dollar
relative to the US dollar have resulted in
a protracted period of weak pricing.
This has unfortunately combined with a
period of rising costs for inputs such as
pulp, fuel oil and chemicals to cause a
significant deterioration in margins and
operating earnings over the last three

years. The underlying level of decline has
begun 1o stabilise in this period as the
busingss has taken significant steps to
adjust to the current conditions and has
begun initiatives to restore returns 1o
acceptable levels.

Results

Sales revenue of A$674 million was
down 2.8 per cent on the prior year

on sales volume of 501,000 tonnes.
Underlying earnings befare interest and
tax were A$4.3 million, up on last year,
with reported operating earnings being
A$9.4 million, This included net A$13.7
miltion in one-off charges for the closure
of the Shoathaven Mill number 1 paper
machine, and Manyvale Mill number 1
paper machine commissioning costs
offset by asset sales,

Highlights

A number of strategic initiatives are
underway in the Communication Papers
area to strengthen our existing business
and improve productivity. Already
mentioned has been the closure of the
number 1 paper machine at our
Shoalhaven Mill. This initiative has
improved overall operating efficiency by
replacing unprofitable products made for
the export market at our Maryvale Mill
with products made for the domestic
market. While this closure was
disappointing for the Shoalhaven Mill,
better news is the achievement by that
mill of Forest Stewardship Council (FSC)
environmental certification at the end of
2008, which will allow it to supply the
Australian market with paper made to

kY,

comply with this increasingly sought-
after guarantee of environmental
credentiats.

On a refated subject, we have seen
strong growth in our own branded
recycled office papers in the Australian
market with growth over the year of

21 per cent as part of our focus to
increase overall domestic sales, which
were up over 12 per cent for our copy
paper business. Our focus on brands is
highlighted throughout this Report, and
in our Sustainability Report you can also
see many examples of how we are
better supplying the markets with
products that are renewable, sustainable,
recyclable and, in many cases, made

of significant quantities of recycled
Australian fibre — fibre that would
otherwise end up in Australian landfill.

The upgrade of the Maryvale Mili pulp
capacity and bleach plant is progressing
well, This project will provide significant
cost savings, and even more so at the
current high fevel of imported pulp
prices, along with environmental and
product guality improvements.

As the 2006 vear closed we announced
the creation of PaperlinX Office, -
combining the strengths of our existing
Australian Paper office products
business, our stationery and envelope
business (tudor Group), and our
specialist office papers paper merchant,
Spicers Office Papers. This combined
entity will provide the office products
area in the Australian market with
improved service and a clearer product
offering.

H Shoalhaven Mill, New South Wales

Head Office, Melbourne, Victoria
Maryvale Mill, Victoria

B Burnie Mill, Tasmania

A wesley Vale Mill, Tasmania

Financial Highlights 2005 2006 |
Sales revenue {ASm) 700 674
Underlying eamingé before interest

and tax (A$m) 2.1 4.3
Sales volume {000 tonnes} 522 501

Reflex™ has been Australia’s most popular

office paper since 1984. The range now
includes Reflex™ Platinum Ultra White for
enhanced whiteness and smoothness.
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Australian Paper
— Packaging
Papers

Business Summary

Australian Paper makes packaging
papers at its Maryvale Mill for supply to
packaging manufacturers primarily in
Australia, but also in export markets.

The two main product streams are
linerboard for sale to box manufacturers,
and sack and bag papers. 2006 saw
softer demand in Australia for linerboard
grades from key customers as a result of
pressures in their own marketplaces.

Sales of sack kraft paper into the
Australian market were lower than
previously, resulting in an overall
increase in exports, with the resulting
impact of lower margins.

Results

Sales revenue of A$242 million was in.
line with the prior year on sales volume
af 316,000 tonnes. Underlying operating
earnings of A$5.2 million were down on
last year’s results due to lower demand
from key customers due to increased
competition, lower returns from exports

and a slower than expected uptake of
the improved semi-extensible sack and
bag paper produced following the
upgrade of the number 1 paper machine
at Maryvale Mill.

Highlights

The return to normal activity of the
number 1 paper machine at Maryvale
Mill was achieved at the end of the year,
after an extended pericd of disruption
as work was undertaken 10 convert the
machine to produce a semi-extensible
praduct for industrial sacks and bags.
Product is now at a high quality and lost
market share was being regained in the
second half of the year.

The Australia-wide debate on plastic
bags has opened up an opportunity

to promote paper bags as an
environmentally-friendly option. Our
paper bags are made from a sustainable
plantation fibre source and are recyclable.

There was encouraging growth in export
market demand and price for sack
papers through the second half of the
year.

Head Office, Melbourne, Victoria
Maryvale Mill, Victoria

| Financial Highlights 2005 2006
Sales revenue (A$m) 243 242
Underlying earnings before interest
and tax {A$m) 10.0 5.2
Sales volume {'000 tonnes) 318 316

Qur recyclable paper bags are

providing a clever environmental
alternative to plastic shopping bags,
reducing Australian landfill.
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Other
Businesses

Business Summary

Other businesses includes the stationery
and envelope business as well as the
carporate expenses of PaperlinX.

The tudor Group is the largest
manufacturer of envelopes and
stationery products in Australia. Core
brands include twdor®, Olympic,
Universal, Croxley and Queens Siipper,
which can be purchased from major
retailers, newsagencies and specialty
stationers across Australia. This business
is being combined with Spicers Cffice
Papers and Australian Paper’s office
papers business to form PaperlinX
Office.

The stationery and envelope business
competes with imported products as
well as envelopes manufactured in
Australia. The market remains highly
competitive with reduced pricing from
low-priced imports affecting margins and
earnings, which were well down on the
prior year. The second half of the year
saw a significant deterioraticn.

Corporate costs were at a similar level
te the prior year, however, a number of
small prior year one-off benefits were
not repeated.

Financial Highlights 2005 2006
Sales revenue (ASm) 101 95
Earnings before interest and tax (A$m}  (26.1) (33.9)

Sales Revenue
{$ million)

02 03 04 O

$95

06

Earnings Before Interest
and Tax (§ milion)

02 03 04 05 06

_
$(33.9)
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CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S
COMMENT

AN INTERVIEW WITH TOM PARK, MANAGING
DIRECTOR AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER

"We must invest in sustainability
for the security of our own future
and for the future of the resources
we utilise, for the long-term
benefit of our shareholders and
other stakeholders.?/

Why is sustainability critical for the

success of PaperlinX businesses? environmental footprint?

Y

What is PaperlinX doing to reduce its‘_]

Paper is made from a renewable
resource and is completely recyclable.
Paper has been part of our lives for
thousands of years and, if managed
correctly, will continue to be.

It is our responsibility to deliver the
products our customers want in ways
that are sustainable. For us this means
creating economic growth that benefits
present and future generations without
threatening the resources or biological
systems of the world we live in.

Every one of our businesses throughout
the world has some impact on the
environment and this is especially so for
our manufacturing operations. As part
of the Maryvale pulp mill upgrade, we
will reduce odour emissions and energy
use as a result of the new elemental
chlorine free bleaching plant. Through
this investment we are reducing our
use of pulp logs and other residue from
Victorian State managed forests and
moving to use 100 per cent plantation
sourced fibre for printing and

‘What are the major sustainability
challenges facing the paper industry
and how is PaperlinX responding?

Maryvale by 2017. We have decreased
our demand for water by 8 per cent over

communication papers produced at
l] five years and are moving towards a

greater reliance on using recycled water
from the local water authority, aiming for
a 10 per cent increase by 2008.

Environmental issues are becoming
increasingly mainstream and the
environmental credentials of paper
products are becoming more important.
So we are listening 1o our customers [L How does PaperlinX support

and the community and offering new communities near where its
environmentally certified grades and businesses operate?
recycled products that reduce landfill
waste.

We are fortunate that wood is the
primary resource for paper making

as it is both renewable and recyclable.
Qur responsibilities for managing this
natural resource extend from sustainable
manufacturing through to encouraging
responsible, viable forest management
practices from our supphiers. Every year,
more of our merchants around the
world are receiving chain-of-custody
certification and have systems in place
to audit their paper suppliers’ forest IJ

Our business has grown to more than
400 sites and 9,600 people in28
countries, and we recagnise the need
to create a consistent and meaningful
approach to supporting communities
where we operate. We are developing
guidelines and a framework for employee
volunteering, charitable donations and
employee giving programmes that
allow our businesses to design their
responses according to the needs of
their surrounding communities.

management and manufacturing
practices.

As one of Australia's leading pulp and
paper manufacturers, we must manage
our fibre supply carefully. We expect to
significantly increase the amount of
plantation fibre we use, and 64 per cent
of the fibre used at our largest mill
Maryvale, is already from sources that
are certified by the Forest Stewardship
Council (FSC). We are seeking to certify
* all our mills to FSC standards.

Why report on environmental and
social commitments?

For us, community engagement and
environmental awareness are part of
the way we do business,

Qur environmental and social
performance is key to our success,

It is not only about managing and
reducing our risks and how our activities
are measured: it is about the way we
respond 10 our customers, our
employees and the communities where
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we operate. Improving in these areas |
is part of my own performance criteria l
and is reported to the Board every |
month. When we set targets these’

are taken very seniously. Take our |
commitment to improving our workplace!,
practices and safety performance; this i
year we have again reduced our .
medically treated injury frequency rate
by 25.7 per cent {26 per cent reduction
in 2005} and our lost time injury
frequency rate by 26.9 per cent (14 per’
cent reduction in 2005). Rather than just!|,
respond to codes of practice or other ||
standards, we have established a culture
of environmentally responsible behawourl
and continuous improvement throughout
the Company, which is supported by
external measurements, '

[How does PaperlinX help to motivate

rand challenging external conditions?

employees in a period of rapid change 1

.

=1

We support our peocple by developing
their skills, tooking after their health and].
-safety and providing regutar )
communication to help them understand
the strategy of the business and their ||,
involvement in its success. We
encourage teams to identify best i
practice initiatives and continuously
improve so we can be proud to say |
we are the best in the business. !
By recognising the individual styles I
of our different businesses and their ¢
relationships with customers, we | ‘
|
o

encourage initiative and ideas that -
make a difference.

I am proud of the achievements that
everyone at PaperlinX has contributed t
in the last year and | am confident that, |
together, we can continue to deliver
sustainable results for all our :
stakeholders.

/w._ J :n-.'/ g
Thomas P Park i

Managing Director and .
Chief Executive Officer )




Around the world, it's our business to
deliver the papers our customers want,
We operate 47 businesses across

28 countries, giving us the widest
geographic distribution of any paper
company in the world.

We distribute and manufacture high-
quality fine paper used in offices as well
as specialty papers used in brochures,
magazines, annual reports and other
business applications. We also
manufacture packaging papers for
converting into corrugated cartons,
paper bags and other packaging
materials. And we are expanding

our offerings in sign and dispfay and
industrial packaging and graphics.

Qur operations are based on solid
knowledge of paper. The companies

. that taday make up PaperlinX have been

making paper in Australia since 1939 and
have distributed paper in Europe since
the 1600s. ) .

Sustainability is central to the way we
work and to the success of our business
in the future. For us, sustainability means
long-term economic growth that benefits
present and future generations.

Revenue

1 Our People

Total Revenue

$7.413 million ‘ Employees

9.672

Percentages calculated before intercompany sales elimination.

Operations | ] Financial Profile
Countries 28 Total revenue (ASm) 7413
Sites 4071 - Earnings before interest
-~ i and tax {A$m) 152.4
Manufacturing sites 4
Sales volume {before
commission sales) ('000 tonnes) 4,248
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L |PaperiX] |
Sustainability Charter

PaperlinX is a leading international paper distribution and manufacturing company with a commitment to
delivering long-term sustainable returns and environmental and social benefits for all our stakeholders. In so
doing, we seek to add value for our customers, employees, the communities in which we operate and for
our shareholders. »

In pursuit of these commitments, we recognise that our preducts and operations have an impact on
the environment and that we must continually improve our performances across a range of areas to deliver
the sustainable returns to which we aspire.

Qur fundamental commitment globally is to not enly ensure that as a minimum we comply with the laws
of all the regions in which we operate, but we also seek to go beyond just compliance with a range of
positive initiatives.

CQur commitments in relation to the environment, our employees, our communities and our suppliers are
explained below.

Environment Communities

We will provide product options to satisfy the needs We will suppert the communities in which we operate

of our customers and will ensure that we provide in ways that make a positive difference and will

information to allow our customers, neighbeurs and maintain an open relationship with these communities,

the public to make informed choices about our Teport on our performance and maka this information

products and their environmental credentials. readily available to the public as well as customers.

At PaperlinX, we are committed to continuously In addition, we will also recognise our corporate role in

reducing our environmental féotprint in measurable assisting our emplovees to make individual and

ways. Qur cperations seek, wherever-possible, to collective contributions to improve aspects of the

reduce resource use (such as energy, water, fibre and communities in which they participate.

chemicais) efficiently by increasing recycling ' :

apportunities and reducing waste output. ’ Suppliers

We are commiited to regularly monitoring these We are committed to proactively encouraging our

improvements. ] suppliers to improve their envircnmental performance
by insisting they act in a legal and sustainable fashion

Employees : and are committed to continuous imprevement.

Qur objective is to be the ‘employer of choice’ in which
ali members of cur workforce are treated with respect
and emplayed within strong principles of equal
opportunity, ethical behaviour and transparent
management practices. .

At PaperlinX, we are committed tc providing our
employees the opportunity to grow and develop within
a safe workplace wherever they are located: :




OUR STRENGTH —
PEOPLE AND CULTURE

LF Achievements | (Goals)
‘ XY [oballtalen drmanagementlstrateg ypwasldevelopedito] » Develop and launch a global health and wellness
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sales fieets.

the Group.

key sales staff.

Continue the development and implementation of
our Vehicle and Traffic Risk Reduction Programme to
reduce accidents in warehouses, transport fleets and

+ Ohbtain a further 10 per cent reduction of our
medically treated and lost time injury rates across

Roll out the Strategic Selling Programme to over 500

Implement the Future Workforce Management Plan.

@ﬂmﬂ'ﬂ {ter Erellomee Ger = Develop organisational values through a consultative

Y unchedfalgloballgaperindextraneisite]iolencourage
onlinelbesiracticelshannglbetweenlougbusinesseslin
differendcouniresy ‘,

process invoiving all areas of the Company,

Developing our Culture
Qur operations span 28 countries and

We are committed to providing
opportunities for everyone to work

ang entrepreneurial skills to flourish.
These principles are brought to life

effectively and develop their skills.
We recognise that our people and
our culture are key competitive
advantages. By strengthening the
overall culture of the Company and

incorporate many languages and
backgrounds among our people.
Creating a strong and cohesive culture
across the Company is therefore a key
priority for us. To encourage this we

every day as they guide decision-making.
Business strategies and new initiatives |
are regularly communicated to our 3
people in a range of different ways: |

ConneXions quarterly internal magazine |

the performance of individuals we

) 1an bring global teams together to address
aim to maximise these strengths.

provide opportunities for individuals 1o

work in different countries on both short ~ employees.

and long-term assignments.

In the coming year we will strengthen
our culture through the development of
organisational values. This will include
input from all areas of the business and
provide a shared set of values across
the Group.

Qur operating principles provide a
directional framework for everyone at
PaperlinX, while allowing local leadership

is published in five languages; regular

common besi practice opportunities and  1€8m briefings; video messages; and
websites are made accessible for all

|
|
We also regularly seek feedback from |
employees on all aspects of the
employment cycle through internal
survgys. At the Robert Horne Group in
the UK, nearly 80 per cent of employeesl
responded to the Have Your Say survey, |
which explores employee satisfaction.
The results show a continuing trend of
very high levels of satisfaction with the
working enviroanment.

_FROM LITTLE THINGS BIG THINGS GROW

PaperlinX's culture is shaped by our global policies and practices, but it is also formed
by the local activities initiated by our businesses. These activities contribute to the
achievement of the Company’s vision, making PaperfinX a great pface to work.

As an organisation we are aiming to become more consistent in taking pockets of
excellence across the broader Group.

Spicers/Dalton New Zealand again offered incentives to encourage employees to extend
their commitment to environmentally responsible behaviour by adopting waste
organisation initiatives at home.

At the Robert Horne Group in the UK, the Company has developed Above and Beyond’,
an incentive scheme to further enhance levels of customer service. Colleagues nominate
felfow workers through the intranet or offfine through the internal post system. Every
person nominated receives a fetter of encouragement from the Managing Director and
a small gift recognising their achievement, All nominations are entered into an annual
fudging by the executive Board with prizes awarded to the best performers.

. Spicers Paper in Australia runs ‘Go MAD (Making a Difference) with /deas’, a national

programme to encourage their people’s creativity and innovation towards continuous
improvement.

~—~

§o Mad=>

with ide}os
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GUR STheNLER — PEUPLE AND LELTURE

An online forum was launched on our
global extranet site this year to facilitate
sharing ideas and information among
our businesses.

This vear, research was undertaken
with a sample of employees to review
internal communication activities and
their feedback wili be used to refine
Group-wide communicaticns going
forward. QOne of the greatest chalienges
is providing information that is relevant
and meaningful for our diverse
businesses in different countries.

Strengthening our Leadership

Our Leadership Development
Programme, which was initiated in
2004/05 with senior managers, was
extended during the year to include
additional management levels within
the Company. This five-and-a-half-day
programme brings people together from
different business areas and focuses on
developing their leadership behaviours
and their understanding of the drivers
that maximise our business results.

We also implermented a global talent
management strategy during the year,
The strategy involves a comprehensive
approach io the identification,
develcpment and retention of our
organisational talent. As PaperlinX grows
and changes i0 meet customer needs,
we need to ensure we have the right
blend of talent to build a long-term
sustainable business and this means
understanding and developing our
people.

ENCOURAGING DIVERSITY

L.earning and Development

The development of the people who
work at PaperfinX is a key priority in
maximising our performance. This is not
just about training programmes, it also
encompasses the way in which we
recruit people; career planning, providing
leadership, opportunity and challenge;
the values and culture of the Company;
managing diversity, policies that support
people to work to their best; and
effective communication.

We have developed a Future Workfarce
Management Plan that will be
implemented throughout the businesses
over the coming year. It identifies the
Company's anticipated needs, market
trends and the resources available
within the Company as well as the
development of our people.

Strategic Selling Skills

Our ability to compete effectively is
dependent on the skills of our sales
teams, During the year, a team of people
drawn from all areas of our business
developed a Strategic Selling
Programme to create a value-added
sales culture. This three-day programme
was piloted with sales management
teams from the US, Canada, Europe and
Australia and will be further rolled out to
over 500 sales people who manage
major accounts during 2006/07.

Making paper is a traditional skill that many peopfe at Australian Paper have learnt ‘on the job’. However,
that is not the only way that people start in this industry. Ruth Obendorf started at Australian Paper as a
Machine Support Officer at the Burnie Mill i in Tasmania in October 2002 after completing a science degree

in chemistry and marine biology.

Prior to joining Australian Paper, she had worked in Melbourne for a change rnanagement research group
and as an organic chemist specialising /i marine organisms.

Her current position as Operatrons Support Superintendent at the mill fnvolves leading a team that is
responsible for “all the ins and outs of Burnie Number 4 Paper Machine’, which makes approximately
50,000 tonnes of paper each year across 14 grades.

Ruth says that the nature of the job is always changing and that it takes a reasonable amount of time to
learn the technical aspects of making paper. For her, the most rewarding parts of her job are the people she
works with, the management skills she has developed and the opportunity to rise to challenges she thought

she would never be able to tackle.
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Workplace Safety and Wellbeing

Workplace safety is a key priority for
everyone at PaperlinX. Yet the Company
. recognises that safety at work goes
beyond minimising the risk of injury.
It includes taking action to promote
personal wellbeing. As part of the
Company's commitment t¢ wellbeing,
there are local programmes 1o increase

awareness of the personal benefits of a

balanced lifestyle. These include health
checks, first aid training and a range of
Emptoyee Assistance Schemes that
offer counselling, advice and practical
support to employees in need. One of
the priorities for the Company in the
coming year is to provide structure and
* sustainability in this area through a
global health and wellness initiative.

Achieving our goal of zero accidents and
injuries requires not just a focus on the
physical work environment, but also the
systems and processes we use and the
cuiture of the organisation. A global
steering group provides overall direction
on the Safety and Health Strategic Plan
and members of the health and safety
community proactively develop and
promote safe workplace behaviours
throughout the Company. Members of
our Global Safety Audit team have
visited 52 of our largest sites over the
past 12 months as part of the audit
process.

Safety training is now an intrinsic part

of all of our businesses. This includes

refresher training in forklift operation, .
“training for manual handling and back

care, first aid training, emergency

response training and legal compliance
- training relating to Occupationat Health
and Safety (OHS) laws.

At present, the key measures used to
assess workplace safety across the
Group are the medically treated injury
frequency rate (MTIFR) and lost time
injury frequency rate (LTIFR),

Using these measures, our pregramme
has achieved significant gains, with the
Group MTIFR reducing by 25.7 per cent
and Group LTIFR reducing by 26.9 per
cent. :

In our Australian Paper mills, progress
continues to be good with a reduction
in the MTIFR of 28.0 per cent and the
LTIFR of 15.5 per cent.

In the Australasian Paper Merchanting
group, the MTIFR was reduced by 22.7
per cent and the LTIFR by 26.9 per cent.

Frequency
(=]

Jun Jun Jun

o 02 . 03

Rolling Quarterly LTIFR (injuries per million hours worked}

With another full year to integrate the
Eurcpean companigs acquired from
the Buhrmann group, the European
Paper Merchanting group achieved a
reduction in the MTIFR of 23.0 per cent
and the LTIFR by 24.5 per cent.

The Canadian and US Paper Merchanting
businesses achieved reductions in-their ; :
MTIFR of 17.7 per cent and LTIFR of ¢
32.2 per cent. This includes resulis from|
the integration of the Kelly Paper I
business from 42 localities into the .
business, as well as the more recent ||’
acquisition of Cascades Merchanting,
now named Spicers Canada.
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Safety is a key focus for everyone working at our largest manufacturing facility,

in Australia.

A serious safety incident prompted a renewed focus on making safety ‘part of the way we alf work’, A milf-wide
consulftation, issues identification and problem-solving programme commenced in July 2008, driven by an employee-led

taskforce with representation from alf areas of the mill’s operations and unions.

The recommendations that the taskforce identified have now been implemented. .

Maryvale Mill in Victoria's Latrobe Valley

People from the operating areas of the mifl were appaf]-"rted to 12-month secondments as Health and Safety Assistants.
They take on the challenge to work within the milf on day-to-day safety issues. This expanded tearn of ‘safety
champions’ is expected to progressively build greater awareness of safety throughout the site.

“As Health and Safety Assistants we have a chance to help raise the level of awareness of safe work practices on

the site. We'll not only have the ability to have input into the implermnentation of proactive systems and projects,

but we'll be able to report on the effectiveness of these programmes to the decision-makers by observation and
communication with all personnel an the site. This role gives every person at Maryvale an avenue to ensure our .
site’s future,” said Peter Freeman, Health and Safety Assistant '

Left to nght: Frank Murtagh, Michael Evereti, Peter Dyke, lan Moule, Bill Van Sarnbeek, Colin Peterson and Ben MeLean,

Members not present in photo: Greg Stewart, Lao Galea, Jenine Smith, Peter Berryman, Russell Donoghue.
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(Goals]

« Develop community involvernent guidelines to guide
our businesses.

« Set up a steering committee to cversee a global
community investment programme.

* Review our practices of allocating funds to a range
of non-profit community groups and organisations.

+ Develop a process to value our contributions to
community investments acrass the Group.

+ Develop a framework/management tool to measure
our community commitments,

+ Explore participation in the Global Compact, the
United Nations voluntary corporate citizenship initiative

IS URpolrogeommunities]a cundlouigs sy
2Nt 005/06ou1 Comimiun tylinvestmenijwas)
Cotivaleniop ks oedeendoifolifrepored]oiotiisy

adhering to 10 principles relating to human rights,
labour, anti-corruption and environmental issues.

PaperlinX has a strong commitment

-to working with the communities

we operate in. With operations in

28 countries, many of our businesses
support a wide range of local
community groups, schools, charities
and voluntary organisations by
providing financial support and in-kind
paper donations. We support our
employees’ involvement.in fundraising
and volunteering in the community.

At each of our mill sites in Australia
we work with nearby communities on
continuously improving our environmental

_performance, and we _host regular public

tours and open days.

In 2005/06 the Company set a number
of targets for our work in the social area.
As we progressed in‘these areas, it
became evident that additional work
needed to be done to collect information
on our existing activities-and ensure that
our strategies were properly aligned 0
the needs of the business and our
stakeholders. As a result of this need for
further planning, we did noi achieve all
of the targets we sei for ourselves in
2005/06. We have now established
targets for the year-ahead that we
believe are aligned to our business.

Community Relations
Community Consultative Committees

To better understand the needs of the
communities we are part of and to
obtain feedback on our operations, there
is a Community Consultative Committee
at each of the Company’s four -

manufacturing mills. These long-standing -

Committees are made up of people
representing diverse organisations who
have an interest in the mills’ operations.

Each year the Committees develop an
Environmental Improvement Plan that
forms part of the site's overall
Environmental Management Plan. These
plans have addressed issues such as
odour reduction and improvements in
water and energy usage at the mills and
the Commitiees are a valued part of the
overall communications between the
Company and the communities we are
part of.

Community Partnerships

Spicers Paper US Provides Hurricane
Support T

After forming a distribution partnership
in September 2005, Spicers Paper in the
US and Boise Paper teamed up again 1o
raise funds for the victims of Hurricane
Katrina that struck the south east coast

* of the US in August 2005. Spicers Paper

contributed US%25,000 to the American
Red Cross with Boise Paper agreeing to
match the funds. Their suppor assisted

. the millions of people who lost homes,

belongings and family members in this
devastating hurricane,

Paper Education

Many of our businesses are actively
involved in providing paper education
and supporting the professional
devetopment of the design and printing
communities. Spicers 'Paper Knowledge
Workshop’ and Robert Horne's ‘Know

How Academy’ are two such examples. -

Saxton Scholars is Australian Paper’s
annual competition that supports
communication design education across
Australia. Tertiary students are invited 10
conceptualise and develop a graphic
design or visual communication project
where creativity is the key and there are
no limits to how students can respond.
The top three finalists are each awarded

a budget io implement and develop their
ideas. A judging panel then selects the
overall winner, who receives a cash
prize, paid work experience with a
reputable Australian graphic design
studio and a tour of a paper making mill.

Leadership Victoria

Since 2002, as part of the Company's
commitment to enhancing leadership
within communities and supporting our
pecple to make a contribution to-their

‘community, PaperlinX has been a major

sponsor of Leadership Victoria in
Australia. This not-for-profit organisation
promotes leadership skills for
community benefit through an annual
programme that enhances the
leadership capacity of participants from
the public, community and private
sectors, while supporting over 150
community organisations by placing
volunteers in community projects.

Employee Involvement

Qur businesses are actively involved in
raising funds for local events and good

" causes. Whether it is supporting the

Leukaemia Foundation by taking part
in the World's Greatest Shave, holding
a charity BBQ to raise funds for a

local children’s charity or walking the
320 kilormetres from Seattle to Portland
in the US for charity, PaperlinX and our
people are proud to support the
communities we are part of.

Coast Paper in Canada continued
its tradition of supporting local
organisations by supporting the United

- Way campaign for the first time and

matching employee donations. Their
annual Coast Paper Christmas Drive
involved collecting over 4,000 donated
gifts to benefit 9,000 people in need,
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SPICEHg PAPER HELPS RECREATE LANDHILL SITES

Since 2003, Spicers Paper in Australia at Merri Creek, Victoria; Wirranendi

has 'put its money where its mouth is’ Parklands in Adelaide; Marks Park, ;
in caring for the environment. Partnering ~ Tamarama, NSW, Belmont, near the "
with Landcare Australia, the Spicers Swan River, in WA; and the ) ii
Paper Recreate Programme aims 1o Demonstration Catchment in QLD. v
rehabilitate ex-landfill sites through tudor® RP 100% Recycled is made from

“cleaning up and planting. Through
funding supported by a percentage of
sales of wdor® AP 100% Recycled
paper, several restoration projects
around Australia have been undertaken.
Rehahilitated areas include Imaroo Strest

materials that might otherwise end up as I
landfill, namely office papers, =
offcuts from printing and envelope .
manufacturing processes and collected "
milk and juice cartons. .

‘__ ROBERT HORNE SUPPORTS UK CANCER CARE

Traditionafly, the Robert Horne Group of paper merchants has supported many
different charitable organisations in the UK. It was felt that focusing on one
single charity that was relevant to the majority of employees would be a more
appropriate approach. Employees were surveyed and they chose to support
the Marie Curie Cancer Care charity to make a difference to the lives of people
with cancer. y

Marie Curie Cancer Care provides high-quality nursing totally free, to give

terminally ifl patients the choice of dying at home supported by their families.
Marie Curie nurses provide almost 800,000 hours of practical nursing care at
people’s hornes every year, made passible only through charitable donations.

Robert Horne is supporting Marie Curie with funding of £10,000 per year over
three years and employees are encouraged to get involved in a range of additional
fund-raising events at a local level to support the charity. So far, employees have
raised over £5,700. The company also makes fts premises in Northampton
avallable to the charity for meetings and events, saving them significant costs

over the year, and donates paper as required. For more information see
www.mariecurie.org.uk.
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Goals]

« Complete stage two of the Sustainability Action Plan;
and from our baseline, improve on our performance
across the Group:

- by reducing energy consumption by 2 per cent; and
- reducing waste production by 2 per cent,

Continue the focus on further improving recycling of
wasie at each of our major sites around the world,

« Achieve FSC certification for our Tasmanian mills.

= Show environmental leadership by achieving FSC
certification for Australian Paper's key products.

Continue progress on the Maryvale pulp milt upgrade
in Victoria, Australia.

Identify opportunities 1o collaborate with key
environmental groups on sustainability issues.

-

- N »
Sy -
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Through our Sustainability Charter, Spreading\th&Word Working with Suppliers

we are committed to. providing our

customers with product options that

have strong environmental credentials,

while also reducing the environmental
footprint of our operations, wherever
possible. This is not an add-on to our
business because it is expected of us.
Cur environmental approach is part
of our sustainable business model.

oy
Each of our businesses works closely
with custormners to communicate the
high environmentat standards of our
products.

Across our Merchanting businessg\

we regularly provide environmental

information to our customers about
i the.products they purchase, and have |
| secured a number of government and

corporate customers as a resullt’

’Australian Paper has produce'd Environs!
a comprehensive report covering our

" position and performance on al| aspects
of the environmentat and-social
credentials of our paper’manﬁfacturiﬁg
operations.

In the UK, staff at the € Robert. Horn
Group also found there was a need41dx

explain more about’oug efforts towards of appropriate sustainable forest
sustainability. A regular bullgtin, ma\r%anagement standards. This could
Leaffet, updates customerg, & to:%\m ifide Forest Stewardship Council
and other akeholders on?pe (fSC) or the Program for Endorsement

&

environmé

n in our

r

which thé suppller operates; e
_...-—-’estabhshed environmental \'\

Of course, with a business that spans
28 countries and hundreds of paper
products, no one certification sysiem
will be appropriate for all products. To
ensure that we can provide the certainty
~customers are looking for across our full
range of products, PaperlinX has
documented environmental, health and
safety reqwrements that our paper
suppllers must conform with. The
requirements includg:,
. comphance with all regulatory
requxrenlﬁnts in the COUHII’IES'IH\

managémeni systems (EMS) and
mdependent third-party certification
fsthese, systemns;

. mdegendent third-party certification

t Forest Certification (PEFC) as well

as a range of other certification

systems; and

* annual reporting from the supplier to
PaperlinX against these areas.
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ENVIRONMENT —

PAPER MERCHANTING

Environmental and sustainability
issues are high on the global agenda,
especially when it comes to the use

of paper. Qur customers, governments
and the broader community all have
an active interest in these areas.

As paper merchants we are the link

in the chain that takes products from
mills to commaerciai printers, enveiope
converters, stationers and resellers,

_corporate printers, publishers and end

users.

We believe that it is important to be able
to demonstrate that the wood fibre used
in the papers sold by our merchants is
sourced from sustainably managed
forests. Certifications systems, such

as the FSC's accreditation process and
the PEFC provide assurance to
customers.

The FSC is one of the leading global
certification systems and is supported by
the World Wildlife Fund and Greenpeace.
We support this and other independent
ceriification systems.

A number of our businesses have been
actively involved with the FSC and have
achieved chain-of-custody certification.
During the period, the Robert Horne
Group in the UK and Spicers Paper in
Australia, the US and Hong Kong
retained this level of certification. This is
recognised as a global standard in forest
certification and the chain-of-custody
component ensures that the final
product can be traced back to its original
source. '

In the UK, the Robert Horne Group

. was the first UK paper merchant to

be granted membership of the World
Wildlife Fund's Forest and Trade
Netwosk. This provides a framewaork that
enables companies to identify and move
towards products from credibly certified
forests. They have alsc published a
Responsible Paper Purchasing Policy and
agreed to work towards targets set in
collaboration with the environmental

group.

Providing Green Products for
Our Customers

Throughout the world there is growing
demand for recycled and environmentally
certified paper stocks and our
Merchanting businesses are well
positioned to meet our customers’

- requirements.

As part of our commitment 16 providing
the products our customers want, many
of our businesses now sell papers
bearing the FSC logo, which traces back
to the FSC certified wood used in their
production.

One of the first UX products offered
with FSC chain-of-custody certification is
Qlives™ 80. This is made from 80 per
cent.recycled fibre and 20 per cent
totally chlorine-free pulp and is available
in gloss and silk finishes.

In Australia, Spicers Paper’s flagship
brand of 26 years, Monza® Recycled,
received FSC certification as a mixed
source product in April 2006, Monza®
Recycled is produced from recycled
fibre, pre-consumer and post-consumer
waste and FSC certified pulp.

The revive™ brand range offers printers
and end users a comprehensive choice
of different finishes and recycled fibre
content, with many of the options alsc
being FSC certified. revive™ has
emerged as the strongest recycled
paper range in the UK. It is also proving
to be a successful international brand,
with demand growing in Australia, the -
US and Asia. in the US, our businesses
have created Sustainable Advantage
Grades of -paper for custormers who
want to make socially and
environmentally respensible choices
about the products they use,

Reduce, Reuse, Recycle

Over the past 12 months our
merchanting operations have been
working towards reducing their
environmenial impaci, particularly in the
areas of waste recycling and reducing
energy usage. In our offices, there is a
greater emphasis on recycling office
paper, glass botiles and cans. QOur
warehouses are increasing the recycling
of wooden pallets, the.plastic stretch
wrapping that protects paper and paper
offcut waste.

For example, at Robert Horne's national
distribution centre in Nerthampton, UK,
over 1,000 tonnes of rubbish are created
every year. By implementing new
recycling and waste management
procedures they are aiming 1o increase
their recycling rate from 30 per cent 1o
50 per cent in the next year.




ENVIRONMENT —

PAPER MANUFACTURING

Australian Paper manufactures paper
in three states in Australia, producing
approximately 1,000 grades and
weights of paper that are used every
day in Australian homes and
businesses. These products include
coated papers, coloured papers,
security papers, watermark papers,
packaging papers, copy papers, offset
printing papers, bag papers and
recycled paper in both sheet and

roll forms.

Australian Paper recognises that in the
production of paper products.there are
impacts and that customers have a
chaice about the products they use. We
are committed to meeting customers’
needs by producing paper products in a
sustainable manner, utiising raw _
materials and processes that achieve
continuous improvement in
environmental, safety and social
performance.

Sound Environmental Management

Each of our four mills has a site-specific
environmental management system
{EMS) that provides the processes ang
procedures for compliance with
environmental requirements. These
include site-specific licences that are
issued by Australian Federal and State
Governments as well as standards and
codes of practice.

Each site’'s EMS complies with the
International Standard 1SO 14001 for
Environmental Management, which is -
the leading standard for manufacturing
sites. Performance against the EMS is
assessed by external auditors SAl Global
and Det Norske Veritas (DNV),

In August 2005, we commiited $203
million to a new elemental chlorine {ree
bleaching plant and pulp mill upgrade at
the Maryvale Miil. The project includes
upgrading the kraft pulping operations
and will cut emissions of sulphur oxide
by 80 per cent. It is expected to be
completed during 2008. :

We are committed to preserving the natural habitat surrounding our milis.
The Giant Freshwater lobster, Astacopsis gowlch, /s a rare species that fives
in the waler catchment areas around our Burnie Milf in Tasrmania.

i
-adherence to FSC chain-of-custody i
!
]

Sustainable Fibre Sources

l 1
Australian Paper purchases wood fibre l‘
from independent sustainable forest .i
suppliers. This fibre is sourced from f
sawmill residue, sustainably managed
hardwood forests, managed hardwood * .
and softwood plantations, imported pulp |
and waste paper. No wood fibreis - |
sourced, either as timber or pulp, from
cold growth forests. We acknowledge the
importance of plantation fibre and as this_‘
resource becomes increasingly available
in Australia, we expect to significantly !
increase the amount we use. As part of
Maryvale's pufp mill upgrade, the use of| '
native State Forest timber will be phased:
out by 2017. i

Following independent verification for .

processes, Australian Shoalhaven Mill
and Maryvale Mill operations were

recently certified to FSC standard.

Accordingly, all wood fibre utilised in the :
manufacture of the Company’s speciality!
papers meet all FSC criteria, as either i}
FSC certified or FSC ‘Controlled Wood' |
from well managed forests. Chain-of- :E

custody is the path taken by raw
materials from the forest to the
consumer, including all successive
stages of processing, transformation,
manufacturing and distribution.




42 Australian Paper

~Australian Paper - Sustainability Charter | 4

Paper products continue to perform an essential role in our day-to-day lives. In a world whers our lifestyle
depends on so many things made from non-renewable resources it remains a unigue fully recyclable
product. Australian Paper recognises that in the production of paper products there are impacts and our
customers have a choice about the products they use. ' !

Australian Paper is proud of its performance and always seeks opportunities to improve. We are committed
to meeting our customers’ needs by producing paper products in a sustainable manmer, utilising raw
materials and processes that achieve continuous improvement in our environmental, safety and social
performance. We are also committed to reporting on our environmental performance as we seek out
opportunities to continually improve, ’

Environment : Sustainability

Australian Paper's environmental commitment applies Suppliers
1o all levels of our organisation and will be maintained We will insist that our suppliers act in a legal and

within ISO 14001 certification and associated - sustainable manner and are committed 1 COMINUOUS.

management systems. Key areas for future success improvement, In particular we will ensure that fibre and

will t_)e_: N : ) forest product suppliers implement sustainable

* Minimising resource usage (energy, fibre and practices. We will consistently review supplier
chemicals). performance against our standards.

» Minimising waste production {air, land and water).
« Maximising recycling capabilities in both our
operations and our products.

Each of our operaticnal areas is responsible for
implementing these environmental commitments. . ¢

People

Three groups of people guide our operation's success:
our customers, our employees and the communities in .
which we operate, ' -

Customers ) -

We will provide product options and information for our
customers to suppont them to make informed decisions
about purchasing the products we manufacture.

Employees ' R
QOur abjective is 1o be the ‘'employer of choice’ in which
ail members of cur workforce are treated with respect
and employed within streng pringiples of equal
employment opportunity, ethical behaviour and in a
safe workplace.

Community

Qur commitment is to provide envircnmental
ieadership, economic support and open relationships.
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DIREGIURS
OF PAPERLINX

D E (David] Meiklejohn
BCom, Dip Ed, FCPA, FAIM, FAICD
{Chairman} Age 64

Appointed a Director and Chairman in December 1999. An experignced Company
Director with a sclid financial background and ever 30 years' experience in paper
manufacturing and distribution businesses, Currently a Director of ANZ Banking
Group Limited {from October 2004}, Coca-Cola Amatil Limited {from February

2005) and Mirrabooka Investrnents Limited {from March 2006). Previous roles
include: Chief Financial Officer of Amcor Limited and a Director of Amcor Limited
{1985-2000); Chairman of SPC Ardmona Limited {2002-2005); Deputy Chairman

of GasNet Australia Limited (2001-2004); and a Director of OneSteel Limited
(2001-2005) and WMC Resources Limited {2002-2005). Chairman ¢f the Nomination
& Governance Committae and a member of the Audit Committee, the Remuneration
& Human Resources Committee and the Safety & Environment Committes.

T P {Tom) Park
BSEE, MBA
{Managing Director) Age 58

Appeinted Managing Director and Chief Executive Qfficer of PaperlinX Limited

in February 2004, Broad business experience in Australia, Asia, North America

and Europe. 'Previous roles include: Managing Director and Chief Executive Officer
of Goodman Fielder Limited, Chief Executive Officer of Southcorp Limited and a
Director of the National Australia Bank and the Business Council of Australia.

A F {Andrew) Guy
LLB, MBA, FAICD
(Non-executive Director) Age 58

Appointed a Director in March 2001. Experienced commercial lawyer and former
Qirector of Spicers Paper Limited. Currently a Director of Djerriwarrh Investments
Lirnited (from December 1989), Aviva Australia Holdings Limited {from June 2003),
Australian Institute of Company Directors {from September 2001) and Anglicare
Victoria {from August 1997). A former managing partner in the law firm Arthur
Robinson and Hedderwicks. Chairman of the Safety & Enviranment Committee
and a member of the Remuneration & Human Resources Committee.

B J [Barry) Jackson
BCom (Hons), MAICD
(Non-executive Director) Age 61.

Appointed a Director in February 200C. Over 30 years’ experience in manufacturing
and industrial marketing in Australian and international markets. Currently a Director
of Alesco Corporation Ltd {from November 2001}, CSR Limited (from April 2003},
Equity Trustees Limited {from September 2002} and St Vincent's Institute of Medical
Research in Melbourne (from February 2002). A former Managing Director of Pacifica
Group Limited. Chairman of the Remuneration & Human Resources Committee and a
member of the Audit Committee and the Nomination & Governance Committee.
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N L (Nora) Scheinkestel
LLB {Hons} PhD, FAICD
(Non-executive Director) Age 46

Appointed a Director in February 2000. An experienced Company Director with a
background in international project and structured financing. An Associate Professor

" at the Melbourne Business School. Currently a Director of Newerest Mining Limited
{from August 2000}, AMP Limited (from September 2003), AMP Capital Group {from
September 2003), Mayne Pharma Ltd (frem November 2005} and Orice Ltd {from
August 2008). Previously Chairman of South East Water {July 2002-August 2005}
and Director of Mayne Group Ltd {July 2005-Novernber 200B). Chairman of the
Audit Committee and a member of the Nomination & Governance Committee and
ihe Safety & Environment Committee.

P il e

D-A {David) Walsh
LLB, MAICD -
{Non-executive Director} Age 66

Appointed a Director in July 2000. Experienced Company Director with a wide
background in corporate and commercial law, including in relation to the paper
industry. Currently Chairman of Templeton Global Growth Fund Ltd {from August
1908) and a Director of Macquarie Infrastructure lnvestment Management Limited
{which is the responsible entity of Macquarie Infrastructure Trust) (from March 2004}
and Dyno Nobe! Ltd {from February 2006), Previous roles include: a Director of Asia|
Pacific Spacialty Chemicals Limited (1994-2002) and a former partner in the law firm
Mallesons Stephen Jaques. Member of the Audit Committee and the Nomination &
Governance Committee.

N

L J (Lindsay) Yelland .
BSc, FAICD, MACS }
{Non-executive Directer) Age 60 !

Appointed a Director in February 2000. Extensive experience in the IT industry.
Currently Chairman of Argus Solutions Limited (from March 2003) and Ideas |
International Limited {from November 2000}. Previous roles include: Chairman of
. Legion Interactive Pty Limited {2002-2005); a Group Managing Directar of Telstra
Corporation; Vice President Asia-Pacific of Data General Corp; and Vice President
of Apollo Computer Corporation. Member of the Remuneration & Human Resources
Committee and the Safety & Environment Committee.

Committees of,the|Board }

Namination & Remuneration & Safety & |
Audit Governance Human Resources Environment

“|Directors as at 30 June 2006 Committee : Committee Committee Committee

D E Meiklgjohn ® . L] ' L ®

T P Park o ) . .

AF Guy . . ) ® ®

B J Jackson ® e L )

N L Scheinkestel . L ® ]

D A Walsh ® ®

L J Yelland ) ® *

® = Committee Chairman
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DIRECTORS'
- REPORT

The Directors’ Report contains three sections:
1. Statutory Matters

2. Remuneration Report

3. Corporate Governance

Directors

The names of the Directors of PaperlinX Limited.in office at any
time during or since the end of the financial year are:

D E Meiklejohn B J Jackson

T P Park N L Scheinkeszel
[ G Abotomey (1 D A Walsh

A F Guy L J Yelland

1 Resigned as @ Director 31 December 2005.

Details of the qualifications, expenence and special
responsibilities of Directors are set out on pages 48 10 49 of
this Concise Annual Report.

Principal Activities

The principal activities of the consolidated entity were the
distribution and sale of printing, publishing and packaging
papers and the manufacture of communication papers and
" packaging papers. There were no significant changes in the
nature of the principal activities of the consolidated entity
during the year under review,

Review and Results of Qperations

A review of the operations of the PaperlinX Group during the
financial year and the results of those operations are contained
in pages 14 to 28 of this Concise Annual Report.

State of Affairs

Significant changes in the state of affairs of the consolidated
entity that occurred during the financial year ended 30 June
2006 were as follows: .

March 2006 Acquisition of Cascades Me'rchanting in
Canada for approximately AS104 million.
March 2006 ° Reorganisation of manufacturing operations

{closure of number 1 paper machine at
Shoalhaven and transfer of this production
to Maryvale).

Commentary on the overall state of affairs of the economic
entity is set ocut on pages 14 to 28 of this Concise Annual
Report,

Environmental Regulation

The consoclidated entity is subject to significant environmental
regulation, in particular with respect to its manufacturing
activities. Environmental performance obligations are
monitored by management and the Board and subjected,
periodically, to intemal audits as well as independent exiernal
and government agency audits and site inspections. The
Sustainability Report is set out on pages 29 to 47 of this
Concise Annual Report.

Matters Subsequent to the End of the Financial Year

Since 30 June 2006 and to the date of this Report, no matter

or circumstance has arisen {other than those occurring as a

result of the normal vicissitudes of business) that has

significantly affected or may significantly affect:

(a) the consolidated entity’s operations in future financial
years; or

(b) the results of those operations in future financial years: or

(c} the consolldated entity's state of affairs in future financial
vears

apart from reaching in principle agreement to outsource a new

wood yard at Maryvale, which will result in one-off costs in the

2007 year of around $10 millian.

Future Developments/Cutlook

Certain likely developments in the operations of the
consoclidated entity known at the date of this Report have been
covered in the Chairman's Report on page 6 to 7 and generally
within this Cencise Annual Report. In the opinion of the

. Directors any further disclosure of infarmation would be likely

to result in unreasonable prejudice to the consolidated entity.

Interests of Directors in Contracts or Proposed Contracts
with the Company

As menticned in the Remuneraiion Report, Non-executive
Directors of PaperlinX Limited have entered into agreements
with the Company for the payment of retiring allowances on
retirement as a Director. In addition, Directors of PaperlinX
Limited have declared their interests in contracts or proposed
contracis that may result from their directorships of other
corporations, as listed in their personal profiles set out on
pages 48 to 49 of this Concise Annual Report.

Dividends
Dividends paid or declared by the Company since the end of the previous financial year were:

Cents Total amount Date of Tax rate for . Franked
Tyne per share $m payment  franking credits %
In respect of the 2004/05 financial year: ' ._
Final - fully paid shares 12 535 28 Sep 05 30% Nil
In respect of the 2006/06 financial year; ' .
Interim — fully paid shares . 55 246 5 Apr 06 30% Nil
Final — fully paid shares 4.5 200 13 Cct 08 30% Nil
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Directors’ Meetmgs

The number of Directors’ meetings (including meetings of committees of Directors) and number of meetings attended by each of
the Directors of the Company during the financial year are:

Nomination Safety &
Board of Audit & Governance Remuneration & Environment
Directors Committee Committee HR Committee Committee
Directors A 8 A ‘B A B A B A B
D E Meiklejohn 1 " 5 5 3 3 5 5 5 5
T P Park - 11 1 . -
AF Guy 1 1 . . 5 5 5 5
B J Jackson 1 1 15 5 3 3 5 5
N L Scheinkestel ’ 1" 11 5 5 3 3 5 5
D AWalsh ° . : 1 1 5 5 3 3 -
L J Yelland 1" 1 5 5 . b 5
D G Abotomey i 5 b

1) Resigned as a Director 31 December 2006.
A — Number of meetings held during the time the Direcior held office during the year,
B — Nurnber of meetings attended.

Directors’ Interests
The relevant interest of each Director in the share capital of the Company as at 30 June 2006 is as follows:

Performance Performance ’ Performance
Fully paid QOptions over options issued options approved Shares subject rights issued |,

ordinary shares  ordinary shares |2 as at 30/6/06¢%  at 2004 AGM®@  to share plans (4 as at 30/6/0614
D E Meiklgjohn 67,612 '
T P Park 70,000 200,000 300,000 600,000 . 480,845
AF Guy 58,256
B J Jackson - 40,980
N L Scheinkestel ) 36,360
D A Walsh 20,898
L J Yelland 32,672
D G Abctomey (1 63,456 235,000

#) Resigned as a Director 31 Decernber 2005. The following interests of Mr D G Abotomey lapsed during the course of the year or upon his resignation from
Paper Australia on 8 July 2006: 91,790 performance options, 203,570 performance rights, and 105,000 shares subject 0 share plans.

2 Issued prior lo being appoinied a Direcior.

@ These represent contingent interests in the maximurm number of options over shares to which executive Directors may become entitled under the
Company's performance options plan.

4 These represent contingent interests in the maximum number of shares to which executive Directors may become enditfed under the Company's
Performance Righis Plan.

Indemnities and Insurance The Company has strict criteria refating to the engagement of
The Company has agreements with each of the Directors of the auditor for non-audit services. Directors have reviewed the
the Company in office at the date of this Report, and certain nature of non-audit services being provided, as well as their
present and former Officers of the Company, indemnifying cost, and believe the provision of these services does not
those Officers against liabilities to any person other than the ~ IMPpair the integrity and objectivity of the auditors and is
Company or a related body corporate that may arise from their ~ Compatible with the general standard of independence for
acting as Officers of the Company notwithstanding that they auditors imposed by the Corporations Act. In the current year,
may have ceased to hold office, except where the fiability the Company has also engaged the services of other

arises out of conduct involving a lack of good faith. accounung firms to perform a variety of non-audit assignments.
The Directors have not included details of the nature of the Rounding

" liabilities covered or the amount of the premium paid in
respect of the Directors’ and Officers’ liability and legal
expenses insurance contracts, as such disclosure is prohibited

" under the terms of the contracts.

The Company is the kind referred to in the ASIC Class Order
98/100 dated 10 July 1998 and, in accordance with that Class
Order, amounts in this Concise Annual Report and Directors’
Report have been rounded off to the nearest one hundred
thousand dollars or, where the amount is $50,000 or less, zero, |

Non-audit Services unless specifically stated to be otherwise.

In addition to the statutory audit work during the year, the

Company’s auditors, KPMG, have provided certain non-audit

services, including:

= tax compliance services totalling $188,000;

+ other assurance services toialling $40.000;

+ divestment services totalling $545,000; and

» other services (principally overseas entities’ local slatutory
accounts preparation), amounting to $29,000.
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Remuneration Report 2006

1. Introduction

This Remuneration Report has been prapared for shareholders
by Directors 1o explain the processes and policies underlying
the determination of Board and executive remuneration. The
Report forms part of the Directors’” Statutory Report for the
year ended 30 June 2006. .

The roles of the Nomination & Governance Committee and the
Rermuneration & Human Resources Committee in relation to
Board and executive remuneration are explained in the
Directors” Corporate Governance Report on pages 58 to 63

2, Exécuti\{e Remuneration
2.1 Remuneration Policy and Principles

The policy of the Company is to design its remuneration
practices so that they are sufficiently competitive to attract and
retain the quality of staff that it seeks and also to encourage
long-term commitment and superior performance from its
employees. Rewards are linked to the achievernent of business
strategies and goals, and to increasing shareholder value.

The key principles upon which this remuneration policy is

based include: _

+ All elements of remuneration will be set at appropriate levels
in redation to market practice for comparable roles.

= Payment of incentive-based rewards wili be dependent upon
achieving demanding performance hurdles consistent with
sharehoclder interests.

* Reward outcomes will be determined having regard to the
performance of both the Company and individual executives.

2.2 Remuneration Structure

Remuneration for Paper“n)( s executives consists of two main

elements:

1. Total Fixed Remuneration (TFR) - includes all fixed costs
such as base salary, car, health insurance and mandatory
superannuation. -

2. Variable Pay - comprnses the short-term \ncentlve (SThi.e.
the annual cash incentive plan) and the long-term incentive
(LT1) (i.e. share and options-based incentive plans}.

The mix between fixed and variable pay for disclosed
executives for the past vear is shown in Table 1.

Table}1:]Percentage;of,total targetiremuneration]{annualised}

Fixed Variable {performance-based)
remuneration remuneration

STI, performance rights

TFR and performance options
T P Park 44% 58%
D G Abotomey (D © b3% 47%
C B Creighton 53% ' 47%
E de Voogd 55% 45%
M J Fothergill 54% 46%
D M Geldthorp 54% 46%
O M Lamont - 52% . 48%
R F O'Brien 53% 47%

m Employment ceased 8/7/06.

2.3 Remuneration Strategic Positioning

The Board aims to position executive Total Fixed Remuneration
(TFR} at the median of the relevant market, but 1o provide

. higher levels of at risk {or 'variable’} remuneration through the

short-term incentive {STI) and the long-term incentive {LTI}
plans, so that tolal remuneration will only be above average if
the Company performs well. Furiher |ni0rmatnon on the STI
and LT1 plans is provided below.
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The TFR for direct reports to the Managing Director is
reviewed annually by the Remuneration & Human Resoéurces ~
Committee on the basis of recommendations from the
Managing Director and remuneration information provided by
an independent consuliant for similar roles in relevant local and
international businesses. -

The TFR for the Managing Director is reviewed annually by the
Nomination & Governance Commntee based on advice from an
independent consultant.

3. Performance-reward Link
3.1 Short-term Incentive

The shori-term incentive plan for executives provides for
annual target cash bonuses up to 40 per cent of TFR if
financial and individual performance targets are met, and a
maximum payment of up to 70 per cent of TFR on the
achievement of excepticnal performance.

The short-term incentive plan for the Managing Director provides
for an annual target cash bonus of up to 50 per cent of TFR if
financia! and individual performance criteria determined by the
Board are met, and a maximum paymeni of up to 100 per cent
of TFR on the achievement of exceptional performance.

The incentive payment far the Managing Director for 2005/06
of 55 per cent comprises a nil payment for financial
performance criteria, a maximum payment of 10 per cent for
safety performance improvements throughout the Group and
an above target payment of 45 per cent for strategic
achievements during the year. The strategic achievements
include restructurings to improve leng-term profitability and
returns, acquisitions which will improve short-term results and
the programme of major initiatives which are largely aimed at
improving efficiency and reducing costs.

Group or divisional financial 1argets represent up to 60 per cent -
of the maximum payment, For 2005/06, the financial measures .

selected by the Board as the best indicators of PaperlinX's
annual financial performance were earnings before interest and
tax (EBIT) and/or net profit after tax (NPAT) and economic

profit (EP). EP is defined as the net financial return from
operating activities, less the costs associated with financing
those activities, and is measured using the formula:

EP = EBIT - (average funds employed x cost of funds).

Individual targets represent the remaining pertion of the
potential payment, and can be a combination of financia!
targets, people management, health and safety performance,
environmental targets, implementation of business and
strategic plans and effective leadership and management,

For 2005/06, the maximum STI cpportunity, the amount paid
and the amount forgonre for each of the disclosed executives
is shown in Table 2.

A Table2:STI= Maximum opportumty,

payment forgone

Actual

Maximum Actual percentage

potential percentage  ST| payment

STI opportunity ST paid forgone

Executive {% of TFR) (% of TFR) [% of TFR}

T P Park 100% 56% a5%

D G Abctomey 70% 20% " B0%

C B Creighton 70% 40% 30%

E de Voogd 70% 21% 49%

M J Fothergill 70% . 26% a4%

0 M Goldthorp 70% . 25% 5%
O M Lamont @ 70% .

R F O'Brien 70% 27% 43%

M Employment ceased 8/7/06.
2 Incentive payment of $200,000 agreed at hire date.




3.2 Long-term Incentives * : Performance Measures and Hurdles

The long-term incentive programme for the top 26 senicr The LTI performance hurdles used by PaperfinX are relative
exegcutives in PaperlinX worldwide is now comprised of tatal shareholder return (TSR), and earings per share (EPS)
perfarmance rights plus performance options 1o provide growth. Each hurdle applies to 50 per cent of the grant to each:
enhanced incentives for them to improve the share price and executive.

shareholder value over the long term. The plans are subject to
performance hurdles and will only deliver rewards to executives Relative Total Sh_arehofder_ﬁerum .

if shareholders have alsc gained significantly. Performance rights The Board considers relative TSR to be a suitable LTI
comprise the majority of the entitlements and are supplemented performance measure because executives will only be able to

by a relatively modest number of performance options. exercise performance rights and perfermance opiions subject
. . . to this test if shareholders have received returns on their
Performance rights are granted to executives and seniar investrments in PaperlinX that compare favourably with those

managers, subject to the achievenent of specified performance 4t could have been obtained in other Standard & Poor's
criteria as set out below. Each vested performance right entities {SEPJ/ASX 200 companies. Under this criterion, the 'total
the exlecutlve or manager to one fully paid ordinary share of shareholder return’ of PaperlinX is measured relative to the |1,
-PaperlinX Limited. subject o exercise restrictions. total shareholder return.of all stocks which have been included
Performance options provide executives with the opportunlty in the SEP/ASX 200 for the whole of the measurement peried
to purchase PaperlinX shares at a pre- -determined exercise {Comparators).

price. The exercise price will be the volume weightéd average | L -, ) : !
price for PaperlinX ordinary shares on the Australian Stock Both PaperlinX's TSR and the Comparators’ TSRs will be based
on ASX share price movements plus dividends paid on the

i

i

1
Exchange [ASX} over the 30-day period prior to 30 June at the h : h j‘
commencement of the relevant perfofmance pericd. Upon the  Shares {on a pre-tax basis) notionally reinvested to purchase |
achievement of the specified perfarmance criteria set out additional shares at the market price prevailing on the date the ||
below, each vested performance option can be converted into  Shares begin trading “ex” the relevant dividend. |
{

one fully paid ordinary share of PaperllnX Limited, subject to If PaperlinX does not perform In the top 50 per cent of the
exercise restrictions. Comparator group, exacutives do not receive any benefit
The performance criteria for performance rights and (i.e. performance rights or performance options) in respect of
performance options are the same as those approved by this criterion. PaperiinX needs to perferm in the top 20 per cent .
shareholders at the Company’s Annual General Meeting in for executives to obtain the maximurm benefit. Pro rata :
Qctober 2004 for the Managing Director. arrangements apply for a ranking between these two points. |}
No amount is payable by executives on the grant of the Earnings Per Share Growth :
performance rights or performance options. Eamings per share growth has beén selected as an LTI i
Performance rights and performance options will lapse tc the performance measure because it is a fundamental indicator of,
extent that the performance criteria are not met at the end of the Company's financial performance. For executives 10 obtain
the relevant performance petiod. the maximum benefit under this criterion, éarmings per share |1
. . . growth over three years must equal or exceed the aggregate |
Under the plan rules the Board has discretion either to growth in the Cansumer Price Index (CPI) over the three years

- cancel or 10 allow some or all of the performance rights or plus 5 per cent. No benefit accrues if the earnings per share ™
_performance options to vest in centain defined circumstances. growth over the period is 50 per cent or less of the aggregate
The shares relating to the performance rights and performance  growth in CPI plus 5 per cent. Pro rata arrangements apply for,
options are purchased on-market, as required, and held in trust  performances between the 50 per cent ana 100 per cent
for distribution to participants lf the performance criteria are results.
satisfieq.

3.3 Senior Management Long-term Incentive Plans

Details of grants of perfarmance sharesirights and performance optioris that can be eamed by executives under the LTI plans,
subject to the achievement of the TSR and EPS performance criteria mentioned above, are set out in Table 3.

Performance shares Performance rights ) Performance options 1

For period For period For pericd For pericd For period For period [}

Name 1/7/03-30/6/06) 1/7/04-30/6/0611)  1/7/04-30/6/07 1/7/05-30/6/08 1/7/04-30/6/0712  1/7/05-30/6/08 3f

TP Park 600,000 : 90,215 390,430 - 100,00015) 100,000 i

C B Creighton 51,280 51,280 82,880 34,190 55,250 ||
E de Voogd 93,333 20,270 55,270 93.260 36,850 62,180

M J Fothergill ‘ 49,210 49,210 81,660 32,810 54,440 |1

D M Goldthorp 105,000 14,990 © 49,990 92,410 . 33,330 61,610 |1

R F O'Brien ~ 105,000 6,280 41,280 74610 27,520 49,740 |1

Former execu'tive Director : . I
D G Abotomey & 105,000 ‘ 27.680 . 62,680 113,210 41,790 50,000 |11

1)) No entitterment has been earned based on performance for this perfod and the entitternent has lapsed. |

2 Performance options issued at an exercise price of 34.85; aifocation date 30/11/04; exercisable, subject to satisfaction of performance conditions, after 1
measurement pariod ending 30/6/07, expiry date 30/11/14. - |

@ Performance options issued at an exercise price of $2.77. allocation date 26/8/05; exercisable, subject to satisfaction of performance conditions, after
measurement period ending 30/6/08; expiry date 26/8/15.

M For the perod 1/2/04 to 30/1/07 to coincide with Mr Park’s commencement date of 1/2/04.

13 ncorrectly shown as 90,280 in 2004/05 Report.

@ Employment ceased 8/7/06. All entitements lapsed at that date.

Figures in blue indicate performance shares/rights that have lapsed as at 30 June 2006.
Figures in bold indicate options for which the exercise price is in excess of the share price as at 30 June 2006.
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3.4 Senior Management QOption Plan

in addition ta the above, the Company has issued options to certain executives over a specified number of shares at fixed

axercise prices as set out in Table 4.

Table'd: [Senior management option plan ' e

Exercise Date of When Expiry
. ’ ’ Number ) price $ grant exercisable date

Executives ] -
C B Creighton 50,000 $3.50 19/4/01 " 19/4/04 19/4/11
8,300 $4.12 1372101 13/9/04 13011
8,000 $5.13 20/9/02 20/9/0b 20/912
E de Voogd 160,000 - $4.64 25/11/03 25/11/06 25/1113
M J Fothergill 50,000 $5.13 20/9/G2 20/9/053“’ 20/912
D M Goldthorp 150,000 $3.13 14/4/00 14/4/03( 14/4110
25,000 $3.32 20/11/00 20/11/030 20/11/70
D M Lamont 150,000 $2.77 28/2/06 28/2/09 28/2N6
R F O'Brien 150,000 $4.76 S 18803 18/6/064 18/6/13

Former executive Director

D G Abotomey 12 200,000 $3.13 14/4/00 14/4/031) 1/7/08
$3.32 20/11/00 1/7/08

35,000

1) Viested and exercisable as at 30 June 2008.
@2 Employment ceased 8/7/06.

The exercise price of the options was calculated based on an
average price of PaperlinX shares in the relevant period prior-to
the opticns being granted. Each option entitles the holder to
purchase one fully paid ordinary share in the Company at the
exercise price. Options cannot be exercised for three years
from the date of being granted, except on termination of
employment. Options do not entitle the holder to participate in
any dividends or share issues of the Company.

In the year ended 30 June 2006, some cptions became
exercisable by the executives referred to above; however, no
options were exercised by them during or since the end of the
financial year up to the date of this Report. -

Options outstanding at 30 June 2006 have been independently
valued, as at the grant date, in the range of $0.33 to $0.92.-
The total value of opticns outstanding at the date of this
Report in relation to the executives specified above, based

on those valuations, was $438,022. These values have been
determined using an appropriate valuation model {either
Monte Carlo simulation model or Black-Scholes formula,

as appropriate) incorporating assumptions in relation to the
fallowing: the life of the optign; the vesting period; the volatility
in the share price (range of 20 per cent to 25 per cent); the
dividend vield {range of 5.25 per cent 10 5.5 per ¢cent) and the
risk-free interest rate {range of 4.5 per cent to 5.6 per cent).

20/11/0301

4. Relationship Between Executive Remuneration and
PaperlinX Performance (not subject to audit)

The PaperlinX variable remuneration plans provide incentives
for executives and also ensure that total annual remuneration
is related to the extent to which performance hurdles under
the STl and LTI plans are satisfied. The profit before interest
and tax, net profit after tax and economic profit performance
measures used in the 71 plan and the earnings per share
growth and relative total shareholder return performance
measures used in the LTI plan provide a strong link between
executive remuneration and PaperlinX earnings and

_shareholder wealth.

Table b shows the relationship between PaperlinX NPAT and EP
or return on average funds emploved (ROAFE) performance
and the average percentage bonus paid in relation to those
measures under the STl plan in each of the past five years

" (based on payments made to five executives employed for the

full year in'which performance was measured).

’ Average bonus paid as a percentage
of fixed remuneraticn in relation to
NPAT performance EP or ROAFE performance

NPAT EP
Year ($m) {$m) ROAFE
2005/06 $65.4 $159.7) 0% 0%
2004/05 $89.611 6.4% 0% 0%
2003/04 $1085 7.5% 0% 0%
2002/03 $132.1 12.3% 3.1% 6.5%
2001/02 $123.0 12.6% 14.7% 8.4%

4 Excluding the Austrafian Tax ConSofidation gain.
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Table 6 shows the relationship between PaperlinX's eamings per share growth performance and relative total shareholder return
ranking and the value of performance shares/rights and performance options that.have vested ¢r become exercisable in relation
te these performance measurés as a percentage of fixed remuneration in each of the past five years.

Table 6:]Relationship;between,PaperinX(performanceland LTl vesting

Value of equities vested or exercisable as

EPS growth TSR ranking percentage of fixed remuneration in relation to
Year {% of target) {percentile) EPS performance TSR performance
2005/06 <B0% <5H0th 0% 0%
2004/05 <b0% <50th 0% 0%
2003/04 <b0% 50th 0% - 15.1%
2002/03 <b0% 50th 0% 1.2%
2001/02 100% 682nd 9.5% 11%

The variation in rewards, from year to year, results from the
earlier pians having different performance and design
conditions depending on the level of the participating
executive. Effective 1 July 2004, all plans are the same in
design and have the same performance conditions as the plan
approved for the Managing Birecter by shareholders at the
2004 Annual General Meeting.

5. Service Agreement Provisions

PaperlinX has entered into service agreements with all of its
exacutives, none of which are for fixed terms. Details of the
periods of notice reguired to terminate the contract and the
termination paymenits provided under each contract are
outlined in Table 7. Actual payments will depend ¢n local legal
requirements. This reflects the differences in the practices
of businesses acquired around the globe and conditions that
were in place prior to acquisitions. Payment in lieu of notice
is calculated using the executive's TFR or notional base salary.
In addition to the specified termination payments, on
- termination all executives are entitled to receive their statutory
- entitlements of accrued annual and long service leave,
together with any superannuation benefits.

The Company may terminate the emp!oyment of any of the
disclosed executives summarily without notice or payment in
lieu if the-executive is found guilty of serious miscenduct,
becomes of unsound mind, becomes insolvent oris declared
bankrupt.

[TablerZ:|Servicelagreement provisions

.Executive
Executive Company notice/payment period notice
TP Park 12 months ! 3 months
D M Goldthorp 12 months 1 month
D M Lamont 12 months 3 months
"R F O'Brien 12 months ‘ 1 month
C B Creighton 12 months up to 25 years’ service 3 months

15 months if 25 up to 30 years’ service
18 months if 30 up to 35 years’ service
24 months if 3b+ years service

E de \:_'oogd

M J Fothergill

6 months 3 months

‘6 months

18 months

6. Non-executive Director Remuneration
6.1 Policy on Non-executive Director Remuneration

The Directors’ aggregate fees are within the $750,000 cap
previously approved by shareholders.
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We are seeking shareholder approval to increase the cap by
$335,000 to $1.085,000. Commentary on the reasons for thls
increase is included in the Notice of Meeting.

The remuneraticn of individual Non-executive Directors is
approved by the Board as a whcle on the recommendation of
the Nomination & Governance Committee, and having regard
to the principles that the remuneration should:

» Be competitive with other listed Australian companies to .
attract and retain suitably qualified and experienced
Non-executive Directors.

Reflect the complexity of the PaperlinX Group arising from
its international operations.

Provide additional remuneration for the responsibilities of
specific Non-executive Directors in chairing the Board and its
committees.

Non-executive Directors do not receive any performance-based
remuneration,

It is a policy of the Board that each Nan‘executive Director
increases their shareholding in the Company progressively so
that their holding is at least equal in value tc one year's fees.
Details of shareholdings are included in the Directors” Report
on page b1.

6.2 Non-executive Director Fees

The current base fee per annum for Non-executive Directors is
$92.00C for a Director and $265,000 for the Chairman of the |
Board. In addition, the Chairmian of the Audit Committee and
the Chairman of the Remuneration & Human Resources
Committee each receive an extra fee of $10.000 per annum.
The Chairman of the Safety & Environment Committee receives
an extra fee of $5.000 per annum.

6.3 Non-executive Director Retirement Allowance -

All current Non-executive Directors have entered into
agreements with the Company whereby retiring allowances
are paid upcn retirement or death. This retirement benefit,
which excludes superannuation entitlements, is based on the
average annual emoluments of the relevant Director over the
three years preceding retirement. .

The Board intends that, subject to sharehoclder approval being
obtained to an increase in the aggregate cap of Non-executive
Directors' fees, the retirement scheme will be terminated and
accumulated retirement entitlements at 31 December 2006 wilt
be frozen and held in individual accounts for Directors until
retirement. Revised remuneration arrangements will apply for
Non-executive Directors from 1 January 2007,

The accumulated accrued amount of retiring allowances for
Non-executive Directors has been fully expensed to profit over
the past five years,
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7. Directors’ and Senior Executives’ Remuneration - 2005/06 )
Details of the nature and amount of each element of the remuneration of each Directer and senior executive of the Company
who receive the highest remuneration and other key management personnel are set cut in Tables 8 and 9. All Directors and
senior exgcutives are employed by PaperlinX Group companies. No one is employed by PaperlinX Limited.

2005 2,863,069

572,612 87,673 37,300

168,069 389,292

Post-employment  Long-term Termination
Short-term benefits benefits benefits benefits Total
Z = z E 2
o T @ e £ _ g _ 5 o
8 5 - zE g 5:.35.88 % 2 35,
he) = ) 36 =wg_3 = Q awm.oe
o Eg - cg 2 EE wE¥d o 8 2 =32
S gz 8 22 = §3 535=£3 a g EEg
LE g v L =@ eT R = i &l
£ 5% £ 38 £ Ef 83238 £ £ Eiw E
%] ne d o (@] NS BxEbo 8 5] €58 2
% $ $ 3 % $ $ $ $ $ $
Directors
D E Meiklejohn
2006 265,000 24,840 82,896 372,736
2005 265,000 24840 117,778 407,618
TP Park
2006 1,696,628 . 892,238 33,5659 177,844 - 2,700,169
2005 ] 1,528,000 386,250 32.608 122,500 ' 2,069,358
. AFGuy ) ’
2006 87.300 9,700 8,730 53947 159,677
2005 87,300 9,700 8.730 58,607 164,337
B J Jackson
20086 71,400 " 30,600 9,180 32,929 144,109
2005 102,000 9,180 - 56,583 167,763
M L Scheinkestel
2006 102,000 9,180 34,225 145,405
2006 102,000 9,180 52,007 183,187
L A Walsh .
20086 92,000 8,280 33,415 133.695
2005 92,000 8,280 56,292 158,572
L J Yelland : )
2006 ) 64,400 27,600 8,280 32,125 132,405
. 2005 64,400 27,600 8,280 48,025 148,305
Former executive Dirgctor '
D G Abctomey
20060 661,788 157631 88,576 113,123 799,804 313,368 2,124,290
2005 622,369 186,362 55,065 89,579 17,150 980,525
Total . ‘ '
2006 ' 2,930,416 1,049,869 122,135 67,900 181,613 269,537 177,844 799,804 313,368 5,912,486 -

139,650 0 0 4,257,665

1 Accrued but not paid untit retirement.

2 The value of shares included as remuneration in this table represents the proportion of the value of the maximum potential number of shares per annum to
which each executive Director may become entitfed under the Company's long-term incentive plans as set out above, which is calculated based on an
estimate of the probabr.'.'ry of the performance criteria being achieved, The value of options is calculated usmg an appropriate valuation model and affocated

evenly over the vesting period.

13 Resigned as a Director of PaperlinX Limnited 31 Decernber 2005. On leave until 8 July 2006 when emp.foymenr w.'rh Paper Australia Pty Lid ceased.

Accumulated retiring allowances excluding superannuation as at 30 June 2006: D £ Merkfefohn $775,659; A F Guy — $253.050; B J Jackson - $2.95 338
N L Scheinkestel — 8294651 D A Walsh — 3255 069; | J Yelland - $265383.
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Table 9:{Senionexecutivesjremuneration

|

|
|

Post-
! . - employment Long-term Termination
Short-term benefits henefits benefits benefits Total
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Company executives
{excluding Directors)
C B Creighton
President — North America ’
2006 500,318 355,686 48,854 123,021 48,840 1,076,619
2005 ; 467, 143 207,359 31,589 13,901 2,140 - 722132
E de Voogd
. . Chief Executive Officer — PaperlinX Eur0pe
2008 551,736 168,346 57,661 192,694 79,059 ‘ 1,049,498
+ 2006 542,915 171.481 48,564 193,130 184,628 42149 1,182,847
. M J Fothergill
" Group General Manager — Merchanting Australasia : :
2006 485,840 170,188 70,191 - 111,345 . 49,308 B86.870
2005 486,394  -1561,044 37,082 172,375 107,115 10,667 944,677
i O M Geldthorp
Chief Operating Officer — Australian Paper ) . ’
2006 568,667 172,500 26,292 i 188,438 64,217 1,020,814
2005 506,187 167.066 30,077 79.815 17.150 . 799,289
. D M Lamcnt 2}
Chief Financial Officer . ’
, 2006 275,255 200,000t3 28,887 6,667 : 510,809
R F C'Brien ’ ’
Executive General Manager - Human Resources
. 2008 ' 426,591 141,429 72,079 46,925 67,547 754,571
2005 410,097 134,570 80.453 45111 42150 712,381
i Total ' :
20086 2,808,407 1,208,049 275,077 0 ~ 691,310 316,336 0 0 5,299,179
2005 . 2,391,736 831,500 227,759 365,505 430,570 114,256 .0 0 4,361,326

. "The value of shares included as remuneration in this table represents the proportion of the value of the maximum potential number of shares per anaum
which each executive may become entifed under the Company's long-term fncentive plans as set out above, which is calculated hased on an estirnate of
the probability of the performance criteria being achieved. The value of options is calculated using an appropriate valuation model and allocated evenly over.
the vesting period.

2 Commenced employmeant with PaperfinX Group on 13 February 2006, therefore no 2005 detads included in total, distorting the year on vear comparrson

13 Agreed incentive payment at hire date.
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Corporate Governance

PaperlinX supports and is committed to the pnnmples of best
practice in corporate governance, applied in a manner that is.
appropriate to the Company’s particular circumstances.

The Board has established a framework of processes and
guidelines for the gavernance of the Company that includes
policies and monitoring procedures, internal centrol systems,
a business risk management programme and standards for
ensuring lawful and ethical conduct.

The Board regularly reviews the content and application of the
. governance framework, thé composition and performance of
the Board and the membership and operation of the
committees of the Board with a view to achieving the highest
standards of Board performance and corporate governance.

PaperlinX considers that its corporate governance practices

- substantially comply with the ASX Corporate Governance
Council's best practice recommendatlons in all materia!
respects.

PaperlinX's Guidelines for Board Operation and Management
are posted on the Company's website along with ather
information about the Company’s corporate governance
practices.

- Role of the Board and Management

Management and control of the business and affairs of the
Company is vested in the Board under the Company’s
Constitution. In particular, the Board has the overall
responsibility for the conduct and governance of the Company
" including its strategic direction, the review of the strategic
plans established by the management team and the -
monitering of performance targets. -

The Board.does not itself manage the business of the
Company. Within the scope of the governance framework
established by the Board, management is delegated to the’
Managing Director and it is his responsibility to manage the
business, subject 1o the oversight and supervision of the
Board.

Responsibilities of the Board

The Board, amaongst other things:

+ reviews and approves management's plans for conducting
and developing the Company's business;

» approves any material changes to plans that have prewously

been approved by the Board,

places limits on the extent to which managerment can

commit resources or dispose of assets or raise funds

without specific approval,

. * reviews manthly reports from the Chief Financial Officer

covering financial performance against budget and reasons

if there are any material variations and trends;

regularly reviews reports from the Managing Director and

other executives covering all material aspects of the

Company’s business and operations, mcludlng key areas of

risk and importance; and

monitors the performance of senior rnernbers of

management

Matters that are reserved to the Board and are not within the
authority delegated to the Managing Director include:
(a) Appointment and remunégration of the Managing Director
" and general approval of policies relating to any sub-
" delegation by him.
{b} All matters relating to the issue of securities of the
Company.

o) Adoption of annual business plans and budgets and

approval of longerterm strategic plans for the Company
and all business units.

(d) Acquisition and disposal of major capital items.

(e} Major external borrowings and commitments as agreed
with the Chief Financial Cfficer.

fi Major guarantees of third parties and subsidiaries.

(g} Approval of Directors” Reports and financial statements for
release to shareholders and the ASX.
Approval of the Annual Report and any other significant
report or release to the ASX or sharehoiders. Any press
releases that relate to price sensitive information require
approval by the Chairman who will liaise with the Beard as
necessary.
{i) -Declaration cf dividends.
(il Approval of appointment of the Company Secretary and
the most senior executives who report directly to the
Managing Director and approval of the terms of
appointment and remuneration of those executives.
Approval, oversight and review of: '
» ‘audit functions and their performance, including the
appointment of internal and external auditors; .
* control and corporate governance functions and their
performance; and
* human resources and remuneration policies and
performance.
() Approval, oversight and review of the Company’s risk
management framework, including:
‘s environmental protection pelicies and performance; and
» workplace and public safety policies and performance.
(m} Approving any major donations proposed by the Managing
Director. ’

{h

(k

Operation of the Board

The Company. has a majority of independent Non-executive
Directors. The Chairman is an independent Non-executive
Director.

Currently there are seven Directors — six Non-executive
Directers and one executive Director. Al of the Non-executive
Directors are independent {in accordance with the definition in
the ASX Good Corporate Governance Recommendations) and
have no husiness or other relationships that could compromise
their independence. If a potential conflict of interest should
arise, the Director concerned is required te inform the
Chairman and Boeard accordingly and, if appropriate, leave the
Board meeting while the matter is considered. Directors keep
the Board advised of any interests that could potentially

.conflict with those of the Company. The Board assesses the
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|ndependence of Directors on an annual basis and as changes
Ain:Directors’ interests ocecur.
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Other than the Managing Director, all Directors are subject to
re-election by rotation every three years and Non-executive
Directors are only expected to serve on the Company’s Board
for terms of up to™11 years: Directors’ appointment and
election/re-election.dates are as follows:

-and conditions of the Directer’s appointment and detail the

* Last AGM at*

- Date appointed
Director to Board which elected
D E:Meiklejohn . 0711219989 . . 2004
TP Park 01/02/2004 2004
AF Guy 02/03/2001 2003
B J Jackson . 16/02/2000 2005
N L Scheinkestel 16/02/2000 | ©2004
L A Walsh- 27/07/20C0 2005
L J Yelland. 16/02/2000 2005

For the purposes of proper performance of their duties, after
consultaticn with the Chairman, all Directors have the right to.
seek independént’ professmnal adwce at the Company s
expense.

The Board conducts annual reviews of the internal gwdelmes
relating o corporate’ governance, Board-membership and
operation-and committee structures. This process ensures the
highest standards of governance and effectlveness are
maintained. .

The Board includes a mix of Directors with a range of skills,
experience and expertise to promote Board effectiveness.

At the date of this Report, there are no vacant positions on the
Board. Were a vacancy to exist or if it were considered that the
Board would benefit from the services of a new Director, the
Nomination & Governance Committee would {with external
advice if appropriate) seek to identify the qualities and
competencies required to enable the Board to fulfil its
responsibifities and recommend candidates with the
appropnate expertrse and experaence

The performance of the Board its committees-and |nd|V|duaI
Directors and key exécutives is evaluated annually. A review
of the performance of |nd|wdual Non-executive Directors,
including the Chalrman is conducted annually. Non-executive
Directors meet regularly without management present,

Non-executive Directors are paid fixed fees that are not
dependent upon the Company $ performance Details of
Directors’ and executives’ remuneration, including-in relation
to share and optron plans and policies relating thereto, are
covered in detail'in‘the Remuneration Repor‘r section of the
Directors” Report. -~

-All Directors have access to the Company Secretary. The -

In addition, the Company has an alternate secretary, Peter

2006 are set out in the Directors’ Report on page 51.

The Company has entered into formal Deeds of Appointment
with each of the Directors. These Deeds set aut the key terms

Company’s cerperate expectations of them. Under the Deeds:

+ Non-executive Directors must retire at the Board meetmg
following their 70th birthday.

* Non-executive Directors are entitled toc certain retirement
benefits, approved by shareholders, which accrue annually.
The Board has determined that any new Non-executive
Directors will not be entitied to retirement benefits and it is
proposed that the current arrangements will be phased out.
Mare information regarding the retirement benefits is
contained in the Remuneration Report section of the
Directors’ Report. : i

The skills, qualifications and experience of the Drrectors of the
Company in office at the date of this statement are set out in
this Concise Annual Report on pages 48 to 49.

Company Secretary

Company Secretary, who is also the Company's-General
Counsel, assists the Board with advice on compliance,
corperate governance and related matters.

The Company’s current Company Secretary is:

J K (James} Orr, LLB, BComm

James joined the Company in March 2006 and is responsibfe |
for all legal and Company secretarial matters. Former roles
include company secretarial and legal positions with Sigma Co
Ltd, Newcrest Mining Ltd, Westar Pty Ltd, Kinetik Energy Pty
Ltd, AUSI Pty Ltd and Japan Australia LNG {(MIMI} Pty Ltd.

Essex {whose details follow), who is able to act in that capacity
when the Company Secretary is absent.
P W (Peter) Essex, BCom, FCPA

Peter was appointed a Company Secretary of PaperlinX Limited
in 1999. He joined the Amcor Group in 1980 and has held 1
various management positions in Amcor and PaperlinX.

Board Committees .
To assist in the execution of its responsibilities, the Board has
established the following committees:

¢ Nomination & Governance

* Audit

* Remuneration & Human Resources

* Safety & Environment

All Committees have written Charters, which are set out in -
full on the Company’s website (www.paperlinx.com). The
committees operate principally in a review or advisory capacity,
excepl where powers.are expressly conferred on or delegated
to a committee by the Board, Each committee reports to the
full Board following a Committee-Meeting.

Details of the number of committee meetings and the
attendance record of members in the year ended 30 June




HIRECTURS' REPORT CONTINUED

Disclosure Policies

The Company has established pelicies and procedures
designed to guide compliance with ASX Listing Rule disclosure
requirernents, and to ensure accountability at a senlor
management level for that compliance,

The Continuous Disclosure pelicy sets out vetting and
authorisation processes designed to ensure any relevant
information requiring disclosure to the market:

* is made in a timely manner;

= is factual;

= does not omit material informaticn; and

* is expressed in a clear and objective manner.

Senior managers of-the Company are aware of the need to
advise the ASX of any information that may have a material
effect on the price or value of PaperlinX's securities.

The Managing Director and Chief Financial Officer together
with the Executive General Manager, Corporate Affairs and the
Company Secretary and General Counsel continuously review
all information of which they become aware for the purposes
of ASX Listing Rule 3.1. The Continuous Disclosure policy is
posted on the Company website.

Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer Certification

The Managing Director and the Chief Financial Officer prowde

a written statement to tha Board that:

« the Company's financial reports present a true and fair view

of the Company’s financial condition and operational results

in accordance with relevant accounting standards;

the statement is founded on a sound system of risk

management and internal compliance and control, which

implements the policies adopted by the Board; and ]

* the Company’s risk management and intermnal compliance
and control system is operating efficiently and effectively in
all material respects.
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Rights of Shareholders and Communications Strategy

The Company is committed to promating open and effective’
cornmumcatlon with its sharehoiders.

The Board aims to ensure that shareholders and the
Jinvestment market generally are informed in a timely manner
of all major developments affecting the Company s busmess
and affairs,

The Company’s Concise Annual Repor‘t is distributed to all
shareholders {éxcept any who specifically.request not to
receive it). The Concise Annual Report includes relevant
information about the operations, of the Company during the
year as well as a concise financial annual report for the year
together with all disclosures reqguired by the Corporations Act.
A copy of the Company's full financial report and Auditor’'s
Report will be sent to Shareholders free of charge, upon
request.

The Company also produces a half yearly financial repon
summarising the financial information and review of the
operations of the Company during each half year. The half
yearly financial report is prepared in accordance with the
applicable accounting standards and Corporations Act
requirements. it is sent to sharehelders and is lodged with the
Australian Securities and lnvestments Commission and-the
ASX, :

At the Annual General Meeting the Chairman addresses the
meeting on the results for the financial year under report and

other relevant issues, including developments durlng the

period since the end of that financial year.

Shareholders are encouraged to attend the Annual General
Meeting where ample opportunity is given for questlons and
answers. Questions can be lodged with the Company in
advance of the meeting.

The external auditor attends the Annual General Meeting and is

avallable to answer shareholder questions about the conduct
of the audit and the preparation and content of the Auditor's
Report.

The Company maintains a website at wivw.paperlinx.com.

The website is used to complement the official release of
material information to the ASX.

The Company’s annual and interim result announcements
together with all other relevant announcements made to the -
market are posted on the website as soon as is.practically”

* possible. The website also contams other relevant material

including:
« the Chairman’s address at the Annuaf General Meetlng,

. matenal that i$ posted on the website as recommended in

the ASX Good Corporate Governance Recommendations;
* adedicated Investor Relations section;
* profiles of the Bodrd and senior management; and
» analyst briefings, which are given on a regular basis.
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Other Stakeholders

The Board and management recognise the legitimate interests
of all stakeholders in the Company, including shareholders,
employees, suppliers, customers and the wider community.
The Company is committed to policies and practices that are
aimed &t improving these relationships through mutually
beneficial outcomes. Further information-about the Company's
corporate values, pelicies and systems of internai compliance
and control are set out on the Company's website. More
information on the Company s sustainability policies and
processes are set out in the Sustainability Report i ncluded on
pages 29 to 47 of this Concise Annual Report.

~ Signed in Melbourne thls 21st day of August 2006

IS

David Meiklejohn
Chairman

4 J:n;C———‘

Thomas P Park )
Managing Director and
Chief Executive Officer
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Lead Auditor’s Independence Declaration under Section
307C of the Corporations Act 2001

To: the Directers of PaperlinX Limited

| declare that, to the best of my knawledge and belief, in

relation to the audit for the financial year ended 30 June 2006

there have been: ) }

* no contraventions,of the auditor independence requirements
as set out in the Corporations Act 2001 in relation to the
audit; and .
no contraventions of any applicable cede of professional

. conduct in relation to the audit. .

oo

KPMG

Peter Jovic
Partner

Melbourne
21 August 2006




FINANCE
OVERVIEW

- Financial Position
Debt

In February 2006 PaperlinX decreased the size of its
multi-currency bank debt facility from US$850 million to
US$815 million thereby continuing to ensure adequate financial
flexibility and to take advantage of competitive interest rates.

PaperlinX has an appropriate mix of long, medium and
short-term debt.

PaperiinX is in a strong financial position with key financial
- indicators at 30 June 2006 of:
* gearing:
- net debt to net debt plus equlty of 36 per cent
- net debt to equity of 56.2 per cent;
* interest cover of 2.3 times;
» funds employed are $2,512 million;
= stockholders equity is $1,609 million.

All of the ratios are in compliance with the Group's debt
covenants,

Cash Flow and Working Capital

For the year to 30 June 2006, PaperlinX had a strong operating
cash flow of $260 million, including the combination of
operating earnings, non-cash depreciation and amortisation of
$105 million and the benefit of reduced working capital.

Minimising working capital and achieving strong cash flow

continues to be a key management focus. All businasses

improved their working capital to sales ratios and the Group's

working capital efficiency measures for debtors, |nventory and
_creditors all improved on the pricr year.

Capital Expenditure

Capital expenditure for the year was $101 million (excluding
acquisiticns) being 97 per cent of depreciation. PaperlinX's
target is for capital expenditure 10 be approximately equal to
depreciation expense. PaperlinX's capital expenditure over the
last six years has been below depreciation expense while a ©
number of strategic projects have been considered.

In March 2005 an acquisition of Spicers Canada (previously
Cascades Merchanting) was completed in Canada at a cost of
A$104.2 million, which has been successfully.integrated into
our pre-existing Canadian business.

Funding

At 30 June 20086, PaperlinX had net debt of $903 million
{prior year $874 million), represented by:

+ Interest bearing liabilities $1,358 million
+ Cash assets $455 million
« Net debt $903 million

PaperiinX's policy on interest rate risk management is to
monitor and, where appropriate, hedge the Company's
exposure to movements in intergst via a combination of
interest rate swaps and fixed rate issuances.

Offshore debt is managed to minimise the translation impact
on the Company’s Australian balance sheet while optimising
the returns to the Company.

PaperlinX actively reviews funding options to achieve the
lowest possible cost of funds.

AIFRS :
This Financial Report is the first from PaperlinX to be prepared

- in accordance with Australian equivalents to International

Financial Reporting Standards (AIFRS).
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The Financial Statements and other specific dis¢losures have been derived from PaperlinX Limited and its Controlted Entities
{'consolidated entity’) Full Financial Report for the financial year. Other information included on the Concise Annual Report is consistent
with the consolidated entity's Full Financial Report.

The Concise Annual Report does not, and cannot be expected 1o, provide as full an understanding of the financial performance, financial
position and financing and investing activities of the consolidated entity as the Full Financial Report.

A copy of the consolidated entity’s 2006 Full Financial Repont, including the independent audit report, is available to all shareholders,
and will be sent to shareholders without charge upon request. The 2008 Full Financial Report can be requested by telephone
(Australia: 1800 232 867, Overseas: +61 3 8415 4000) and by email at contact@www.paperlinx.com.au.
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INGUNIL oIRILIVILIVY

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE

’

2006 2005

Sm $m

Revenue 73923 75829.
Other income 273 .46
Expenses {7,267.8}| (7.405.1)
Resuit from operating activities 152.0 l 182.4
Financial income 7.3 43
Financial expenses {73.1) {75.1)
Net financing costs (65.8) {70.8)
Profit before tax 86.2 11186
Tax benefit/expense} {21.5} 55.1
Profit after income tax expense but before profit and loss of discontinuing operations 64.7 166.7
Profit and loss of discontinuing operations, net of tax 0.7 -
Profit for the year 654 | 166.7
Profit for the year attributable to:
Equity holders of the parent 65.4 166.6
Minority interast - 0.1

654 | 1667
Basic earnings per share from continuing operations 14.5 37.3
Diluted earnings per share from continuing operations 14.3 37.1

The income staternent is to be read in conjunction with the discussion and analysis on page 70 and the notes 1 to 9 to the Financial Statements,

as attached.




QIAILIVIEN ] Ur RELUGITOLD INLUIVIE AL CAFCIOL
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE

Consolidated

2006 2005
$m $m
Net foreign exchange differences on translation of overseas subsidiaries 26.7 {44.2):
Actuarial gainsf{losses) on defined benefit plans 30.0 {339}
Net income recognised in equity 56.7 {78.1}
Profit for the period 65.4 166.7
Total recognised income and expense for the period 1221 88.6
Total recognised income and expense for the pericd attributable to: ‘
Equity holders of the parent 122.1 885 .
Minority interest - 0.1
[ 1221| 886
Effects of change in accounting policy — Adjustment to comply with
AASB 139 Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement
Equity holders of the parent 0.3 -
Minority interest - -
| 03 | -

The statement of recognised income and expense is to be read in conjunction with the discussion and analysis on page 70 and the notes 1 to 9 to

the Financial Statements, as attached.
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DALANGL JNLL]
AS AT 30 JURE

Consolidated

! 2006 2005
Note $m $m

Current assets
Cash and cash equivalents 4551 4281
Trade and other receivables 15418 1.433.2
Inventories 864.1 811.7
Assets classified as held for sale 19.6 -
Total current assets 2,8B80.6 ' 26740
Non-current assets
Receivables 89 5.4
Investments 141 133
Property, plant and equipment 930.8 985.2
Intangible assets 4216 403.7
Deferred tax assets 744 85.2
Total non-current assets 1,509.8 1,492.8
“Total assets 4,3904 l 4,166.8
Current liabilities
Trade and other payables 1.172.9 1.0419
Interest bearing lcans and borrowings 1.7 2666
Income tax payable 986 38
Employee benefits 4.4 40.9
Provisions 138 19.8
Liabilities classified as held for sale 0.9 -
Total current liabilities 1,460.3 1,373.0
Non-current liabilities
Payables 831 118.6
Interest bearing loans and borrowings 1136.7 1,036.0
Deferred tax liabilities 434 34
Employee benefits 373 389
Provisians 10.9 3.2
Total non-current liabilities 13214 1.231.1
Total liabilities 27817 2,604.1
Net assets 1.608.7 1,562.7
Equity
Issued capital 3 1,621.8 1.691.5
Reserves 4 (45.0) {71.7)
Retained profits 5 {38.2} {58.1}
Total equity attributable to:
Equity holders of the parent 1.608.7 1.561.7
Minority interest - 1.0
Total equity 16087 | 15627

The balance sheet is to be read in conjunction with the discussion and analysis on page 70 and the notes 1 to 9 to the Financial Staternents, as

attached.




STATEMENT OF GASH FLOWS

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE

AConsolidated !

2006 2005
$m Sm

Cash flows from operating activities
Receipts from customers 74317 76416
Payments to suppliers and employees {71139} (7.271.8)
Dividends received 0.8 0.3
Interest received 5.7 44
Interest paid {69.6} {74.3}
Income taxes paid 6.1} {36.9)
Other income received 12 10.1
Net cash from operating activilies 2598 1 2734,
Cash flows from investing activities
Loans {advanced to)frepaid by other persons {0.9) 09
Acquisition of: | .
« Subsidiaries ;and assets {net of cash and bank overdraft acquired) (100.9) (44.6)
* Property, plant and equipment and intangibles (101.4) (86.3}:
Proceeds on disposal of: .
* Propenty, plant and equipment 51.1 295"
Net cash used in investing activities I {152.1) I {100.5)
Cash flows from financing activities _ !
Dividends paid (77.8) {122.3)
Proceeds from issue of shares . - 04’
Loans (repaid to)received from other persons 0.2 (3.1)
Proceeds from borrowings 1,196.0 669.2
Repayment of borrowings (1,171.3) {711.3}
Principal lease repayments - (0.1}
Net cash used in financing activities (92.9) {167.2)
Net increase in cash and cash equivalents 14.8 57
Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the year 4778 4450
Effect of exchange rate changes on translation of foreign currency cash flows and cash balances 1.3 (22.9)
Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the year 453.9 ] 4278

The Statement of Cash Flows is to be read in conjunction with the discussion and analysis on page 70 and the notes 1 o 8 to the Financial

Statements, as attached.

]




UidLUdIUIN AND ANALYS1D

This discussion and analysis is provided to assist readers in
understanding the concise financial repert of PaperlinX Limited.
The concise financial report has been derived from the full 2006
financial report.

income Statement

The consolidated profit after tax was $65.4 million compared 1o the
prior year of $89.6 million, down 27 per cent. The prior year profit
after tax excludes a $77 million once only benefit arising in that
year from the Company’s election to enter the Australian Tax
Consolidation (ATC’} regime. Prior year including the ATC benefit
was $166.6 million,

Earnings before interest and tax {('EBIT'} of $152.4 million were
down 15 per cent on the prior year. EBIT included a range of one-
off items both positive and negative, Profit on sale of surplus
property has largely funded the one-off costs associated with the
Group's key strategic initiatives highlighted at the half year results.
The net impact on reported profit of these items was a loss of

$4 million.

The Paper Merchanting business achieved EBIT of $190.4 million,
down 2 per cent from $194.1 miltion in the prior year. Eamings
include net benefits of $93.4 million, where the profit on sale of
surplus property assets has more than offset one-off costs
associated with a number of the strategic initiatives being
undertaken in the Paper Merchanting business. Underlying
operating earnings have been impacted by lower average prices
and soft volumes, particuiarly in Europe {the UK and Netherlands)
and New Zealand. Cost increases, while mitigated by management
of expenses and other internal initiatives, have also impacted

the results.

Return on average funds employed was 11.5 per cent, which is
above the Group cost of capital. Overall expenses were reduced
by 2 per cent and working capital reductions have continued,
with all businesses at lower levels than a year ago.

Operating earings were impacted by lower earnings in Europe
(down 4 per cent in local currency, including one-off benefits) and
in Australasia (down 13 per cent), balanced by a strong 36 per cent
improvement in North America, which refiected the inclusion of
Spicers Canada {formerly Cascades Merchanting) for four months
and the leverage to higher paper prices. Mix benefits included in
these numbers include growth of core brands (+8 per cent) and an
improved stock sales to indent sales ratio in Europe.

Earnings from Australian Paper have remained under significant
pressure. EBIT of ${4.1) million included $17.1 million in one-off
charges for the closure of the number 1 paper machine at
Shoalhaven Mill in NSW and Maryvale PM1 commissioning costs,
partly offset by profit on the sale of nen-core assets of $3.5 million.
They also reflect the continued impact of depressed Australian
paper prices, oversupply in global paper markets and higher input
costs (up $10.5 millicn over the past year). Energy costs rose most
sharply, up 38 per cent. The current environment has not allowed
these cost increases to be passed on. With paper prices down

4 per cent on average, and costs up, average margin per tonne

of product sold has falten 4.4 per cent.

Previous investments to improve the quality of copy paper
manufactured at Maryvale Mill have underpinned a 12.3 per cent
growth in domestic volume and over five points of market share
growth. The upgrade of the number 1 paper machine at Maryvale
Mill has been completed. The Maryvale pulp mill upgrade is
progressing te plan. The number 1 paper machine at Shoalhaven
Mill was closed in March as planned with production being
transferred to Maryvale Mill. A conditional agreement has been
reached to cutsource the Maryvale Mill wood yard, reducing costs
and improving efficiency. Additionally, PaperlinX Office has been
launched, combining three PaperlinX businesses that service the
Austratian office products and stationery markets.
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Corporate and Other was a net cost of $33.9 million, compared

to the prior year net cost of $26.1 million, Corporate costs were

at a similar level to the prior year, but a number of small positive
one-off items in the prior year were not repeated. Corporate also
includes the Stationery and Envelope business, tudor Group,.which
faced pressure from low-priced imports, with reduced pricing
affecting margins. Second half earnings saw a significant
deterioration.

Net interest reduced to $65.1 million from $68.5 million in the prior
year due to lower average debi levels as a result of reduced
working capital levels and currency translations.

The Operating Income Tax Expense rose to 25 per cent of profit
befare tax, from 20 per cent in the prior year {excluding the ATC
benefit), reflecting the shift in regional profit mix and the impact
of not booking tax losses in Australia.

The net profit after tax translated into basic earnings per share
of 14.7 cents from continuing and discontinuing operations.

International Financial Reporting Standards {AIFRS’)

These results are reported against the Australian equivalents to
the International Financial Reporting Standards {AIFRS) as issued
by the Australian Accounting Standards Board. The prier
corresponding period results have alsc been restated.

Balance Sheet

At 30 June 2008, total assets were $4,390 million. The Group’s
gearing, measured as net debt 1o net debt plus equity, was

36 per cent, which is stronger than the Group's 1arget range of

40 per cent to 50 per cent. Net debt at June 2006 was $903 million,
compared to the prior year of $873 million.

There have been no significant changes in funding arrangements.

Net working capital for the Group at 30 June 2006 was $1,277
million, Adjusted for currency impact (353 million increase) and
acquisitions {$94 million increase}, the underlying improvement
was $92 million, All three components of working capital, debtors,
inventory and creditors improved versus prior period. Working
capital is transtated to Australian currency from the various local
cutrencies.

Statement of Cash Flows

Cash generated by operations excluding working capital
movement was $170 million. Net cash flow from operations after
working capital movements was at $260 million.

Capital expenditure in the period was $101 million, which was

97 per ¢cent of depreciation, amartisation and impairment. In the
last year PapertinX has committed to an upgrade of its pulping
capacity and asscciated facilities at the Maryvale Mill at a cost of
$203 million over the next three years. Total acquisition costs were
$101 million, most notably Spicers Canada.




NOTES T0 THE FINANGIAL STATEVENTS

AS AT 30 JUNE 2006

Accounting policies

{1) Basis of preparation of concise financial report

The concise financial report has been prepared in accordance with
the Corporations Act 2001, Accounting Standard AASE 1039
Congcise Financial Reports and applicable Urgent Issues Group
Consensus Views. The Financial Statements and specific
disclosuras required by AASB 1039 have been derived from the
consolidated entity's Full Financial Report for the financial year.
Other information included in the concise financial report is
consistent with the cansolidated entity’s Full Financial Report.
The concise financial report does not, and cannot be expected to,
provide as full an understanding of the financial performance,
financial position and financing and investing activities of the
consolidated entity as the Full Financial Report.

The Financial Report is prepared on the historical cost basis except
that the following assets and liabilities are stated at their fair value:
derivative financial instruments, financial instruments held for
trading and financial instruments classified as available-for-sale.

A full description of the accounting policies adopted by the
consalidated entity may be found in the consolidated entity’s Fult
Financial Report.

These accounting policies have been consistently applied by each
entity in the consolidated entity and, except where there is a
change in accounting policy as set out in Note ¥(2), are consistent
with those of the previous year.

The presentation currency is Australian dollars.

{2) Change in accounting policy

The consolidated entity has taken advantage of the election under
AASB 1 to not restate for AASB 132 Financial Instruments:
Disclosure and Presentation and AASB 139 Financial Instruments:
Recognition and Measurement.

There are no adjustments for 1 July 2004 or the financial year .
ended 30 June 2005 as previous Australian Generally Accepted
Accounting Principles {AGAAP) continue to apply.

As at 1 July 2005, the adjustments to the consolidated entity are
as follows:

+» Under previous AGAAP not all derivatives were recognised in the
balance sheet. On adoption of AASB 138, all derivatives are
recognised at fair value on the balance sheet. The effect on the
consolidated entity is to record the fair value of the derivatives
on the balance sheat with a corresponding decrease in retained
earnings of $0.3 million, net of tax of $0.1 million.

Debt establishment costs which were capitalised and amortised
over the term of the borrowing under previcus AGAAP are
recalculated based on the effective interest rate method and
recognised as part of the liability rather than as a separate asset.
This results in a decrease in assets of $4.0 million, and a
decrease in financial liabilities of $4.0 million.

2006 2005 '
$m $m
Dividends .
Interim dividend paid: '
+ 5.5 cents per share paid on 5 April 2006, Nil% franked at a rate of 30% tax rate on fully paid shares @ 246 -
+ 13.5 cents per share paid on 4 April 2005, Nil% franked at a 30% tax rate on fully paid shares (1 - 60.2 !,
Final dividend paid:
* 12 cents per share paid on 28 September 2005, Nil% franked at a 30% tax rate on fully paid shares " 535 -,
« 14 cents per share paid on 30 September 2004, Nil% {ranked at a 30% 1ax rate on fully paid shares (!} - 62.5
781 1227

PaperfinX Limited has declared a dividend, at the date of this Report, on ordinary shares payable 13 October 2006 - 4.5 cents per share, .
unfranked on fully paid shares. This dividend has not been provided for in the accounts as at 30 June 2006.

it is expected that the interim dividend in respect of the year ending 30 June 2007 will be unfranked.

11 Paid out of profits measured in accoerdance with Australian Accounting Standards and other financial reporting requirernents applicable for the

year ended 30 June 2005.

@) Paidf out of profits measured in accordance with Australian equivalents to International Financial Reporting Standards and issued by the Australian
Accounting Standards Board and the financial reporting requirements applicable for the year ended 30 June 2006. '
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NOTES TQ THE HNANCIAL STATEMENTS CONTINUED
AS AT 30 JUNE 2006

2006 2005
$m $m

Issued capital
Issued and paid-up share capital _
446,182,209 ordinary shares C .| 18842 1,694 .2
{2005:.446,172,209 ordinary shares)
Employee Share Plan loans . ‘ ' 2.3 2.7
Total issued capital : | 18919] 1695
Movement in ordinary share capital:
Balance at beginning of year - 1,694.2 1.693.8
10,000 (2005; 27.500) shares issued at $3.32 each pursuant to options exercised . - I 0.1
Nil (2006:; 55,000) shares issued at $3.50 each pursuvant to opticns exercised . - 0.2
Nil {2006: 23,100) shares issued at $4.12 each pursuant to options exercised - 01"
Balance at end of year b 16942 ] 16942
Movement in Employee Share Plan loans: -
Balance at beginning of periad . (2.7 . 3
Repayments . . 0.4 0.4
Balance at end of year - | {2.3) | (2.7)
Reserves
Reserve for own shares .
Balance at beginning of year {9.7) 19.7)
Balance at end of year I a7 I (8.7}
Translation reserve - :
Balance at beginning of year ' (62.0) (17.8)
Exchange fluctuation on translation of overseas subsidiaries 26.7 (44.2)
Balance at end of year ’ : | 3631 | {62.0}
Total reserves ' | wol @1

Nature and purpose of reserves
Reserve for own shares

The reserve for own shares represents the value of shares held by an equity compensation plan that the consolidated entity is required to
include in the consolidated financial statements. This reserve will be reversed against share capital when the underlying shares vest in the
employee. No gain or loss is recognised in profit or loss on the purchase, sale issue or cancellation of the consolidated entity’s own
aquity instruments.

Transiation reserve

The translation reserve records the foreign currency differences arising from the translation of the financial statements of foreign
subsidiaries and the impact of transactions that hedge the Company’s net investment in a foreign operation, net of tax.
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Consolidated

2006 2005 .

$m $m
— Retained profits ..
Balance at beginning of year ’ . (68.1) (70.4) -
Adjustment to comply with AASB 139 F:nancual Instruments: Recognition and Measurermnent (0.3) —
Balance restated (68.4) {70.4) '

Net profit attributabie to members of PaperlinX lelted ’ 654 166.6
Employee share options and rights 29 23 ';

Actuarial gainsfllosses) on defined benefit plans ’ 300 {33.9) |
Dividends paid . {78.1) (122, 7) .
Total retained profits . ) ' @82} 81
Contingent liabilities ' . ;
Contingent liabilities arising in respect of: ' .
Related bodies corporate: ) .
* Bank guarantees (irade) 73 52 1,
Total contingent liabilities I 7.3 52

The bank guarantees {trade}, the beneficiaries of which are third parties, are primarily in relatlon to the importation of products.
Capital expenditure is incurred annually to enhance environmental performance. There can be no assurance that material new |
expenditure will not be required as a result of new information or regulatory reguirements with respect to known sites or identification
of new remedial obligations at other sites.

Under the terms of the ASIC Class Order 98/1418 dated 13 August 1998 (as amended) PaperlinX Limited and certain subsidiaries have
entered into approved deeds for the cross guarantee of liabilities with those subsidiaries identified.
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NOTES T0 THE FINANCIAL STATEMEATS CONTINUED
AS AT 30 JUNE 2006

Segment reporting

Business segments

The consolidated entity comprises the following main business segments, based an the consolidated entity’s management and internal
reporting system.

Segment Description of operations

Merchanting and Paper Trading Interr|1_ationa| paper merchant and paper trader supplying the printing and publishing industry and office
supplies.

Communication Papers Manufacture of office papers, graphic papers, converting papers and other speciality and coated papers.

Packaging Papers Manufacture of packaging papers and industrial papers. Products include kraftliners, sack kraft and light
weight bag and industrial papers, sold predominantly to converting customers,

Corporate and QOther Includes stationery and envelopes business and corporate costs.

Consolidated

Segment Segment Segment Segment
resultt revenue assets liabilities
$m $m m $m
For the year ended 30 June 2006
Business segments
Merchanting and Paper Trading
* Continuing operations 189.1 6,900.5 32414 1,163.0
* Discontinuing operations 1.3 29.5 19.6 0.9
190.4 6,930.0 32610 1.163.9
Communication Papers (9.4) 674.4 635.0 118.7
Packaging Papers 53 2418 288.4 186
Corporate and Other (33.9) 94.4 12186 461
Profit before net interest and income tax ‘ 1524
Net interast (1} {65.1}
Profit before incorme tax 873
Income tax expense (1 (21.9)
Income tax credit - Australian Tax Consolidation{1} -
Profit after income tax expense 65.4
Net profit attributable to minority interests - -
Inter-segment sales 12 - (627.9)
Unallocated assets (deferred tax balances) . 744
Unallocated liabilities 14114
Total 65.4 74127 4,390.4 2,781.7
For the year ended 30 June 2005
Business segments
Merchanting and Paper Trading 184.1 7.035.3 3,054.0 1,045.9
Communication Papers 2.1 699.8 622.9 124.3
Packaging Papers 10.0 2429 292.2 41.3
Corporate and Other {26.1} 100.6 1125 528
Profit before net interest and income tax 180.1
Net interestil {68.5)
Profit before income tax 1116
Income tax expense (1 (21.9)
_Income tax benefit - Australian Tax Consolidation (1 77.0
Profit after income tax expense 166.7
Net profit attributable to minority interests {0.1}
Inter-segment sales (2 (504.5)
Unallocated assets (deferred tax balances) 85.2
Unallocated liabilities _ 1.339.8
Total 166.6 75741 4,166.8 2,604.1

1) Interest and income tax expense are not allocated internally 1o the segments but held centrally.
2 Intersegment sales comprise sales of paper, which are priced on an armv'’s length basis.
B The segment result for the individual business segments is the profit before net interest and income itax.
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INote 8. ] Impact of adopting Australian equivalents to International Financial Reporting Standards . ,

Explanation

As stated in Note 1, these are the consolidated entity’s first annual
condensed consolidated financial statements prepared in
accordance with Australian equivalents to International Financial
Reporting Standards (AIFRS}.

The accounting policies in Note 1 have been applied in preparing
the condensed consolidated financial statements for the year
ended 30 June 2008, the comparative information for the year
ended 30 June 2005 and the preparation of an opening AIFRS
balance sheet at 1 July 2004 {the consolidation entity’s date of
transition}.

In preparing its opening AIFRS balance sheet, comparative
information far the year ended 30 June 2005, the consotidated
entity has adjusted amounts reported previously in Financial
Staterments prepared in accordance with the previous basis of
accounting {previous AGAAP).

An explanation of how the transition from previous AGAAP to
AIFRS has affected the consolidated entity’s balance sheets,
income statements and cash flows is set out in the following
tables and the notes that accompany the tables.

The following note details the impact of adeption.of AIFRS on
the following items:

+ Net assets as at 1 July 2004.

« Profit as reported for the year ended 30 June 2005.

* Net assets as at 30 June 2005. .

There are no material differences in these amounts to those
previously indicated in the Financial Report for the year ended
30 June 2005.

Notes

(i} Defined benefit plans

Under AGAAP defined henefit plans were accounted for on a cash
basis, with no defined benefit obligation or plan assets recognised
in the balance sheets. The AASB 1 election to recognise in full
actuarial gains and losses at transition date through retained
earnings has been adopted by the consolidated entity.

Under AIFRS, the consolidated entity's net obligation in respect of
defined benefit suparannuation plans will be calculated separately
for each plan by estimating the amount of future benefit that
employeas have earned in return for their service in the current
and prior periods; that benefit will be discounted to determine its
present value, and the fair value of any plan assets will be
deducted. The discount rate is the rate attached to AAA credit
rated bonds or the rate attaching to national government bonds at
reporting date which most closely match the terms of maturity of
the related liabilities.

The catculated surplus or deficit for each plan is required to be
recognised in the balance sheets with a corresponding adjustment
to retained earnings.,

Subsequent to the transition date, the calculated surplus or deficit
for each plan is requited to be recognised in the income
statement, except to the extent that it arises in relation to actuarial
gains and losses. Actuarial gains and losses that arise subsequent
to the transition date are recognised in the balance sheet as an
adjustment to resained earnings.

At 1 July 2004, the impact on transition is an increase in assets of
$2.8 million, and an increase in liabilities of $51.5 million less the
applicable tax effect of $18.8 million resulting in a decrease in
retained earnings of $29.9 million. ’

For the year ended 30 June 2005, the impact is an increase in
employee benefits expense of $1.0 million plus the applicable tax
effect of $0.1 million resulting in a decrease in reported earnings of
$1.1 millien. The impact in relation to actuarial gains and losses,
net of tax is a decrease in retained earnings of $33.8 million.

The cumulative impact as at 30 June 2005 is a decrease in retained
earnings of $64.8 miliion.
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{77} Share based payments
Under AGAAP no expense was recognised for options issued to
employees.

Under AIFRS, the fair value of options granted must be recognised
as an employee benefit expense with a corresponding increase in +
equity. The fair value is calculated at grant date taking into account ..
market performance conditions only, and spread over the vesting
period during which the employaes become unconditionally '
entitled to the options. The fair value of options granted is o
independently calculated using a suitable valuation model
(currently either the Monte Carlo simulation er Black-Scholes
model), taking inte account the terms and conditions attached to
the options. The amount recognised as an expense is adjusted to
reflect the actual number of options that vest except where
forfeiture is due to market related conditions.

No adjustments were made for options granted before

7 November 2002, Options granted after 7 November 2002
remaining unvested at 1 January 2004, will be recognised in the
opening balance sheet through retained earnings resulting in a nil 1 -
impact on transition.

At 1 July 2004, there is a $Nil impact in retained earnings. ]

For the year ended 30 June 2005, the impact is an increase in
employee benefits expense of $2.3 million resulting in a decrease |
in reported earnings of $2.3 million.

The cumulative impact as at 30 June 2005 is a $Nil impact in
retained earnings.

fiii) Employee Share Plan loans \
Under AGAAP the interest-free loans to employees in accordance |
with the terms of the Employee Share Plan were recorded as an
asset and repaid over time via the associated dividend stream. P

Under AIFRS, the vatue of such loans is required to be reclassified ;
against share capital. ‘
At 1 July 2004, the impact on transiticn is a decrease in non-
current assets of $3.4 rillion and a decrease in issued capital of
$3.4 miliion.

During the year ended 30 June 2005, the Employee Share Plan )
loans are reduced either by dividends paid on the shares, so -
issued, or in certain circumstances in accordance with an agreed
schedule of repayments, which does not exceed three years.

The cumulative impact as at 30 June 2005 is a decreass in non-
current assets of $2.7 millien and a decrease in issued capital of
$2.7 million.

{iv) Reserve for own shares

Under AGAAP the cost of shares purchased on-market, and held
in a trust to satisfy the terms and conditions of the Performance
Share Plan, is recorded as an asset and amortised over the
applicable vesting period.

Under AIFRS, the cost of the shares are recorded as a negative
reserve and not amortised to profit.

At 1 July 2004, the impact on transition is an increase in assets
of $5.1 million {being the accumulated amortisation as at 30 June .
2004) to a tota!l of $10.2 million. The reinstated asset amount is
then reclassified in the balance sheet resulting in a decrease in
assets of $10.2 million and a decrease in reserves of $10.2 million. |

The increase in assets of $5.1 million less the applicable tax

effect of $1.5 mitlion results in an increase in retained profits of & |
$3.6 million. The impact of shares allocated to employeesisan .
increase in reserves of $0.5 million and a decrease in retained '
profits of $0.5 million.

For the year ended 30 June 2005, the impact is an increase in
employee benefit expense of $1.0 million less the applicable tax
effect of $0.3 million resulting in a decrease in reported earnings
of $0.7 million.




NOTES TO THE HNANGIAL STATEMENTS CONTINUED
AS AT 30 JUNE 2006

Impact of adopting Australian equivalents to International Financial Reporting Standards (continued}

The cumulative impact as at 30 June 2005 is an increase in
retained profits of $2.4 miilion and a decrease in reserves of
£9.7 million.

v} Impairment of non-current assets

Under AGAAR the carrying amounts of non-current assets valued
on a cost basis, were reviewed at reporting date to determine
whether they are in excess of their recoverable amount. If the
carrying amount of a non-current asset exceeded its recoverable
amount the asset was written down to the lower amount, with the
write-down recognised in the income statement in the period in
which it occurs. Where a group of assets working together
supports the generation of cash inflows, recoverable amount is
assessed in relation to that group of assets. In assessing
recoverable amounts, the relevant cash flows have not been
discounted to their present value.

Under AIFRS, the carrying amount of the consolidated entity’s
non-current assets, defined benefit assets, deferred tax assets,
goodwill and indefinite life intangible assets {brand names} is
reviewed at each reporting date to determine whether there is any
indication of impairment. If any such indication exists, the asset is
tested for impairment by comparing its recoverable amount to its
carrying amount.

The major differences between AGAAP and AIFRS are as follows:

+ the impairment test is performed at a cash generating unit level,
and

* the cash flows must be discounted.

Goadwill, which is not amortised under AIFRS and intangible
assets (brand names} that have an indefinite useful life are tested
for impairment annually.

If there is any indication that an asset is impaired, the recoverahle
amount is estimated for the individual asset. If it is not practical to
estimate the recoverable arnount for the individual asset, the
recoverable amount of the cash generating unit to which the asset
belongs is determined.

A cash generating unit is the smallest identifisble group of assets
that generate independent cash inflows. Each cash generating unit
must be no larger than a segment.

An impairment loss is recognised in the income statement
whenever the carrying amount of an asset, or its cash generating
unit exceeds its recoverable amount.

Impairment losses recognised in respect of a cash generating unit
are allocated first to reduce the carrying amount of any goodwill
allocated to the cash generating unit and then 10 reduce the
carrying amount of the other assets in the unit pro rata based on
their carrying amounts. The discount rate used equates to the
consolidated entity's pre-tax weighted average cost of capital,
being 9.5 per cent.

At 1 July 2004, the impact on transition is a decrease in property,
plant and equipment of $241.5 million less the applicable tax effect
of $58.8 million resulting in a decrease in retained earmings of
$182.9 million.

For the year ended 30 June 2005, the impact is a decrease in
property, plant and equipment of $12.4 million less the applicable
tax effect of $3.7 million resulting in a decrease in reported
earnings of $8.7 million.

The cumutative impact as at 30 June 2005 is a decrease in
property. plant and equipment of $253.9 million less the applicable
tax effect of $62.3 million resulting in a decrease in retained
earnings of $191.6 million.
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The impairment losses relate wholly to certain mills in the
Communication Papers industry segment of the Australian Paper
manufacturing business. The impairment losses arise as a
consequence of lower cash generation due to the impact of
depressed Australian paper selling prices as a combined result of a
strong Australian dollar and an oversupply in global paper markets.

{vi) Income tax

On transition o AIFRS, the balance sheet method of tax-effect
accounting was adopted, rather than the liability method applied
currently under AGAAR

Under the halance sheet approach, income tax on the profit and
loss for the year comprises current and deferred taxes.

The provision for income tax is the expected tax payable on the
taxable income for the year, using tax rates enacted or
substantively enacted at reporting date, and any adjustments to
tax payable in respect of previous years.

Deferred tax is provided using the balance sheet liability method,
providing for temporary differences between the carrying amount
of assets and liahilities for financial reporting purposes and the
amounts used for taxation purposes. The amount of deferred tax
provided will be based on the expected manner of realisation of
the asset or settlement of the hability, using tax rates enacted or
substantively enacted at reporting date.

A deferred tax asset is recognised only to the extent that it is
probable that future taxable profits will be available against which
the asset can be utilised. Deferred tax assets are reduced to the
extent it is no longer probable that the related tax benefit will be
realised.

Difference in book value of assets and tax value of assets

At 1 July 2004, the impact on transition is an increase in deferred
tax fiabilities of $0.2 million and a decrease in retained earnings of
$0.2 million.

For the year ended 30 June 2005, the impact is an increase in
deferred tax liabilities of $0.4 millicn and a decrease in reported
earnings of $0.4 million.

The cumulative impact as at 30 June 2005 is a decrease in retained
earnings of $0.6 million,

Tax losses

At 1 July 2004, the impact on transition is an increase in deferred
tax assets of $5.9 million and an increase in retained earnings of
$5.9 miltion.

For the year ended 30 June 2005, there is no impact.

The cumulative impact as at 30 June 2005 is an increase in
retained earnings of $5.9 million.

{vii} Trade discounts and rebates

Under AGAAR trade discounts and rebates were brought to
account in the profit when received or when able to be reasonably
determined.

Under AIFRS, irade discounts and rebates are deducted in
determining the purchase cost of inventories.

At 1 July 2004, the impact cn transition is a decrease in inventories
of $4.7 million less the applicable tax effect of $1.3 million
resulting in a decrease in retained earnings of $3.4 million.

For the year ended 30 June 2005, the impact is an increase in
reported profits of $0.2 million.

The cumulative impact as at 30 June 2005 is a decrease in retained
earnings of $3.2 million.




Impact of adopting Australian equivalents to Internationai Financial Reporting Standards {continued)

{viii) Non-amortisation of goodwill

Under AGAAP goodwill was amortised on a straight-line basis
over the period the benefits are expected to arise not exceeding
20 years.

Under AIFRS, amortisation of goodwill is prohibited and is replaced
by annual impairment testing focusing on the cash inflows of the
-applicable cash generating unit.

At 1 July 2004, there is ng impact on transition.

For the year ended 30 June 2005, amortisation expense decreases
by $20.1 miltion less the applicable tax effect of $Nil million
resulting in an increase in reported eamings of $20.1 million,

The cumutative impact as at 30 June 2005 is an increase in
intangibles of $20.1 million and an increase in retained earnings
of $20.1 million.

{ix) Nen-depreciation of non-current assets

Under Australian GAAP, the non-current assets impaired as at

1 July 2004 on transition to AIFRS were depreciated during the
year ended 30 June 2005,

Under AIFRS, non-current assets impaired as at 1 July 2004
whereby the resultant net written down value is nil at that date, are
not subject to depreciation during the year ended 30 June 2005.

For the year ended 30 June 2005, depreciation expense decreases
by $2.2 million less the applicable tax effect of $0.6 million
resulting in an increase in reported earnings of $1.6 million.

The cumutative impact as at 30 June 2005 is an increase in
property, ptant and equipment of $2.2 million less the applicable

tax effect of $0.6 million resulting an increase in retained earnings -

of $1.6 million.

{x) Disposal of foreign denominated subsidiary

Under AGAAP the assets and liabilities of self-sustaining foreign
operations were translated at the rates of exchange ruling at
reporting date. Equity items and goodwill are translated at
historical rates. The income statements are translated at an
average rate for the year which approximates the exchange rates
ruling at the date of the transactions. Foreign exchange differences
arising on translation are recognised directly in the translation
reserve until disposal of the operation, when it is transferred
directly to retained earnings.

Under AIFRS, each entity maintains its hooks and records in its
functional currency. The assets and liabiities of foreign operations,
including goodwill and fair value adjustments arising on
consolidation, are translated from the entity’s functional currency
to the consolidated entity’s presentation currency of Australian
dollars at foreign exchange rates ruling at reperting date. The
income statements are translated at an average rate for the year
which approximates the exchange rates ruling at the date of the
transactions, Foreign exchange differences arising on translation
are recognised directly in the translation reserve.

There are no expected changes in functional currency for the
Company or its subsidiaries,

All foreign operations are translated into Australian dellars using
the method described above.

On disposal of a foreign operation, under AIFRS the amount
recognised in the translation reserve attributable to the foreign
operation is included in the calculation of the gain or loss on
disposal and recycled through the current year income statement.

At 1 July 2004, there is no impact on transition.

For the year ended 30 June 2005, the impact is an increase in the
loss on disposal of subsidiaries of $1.7 million and a decrease in
the transfer amount from retained earnings to the exchange
fluctuation reserve of $1.7 million.

There is no net impact on the balance sheet as at 30 June 200C5.
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{xi) Business combinations
Under AGAAF, post acquisition adjustrnents to goodwill were
permitted to be made in subsequeni periods, where appropriate.

Under AIFRS, post acquisition adjustments are only permitted to
be made within a 12 month period from the date of the
acquisition. As a result, any such adjustments booked to goodwill -
under AGAAP after 31 October 2004 in relation to the acquisition
of the Paper Merchanting Division of Buhrmann NV, is adjusted
against reported earnings other than in specific circumstances.

The consolidated entity has not elected to apply Accounting
Standard AASB 3 Business Combinations retrospeciively and
hence the impact of the above only affecis the AIFRS restated

balance sheets as at 1 July 2005 and the AIFRS restated profit for

the year ended 30 June 2005.
At 1 July 2004, there is no impact on transition.

For the year ended 30 June 2005, the impact is an increase in
expenses of $8.9 million less the applicable tax effect of SNl

million resulting in a decrease in reported earnings of $8.9 million., -

The cumulative impact as at 30 June 2005 is a decrease in
goodwill of $8.9 million and a decrease in retained earnings of
$8.9 million.

{xii} Reciassification of compurter software .
Under AGAAP computer software was generally classified as part
of property, plant and equipmant in the balance sheet.

Under AIFRS, any computer software that is not integral to the  .*

operation of property, plant and equipment is classified as an \
intangible asset, where it is continued 1o be amortised on the
same basis.

At 1 July 2004, the impact on transition is an increase in i
intangibles of $81.1 million and a decrease in property, plant
and equipment of $81.1 million.

At 30 June 2005, the impact is an increase in intangibles of
$62.2 million and a decrease in property, plant and equipment *
of $62.2 million. K

{xiii) Revenue disclosures in relation to the sale of non- currenr
assets

Under AIFRS, the revenue recognised in relation to the sale of .1
non-current assets is the net gain ¢n the sale. This is in contrast to
the AGAAP treatment under which the gross proceeds from the
sale were recognised as revenue and the carrying amount of the .
assets sold is recognised as an expense. The net impact on the
profit or loss of this difference is nil.

Under AIFRS for the year ended 30 June 2005, the consolidated
revenue from ordmary activities is $11.2 million lower, the ot
consolidated carrying amount of non-current assets sold disclosed
as an expense is $8.2 million lower and the consolidated other
income is $3.0 million higher.

fxiv) Reclassification of other income

Under AIFRS, foreign exchange gains are classified as other
income. This is in contrast to the AGAAP treatment under whlch
such itemns are classified as revenue.

Under AIFRS for the year ended 30 June 2005, the consolidated
revenue is $0.2 million lower and consolidated other income is
$0.2 million higher.




NOTES TO THE ANANCIAL STATEMENTS CONTINUED
AS AT 30 JUNE 2006

Impact of adopting Australian equivalents to International Financial Reporting Standards (continued)
The following table sets out the adjustments to the consolidated entity upon adoption of AIFRS as at 1 July 2004.

) Consolidated
Issued Retained Minority Total

capital Reserves profits interest equity
1 July 2004 Notes $m $m $m $m $m
Net assets as at 1 July 2004 under AGAAP 1,693.8 {18.7) 137.0 1.2 1.813.3
= Defined benefit plans {i) - - (29.9) - {29.9)
» Employee Share Plan loans {iii} (3.4) - - - {3.4)
* Reserve for own shares _ {iv) - - 3.6 - 36
* Shares held in trust, recfassification as a ‘negative’ reserve {iv) - 9.7) 0.5 - (10.2)
= Impairment of non-current assets (v) - - {182.9} - (182.9)
* Income tax {vi) - - 57 - 57
« Trade discounts and rebates (vii) - - {3.4) - {3.4)
Total movements (3.4} 9.7} {207.4) - {220.5)
Net assets as at 1 tuly 2004 under AIFRS 1,690.4 (28.4) {70.4) 1.2 15928

The following table sets out the adjustments to the consolidated income statement for the year ended 30 June 2005,

Consolidated

Profit before Profit Profit
interest, tax, Depreciation  before net before Income tax  Profit after
depreciation & & interest and Net income tax benefit/ income tax
Notes amortisation amortisation income tax Interest expense {expense) expense
30 June 2005 [before tax :
consolidation adjustment) 307.7 [122.8) 184.9 {68.5) 1164 {24.8) NG
Tax consolidation adjustment - - - - - 77.0 77.0
30 June 2005 under AGAAP 307.7 (122.8) 1849 {68.5) 116.4 52.2 1686
+ Defined benefit plans {i) (1.0 - {1.0) - (1.0 {0.1} {1.1)
« Share based payments {ii) (2.3) - {2.3) - {2.3) - (2.3)
+ Shares held in trust (iv) (1.0} - {1.00 - {1.0) 03 {0.7)
+ Impairment of
non-current assets (v - {12.4) (12.4) - {12.4) 37 (8.7}
s income tax {vi) - - - - - (0.4 (0.4}
+ Trade discounts and rebates  (vii) 0.2 - 0.2 - 0.2 - 0.2
= Non amortisation of goodwill {viii) - 201 201 - 204 - 201
* Non depreciation of
non-current assets impaired
as at 1 July 2004 {ix) - 2.2 2.2 - 22 {0.6) 1.6
* Disposal of foreign
denominated subsidiary {x) (1.7} - (1.7 - (1.7 - (1.7}
* Business combinations (xi} {8.9} - {8.9) - (8.9) ) - (8.9}
Total movements {147 a9 {4.8) - {4.8) 28 {1.9)
30 June 2005 under AIFRS 293.0 {112.9) 180.1 (68.5) 1116 55.1 166.7




Impact of adopting Australian equivalents to International Financial Reporting Standards {continued)
The following tables set out the adjustments to the consolidated entity upon adoption of AIFRS as at 30 June 2005.

Consolidated

Qutside .
Contributed Retained equity Total
. equity Reserves profits interest equity
30 June 2005 Notes $m $m $m $m $m
Net assets as at 30 June 2005 under AGAAP 1,694.2 (63.8) 181.1 0.9 18124
* Defined benefit plans {i) - - {29.9) - {29.9}
= Employee Share Plan loans (i) (3.9) - - - {3.4)"
* Shares held in trust {iv) - - 36 - 38,
* Shares held in trust reclassification as a ‘negative’ reserve {iv) - e.n {0.5) - (10.2)
* Impairment of non-current assets 1% - - (182.9) - {182.9)
* Income tax {vi) - - 57 - 5.7
« Trade discounts and rebates {wii) - - (3.4) - (3.4)
Total movements as at 1 July 2004 (3.4) 9.7 (207.4) - {220.5)
* Defined benefit plans {i) - - {1.1} - (1.1
* Share based payments {ii} - - (2.3) - (2.3)
* Shares held in trust {iv) ~ - 0.7 - 0.7y,
* Impairment of non-current assets {v) - - 8.7) - 8.7
* Income tax {vi) - - {0.4) - (0.4}
* Trade discounts and rebates (wvii) - - 02 - 0.2.,
* Non amortisation of goodwill {wiii) - - 20.1 - 201
* Non depreciation of non-current assets impaired :
as at 1 July 2005 {ix) - - 16 - 1.6
*» Disposal of foreign denominated subsidiary {x) - - 1.7} - (.7
* Business combinations {xi) - - {8.9) - (8.9)-
Total movements to profit - - (1.9} - {1.9)
+ Disposal of fereign dengminated subsidiary (reclassification) {x) - - 1.7 - 17
* Repayment of employee share plan loans it} 0.7 - - - 0.7.
+ Actuarial gains/(losses) defined benefit plan {i - - {33.8} - (33.8)
+ Share based payments (ity - - 2.3 - 23
« Impact of exchange rate movements - 1.8 (0.1} 0.1 1.8
Net assets as at 30 June 2005 under AIFRS 16915 (71.7) (58.1) 1.0 15627

Events subsequent to balance date
Dividends
For dividends declared after 30 June 2006, see Note 2.

Maryvale Wood Yard Outsourcing

The Company has announced conditional agreement to outsource a new wood yard at Maryvale, which will result in one-off costs

in the 2007 year of approximately $10 million.
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DIRECTORS' DECLARATION

In the opinion of the Directors of PaperlinX Limited, the accompanying concise financial report including the remuneration disclosures
that are contained in sections 116 3 and sections 5 to 7 of the Remuneration Report in the Directors’ Report of the consolidated entity,
comprising PaperlinX Limited and its controlled entities for the financial year ended 30 June 2006, set out on pages 66 to 79:

(a) has been derived from or is consistent with the Full Financial Report for the financial year, and:

{} complies with Australian Accounting Standard AASB 1039 Concise Financial Reports.

In accordance with a resolution of the directors, dated at Melbourne, in the State of Victaria, this 21st day of August 2008.

n

MM—Q}\ B T

David E Meiklejohn Thomas P Park
Chairman Managing Director and Chief Executive Officer




INDEPENDENT AUDIT REPORT

ON CONCISE FINANCIAL REPORT TO THE MEMBERS OF PAPERLINX LIMITED

Scope

The Financial Report, remuneration disclosures and Directors’ responsibility

The concise financial report comprises the income statement, statement of recognised income and expense, balance sheet, statement
of cash flows, accompanying notes 1 to 9 and the accompanying discussion and analysis on the income statement, statement of
recognised income and expense, halance sheet and statement of cash flows for PaperlinX Limited (‘the Company’} and its controflled
entities (the ‘Consoclidated Entity’) for the year ended 30 June 2006.

As permitted by the Corporations Regulations 2001, the Company has disclosed information about the remuneration of Directors and
executives (remuneration disclosures’), required by Austratian Accounting Standard AASB 124 Related Party Disclosures, under the
heading ‘Remuneration Report” in sections 1 10 3 and sections 5 to 7 of the Directors” Report and not in the concise financial report.

The Directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of the concise financial report in accordance with Australian Accounting
Standard AASB 1032 ‘Concise Financial Reports’. This includes responsibility for the maintenance of adequate accounting records and
internal controls that are designed to prevent and detect fraud and error, and for the accounting policies and accounting estimates
inherent in the concise financial report. The Directors are also responsible for the remuneration disclosures contained in the directors’
report.

Audit approach

We conducted an independent audit in order to express an opinion to members of the Company, Our audit was conducted in accordance
with Australian Auditing Standards in order to provide reasonable assurance as 10 whether the cencise financial report is free of material
misstatement. The nature of an audit is influenced by factors such as the use of professional judgerment, selective testing, the inherent
fimitations of internal control, and the availability of persuasive rather than conclusive evidence. Therefore an audii cannot guarantee that
all material misstatements have been detected. We have also performed an independent audit of the Full Financial Report and the
remuneration disclosures of the Company and its controlled entities for the year ended 30 June 2006. The Remuneration Report in the
Full Financial Report alse contains information in section 4 not required by Accounting Standard AASB 124, which is not subject to our
audit. Qur audit report on the Full Financial Report and the remuneration disclosures was signed on 21 August 2006, and was not subject
to any qualification.

We performed procedures in respect of the audit of the concise financial report 10 assess whether. in all material respects, the concise

financial report is presented fairly in accordance with Australian Accounting Standard AASB 1039 ‘Concise Financial Reports™. '

We formed our audit opinion on the basis of these procedures, which included:

* testing that the information in the concise financial report is consistent with the Full Financial Report, and

= examining, on a test basis, information to provide evidence supporting the amounts, discussion and analysis, and other disclosures,
which were not directly derived from the Full Financial Report.

While we considered the effectiveness of management's internal controls over financial reporting when determining the nature and
extent of our procedures, our audit was not designed to provide assurance on internal controls.

Audit opinion

In our opinion, the concise financial report of PaperlinX Limited and its controlled entities for the year ended 30 June 20068 complies with
Australian Accounting Standard AASB 1039 ‘Concise Financial Reports’. -

o '

KPMG

P A Jovic e
Partner

Melbourne
21 August 2006



SHAREHOLDING INFORMATION

1. Number of shareholders

There were 73,223 shareholders at 14 August 2006. All issued
shares carry voting rights on a one-for-one basis.

2. Distribution of shareholding

Range of Number of % of Number of % of
holdings shareholders  holders shares  shares
1-1,000 34,579 47.22 15,379,337 345
1.0011 - 5,000 31,048 42.40 72,611,396 16.27
5.001 - 10,000 5,126 7.00 36,526,746 8.19
10,001 - 100,000 239 3.27 46,883,439 10.51
100,001 — over 79 011 274,781,291 61.58
Total 73223 10000 446,182,209 100.00

3, Unmarketable parcels

There were 5,578 members holding less than a marketable parcel
of shares in the Company, {i.e. a parcel of shares valued at less
than $500}.

4, Listing
The Company's shares are quoted on the Australian Stock Exchange.

5, Twenty largest shareholders at 14 August 2006

Number % of
of shares shares
HSBC Custody Nominees {Australia) Limited 93,333,900 20.92
Westpac Custodian Nominees Limited 74376390 1667
J P Morgan Nominees Australia Limiied 62,427526 1399
National Nominees Limited 34,604,913 7.76
ANZ Nominees Limited 26,042,009 584
Citicorp Nominees Pty Limited 24,108,797 5.40
RBC Global Services Australia Nominees
Pty Limited 10,307,026 2.3
Cogent Nominees Pty Limited 6,708,773 1.50
Australian Foundation Investment
Company Limited * 5,411,757 1.21
ARGO Investments Limited 2,203,100 0.49
CPU Share Plans Pty Ltd 1,983,333 0.44
Queenstand Investment Corporation 1,938,000 0.43
M F Custodians Ltd 1,171,437 0.26
Merrill Lynch {Australia) Nominees Pty Ltd 1,148,136 0.26
Triguboff Management Pty Limited 950,000 0.1
Transport Accident Commission 814,644 0.18
Victorian WorkCover Authority 750,056 017
Bond Street Custodians Limited Level 26 660,633 0.15
Fleet Nominees Pty Limited 614,343 0.14
The University of Melbourne 607,740 0.14
Total top 20 shareholders 350,168,412 78.48
Total issued shares 446,182,209 100.00

Substantial Shareholders as defined by the Corporations Act
{holding at least 5 per cent of shares):

No of Percentage

Name shares held
Maple-Brown Abbott Limited 51,241,490 11.48%
Capital Group Companies, Inc. 26,909,422 6.03%
Franklin Resources, Inc. and its affiliates 23,354,078 5.23%
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6. Geographic location of shareholders by registered address:

Number of Number of

shareholders shares

Australian Capital Territory 1,313 3,366,077
New South Wales 18,413 221,971,856
Northern Territory 124 192,778
Queensland 9,611 25,840,596
South Australia 4,453 12,561,394
Tasmania 1,655 3,158,317
Victoria 30,122 166,837,341
Western Australia 3,682 9,286,836
Total Australia 69,373 443,204,195
Canada 4586 160,348
MNew Zealand 927 1,382,613
United Kingdom 216 290,974
United States of America 1,762 573,622
Germany 78 38,980
Hong Kong 37 123,284
Singapore 3 84,009
Other 342 326,284
Total overseas 3,850 2,978,014

7. Unquoted equity securities
issued pursuant to the PaperlinX Employee Share/Option Plan.

Options
Options over ordinary shares at either no cost or a cost of one cent
per option exercisable at prices ranging from $3.13 to $4.85 per
share.

The vesting of certain options depends on the achievement of
PaperlinX's long-term incentive plan performance conditions.

+ Number of employees participating
* Number of securities

Performance rights

The Company has issued performance rights to certain senior
management. Each performance right gives a contingent interest
to one PaperlinX share. The vesting of the performance right
depends upon the achievement of PaperlinX's long-term incentive
plan performance conditions.

* Number of employees participating

* Number of securities

56
3.365,430

201
3,619.765




. INVESTOR INFORMATION

Share Registry :
Shareholders with queries about anything related to thelr
shareholding should contact the PaperlinX Share Registry
in Melbourne, Australia:

by telephone {within Australia) 1800 232 867

or {outside Australhia} +61 3 9415 4000

by facsimile +61 3 9473 2500.

Alternatively, shareholders may wish to write to:
PaperlinX Share Registry
Computershare Investor Services Pty Limited
Yarra Falls
452 Johnston Street
Abbotsford
Victona 30687
Australia

Details of individual sharehotdings can be checked conveniently
and simply by visiting our Registrar's website at
www.computershare.com/aufinvestors. For security reasons, you
then need to key in your Securityholder Referance Number {SRN)
or Holder Identification Number {HIN) plus company name or ASX
code and postcode to enable access to personal information.

Dividends

The Company proposes to pay dividends in September and April.
Shareholders should retain for taxation purposes full détails of
dividend payments.

The following options are available to shareholders regarding
payment of dividends:

1. By direct deposit to an Australian bank, building society or credit
union account.

2. By cheque payable to the shareholder. Lost or stolen cheques
should be reported immediately to the PaperlinX Share Registry,
in writing, to enable stop payment and replacement.

Shareholders may choose to have their dividends paid directly
into a nominated bank, building society or credit union account
anywhere in Australia. Payments are electronically ¢credited on
the dividend date and confirmed by a payment advice sent to the
shareholder. Request forms for this service are available from the
PaperlinX Share Registry.

Shareholders resident in Australia and New Zeatand may choose to
participate in the Dividend Reinvestment Plan (DRP), effective of
the 2006 Final Dividend. Request forms for the DRP are available
from the PaperlinX Share Registry.

Tax file numbers

PaperiinX is required to withhold tax at the rate of 48.5 per cent on
any unfranked component of dividends or interest paid to investors
resident in Australia who have not supplied the Company with a
tax file number (TFN) or exemption form. Investors are not required
by law 10 provide their TFN if they do not wish to do so.

Transfer of shares off-market
No stamp duty is payable on off-market transfers.

Annual General Meeting
The Annual General Meeting is normally held in October.
The 2006 Annual General Meeting will be held on Friday

20 October 2006 at the Park Hyatt Melbourne, 1 Parliament
Sguare, Melbourne, Australia at 11.00am.

Stock Exchange listing .
PaperlinX shares are listed on the Australian Stock Exchange. i
All shares are recorded on the principal share register, which
is located in Victoria, the state of incorporation of PaperiinX.
The Company'’s ticker code is "PPX.

Publications 0

. The Company's Concise Annual Report is the main source of
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information for investors and is mailed to shareholders in
September. The 2008 Full Financial Report can be requested

by telephone {Australia 1800 232 867, outside Australia

+61 3 8415 4000} or by email at contact@paperlinx.com.au. '
Other sources of information are:

1. The Chairman's address to the Annual General Meeting, wh|ch .
will be available on the PaperinX website.

2. The half year Financial Repont reviewing the July-December
half year, which will be mailed to shareholders in March.

Internet address

A range of corperate information may be obtained from the
PaperlinX website at www.paperlinx.com. nvestor information -
is available from the Investor Relations section.

Change of address .
Issuer sponsored shareholders should notify the PaperinX Share .
Registry immediately, in writing, signed by the shareholder/s,

of any change to their registered address. For added security,
shareholders should quote their previous address and HIN or SRN.
CHESS uncertified shareholders should advise their sponsoring .
broker or non-broker participant.

Removal from mailing list

Shareholders who do not wish to receive the Concise Annual
Report should advise the PaperlinX Share Registry, in writing, and |
include their HIN or SRN,

Change of name '
Shareholders who change their name should notily the PaperlinX |
Share Registry, in writing, and attach a certified copy of a relevant

marriage certificate or deed poll, and include their HIN or SRN. ,
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STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JURE -

! .
!
1
|
j

Consolidated iiPaperlinX Limited I

-

- Lo o f et 2006 2005 2006 2005

o Pt el - ‘ Note im $m $m $m
Cash flows from operating activities . . o
Receipts from customers - (74317 76416 }o.q; 10. 0 © 88"
Payments to suppliers and.employees - (7.1138)] (7.271.8) ' "[6 9] C B3y
Dividends received ) A . . ) . , . 08 03|, 25 5 770
Interest received ) . o I RS 711 44 - = -
Interest paid - L {69 6) 7a3) [ - ] -
Income taxes paid : C o (6 1) {36.9) N .5_) - {0.3)
Other income received : | 1.2, 1011 .7 —
Net cash from operating activities(1) | 259.8 I 2734 . i .;27.1-_.{ C178.2
Cash flows from investing activities - T ! R B
Loans {advanced to)/frepaid by other persons : ) . (0.9): 08 t. . .-). -
Acquisition of: sa s ; S N
Subsidiaries and businesses (net of cash ‘and bank overdraft acqunred) 40 . ) (100._9] {44.6) - -
Property. plant and equipment and mtangrbles - 1101.4) 863} . = -
Proceeds on disposal of: - . ) . ’ R T )
Property, plant and equipment . i . B1a 296 (. . - -
Net cash used in investing activities = . ) “pseyl poomft oo =

) N - N - . 1 S

Cash flows from financing activities - ' : - 1 .
Dividends paid , (778)| 223 rrsl. (223
Proceeds from issue of shares . 04 ] - - 0.4
Loans {repaid to)/received from subsidiar_ies o . - 50.7 - f {67.3)
Loans (repaid tolreceived from other persons : - L 02 3] - - -
Proceeds from borrowings =~ | . " . 1,166.0 669.2 - -
Repayment of borrowings h {(1,171.3) (711.3)- T - -
Principal lease repayments - 0.1 -1 -
Net cash used in financing activities _ . I {92.9) {167|.2) (27.1) {179.2}
Net increase in cash and césh equivaléﬁm . - 148 5;7 = -
Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the year : 4278 4450 - -
Effect of exchange rate changes on translation of foreign currency : -
cash flows and cash balances . 1.3 {22.9) - o=
Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the year (2 4539 | "427.8 | - -

Notes 1 to 45 form part of these financial staternents and are to be read in conjunction therewith,
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Consolidated IR |

PaperlinX Limited .|

2006 2005 2006 2005
Note $m $m $m $m
") Reconciliation of profit after income tax to net cash
from operating activities .
Profit for the period 654 166.7 288 178.5
Depreciation and amoriisation of property, plant, equipment and intangibles 104.7 112.9 - -
Amortisation of capitalised borrowing costs 1.2 - -
(Profit)loss on disposal of non-current assets (24.4) (3.0 - -
Interest capitalised ' {0.3) - - -
Increasef{decrease) in current and deferred taxes 158 {92.04 14 04
Increasef{decrease) in provisions . 46 9.7 - -
Movement in accrued and prepaid interest 15 1.4 - -
Employee share options 29 23 - -
Other items arising on transition 10 AIFRS - 124 - -
Impact of unrealised {profit)loss in inventories 0.5 (3.2 - -
Operating profit before changes in working capital i71.9 204.4 302 178.9
{Increasel/decrease in trade and other receivables 139 758 (3.1) 0.3
(Increase)/decrease in inventories 238 189 - -
IncreaseAdecrease) in trade and other payables -50.2 {25.7) |- - -
Net cash from operating activities . 259.8 l . 2734 I 271 179.2
{2} Reconciliation of cash )
For the purposes of the Statements of Cash Flows, cash includes ¢ash
on hand and at bank and short-term money market investments, net of
outstanding bank overdrafts. Cash as at 30 June as shown in the
Statements of Cash Flows is reconciled to the related items in the
Balance Sheets as follows:
Cash and cash equivalents . 8 455.1 4291 - -
Bank overdrafts 18 {1.2) {1.3) - -
| 4539 4278 | - -

Notes 1 to 45 form part of these financial statements and are to be read in conjunction therewith.




NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AS AT 30 JUNE 2006

Accounting policies

The following significant accounting policies have been applied
by PaperlinX Limited (‘the Company’) and its subsidiaries together
referred to as (‘the consolidated entity’), having regard to their
activities, in the preparation of the Consolidated Financial Report
(‘the Financial Report’). -

{1} Accounting Standards

The consolidated entity adopts the currently applicable
Australian Accounting Standards and disclosure requirements
of the professional accounting bodies.

{2) Basis of preparation

The Financial Report is a general purpose financial report prepared
in accordance with Australian Accounting Standards {AAS), other
authoritative pronouncements of the Australian Accounting
Standards Board (AASB) and the Corporations Act 2001.

This Financial Report is the first PaperlinX Limited Financial Report
1o be prepared in accordance with Australian Equivalents to
International Financial Reporting Standards (AIFRS). AASB 1 First-
time Adoption of Australian Equivalents to International Financial
Reporting Standards has been applied in preparing these financial
statements.

Financial statements of the consolidated entity untit 30 June 2005
had been prepared in actordance with previous Australian Generally
Accepted Accounting Principles {AGAAP). AGAAP differs in certain
respects from AIFRS. When preparing this Financial Report for the
year ended 30 June 2006, management has amended certain
accounting, valuation and consolidation methods applied to the
previous AGAAP financial statements to comply with AIFAS, With
the exception of financial instruments, the camparative figures
were restated to reftect these adjustments. The Company and

the consolidated entity has taken the exemption available under
AASB 138 Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement
from 1 July 2005,

Reconciliations and descriptions of the effect of transition from
previous AGAAP to AIFRSs on the reported financial position,
financial performance and cash flows of the consclidated entity
and the Company are given in Note 44.

The Financial Report has been prepared on the basis of AIFRS
that are effective or available for early adoption at the first AIFRS
annual reporting date, 30 June 2006. The Company and the
consolidated entity has elected to early adopt AASB 119
Employee Benefits fissued in December 2004), AASB 2004-3
Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards (issued in
December 2004} and AASB 2005-3 Amendments to Australian
Accounting Standards (issued in June 2005) to the reporting
periods beginning 1 July 2006. This includes applying AASB 119
to the comparatives in accordance with AASB 108 Accounting
Policies, Changes in Accounting Estimates and Errors.

Issued standards not early adopted

The following standards and amendments were available for early
adoption but have not been applied by the consolidated entity in
these financial statements:

* AASB 7 Financial Instruments. Disclosure (August 2005)
replacing the presentation requirements of financial instruments
in AASB 132. AASB 7 is applicable for annual reporting periods
beginning on or after 1 January 2007.

AASB 20058 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards
{September 2005} requires that liabilities arising from the issue
of financial guarantee contracts are recognised in the balance
sheet. AASB 20059 is applicable for annual reporting periods
beginning on or after 1 January 2006,

+ AASB 2005-10 Amendments to Ausrraifan Accounting Standards
(September 2005) makes consequential amendments to
AASR 132 Financial Instruments: Disclosure and Preseniation,
AASB 101 Fresentation of Financial Statements AASB 114
Segment Reporting, AASB 117 Leases, AASB 133 Famings .
per Share, AASB 139 Financial instruments: Recognition and
Measurement, AASB 1 Firsttime Adopt:on of Australian
Equivalents to International Financial Reporting Standards,
AASB 4 Insurance Contracts, AASB 1023 General Insurance
Contracts and AASB 1038 Life Insurance Contracts, arising from
the release of AASB 7, AASB 200510 is applicable for annual
reporting pericds beginning on or after 1 January 2007.

I

The consolidated entity plans to adopt AASB 7, AASB 20059
and AASB 2005-10 in the 2007 finanqial year,

The initial application of AASB 7 and AASB 2005-10 is not
expected to have an impact on the fipancial results of the
Company and the consolidated entity as the standard and the
amendment are concerned only with'disclosures.

The initial application of AASB 2005-9 could have an impact on
the financial results of the Company and the consolidated entity
as the amendment could result in liabilities being recognised for
financial guarantees that have been provided by the Company and
the consolidated entity. However, the quantification of the impact
is not known or reasonably estimable in the current financial year
as an exercise to quantify the financial impact has not been
undertaken by the Company and the consolidated entity to date.

The preparation of a financial report in conformity with
Australian Accounting Standards requires management to
make judgments, estimates and assumptions that affect the
application of policies and reported amounts of assets and
liahilities, income and expenses. The estimates and associated
assumptions are based on historical experience and various
other factors that are believed to be reasonable under the
circurnstances, the results of which form the basis of making
the judgments about carrying values of assets and liabilities
that are not readily apparent from other sources. Actual results
may differ from these estimates. '

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an
ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are recognised
in the period in which the estimate is revised if the revision affects
only that period or in the period of the revision and future periods
if the revision affects both current and future periods.

Judgments made by management in the application of Australian
Accounting Standards that have a significant effect on the
Financial Report and estimates with a significant risk of material
adjustment in the next year are discussed in Note 1(24).

The accounting policies set out below have been applied
consistently to all periods presented in the consclidated
financial report and in preparing an openmg AIFRS balance
sheet at 1 July 2004 for the purposes of the transition to
Awstralian Accounting Standards — AIFRS.

The accounting policies have been applied consistently by all
entities in the consolidated entity.

The Financial Report is prepared on the historical cost basis
except that the following assets and liabilities are stated in their
fair value: derivative financial instruments, financial instruments
hetd for trading, and financial instruments classified as available-
for-sale.

The Company is of the kind referred to in ASIC Class Order 98/100
dated 10 July 1998 (updated by CO 05/841 effective 28 July 2005
and CO 06/51 effective 31 January 2006) and in accordance with
that Class Order, amounts in the Fnanmaf Report and Directors
Report have been rounded off to the nearest thousand dollars,

unless otherwise stated. .
1




_ Accounting policies (continued}

(3) Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial repont of the consohdated entity is in
accordance with Accounting Standard AASB 127 Consaligated
and Separate Financial Statements. In preparing the consolidated
financial report, all balances and transactions between entities
included in the consolidated entity have been eliminated.
Subsidiaries

Subsidiaries are entities controlted by the Company. Control exists
when the Company has the power, directly or indirectly, to govern
the financial and operating policies of an entity so as to obtain
benefits from its activities. In assessing control, potential voting
rights that presently are exercisable or convertible are taken into
account, Investments in subsidianes are carrued at cost less
accumulated |mpa|rment losses.

The financial statements of subsidiaries are incltsded from the
date control commences until the date control ceases.

Dividend distributions from subsidiaries are recognised by the
parent entity when they are declared by the subsidiaries.
Dividends received out of pre-acquisition reserves are-eliminated
against the carrying amount of the investment and not recogmsed
in revenue,

Minority interests in the equity and results of the entities that
are controlled by the consolidated entity are shown as a separate
jtem in the Financial Report.

Other entities
Dividends from other investments are recogmsed when drvndends
are received. -

‘(4) Revenue recognition

Sales revenue

Sales revenue comprises revenue earned (net of returns,
discounts, allowances and the amount of goods and services tax)
from the provision of products to entities outside the consolidated
entity. Sales revenue is recognised when the significant risks and
rewards of ownership have been transferred to the customer.

Services -
Revenue from the provision of services is recognised when the
service is provided.

(5) Taxation

Income tax

Income tax on the profit and loss for the year comprises current
and deferred tax. income tax is recognised in the income
statement except to the extent that it relates to items recognised
directly in equity, in which case it is recognised in equity.

Current tax is the expected tax payable on the taxable income for
the year, using tax rates enacted or substantially enacted at the
balance sheet date, and any adjustment to tax payable in respect
of previous years.

Deferred tax is provided using the balance sheet liability method,
providing for temporary differences between the carrying amounts
of assets and liabilities for financial reporting purposes and the
amounts used for taxation purposes. The following temporary
differences are not provided for: initial recognition of goodwill,
the initial recognition of assets er liabilities that affect neither
accounting nor taxable profit, and differences relating to
investments in subsidiaries to the extent that they will probably
not reverse in the foreseeable future. The amount of deferred
tax provided is based on the expected manner of realisation
or settlement of the carrying amount of assets and liabilities,
using tax rates enacted or substantively enacted at the balance

- sheet date.

A deferred tax asset is recognised only to the extent that it is
probable that future taxable profits will be available against which
the asset ¢an be utilised. Deferred tax assets are reduced to the
extent that it is no longer probable that the related tax benefit will
be realised.

Tax consolidation o vt : ¥
The Australian Federal Government enacted legistation in 2003 v
to allow companies comprising a parent enifty and Australian
wholly-owned subsidiaries to elect to consolidate and he treated .- |/
as a single entity for Australian income tax purposes. The Company

is the head entity of the Australian tax-consolidated group.

The Company has elected to form a tax-consolidated group

effective from 1 July 2003. Under the consolidation rules, the .
PaperlinX Group has chosen to reset the tax cost base of certain .
depreciable assets which will result in additional tax depreciation ‘
over the lives of the assets. This has required a restatement

of deferred tax balances with a consequential tax benefit of . N
$77.0 million being recorded in the income statement for the
12 months ended 30 June 2005, N

The process of entering into the tax-consolidation regime )
included the commissioning of detailed independent valuations . .
of the Australian consolidated group's assets and entities as at L
1 July 2003, to determine the impact of any reset tax cost bases.

Current tax expensefincome, deferred tax liabilities and deferred .
tax assets arising from temporary differences of the members of 1
the tax-consolidated group are recognised in the separate financial
statements of the members of the tax-consolidated group using
the ‘separate taxpayer within the group’ approach by reference

to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities in the separate
financial statements of each entity and the tax values applying
under tax consolidation.

Current tax liabilities and assets and deferred tax assets arising .
from the unused tax losses and tax credits of the members of |
the tax-consolidated group are recognised by the Company (as ‘
head entity in the tax-consofidated group). Deferred tax assets :
and deferred tax liabilities are measured by reference to the !
carrying amounts of the assets and liabilities in the Company's
balance sheet and their tax values applying under tax
consolidation. i

Any current tax liabilities {or assets) and deferred tax assets

arising from unused tax losses assumed by the head entity |

from the subsidiaries in the tax consolidated group are recognised

as amounts receivable or payable to other entities in the tax
consolidated group in conjunction with any tax funding

arrangement amounts {refer below). Any difference between

these amounts is recognised by the Company as an equity

contribution to or distribution from the subsidiary. Distributions |

firstly reduce the carrying amount of the investment in the -

subsidiary and are then recognised as revenue,

The Company recognises deferred tax assets arising from unused
tax losses of the tax-consolidated group to the extent that it is
probable that future taxable profits of the tax-consolidated group -
will be available against which the asset can be utilised: -

Any subsequent period adjustments to deferred tax assets arising I
from unused tax losses as a result of revised assessments of the |
probability of recoverability is recognised by the head entity only.

Nature of tax funding arrangements and tax sharing

agreements B}
The members of the tax-consolidated group have entered intoa .,
tax funding arrangement which sets out the funding obfigations
of members of the tax-consolidated group in respect of tax
amounts. The tax funding arrangements require payments toffrom
the head entity equal to the current 1ax liability (asset} assumed |
by the head entity and any taxJoss deferred tax asset assumed
by the head entity, resulting in the head entity recogniging an
inter-entity receivables {payables} in the separate financial
statements of the members of the tax-consolidated groups equal
in amount to the tax liability {asset) assumed. The inter-entity
receivabtes/payables are at call. "



NOTES TO THE FIRARCIAL STATEMENTS CONTINUED
AS AT 30 JUNE 2006

Accounting policies {continued)

Nature of tax funding arrangements and tax sharing
agreemernts (continued)

The head entity recognises the assumed current tax amounts
as current tax liabilities (assets), adding to its own current tax
amounts, since they are also due to or from the same taxation
authority. The current tax liabilities {assets) are equivalent to the
tax balances generated by external transactions entered into by
the tax-consolidated group. Contributions to fund the current tax
liabilities are payable as per the tax funding arrangement and
reflect the timing of the head entity’s obligation to make
payments for tax liahilities to the relevant tax authorities.

The members of the tax-consclidated group have also entered
into a tax sharing agreement. The tax sharing agreement provides
for the determination of the allocation of income tax liabilities
hetween the entities should the head entity default on its tax
payment obligaticns. No amounts have been recognised in the
financial staterents in respect of 1his agreermnent as payment of
any amounis under the tax sharing agreemant is considered
remote.

Goods and services tax

Revenues, expenses and assets are recognised net of the amount
of goods and services tax (GST), except where the amount of
GST incurred is not recoverable from the Australian Taxation
Office (ATO). In these circumstances, the GST is recognised as
part of the cost of acquisition of the asset or as an expense item.

Receivables and payables are stated with the amount of
GST included.

The net amount of GST payable to the ATO is included as a
current liability in the Balance Sheet.

Cash flows are included in the Statements of Cash Flow on

a gross basis. The GST components of cash flows arising from
investing and financing activities which are recoverable from, |
or payable to, the ATO are classified as operating cash flows.,

{6) Depreciation

Property, plant and equipment, excluding freehold land, are
depreciated at rates based upon their expected usefu! lives
using the straight-line method. Freehold land is not depreciated.
Depreciation rates used for each class of asset are as follows;

between 1% - 3% (2005 1% — 3%}
between 1% - 4% (2005 1% - 4%}
between 4% — 20% (2005 4% - 20%)

Land improvements:
Buildings:
Plant and equipment:

Finance leases
for equipment: between 4% - 20% (2005 4% - 20%)

Depreciation and amontisation are expensed exk:ept to the
extent they are included in the carrying amount of an asset
as an allocation of production overneads.

The residual value, the useful life and the depreciation method
applied to an asset are reviewed at least annually.

{7} Employee Benefits

The consolidated entity's net obligation in respect of long-term
service benefits, other than defined henefit superannuation
funds, is the amount of future benefit that employees have
earned in return for their service in the current and prior periods.
The obligation is calculated using expected future increases in
wage and salary raies including related on-costs and expected
settlement dates, and is discounted using the rates attached
to the Commonwealth Government bonds at the balance sheet
date which have maturity dates approximating to the terms

of the consolidated entity’s obligations.

| .o

Liabilities for employee benefits for wages, salaries, annual leave
and sick leava that are expected to be settled within 12 months
of the reporting date represent present obligations resulting from
employees’ services provided to reporting date, are calculated at
undiscounted amounts based @n remuneration wage and salary
rates that the consolidated entity expects to pay as at repomng
date including related on-costs, such as workers’ compensation
insurance and payroll tax. Non-accumulating non-monetary
benefits, such as medical care, housing, cars and free of
subsidised goods and services, are éxpenses based on the net
marginal cost {0 the consolidated entity as the benefit are taken
by the employees.

Employee benefits include, where af)propriate, forecast future
increases in wages and salaries, grossed up for on-costs, and
are based on the consolidated entity’s experience with staff
departures. - |

Employee Share Plans

The consolidated entity maintains two employee share plans,
the Employee Share Purchase Plan (ESPP) and the Employee-
Share and Option Plan (ESOP). '

Employee Share Purchase Plan '

Eligibility to participate in the ESPP is based on each employee's
service period. An employee is to have been employed
continuously by the consolidated entity for a period of 12 months
or more at the date the invitation to subscribe is made, unless
determined to be eligible at the discretion of the directors. The
number of shares offered and the issue price are determined

at the discretion of the directors, subject to the satisfaction of
performance criteria. The performance criteria relate to the
growth in the profit after tax of the consolidated entity.

When issues relating to the ESPP are,made, non-recourse loans
to assist in the purchase of the shares will be classified against
share capital. The loans can be repaid at any time and must be
fully paid when an individual ceases to be employed by the
consolidated entity. The issues are accounted for as an option.

Employee Share and Option Flan

Subject to the satisfaction of specified service criteria, senior
managerment of the consolidated entity may be offered a
specified number of options as part of their total remuneration,
at the discretion of the directors. b

Subject to the satisfaction of specified performance criteria,
senior management of the consolidated entity may he offered

a specified number of shares, aptions or rights as part of their
total remuneration, at the discretion of the Directors. There are
two performance criteria that relate to'earnings per share and the
total shareholder return of the consolidated entity. In accordance
with the rules of the ESOP shares, options and rights may be
issued upon such terms and conditions as determined by the
Directors. . 1

Repurchase of shares

The cost of shares purchased ‘on markel in order to satisfy
obligations under the ESOP is recognised as a deduction from
total equity and charged directly to retamed earnings when they
are allocated to employees.

When share capital recognised as equity is repurchased, the
amount of the consideration paid, including directly attributable
costs, is recognised as a deduction from total equity. In the
financial statements the transactions wnh the sponsored
employee share plan trust are treated as being executed directly
by the consolidated entity. Accordingly) shares held by the trust
are deducted from equity.

t




Accounting policies (continued)

Performance options and performance rights

For options and performance rights granted before 7 November
2002 and/or vested before 1 January 2005, no expense is
recognised. The shares are recognised when the options are
exercised and the proceeds received allocated to share capital.

For options and performance rights granted after 7 November
2002 and vested after 1 January 2005, the fair value of options
and performance rights granted under the ESOP is recognised
as an employee benefit expense with a corresponding increase
in equity. The fair value is measured at grant date and recognised
over the period during which the employees become
unconditionalty entitled to the options.

The fair value at grant date of the options and the performance
rights is independently determined using an appropriate cptions
pricing model that takes into account the exercise price, the
expected lifefterm, the vesting and performance criteria, the
impact of dilution, the non-tradeable nature, the share price at
grant date and expected price volatility of the underlying share,
the expected dividend yield and the risk-free interest rate for the
expected term.

The fair value of the options and perfarmance rights granted
excludes the impact of any non-market vesting conditions. Non-
market vesting conditions are included in assumptions about the
number of options and performance rights thai are expected to
vest. At each balance sheet date, the entity fevises its estimate

of the number of options that are expected to vast. The employee
benefit expense recognised each period takes into account the
most recent estimate.

Upon the exercise of options and performance rights, the exercise
price paid is recognised in equity.

The fair value of shares issued to employees for no cash
consideration under the employee share purchase plan is
recognised as an employee benefits expense with a
corresponding increase in equity in the period during which
the employee becomes unconditionally entitled to the shares.

Retirement benefit obligations

The consolidated entity has both defined benefit and defined
contribution plans, The defined benefit plans provides defined
lump sum benefits based on years of service and final average
salary. The defined contribution plans receive fixed contributions
from the consolidated entity and the consolidated entity's legal
or constructive obligation is imited to these contributions.

A liability or asset in respect of defined benefit superannuation
plans is recognised in the Balance Sheet, and is measured as
the present value of the defined benefit obligation at the reporting
date less the fair value of the superannuation fund's assets at
that date and any unrecognised past service cost. The present
value of the defined benefit obligation is based on expected
future payments which arise from membership of the fund to
the reporting date, calculated annually by independent actuaries
using tha projected unit credit method. Consideration is given 10
expected future wage and satary fevels, experience of employee
departures and periods of service.

Expected future payments are discounted using market yields
at the reporting date en national government bonds with terms
to matusity and currency that match, as closely as possible, the
astimated future cash outflows.

Actuarial gains and losses arising from experience adjustments
and related changes in actuarial assumpuons are charged or
credited to retained earnings.

Past service costs are recognised immediately in income, unless
the related changes to the superannuation fund are conditional
on the employees remaining in service for a specified pariod of
time {the vesting period). In this case, the past service costs

are amortised on a straight-line basis over the vesting period.

Future taxes that are funded by the entity ang are part of
the provision of the existing benefit obligation (e.g. taxes
on investment income and employer contributions) are

taken into account in measuring the net liability or asset.

{8) Net financing costs -

Net financing costs comprise interest and other financing
charges including foreign exchange gains and losses, net of
interest on funds invested. These costs are brought to account

in determining profit for the year, except to the extent the interest
incurred relates to major capital items in which case interest is
capitalised as a cost of the asset up to the time it is ready for

its intended use or sale.

Interest income is recognised in the income statement as

it accrues, using the effective interest method. The interest
expense component of finance lease payments is recognised
in the income statement using the effective interest method.

For fixed assets, the capitalised interest and charges are
amortised over the expected useful economic lives.

(9} Property, plant and equipment

Depreciable property, plant and equipment are shown in the
Financial Report at cost or deemed cost less accumulated
depreciation and impairment losses.

Certain items of property. plant and equipment that had been
revalued to fair value prior to 1 July 2004 (AIFRS transition date)
are measured on the basis of deemed gost, being the revalued
amount at the date of that revatuation.

{10} Inventories

Inventories are valued at the lower of cosi {including an
appropriate proportion of fixed and variable overheads) and
net realisable value in the normal course of business.

The cost of inventories is based on the firstin first-out principle

and includes expenditute incurred in acquiring the inventeries and
bringing them to their existing location and condition. In the case
of manufactured inventories and work in progress, cost includes an
appropriate share of overheads based on normal operating capacity.
The provision for mpatrment Iosses is based on an ageing analysis.

Net realisable value is the estlmated sellmg price in the ordinary
course of business, less the estimated costs of completion and
selling expenses.

(11} Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash balances, short-term
bills and call deposits. Bank overdrafts that are repayable on
demand and form an integral part of the consolidated entity’s
cash management are included as a component of cash and
cash equivalents for the purpose of the statement of ¢ash flows.

{12) Foreign currency
Functional currency

The financial statements of fore:gn subsidiaries are measured
using the currency of the primary economic environment in
which the entity operates being the entity’s functional currency.
The consolidated financial statements are presented in Australian
dollars, which is the consolidated entitys functional and
presentational currency.

Transactions

The consolidated entity is exposed to changes in foreign currency
exchange rates as a consequence of the need to purchase items
denominated in foreign currency as part of its activities.
Transactions in fereign currencies are translated at the foreign .
exchange rate ruling at the date of transaction. Monetary assets
and liabilities at balance date are translated to Australian dollars at
the foreign exchange raie ruling at that date. Non-monetary assets
and liabilities measured at historical cost are translated using the
exchange rate at the date of the transaction. All material foreign
currency transactions, which are not offset by a natural hedge,

are subject to forward exchange contracts and any exchange
gainsflosses arising from the effect of currency fluctuations on

the underlying transactions are offset by the exchange
gainsflosses on the forward exchange contract. As a result,
exchange rate movements on such {oreign currency transactions
are largely offset within the income statement.




NOTES T0 THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS CONTINUED
AS AT 30 JUNE 2006

Accounting policies (continued)

Transiation of foreign subsidiaries

The assets and liabilities of foreign operations, including goodwill
and fair value adjustments arising on consolidation, generally are
translated to Australian dollars at foreign exchange rates ruling

at the balance sheet date. The revenues and expenses of foreign
operations are translated to Australian dollars at rates
approximating the foreign exchange rates ruling at the dates

of the transactions. Foreign exchange differences arising on
retranslation are recognised directly in a separate compeonent

of equity.

Any exchange gainsflosses arising on transactions entered into to
hedge the currency fluctuations on the net investment in foreign
subsidiaries are recorded, net of tax, in the exchange fluctuation
reserve on consolidation where it is determined to be an effective
hedge. They are released into income upon disposal of the entity.

{13) Financial instruments

The consolidated entity is exposed to changes in interest rates,
fareign exchange rates and commodity prices from its activities.
The consolidated entity uses the following financial instruments
to hedge these risks: interest rate swaps and forward exchange
contracts. Financial instruments are not hetd for trading purposes.

Derivative instruments

Current period policy

Derivative instruments are initially recognised at fair value on the
date the derivative contract is entered into and are subsequently
remeasured to their fair value,

Changes in the fair value of derivative instruments are recognised
immediately in the income staterment,

Comparative period policy

Derivative instruments were only recognised when actual
settlerent occurred. Changes in the fair value of derivative
instruments were not recognised in the income statement.

Financial instruments included in liabilities

Current period poficy

Trade and other payables are recognised for amounits o be paid
in the future for goods and services received, whether or not
billed to the consclidated entity and are stated at amontised cost.

Interest bearing loans and borrowings are recognised initially at
fair value less attributable transaction costs. Subseguent to initial
recognition, interest bearing borrowings are stated at amortised
cost. Any difference between cost and redeemable value is
recognised as interest expense, on an effective interest basis in
net financing costs over the period of the borrowings.

Comparative period policy

Liabilities are recognised for amounts to be paid in the future
for goods and services received, whether or not billed to the
consolidated entity.

Interest bearing loans and borrowings are carried at their principal
amounts. Interest is charged as an expense as it accrues other
than for amounts capitalised.

Financial instruments included in assets .

Trade debtors and other receivables are carried at amortiséd cost
less any impairment losses. Collectability of overdue accounts is
assessed on an ongoing basis. Specific provision is made for all
doubtful accounts.

Investments are initially recorded at cost and are subject to
impairment testing at each reporting date,

They are included in non-current assets unless management
intends to dispose of the investment within 12 months of the
balance sheet date.

Financial assets are derecognised when the rights to receive
cash flows from the financial asseis have expired or have
been transferred and the consolidated entity has transferred
substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership.

Available-for-sale financial assets and financial assets at fair
value through profit and loss are subsequently carried at fair
value. Loans and receivables and held-to-maturity investments
are carried at amortised cost using the effective interest method.

Cash and cash eguivalents !

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash balances and call
deposits with an original maturity of three months.

{14) Leased assets _ !

Plant and equipment leases under which the consolidated entity
assumes substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership
are classified as finance leases. Other leases are classified as
operating leases.

Operating lpases !

Fayments made under operating leases are expensed on
a straight-line basis over the term of tIJe lease.

(15) Research and development expenditure

Expenditure on research activities is charged against operating
profit in the year in which the expenditure is incurred. Expenditure
on development activities is capitalised if the product or process
is technically and commercially feasible, and completion is
intended. |

{16} Goodwiill '

Geodwill is no longer amortised but is'tested for impairment
annually, or more frequently if events or changes in circumstances
indicate that it might be impaired and |s carried at cost less
impairment charges where appllcable

Gains and losses on the disposal of an entity include the carrying
value of goodwitl relating to the entity sold. Goodwill is allocated
to cash generating units for the purpose of impairment testing.

¥
(17) Other intangible assets \
Other intangible assets that are acquired by the consolidated
entity are stated at cost less accumulated amortisation and
impairment losses {see Note1({20}). The period of amortisation
equates to the period over which henefits are expected to be
derived. X

{18) Brand names I

Brand names acquired are carried at cost less any impairment
losses and are not amortised on the basis that they have
indefinite lives. The associated brands are supported by
expenditure annually, consistent with the stated strategy to
further develop the brands. .

Brand names are allocated to cash generating units for the
purpose of impairment testing. |

{19} Business combinations
Business combinations prior to 1 July 2004,

Goodwill is included on the basis of its deemed cost, which
represents the amount recorded under previous AGAAR

The classification and accounting treatment of business
combinations {including goodwill) that ocourred prior to 1 July
2004 has not been reconsidered in preparing the consolidated
entity’s opening AIFRS balance sheet at 1 July 2004.

Business combinations since 1 July 2004

The purchase method of accounting is used to account for

all acquisitions of assets (including business combinations)
regardless of whether equity instruments or other assets are
acquired. Cost is measured as the fair value of the assets given,
shares issued or liabilities incurred or assumed at the date of
exchange plus costs directly attributable to the acquisition.
Transaction costs arising on the issue ¢f equity instruments

are recognised directly in equity. |




Accounting policies {continued)

Identifiable assets acquired and liabilities and contingent liabilities
assumed in a business combination are measured initially at their
fair value at the acquisition date. The excess of the cost of
acquisition over the net fair value of the Group's share of the
identifiable net assets acquired is recorded as goodwill. If the
cost of acquisition is less than the net fair value of the net assets
of the subsidiary acquired, the difference is recognised directly
in the income statement, but only after a reassessment of the
identification and measurement of the net assets acquired.
Where setttement of any pant of cash consideration is deferred,
the amounts payable in the future are discounted to their present
value as at the date of exchange. The discount rate used is the
entity’s incremental borrowing rate, being the rate at which a
similar borrowing could be obtained from an independent
financier under comparable terms and conditions.

{20} Impairment of assets ]

Assets that have an indefinite useful life are not subject to
amortisation and are tested annually for impairment. Assets that
are subject to amortisation are reviewed at each balance sheet
date to determine whether there is any indication of impairment.

If any such indication exists the assets recoverable amount is
estimated. An impairment loss is recognised for the amount by
which the asset's carrying amount exceeds its recoverable amount.
The recoverable amount is the higher of an asset’s fair value less
costs to sell and value in use. For the purposes of assessing
impairment, assets are grouped at the lowest levels for which
there are separately identifiable cash flows (cash generating units).
Impairment losses recognised in respect of cash generating units
are allocated first to any goodwill allocated to the cash generating
unit, and then to other assets in the unit on a pro rata basis.

Goodwill and indefinite lived intangible assets were tested for
impairment at 1 July 2004, the date of transition to AIFRS even
though no indication of impairment existed.

Recoverable amount

The recoverable amount of receivables carried at cost is
calculated as the present value of estimated future cash flows,
discounted at the original effective interest rate. Receivables
with a short duration are not discounted. *

The recoverable amount of other assets is the greater of their fair
value less costs to sell and value in use. In assessing value in use,
the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present
value using an appropriate pre-tax discouni rate.

Reversals of impairment

An impairment loss in respect of goodwill recorded in profit
in one period is not permitted to be reversed to profitin a
subsequent period.

In respect of other assets, an impairment loss is reversed only

if there is an indication that the impairment loss may no longer
exist and there has been a change in estimates used 1o determine
the recoverable amount.

An impairment loss is reversed only to the extent that the assets
carrying amount does not exceed the carrying amount that would
have been determined, net of depreciation or amortisation, if no .
impairment 1oss had been recognised.

{21) Provisions

A provision is recognised when there is a present legal or
constructive obligation as a result of a past event and it is
probable that an outflow of economic benefits will be required to
settle the obfigation. Provisions are determined by discounting the
expected future cash flows at a pre-tax rate that reflects current
market assessments of the time value of money and, where
appropriate, the risks specific to the liability,

Dividends

A provision for dividends payable is recognised in the reporting
period in which the dividends are declared, for the entire
undistributed amount, regardless of the extent to which they
will be paid in cash.

Surplus leased premises

Provision is made for non-cancellable operating lease rentals
payable on surplus lease premises when the expected future
benefits to be obtained are less than the amount payable.

13

Workers” Compensation

Pravision is made for workers’ compensation claims in
accordance with self-insurance licences held. The amount of this
provision is confirmed at each year end by an independent - "
actuary.

A provision for restructuring is recognised when the consolidated |
entity has approved a detailed and formal restructuring plan, and

the restructuring either has commenced or has been publicly v
announced. ’

. '
Restructuring . X
I

(22) Earnings per share ]
Basic earnings per share {EPS} is calculated by dividing the-net '
profit attributable to members of the parent entity by the

weighted average number of ordinary shares of the Company,
adjusted for any bonus issue.

Diluted EPS is calculated by dividing the basic EPS earnings.,
adjusted by the after tax effect of financing costs associated with
dilutive potential ordinary shares and the effect on revenues and
expenses of conversion to ordinary shares associated with dilutive
potential ordinary shares, by the weighted average number of
ordinary shares and dilutive potential ord:nary shares adjusted for
any bonus issue.

{23} Revisions of accounting estimates

Revisions to accounting estimates are recognised prospectively
in current and future periods,

{24} Accounting estimates and judgments

The consolidated entity makes estimates and assumptions

concerning the future. The resulting estimates will, by definition,

seldom equal the actual result. The estimates and judgments that  *

have a significant risk of causing a matenal adjustrnent to the

carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within'the next financial ,

year are discussed helow, | !
. ! 1

Impairment of geodwill and mtangtbles with mdefm.rrﬂ
useful lives SRS
The consolidated entity assesses whether goodwill and .
intangibles with indefinite useful lives are impaired at least :
annually in accordance with the accounting policy in Notés 1(16}
and.1{18). These calculations involve an estimation of the !
recoverable amount of the cash generating units to which the .
goodwill and intangibles with indefinite useful lives are allocated. ¢

Defined benefit superannuation fund obligations

Various actuarial assumptions are utilised in the determlnat:on

of the consolidated entity's defined benefit superannuation fund. |
obligations. These assumptions are discussed in Note 1(7). i

{25} Change in accournting policy )

The consolidated entity has taken advantage of the election under
AASB 1 to not restate for AASB 132 Financial Instruments:

Disclosure and Presentation and AASB 139 Financial Instruments:
Recognition and Measurement. "

There are no adjustments for 1 July 2004 or the financial year
ended 30 June 2005 as previous AGAAP continues to apply.

As at 1 July 2005, the adjustments to the consolidated entity are
as follows: !

r
* under previous AGAAP, not all derivatives were recognised in !
the balance sheet. On adoption of AASB 139, all derivatives are
recognised at fair value on the balance sheet. The effect on the
consolidated entity is to record the fair value of the derivatives ‘
on the balance sheet with a corresponding decrease in retained .!
earnings of $0.3 million, net of tax of $0.1 million. 1
debt establishment cosis which were capitalised and amortised !
over the term of the borrowing under previous AGAAP are
recalculated based on the effective interest rate method and
recognised as part of the liability rather than as a separate Y
asset. This results in a decrease in assets of $4.0 million, and
a decrease in financial liabilities of $4.0 million.

t

The impact of the above is $Nil on the Company.




NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS CONTINUED |
AS AT 30 JUNE 2006

Consolidated B | PaperlinX Limited |

2006 2005 2006 2005
$m ‘$m $m $m
Revenue ‘ .oth
Sales of goods 73832 7,5?4.1 — T -
Rendering of services: . !
* Subsidiaries - C- L= 131 85
* Commissions 9.1 8.8 - —
Total revenue 73923 7.582.9 13.1 8.5
. i
S ] .
Other income - \
Insurance proceeds ’ ’ 0] [ - ~
Rent - . 20 it2 - -
Other o1 b . _ _
Dividends received/receivable: . |
* Subsidiaries _ - b 255 177.0
* Other . 0.8 Q.3 - -
Net profit on disposal of: - i
» Non-current assets (1) . 24.4 '3.0 L. : -
Total other income | 273  las|  ass 177.0

N fncluded in the amount in the current year is $16.3 miflion (2005: $Nil rmiflion} in relation to profits arising on the disposal of properties
under commercial sale and lease-back arrangements. In accordance with the ongoing review of the owned propem'es it is expected that
further commercial sale and lease-back arrangernents may be undertaken in the future.

2005 2005 2006 2005
$m $m $m im

Expenses : ‘ ||
{a) Expenses (excluding financing costs) - | -
Cost of sales- . . . 60277 6,101.5 - -
Distribution and warehousing 424 4 423.2 - -
Sales and marketing ' 3434 380.5 - -
General and administration {1} 4649 496.4 6.9 6.3
Research and development 22 35 - -
Total expenses (excluding financing costs) 7.267.6 | 7.405.1 69 | 63
{b} Personnel costs included above: ’ 1 1
Wages and salaries - 601.5 6128 |- - -
Increase in liability for employee benefits and directors retiring allowances 2286 21.9 - - I
Contributions to defined contribution plans 304 308 - - |
Employee share options and rights 29 23 - - !
Increase in Kability for defined benefit obligation 178 2056 - -

675.3 688.4 | - -

. - .
WY Current year costs include $15.2 millian for redundancy. closure and other related costs relating to the manufacturing business at
Shoathaven mill. }




2006 2005 2006 2005
$m $m $m $m
Profit for the year R T
{a) Profit for the year comprises the following:
Revenue sale of goods
+ Continuing operations 7,383.2 7.574.1 - -
+ Discontinuing operations 295 - - 4 -
7.412.7 7.574.1 - -
Profit before depreciation, impairment, amortisation, net interest and tax
« Continuing operations 255.8 293.0 317 179.2
+ Discontinuing operations 1.3 - T = -
| 2571 2030 317 179.2
Depreciation, impairment and amortisation
+ Continuing operations {104.7) (112.9) - -
» Discontinuing operations - — - -
{104.7}) {112.9) - -
Profit before net interest and tax
+ Continuing operations 1511 180.1 317 179.2
« Discontinuing operations 1.3. - = -
| 1524 180.1 317 179.2
Net interest :
+ Continuing operations (64.9) {68.5) - -
+ Discontinuing operations (0.2} - - -
(65.1) (68.5) - -
Profit before tax -
» Continuing operations 86.2 1116 3i.7 179.2
+ Discontinuing operations 1.1 - -~ -
87.3 111.6 31.7 179.2
Tax
= Continuing operations {21.5) 55.1 (2.9 {0.7)
+ Discontinuing operations (0.4 - - -
219)] 551 29 7
Profit for the year '
= Continuing operations 647 | 166.7 28.8 178.5
+ Discontinuing operations 0.7 - _ -
654 166.7 288 1785




NOTES TO THE ANANCIAL STATEMENTS CONTINUED
AS AT 30 JUNE 2006

_ Consolidated [ PaperiinX Limited |

2006 2005 2006 2005
$m $m $m $m
Profit for the year {continued) i
{b) Profit before tax has been arrived at after (charging)/crediting: ,
Depreciation: : .
« of land improvements (0.3) (0.2} - -
+ of buildings {11.3) (9.4} - -
« of plant and equipment . {73.2) (72.2} - ‘ -
| am]  @1a) - -
impairment: . !
+ of land - (0.1} - -
« of land improvements - _ .- (0.3} - -
= of buildings - (1.1 - -
+ of plant and equipment - {10.9) - -
- {12.4) - -
Amortisation: . !
+ of computer software intangibles (19.7) (18.7} - -
+ of leased assets (0.2} -
AR Y iy -
Total depreciation, impairment and amaortisation I (104:7]1 {112.9} [ - l -
Provisions:
= employee benefits and Directors’ retiring allowances {22.6) {21.9} - -
= doubtful debts (3.0) (16.6} - -
+ diminution in value of inventories . {1.1) (3.2) - -
» other 7.7) {7.2) - -
Total provisions | (34.4)| (489} | - -
Lease rentals: '
» Operating leases {55.4) {60.4) - -
{c) Net financing costs comprise the following .
Financial income: i
¢ Interest income 58 4.1 - -
* Net foreign exchange gain 15 0.2 - -
Total financial income . 73 43 ~ _
Financial expenses: ' . .
* Interest expense {71.0) {72.6) - -
* Less capitalised interest expense 0.3 ' - - -
o] 728 - -
* Other borrowing costs (2.4) {2.5) - -
Total financial expenses | (73.1) l (75.1) | - -
Total net financing costs (65.8) 70.8 - -
Net interest: ‘
* Interest income 58 41 - -
* Interest expense {70.7) {72.6) - -
Total net interest | 49| 85| - -
| P ——— ! — J




I
Consolidated f PaperlinX Limited—l ,

e ) ‘ 2006 2005 2006 2005 !

. $m $m $m $m o
Income tax expense O R
Prima facie income tax expense calculated at standard rates of tax on profit from : .
continuing operations and discontinuing operations (26.2) (33.5) (8.5) (638}
(Add)/deduct the tax effect of: "
* Tax rebate on dividends from investments - 0.1 : - -
* Non assessable dividends from Australian subsidiaries - - 771 0 531 i
« Amortisation of goodwill allowable . B4 8.7 oo - ‘
« Qverseas tax rate differential {1.5) {1.2) - -
* Research and development incentives 177112 1.5 - -
= Tax losses not brought to account - 56 - - .
* Reversal of tax losses previously brought to account {5.5} -} - - - h
* Income tax refated to wholly-owned subsidiaries in the tax-consolidated group - - 39 B1
« Recovery of income tax under a tax funding agreement - - (3.9 {8.1)
* Non-deductible expense for employee share options and rights {0.9) {0.7} ). - - ,'
¢ Other ] 02 (6.4) 1.1} -
= Qver provision in prior years 24 - A0 - -
* Impact of resetting the tax values initially determined on implementation k
of tax consolidation - 77.0 - 770
* Recovery of income tax under a tax funding agreement at transition - - - (77.0) ‘:
Total tax (expense)/benefit {219) 55.1 {2.9y 07 |
Recognised in the income statement '
Current tax expense . : :,
Current year ~ {18.8) 5811 (2.9 {0.7) "
Adjustments for prior years 224 401 - - L
(16.4) ssa| el T won
Deferred tax expense . ‘ N
Expense on derecognition of tax loss  ~ {5.5) ) - - -
| s - | -
Tota! tax expense in income statement (21.9) I 55.1 | (2.9) | {07
Attributable to: ' . y
Continuing operations {21.5) 55.1 {2.9) (0.7}
Discontinuing operations o (0.4} - - -
| @l sil el ©7)

The balance of the consolidated franking account as at 30 June 2006 was $Nil million (2005: $3.6 million). o
The balance of the franking account, is stated at a 30% tax rate. )
The balance of the dividend iranking account at prior year-end is adjusted for:

{a) franking credits that will arise from the payment of the current tax liabiiities;
{b) franking debits that will arise from the payment of dividends recognised as a liability at the year-end:
fc} franking credits that will arise from the receipt of dividends recognised as receivables by the tax consolidated group at the year-end, and :

fd) frarking credits that the entity may be prevented from distributing in subseguent years.
The ability to utilise the franking credits is dependent upon there being sufficient available profits to declare dividends.




NOTES T0 THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS CONTINUED |
AS AT 30 JUNE 2006 ?

3

Consolidated, [ PaperlinX Limited I

2006 2005 2008 2005
$m Sm $m $m

Dividends '

Interim dividend paid:
« 5.5 cents per share paid on 5 April 2006, Nil% franked ‘
at a rate of 30% tax rate on fully paid shares 2 246 - 246 -
+ 13.5 cents per share paid on 4 April 2005, Nil% franked )
at a 30% tax rate on fully paid sharesﬂl - 60.2 - 60.2
Final dividend paid: : ]
+ 12 gents per share paid on 28 September 2005, !
Ni1% franked at a 30% tax rate on fully paid shares (1 53.5 - 535 -

= 14 cents per share paid on 30 September 2004, N
Nil% franked at a 30% tax rate on fully patd shares (1} - 62.5 - 62.5

78.1 122.7 78.1 122.7

i
1) Paid out of profits measured in accordance with Australian Accounting Standards and other financial reporting requirements applicable
for the year ended 30 June 2005. .

2 Paid out of profits measured in accordance with Australian equivalents to International Financial Reporting Srandards and issued .
by the Australian Accounting Standards Board and the financial reporting requirements applicable for the year ended 30 June 2006.

PaperlinX Limited has declared a dividend, at the date of this report, on ordinary shares payable 13 October 2006 - 4.5 cents per share, 2
unfranked on fully paid shares. This dividend has not been provided for in the accounts as at 30 June 2606.

It is expected that the interim dividend in respecr of the year ending 30 June 2007 will be unfranked. !

Consolldated [ PaperlinX Limitad J

2006 2005 2006 2005
$m $m $m $m

Cash and cash equivalents
Cash on hand and at bank 387.0 362.3 - -
Deposits at call 68.1 66.8 - -
Total cash and cash equivalents 4561 I 4291 - -
Trade and other receivables ' .
Trade debiors ) 1,460.6 1,366.6 - -
Provision far impairment losses (67.2) (67.4) - -
Net trade debtors 1,403.4 1,309.2 : - -
Other debtors 826 70.4 3.1 -
Prepayments --656.8 3.6 -
Amounts owing from subsidiaries - = - 201.4
Total trade and other receivables I 1,541.8 I 1,433;.2 3.1 2014

1) Credit terms for trade debtors vary across the consolidated entity.




1Y ol [ PaperinX Limited ]

2006 2005 2006 2005
$m $m $m $m
Inventories
At cost: .
Raw materials and stores 101.3 101.6 - -
-Provision for impairment losses Co (8.8 6.9 - -
Net raw materials and stores I 925 | 94.7 [ - -
Work in progress l 158 171 - -
Finished goods 756.4 | 7049 - -
Provision for impairment losses ) : (20.7} {21.0) - -
Net finished goods - - . : 735.7 6839 | - -
At net realisable value:
Finished goods - 201 16.0 - -
Total inventories 864.1 ] 811.7 .= -

Assets and liabilities held for sale

The assets and liabilities held for sale relate to part of the Merchanting and Paper Trading business purchased in Canada | .
during the year, which are required to be sold as a condition of the regulatory approval of the total acquisition.

. ' - Consolidated

2006
$m
Assets classified as held for sale:
" Disposal group (Paper Merchanting) o ) :
* Trade and other recelvables 13
* Inventories : : 79
* Property, plant and equipment 04
| 196
Liabilities classified as held for sale:
Disposal group {Paper Merchanting)
s Trade and other payables : 09
I 0.9
Revenue ’ ' ' ' | 295
Profit before depreciation, impairment, amortisation, net interest and tax ' . 1.3
Depreciation, impairment and amortisation -
Profit before net interest and tax : 1.3
Interest 0.2)
Profit before income tax ) : 1.1 |
Tax (0.4)
Profit for the year 0.7

During the year ended 30 June 2006, the component of the Canadian business held for sale had cash inflows from operating activities
of 0.8 million, cash outflows from investing activities of $Ni and cash flows from financing activities of 3Nil.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS CONTINUED i
AS AT 30 JUNE 2006 '

2006 2005 2006 2005

$m $m $m $m

Receivables : n A M G
Other debtors . 89 5.4 - -
Total receivables : 8.9 5.4 - -

Investments - ) ) )

Shares in subsidiaries (refer Note 40): - .
* At cost ) - - 19121 1.549.8

Total investment in shares in subsidiaries - - 19121 15498

Shares in other companies
Not listed on stock exchanges: :
¢ Al cost 14.1 13.3 - -

Total investment in other companies 141 133 -1 _

Total investments 181 133 | 19121 | 15498

Property, plant and equipment |

Land: . . R

* At cost 771 776 - -
» Accumulated impairment losses (2.4) {2.3) - -
Totalland 747 75.3 - -
Land improvements: ! .

* At cost : : 1.4 2.3 - To-
* Accumulated depreciation and impairment losses {3.1) {29} - -
Total net land improvements 8.3 6.4 I - -
Buildings: '

+ At cost 3825 © 3893 - -
* Accumulated depreciation and impairment losses {169.4) {1584} - -
Total net buildings ' | 2131 | 2309 | - -
Plant and equipment: .

* At cost 1,926.4 17794 - -
= Accumulated depreciation and impairment losses (1.232.1}] (1,107.0) - -
Total net plant and equipment : . £694.3 672.4 - -
Leased assets: .

* Finance leases - ‘ 1.4 04 - -
« Accumulated amortisation and impairment losses {1.0) (0.2) - -
Total net leased assets 0.4 0.2 -~ -
Total property, plant and eguipment | 930.8 l 985.lZ - -

'
|
i
|
+

1
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Consolidated | PaperlinX Limited ]

2006 2005 2006 2005
$m $m $m $m

Property, plant and equipment (continued) : . . A I

The reconciliation of the movement in each class of property,
plant and equipment is as follows:

+

Land:

Balance at beginning of year:

Cost ' 776 808 p: . . - o=
Accumulated impairment losses 23] .23 .= - .!
Net balance at beginning of year | 753 785 - -
Disposals (2} {6.3) (0.1) .- -
Acquisition of subsidiaries {3 . 0.2 0.5 o= -
Foreign currency movements 5.0 351 -

Impairment (4 - {0.1) - -
Transfers - . . 0.5 - - i
Net balance at end of year ’ | 747 | 753 ' - l -
Land improvements:

Balance at beginning of year: C
Cost . 93 78 =1 -
Accumulated depreciation and impairment losses {2.9) (2.4} - -
Net balance at beginning of vear ) . B4 5.4 v -
Additions (% o | 22 131 - -
Depreciation {0.3) 0.2 - -
Transfers - - - 0.2 -

Impairment (4 - 0.3 - -

Net balance at end of year 8.3 6.4 | - -
Buildings:

Ralance at beginning of year:

Cost . . 3893 . 4159 - -
Accumulated depreciation and impairment losses (158.4) (161.8) - -

Net balance at beginning of year 230.9 2641 - -
Additions {1 . 39 8.1 - -
Disposals (2} ) {24.1) {3.5) - -
Depreciation - (11.3) (9.4} - -
Acquisition of subsidiaries @ ‘ 5.1 41 - -
Transfers {1.2) {0.2) - -
Foreign currency movements 98 sz | -

Impairment 4! - 1. - -
Net balance at end of year - 2134 2309 [ - -




NOTES T0 THE RNANCIAL STATEMENTS CONTINUED
AS AT 30 JUNE 2006 |

Consolidated il [ PeperlinX Limited |

. . . 2008 2005 2006 2005

" - . : $m $m $m $m
Property, plant and equipment (continued) " R
Plant and equipment:- . ' . I
Balance at beginning of year: o 1
Cost ) R 17794 18133 .- -
Accumulated depreciation and impairment losses {1.107.0)] (1.130.7} - -
Net balance at beginning of year - ' 672.4 682.6 - -
Additions (! i . 90 86.3 - -
Disposals 2 (2.6) (4.6) - -
Depreciation L ) - (73.2) (72.2) - -
Acquisition of subsidiaries ¥ . 4.4 1.6 - -
Transfers . - 0.2 v - -1 -
Transfers to computer software . {0.7) - : - -
Foreign currency movements .. 28 {10.4) |- - -
Impairment 14} — {10.9) - -
Net balance at end of year 694.3 672.4 - -
Leased assets:

Balance at beginning of year

Cost ‘ 04 0.2 - -
Accumulated depreciation and impairment losses {0.2) {0.2) - -
Net balance at beginning of year - 0.2 - .- -
Transfers ’ 05 02 - -
Depreciation {0.2) - .- -
Disposals 2 0.1 - - |- -
Net balance at end of year 04 0.2 - -

1% The total additions included above are $87.1 million (2005: 393.7 million). !

2t The total disposals included above are $33.1 milfion (2005: $8.2 million). ,

# The total acquisitions of property, plant and equipment of subsidiaries included above are $9.7 million (2005: $6.2 miifion).

# The total impairment charges included above are $12.4 million arising wholly from certain mills in the Communiication Papers industry
segment of the Australian Paper Manufacturing business. The recoverable amount was based on value in use calculations. These
calculations use a cash flow projection based on expected operating results over the estimated remaining fife of the assets within each
cash generating unit. A pre-tax discount rate of 9.5% has been used for discounting the projected cash flow and a nif growth rate has been
applied in calculating the projected cash flow. 1

]




Consolidated PaperlinX Limited l

v -t ’ . 2006 2005 2006 2005

. $m $m $m $m

Intangible assets REEETN &1 o oy o sz
Goodwill at cost 3449 316.7 - -
Computer software at cost 154.9 147.2 - -
Accumulated amortisation and impairment losses ) {105.5) {85.0) - -

o | . 404 622 ). -

Brand names at cost v 258 24.7 - -
Other at cost B 20 08 - -
Accumulated amortisation and impairment losses {0.5) {0.5) - -
15 01 | - -

Total intangible assets : | a216| a037| . - -

The reconciliation of the movement in each class of intangible
assets is as follows:

Goodwill at cost: (112

Balance at beginning of year: 3167 337.1 - -
Acquisition of subsidiaries . 9.1 171 - -
Foreign currency moverments 15.2 (25.1) -. -
Other ) 38 (3.5) - -
Business combinations - : - {8.9) L= -
Balance ai end of year ’ I 344.9 l 316.7 | L= . -

Computer software: 113
Balance at beginning of year: ‘ _ ' .
Cost ' 1472 | 1549 - L

Accumulated amortisation and impairment-losses - - - {85.0) -{738)t- - - -} - -
Net balance at beginning of year 682.2 811 - -
Amortisation 18R {187} - -
Transfers from plant and egquipment 0.7 - - -
- r . N
Foreign currency movements l 13 | 0.2) - -
Additions 49 [ R —
Net balance at end of year 494 f 62.2 [ . -1 -

Brand names at cost: (1112

Balance at beginning of year 247 27.3 - -
Foreign currency movements 1.1 {2.6) - -
Batance at end of year : . %8| - 247 . -
Other: {112}

Balance at beginning of year

Cost 06 0.6 - -
Accumulated amortisation and impairment losses (0.5) (0.5) - -
Net batance at beginning of year \ 01 |, a1 - -
Business acquisitions . 1.2 - - -
Fereign currency movements . 0.2} - - I
Net balance at end of year . 1.5 l 0.1 | - -

{1

All intangibles are analysed on a cash generating unit basis. The impairment test is based on value in use calculations. These calculations
use a cash flow projection based on expected operating results over the estimated remaining life of the assets within each cash generating
unit. A pre-tax discount rate of 9.5% has been used in discounting the projected cash flow and a nif growth rate has been applied in
calculating the projected cash flow.

Gooawill. brand names and other intangibles all relate to the Faper Merchanting business.

¥ Computer software relates to all businesses.

12
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS CONTINUED
AS AT 30 JUNE 2008

Consolidated [ PaperlinX Limited |
2006 2005 2006 2005
$m $m $m $m
Note 16.] Deferred tax assets L o o
Deferred tax assets (! . 74.4 85.2 -] -
Total deferred tax assets : 74.4 85.2 s -
Deferred tax assets comprises the following: '
Provisions and employee benefits - .. 52.4 62.9 - .-
Accrued expenseas not claimed ) ) 0.6 04 IR R
Expenses capitalised - o - . 0.7 0.7 - -
Other items ) 136 15.0 - -
Tax losses 2 . ) 7.1 6.2 = -
74.4 85.2 - -

W Alt movements in temporary differences in tha current year have been recorded in the income statement. !

21 Potential further future income tax benefits of the consolidated entity relating to accumulated tax losses at balance date of $87.3 million
{2005: 864.8 million) have not been recagnised on the basis that it is not probable that future taxable profit wn'/ be available against which
the consolidated entity can use the beneﬂr from,

1

-

2006 2005 2006 2005
. $m $m . $m $m

Note 17.] Trade and other payables . !
Trade creditors 1 : ' 930.1 801.6 - -
Other creditors 2428 240.3 - . -
Amounts owing to subsidiaries - , = 2116 -
Total trade and other payablas . 1,172.9 1,041.9 2116 -

. ‘ i

1} Credit terms for trade creditors vary across the consolidated entity.

. ]

Note 18.| Interest bearing loans and borrowings '

Unsecured interest bearing loans and borrowrngs m i
* Bank overdrafts 1.2 1.3 - -
* Bank borrowings ® . 2149 260.1 - 1. -
* CAD notesta 3.7 33 - -
* Other loans 14 1.0 - -
Finance lease liabilities : 0.5 09 - -
Total interest bearing loans and borrowings | | 221.7 l 266.6 [ - -

M Unsecured interest bearing loans and barrawings are shown net of capitalised borrowing costs of $2.1 million, where applicable.

B The consolidated entity has committed bank overdraft facifities to a maximum of 327.1 million {2005; $50.8 million). As at 30 June 2007, the
unused portions of the facilities were 325.9 milfion {2005. $43.5 million). The bank overdrafts are payable on demand and are subject to
annual review.

& Relates to the following bank borrowings excluding the impact of capitalised borrowing costs: !
+$148.3 million {2005 $185.3 million) drawn under a USD 115 million (2005: USD 150 million) facility maturing in February 2007.
Drawings under this facility incur interest at BBSY plus an applicable credit margin. ;

» $4.8 million {2005: $4.4 million] drawn under a SGD 20 millian faciity maturing in March 2007, s
«324.7 million (2005: $23.3 million) drawn under a NZD 45 million facility maturing in November 2006.
*$2.8 million (2005 34.1 million) drawn under a MYR 12 miliion facility maturing in April 2007. |
SN million (2005: $1.4 milfion) drawn under a MYR 9.5 miflion facility maturing in December 2006, i
+3$36.4 milfion (2005: 341.6 million) drawn under various other facilities. !
@ Relates to $3.7 mitlion (2005 $3.3 million) being CAD 3.0 million of the CAD 18 million Senior Unsecured Notes detailed in Note 23,

These amounts will be repaid from other undrawn facilities and proceeds frorm operations. !
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Consolidated IR | PaperlinX Limited |

2006 2005 2006 2005
$m $m $m $m
Income tax payable 1 o :
Income 1ax 9.6 38 1.3 05
Total income tax payable 9.6 I 3.8 .13 0.5
Employee benefits
Employee benefits M4 409 - -
Total employee benefits 4.4 40.9 l - -
Provisions N .
Dividend payable it - - - -
Restructuring provision (2 - 0.4 - _
Other® 138 19.4 - -
Total provisions 13.8 19.8 - -
1 The reconciliation of the movement in the provision for dividend payable is as follows:
Balance at the beginning of the year - - - -
Provided during the year 781 122.7 781 122.7
Paid during the year — cash {77.8) {122.3) (77.8) (122.3)
Paid during the year — non-cash {0.3} (0.4) (0.3) {0.4)
& The reconciliation of the movement in the restructuring provision
in relation 1o acquisitions is as foliows: )
Balance at the beginning of the year 0.4 120 - -
Frovided for at acquisition date - 1.3 - -
Paid during the year (0.4) {10.6} - -
Utilised amourt written back to assets on acquisition - (1.0} - -
Unutitised amount written back to goodwill on acquisition - {0.8} - -
Foreign currency movemenis - {0.5) - | -
- 04 - } -
@ The reconciliation of the movement in other provisions is as follows:
Balance at the beginning of the year 19.4 37 - -
Provided during the year 45 4.8 - -
Paid during the yesr (4.4 (8.0 - -
Transfers to/{frorn) non-current provision {8.3) {14.4) - -
Business acquisitions - 18 - -
Foreign currency movements {0.4} {1.9) - -
13.8 194 - -
Payables
Other creditors 831 119.6 - -
Total payables 931 [ 119.6 - -
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NOTES TO THE ANANCIAL STATEMENTS CONTINUED '
AS AT 30 JUNE 2006 ,

t
!
|
|

Consolidated B | PaperlinX Limited |

: . 2006 2005 2006 2005
' . $m $m $m $m
1Note 23. l Interest bearing loans and borrowings ' .
Unsecured imerest bearing loans and borrowmgs 1 ' .
* Bank borrowings 2 ' 639.2 569.7 - -
« USD notes @ - . - 1650 159.9 -1 -
» CAD notes 79.3 728 - -
* GBP notes® 253.1 2429 - -
Finance lease liabilities 0.1 0.7 - -
Total interest bearing loans and barrowings : 1.136.7 ! 1,036.0 - -
Raconciliation of consolidated net interest bearing loans and borrowings )
Current interest bearing loans and borrowings — refer Note 18 2217 2666 - -
Nen-current interest bearing loans and borrowings — refer above in Note 23 1.136.7 1.036.0 - -
Total interest bearing loans and borrowings (8 ’ 1,358.4 1,30:2.6 - -
Cash and cash equivalents — refer Note 8 (455.1) {429.1) - -
Net interest bearing loans and borrowings - 903.3 8735 I - -

) Unsecured interest bearmg foans and borrowings are shown net of capitalised borrowing costs of $1.8 mr.’lfon where applicable.

2 Relates to the following bank borrowings.

« $639.5 miflion {2005: $549.8 million) drawn under a UUSD 815 million (2005 USD 850 million) facility marurmg USD 115 million in
February 2007, USD 300 miflion in February 2008 and USD 400 millian in February 2010. Drawings under this facility incur interest
at BBSY plus an applicahle credit margin. The current portion of this facility is shown in Note 18.

* $0.8 million (2005: £$8.9 million) drawn under various other facilities.

P Relates to the folfowing notes:

» $76.5 million (2008: $74.0 million), being USD 56 million of Senior Unsecured Notes, maturing 2017 at 7.88%, repayments are
it equal instalments frorn 2017 to 2017,

~ $88.7 million {2005: $85.9 million). being USD 50 mitfion Senior Unsecured Notes, maturing in 2014 at 5,70%, and USD 15. @ miftion
Senior Unsecured Notes, maturing in 2019 at 6.05%.

) $79.3 million (2005 $72.8 miflion), being CAD 18 miltion (2005: CAD 21 million) Senior Unsecured Notes, marurrhg 2012 at 7.59%,
repayments are int equal instalments from 2006 to 2012, and CAD 43 million Senior Unsecured Notes, maturing 2017 at 8.01%,
repayments are in equal instalments from 2011 to 2017. The current portion of this facility is shown in Note 18

% $253.6 miflion (2005: $242.8 million), being GBP 57.4 million Senior Unsecured Notes, maturing in 2014 at 6. 6‘7% and GBF 43.8 million
Senior Unsecured Notes, maturing in 2019 at 6.48%.

® As at 30 June 2006, the unused portions of both current and non-current facifities totalled $396.6 million {2005 £439.9 miltion).

=

2006 2005 2006 2005
$m $m $m $m
Note 24. l Deferred tax liabilities '

Deferred income tax 43.4 334 |- 05 -

Total deferred tax liabilities 4] :a 05 -
Deferred tax liabilities comprises the following:

Prepayments claimed 1.1 1 - -

Receivables deferred for tax 05 - 0.5 -

Difference between fixed asset book and tax written down value 376 27.? : - -

Other . J 42 4.6 - ’ -

434 334 05 -
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Consolidated L

PaperlinX Limited

]

2006 2005 2006 2005
: $m $m $m $m
|the 35._| Empiloyee benefits 3 e L
Employee benefits (1) 373 389 - - -
Total employee benefits 37.3 389 . -
The aggregate employee benefits at balance date is:
Current — refer Note 20 a4 409 . _
Non-current - refer Note 25 37.3 389 - -
Total employee benefits ' © 787 ' 788 - -

" Included in the above emplayee benefits of the consolidated entity are Directors’ retiring allowances of $2.2 million {2005: £1.8 million),
which are disclosed in detail in the Directors’ Report. These benefits only relate to Non-executive Directors of PaperlinX Limited and are in
aceordance with the Company’s Constitution and with agreements between the company and individual Directors, No liability exists for
Directors’ retiring allowances in respect of Directors in the full-time employment of PaperiinX Limited or its subsrd.'anes

Consolidated [ PaperlinX Limited

2006 2005 2006 2005 .
$m $m $m $m
Note 26. | Provisions

Other 11 - 10.9 3.2 - -
Total provisions 109 3.2 - -
The aggregate other provisions at balance date are: 2} ‘
Current ~ refer Note 2 138 19.8 - -
Non-current — refer Note 26 109 32 - -
Total other provisions | 247 I 23.0 - -

1) The reconciliation of the movement in other provisions is as follows: .
Balance at beginning of year 3.2 31 - -
Provided during the year 3.2 23 - -
Paid during the year ~(2.5) 0.2 - -
Transfers ta current provisions 53 {1.6} - -
Foreign currency movemenis 1.3 {0.4} - -
Business acquisitions 0.4 - - -
109 | 32 | - -

@ Included in the above aggregate other provisions of the consolidated entity are provisions relating to surplus leased premises
of $5.1 million, self-insurance for workers compensation in Tasmania and Victoria of $6.3 mitfion.
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NOTES T0 THE FINANCIAL STATEMEATS CONTINUED -
AS AT 30 JUNE 2006 !

Consolidatedjill| _PaperiinX Limited .}

2006 2005 2006 2005
Sm $m $m $m
Note 27.] Issued capital
Issued and paid-up share capital ] ] '
446,182,209 ordinary shares 1,694.2 16942 | 16842 16942
{2005: 446,172,209 ordinary shares) .
Employee share plan loans {2.3} (2.7} {2.3) (2.7}
Total issued capital 1,691.9 16915 1,691.9 16915
Movement in ordinary share capital: . .
Balance at beginning of year 1,694.2 1,693.8 1.694.2 1,693.8
10.000 [2005: 27,600} shares issued at $3.32 each pursuant to options exercised - 0.1 - 0.1
Nil {2005: 55,000) shares issued at $3.50 each pursuant 1o options exercised - 0.2 - 0.2
Nit {2005: 23,100} shares issued at $4.12 each pursuant to options exercised - 0.1 - 0.1
Balance at end of year 1,694.2 1,694.2 ] 1,894.2 I 1,694.2
Movement in employee share plan loans: i !
Balance at beginning of year ) (2.7) (3.1} {2.7) (3.1}
Repayments 04 0.4 0.4 04
Batance at end of year 2.3)| 27| 2.3)] 2.7

Holders of ordinary shares are entitled to receive dividends as declared from time to time and are entitled to one vote per share
at shareholders’ meetings.

In the event of winding-up of PaperlinX lelted erdinary shareholders rank after all other shareholders and credﬁors and are fully entitled
to any proceeds of liquidation.

Shares )
PaperlinX Limited has in prior years issued employee shares at a discount to the market price, on the date of the issue, in accordance
with the terms of the Employee Share Purchase Plan as approved by shareholders. Each of the share plan i issuesis at a varymg discount
to the market price on the date of the issue in order to comply with the local legislative requirements, and to ehsure that the issues in
each country are approximately equivalent in value to employees,

The granting of employee shares was generally subject to specific performance criteria being achieved — refer Note 1{7}. This plan ceased
in 2004 and no future issuances of shares will be made under this plan.

Options -

= During the year, the following options over shares were exercised:
10,000 options, which had been granted on 20 November 2000 at an exercise price of $3.32, were exercised on 13 December 2005,
The market price of the shares was $3.55.
This resulied in the aggregate issue of 10,000 shares. !

During the prior year, the following options over shares were exercised:

27,500 options, which had been granted on 20 November 2000 at an exercise price of $3 32, were exercused between

2 September 2004 and 24 September 2004. The market price of the shares was between $5.14 and $5.38.

55,000 options, which had been granied on 19 April 2001 at an exercise price of $3.50, were exercised between 7 September 2004
and 30 March 2005. The market price of the shares was between $4.07 and $5.18.

23,100 options, which had been granted on 13 September 2001 at an exercise price of $4.12, were exermsed hetween

23 September 2004 and 7 October 2004. The market price of the shares was between $5.14 and $5.32.

This resulted in the aggregate issue of 105,600 shares.

During the year, the following options lapsed:

10,000 options, which had been granted on 14 April 2000 at an exercise price of $3.13.

12,500 options, which had been granted on 20 November 2000 at an exercise price of $3.32.

210,000 options, which had been granted an 19 April 2001 at an exercise price of $3.50.

30,400 options, which had been granted on 13 September 2001 at an exercise price of $4.12.

15,000 options, which had been granted on 13 September 2001 at an exercise price of $4.18.

26,000 options, which had been granted on 20 September 2002 at an exercise price of $5.13.

17,610 performance options, which had been granted on 30 November 2004 at an exercise price of $4.85.
33,880 performance opticns, which had been granted on 2 September 2005 at an exercise price of $2.77.

During the prior year, the following options lapsed: )
8,000 options, which had been granted on 20 September 2002 at an exercise price of $56.13. '
4,200 options, which had been granted on 13 September 2001 at an exercise price of $4.12. )

*
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Note'27.] Issued capital {continued)
Options ’
During the year, PaperlinX Limited granted options over ordinary shares as follows:

» Employee Share and Option Plan . .
1,022,140 performance options over 1,022,140 ordinary shares on the grant date of 2 Sepiember 2008 at an exercise price of $2.77
per option, which was the weighted average price on the Australfian Stock Exchange for the 30 days prior to 30June 2005.

9720 performance options over 8,720 ordinary shares on the grant date of 2 September 2005 at an exercise price of $4.85 per option,
which was the weighted average price on the Australian Stock Exchange for the 30 days prior to 30 June 2004.

150,000 options over 150,000 ordinary shares on the grant date of 28 February 2006 at an exercise price of $2.77 per option, which
was the weighted average price on the Australian Stock Exchange for the 30 days prior to 30 June 2005. ,

During the prior year, PaperlinX Limited granted options over ordinary shares as follows:

+ Employee Share and Opticn Flan . .
613,090 performance aptions over 613,090 ordinary shares on the grant date of 3¢ November 2004 at an exercise price of $4.85
per option, which was the weighted average price on the Australian Stock Exchange for the thirty days prior to 30 June 2004. "

At reporting date, there are 3,552,160 (2005: 2,735,690) unissued shares of PaperlinX Limited which are under option whose exercise

is subject to the satisfaction of the terms of the option agreements. The options cannot be exercised for three years from the date of

being granted, except on termination of employment, in which case they must be exercised within 30 days of the termination date or,
as otherwise determined by the Board: The details of the options on issue are as follows:

465,000 (2005 475,000} at $3.13 at the grant date of 14 April 2000
195,000 {2005: 217,500} at $3.32 at the grant date of 20 November 2000
400,000 {2005: 610,000} at - $3.50 at the grant date of 19 April 2001
228,700 (2005: 269,100) at $4.12 at the grant date of 13 September 2001
50,000 {2005: 65,000 at $4.18 at the grant date of 13 September 2001
170,000 {2005: 196,000) at $5.13 at the grant date of 20 September 2002
160,000 {2005: 150,000) at $4.76 at the grant date of 18 June 2003
150,000 {2005: 150,000) at $4.64 at the grant date of 26 November 2003
605,200 (2005: 613,090) at $4.85 at the grant date of 22 December 2004
988,260 {2005: nil} at $2.77 at the grant date of 2 September 2005
160,000 (2005: nil) at - $2.77 at the grant date of 28 February 2006
Consolidated
2006 2005
Sm $m
Qutstanding at the beginning of the period 2,735,690 ]2.241,400
Lapsed during the period (355,390) {13,200)
- Granted during the period ’ 1,181,860 |° 613,090
Exercised {10,000 { {105,600}
Outstanding at the end of the period : 3,552,160 [2,735,690 | -

Il

The weighted average share price for options at the end of the financial year was $3.67 {2005:; $4.05).

Employee Share Plan loans

Loans to executive Directors, officers and employeas in the full ime employment of the consolidated entity are made in accordance
with a scheme to provide financial assistance to enable executive Directors and employees of the consolidated entity to purchase ™
shares in PaperlinX Limited as approved by PaperlinX Limited shareholders. These loans are interest free and are reduced either by the
dividends paid on the shares so issued or in certain instances in accordance with an agreed schedule of repayments which does not
exceed three years. R . . -
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NOTES TO THE ANANCIAL STATEMENTS CONTINUED
AS AT 30 JUNE 2006 |

2006 2005 2006 2005
$m $m $m $m
Note 28.| Reserves ' S L
Reserve for own shares A BT
Balance at beginning of year (8.7) 9|l - -
Balance at end of year . ' (9.7} 9.7) - -
Translation reserve : - ‘
Balance at beginning of year : ' {62.0) {17.8) - -
Exchange fluctuation on translation of ovérseas subsidiaries 267 {44.2} - -
Balance at end of year T ' {35.3) (6:‘2.0) l .- | -
Total reserves - o | - -

Nature and purpose of reserves
Reserve for own shares

The reserve for own shares represents the value of shares held by an equity compensatlon plan that the cc)nsoladated entity is required
to include in the consolidated financial statements. This reserve will be reversed against share capital when the underlying shares vest-
in the employee. No gain or loss is recognised in profit or loss on the purchase, sale issue or cancellation of the consolidated entity's
own equity instruments, The number of shares purchased is disclosed in Note 37. .

]

Translation Reserve

The translation reserve records the foreign currency differences arising from the translation of the financial statements of foreign
subsidiaries and the impact of transactions that hedge the company’s net investment in a foreign operation, net of tax. Refer to Note 112}

—F [imited_]

2006 2005 2006 . 2005
$m $m $m $m
Retained profits : i
Balance at beginning of year ) ' (58.1} {70.4) 59.2 34
Adjustment to comply with AASB139 Financial Instruments:
Recognition and Measurement {(0.3) - - -
Balance restated ’ (58.4) (70.4) 59.2 . 34
Net profit attributable to members of PaperlinX Limited 654 166.6 28.8 178.5
Employee share options and rights 29 23 - -
Actuar_ial gains/{losses) on defined benefit plans 30.0 (33.9) | . - -
Dividends paid {78.1) {122.7) {78.1} (122.7)
Total retained profits | s s 99|  s92
1
Minority interest N - 1
Issued capital * . - 1.0 - -
Total minority interest p - 1.0 - f -
'
Capital expenditure commitments
Capital expenditure contracted but not provided for: ‘
* Not later than one year 525 3.8 - -
+ Later than one year but not later than five years - 0.1 - -
Total capital expenditure commitments 525 l 39 I - -
1
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Consolidated rPaparImX Limited |

2006 2005 2006 2005
- ‘ $m $m $m $m
' Lease commitments SERICEE AL BTN
Finance lease liability Pk
Lease expenditure contracted and provided for; _ T :
* Not later than one year 0.3 0.9 - -
* Later than one year but not later than five years . : 03 0.7 - - -
Minimum lease payments ‘ 08 16 - -
Less: Future finance charges . - - - -
Total finance lease liability S [ - 06 l 186 B -
Current lease liabilities — refer Note 18 3 - 05 09 | C- -
Non-current lease liabilities - refer Note 23 : 0.1 0.7 - -
‘Tota! finance lease liability ] 0.6 " 18 C - ‘ -

The consolidated entity enters into finance leases from time to time in relation to plant and.equipment. At the end of the lease term,
the consolidated entity has the option to purchase the plant and eguipment at a price established at the time of entering the lease.

2006 2005 2006 2005
$m $m $m $m

Operating lease commitments
Lease expenditure contracted but not provided for: .
* Not later than one year 935 833 - - :
+ Later than one year but not later than five years 187.3 1728 - - ,
* Later than five years . 1242 1171 - -
Tota! operating lease commitments 405.0 3732 - -

The consolidated entity enters into operating leases from time to time in relation to property, plant and equipment. The major
component relates to the leases of buildings. Leases generally provide the consolidated entity with a right of renewai at which tlme
all terms are renegotiated.

Lease payments comprlse a base amount plus an incremental contingent rental. Contingent rentals are based on the relevant index
or operating criteria.

Consolidated, [ PaperlinX Limited |
. 2006 2005 2006 2005

. $m $m $m $m
— Other expenditure commitments
Expenditure contracted but not prov:ded for covering supplies and services
to be provided; .
+ Not later than one year 476 | 688 - -
* Later than one year but not later than five years 109.6 118.4 - -
* Later than five years 1860.2 230.2 - -
Total other expenditure commitments 3174 408.4 - : -
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NOTES T0 THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS CONTINUED f
AS AT 30 JUNE 2006 ' i

2006 2005 2006 2005
$m $m $m $m

Contingent liabilities '! o b-oba e
Contingent liabilities arising in respect of: : ' o !
Related bodies corporate: ! \ .
+ Bank guarantees {government) - ' - 98 84
* Bank guarantees (trade} 73 . b2 - -
+ Loan guarantees : - | — 501.9 530.8
Total contingent liabilities 73 I 5.2 [ 511.5 539.2

The bank guarantees {government), the beneficiaries of which are government departments, are in relation to the specific requirement
of seff-insurance licence for workers' compensation in Australia.’

The bank guarantees {trade), the beneficiaries of which are third parties, are primarily in relatlon to the |mp0rtat|on of products

The loan guarantees of $501.9 million (2005: $530.8 million) relate to the following items: ’ !
«. $76.5 miltion {2005: $74.0 million}, being USD 56.0 million Senicr Unsecured Notes issued by subsidiary COmpameS
+ $83.0 million {2005: $76.0 million), being CAD £7.0 million {2005: CAD 70.0 million} Senior Unsecured Notes issued
by subsidiary companies. !
« $88.7 miliion (2005: $85.9 million}, being USD 65.0 million Senior Unsecured Notes issued by subsidiary companies.
* $253.6 million {2005: $242.9 million), being GBP 101.2 million Senior Unsecured Notes issued by SUbSldlary companies.
* $Nit-miliion {2005: $52.0 million), other working capital facilities.
Capital expendlture is incurred annually to'enhance environmental performance. There can be no assurance that material new
expenditure will not be required as a result of new mformatlon or regulatory requirements with respect to kncwn sites or identification
of new remedial obligations at other sites.

Under the terms of the ASIC Class Order 98/1418 dated 13 August 1998 {as amended) PaperlinX Limited and certaln sub5|d|ar|es have
entered into approved deeds for the cross guarantee of I|ab|I|t|es with those subsidiaries identified in Note 40.

UI_ PaporiinX Limited |

2006 ! 2005 2006 2005
$m $m $m ~ $m

- Auditors’ remuneration

Amounts received or due and receivable for audn services by: . .

» Auditors of the Company ’ 4675 4,406 -1 -
* Other auditors r- - -
Amounts received or due and receivable for other services by:
* Auditors of the Company !

Other,assurance services . 0.040 0.037 - -
Taxation services . 0.188 0.165 - -
Other services - 0.029 0.019 - -
Divestment advisory services 0545 | . - R -
Total auditors’ remuneration ' : I 5.477 l 4627 - -

The auditors of the Company are KPMG.. From time to time, KPMG provides other services to the Company, which are subject to the
corporate governance procedures adopted by the Company which encompass the restriction of non-audit services provided by the
auditor of the Company, the selection of service providers and the setting of their remuneration. The guidelines adopted by KPMG
for the provision of other services are designed to ensure their statutory independence is not compremised. In the current year, the
Company has engaged the services of other accounting firms to perform a variety of non-audit assignments.l
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Key management personnel

{a) ;I'he term 'key managerﬁent personnel’ is defined as comprising Non-executive Directors, executive Directors

and executives in AASB 124 Related Party Disclosures {December 2004},

The following were key management personnel of the consolidated entity at any time durmg the reporting perlod.

and unless otherwise indicated, were key management personnel for the entire period.

1. Non-executive Directors

D E Meiklejohn Chairman

AFGuy’ . Director

B J Jackson : Director

N L Scheinkestel Director

L A Walsh . Director

L J Yelland Director

2. Executive Directors

TP Park : Managing Director & Chief Executive Officer

D G Abotomey Former Director & Chief Financial Officer (resigned 31 December 2005}
3. Execitives

C B Creighton President Merchanting North America .

M J Fothergill Group General Manager Merchanting Australia

D M Goldthorp Executive General Manager Corporate Development
R F O'Brien Executive General Manager Human Resourcés i

'E de Voogd Chief Executive Officer PaperlinX Europe

L M Lamont Chief Financial Officer {effective February 20086)-

Key management personnel compensation for the period is as follows:

Consolidated i PaperlinX Limited l

2006 2005 2006 2005

Lo _ $ $ $ $
Short-term benefits 8,461,853 | 7,377.154 - -
Post-employment benefits 1,142,460 | 987,931 - -
Equity plans 494,180 253,906 - -
Termination benefits - 1,113,172 — — -
11,211,665 | 8618,991- - -

(b) Individual Directors’ and executives’ compensation contracts

Disclosures of remuneration policies, service contracts and details of remuneration are included in the Remuneration Report as set

out on pages 52 to 67 of the Directors’ Report.

{c) Maximum potential shares — E.xecutlve Directors and executives .
The maximum number of shares that may be earned under the Long Term Incentive Plan {comprising the perforrnance share plan

and the performance rights plan} by executive Directors and executives over a specmed period subject to the satisfaction of specified
performance criteria is as follows:

[Maximum]potentiallentitiement]
At At
1 July 30 June
2005 Movement@ 2006
Exacutive Directors

TP Park 690,215 390,430 1,080,645
D G Abotomey 01 195,360 {195,360} -

Executives , .
C B Creighton 162,560 {28,400} 134,160
M J Fothergill 158.420 {27.5501{ 130,870
D M Lamont - - B
D M Goldthorp 169,980 {27,580} 142,400
R F O'Brien 152,560 {36,670} 115,880
E de Voogd 168,873 {20,343}{ 148,530

1) Resigned as a Director effective 31 Decernber 2005 and employment ceased 8 July 2006
2 Includes performance shares/rights that have lapsed as at 30 June 2006. ~

In the year ended 30 June 2006, none of those shares were vested to any executive Director or executive.
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QIOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS CONTINUED

AS AT 30 JUNE 2006

t
1
i

. {Maximum]potentialfentitiement

(At ) At
1 July 30 June
2005 Movement 2006
Key management personnel {continued) .
Executive Directors ! .
TP Park 600,000 90,215 ; .690,215
D G Abctomey 165,000 80,360 | 195,360
P R Waterworth 105,000 {105,000} -
Executives :
R J Breen 60,000 71.060 131,060
C B Creighton 60,000 102580 { 162,560
M J Fothergill 60,000 98420 | 158,420
D M Goldthorp 105,000 64,980 { 169,980
T Heine-Geldern ' - 44,270 44,270
R F O'Brien 105,000 47,560 152,560
E de Voogd 93,333 75,540 168,873

{d) Loans to key management personnel and their related parties
PaperlinX Limited has not made any loan to any key management personnel and their related partles other than those in accordance
with the terms of the Employee Share Purchase Plan - Refer Note 27. No individual loan is greater than $1OO 000.

The reconciliation of the aggregate movement in the Employee Share Purchase Plan loans 10 the key management personnel of the

Company and the consolidated entity is as follows:

!

At . At
1 July 30 June
2005 Repayments 2006
$ $ $
Executive Directors {(number included 0) 530 . (530) ’
Executives {number included 2) 33,248 (3.699) 29,549
IAt ’ At
1 July 30 June
2004 Repayments 2005
'$ $ $
Executive Directors (number included 2) 73,438 72,908 l 530
Executives (number included 3) 37,887 4,639+ 33248

{e} Shareholdings of key management personnel

The reconciliation of the movement in the relevant interest in the share capital of PaperlinX Limited,
excluding the potential entitternent amounts listed above, is as follows:

!

held by key management personnel,

' Shares
. ! held
At . At nominally
1 July Earned as Exercise 30 June at 30 June
2005 Purchased Sold remuneration of options 2006 2006
Directors .
D E Meiklejohn 47612 20,000 - - - 67,612 -
T P Park 40,000 30,000 - - |- 70,000 -
D G Abotomey I} 63,456 - - - L= 63,456 -
A F Guy 52,848 5,408 - - |- 58,256 -
B J Jackson 26,315 14,665 - - ' 40,980 -
N L Scheinkestel 36,360 - - - - 36,360 -
D A Walsh 20,898 - - - - 20,898 -
L J Yelland 19,304 13,368 - - x - 32,672 -
Executives ‘
C B Creighton 76,700 - - - - 76,700 -
M J Fothergill - - - - - - -
D M Goldtherp 64,726 - - - - 64,726 -
D M Lamont - - - - P - -
R F O'Brien : - 5,000 - - f - 5,000 -
E De Voogd - - - - ' - - -
Total: 448,219 88,441 - - '~ 536860 -

1) Resigned as a Director effective 31 December 2005 and employment ceased 8 July 2006

No shares were granted to key management personnel during the reporting period as compensation.
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Key management personnel {continued)

Shares
held
At At nominally
1 July Earned as Exercise 30 June at 30 June
2004 Purchased Sold remuneration of options 2005 2005
Diractors

D E Meiklejohn 47,612 - - - - 47612 -
TP Park 20,000 20,000 - - - 40,000 -
D G Abotomey 63,456 - - - - 63,456 =
A F Guy 50,855 1,993 - - - 52,848 -
BJJackson @ 26315 - - - _ 26315 -
N L Scheinkestel 34,310 2,050 - - - 36,360 -~
D A Walsh 20,898 - - - - 20,898 . -
P R Waterworth 147,757 - - - ~ 147,757 -
L J Yelland 13,630 5,674 - - - 19,304 -

Execurtives
R J Breen 844 - - - - 844 -
C B Creighton © 72,700 4,000 - - - 76,700 -
M J Fothergill - - - - - - -
D M Goldthorp 64,726 - - - - 64,726 ) -
R F O'Brien - - - - - - -
E De Voogd - - - - - - -
Total: 563,103 33.717 - - - 596,820 ~

{f} Options holdings of key management personnel .
The options are exercisable subject to the satisfaction of the terms of the option agreement - Refer Note 27.

The recongiliation of the movement in the equity compensation in the form of options for the key management personnel
for the year is as follows:

[Maximum]Potential

Vested
and
Granted as . At exercisable
1 July compensation 30 June  at 30 June
2005 iz 2006 2006
Exacutive Directors

TP Park ) . 90,280 109,720  200.000 -
D G Abotomey (243} 276,780 (41,790} 4 235,000 235,000

Exscutives . .
C B Creighton 100,490 55,250 155,740 66,300
DM Lamont - 150,000 150,000 -
M J Fothergill 82,810 54,440 137,250 50,000
D M Goldthorp . . 208,330 61,610 269,940 175,000
R F O'Brien 177,520 49,740 227,260 150,000
£ de Voogd 186.850 82,180 249,030 -

" The detaifs of options granted during the year are detailed in Note 27

2 QOptions issued prior to being appointed a director

B! Resigned as a Director effective 31 December 2005 and employment ceased 8 July 2006
4 Lapsed upon termination of employment
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NOTES TO THE ANANCIAL STATEMENTS CONTINUED
AS AT 30 JUNE 2006 :

Key management personnel {continued) .

) [Maximum]Potential]Entitlement]

Vested
and
Granted as At exercisable
1July compensation 30 June  at 30 June
2005 w2 2006 2006
Executive Directors

T P Park ) - 90,280 80,280 -
D G Abotomey 235,000 41,790 276,790 235,000
P R Waterworth 200,000 - 200,000 200,000

Executives .
R J Breen 66,300 23,690 89,990 58,300
C B Creightan 66,300 34,190 100,490 58,300
M J Fothergill 50,000 32,810 82,810 -
0 M Goldthorp 175,000 33,330 208,330 175,000
T Heine-Geldern 50,000 29510 78,510 -
R F O'Brien 150,000 27,520 177,520 -
E de Voogd 150,000 36,850 186,850 -

1 The details of options granted during the year are detailed in Note 27
2/ Qptions fssued prior to being appointed a director

Note 37.| Employee share and option plans
The consolidated entity maintains an Employee Share and Option Plan (ESOP).
The ESOP includes the following performance plans:
* Performance Share Plan
* Performance Rights Plan )
* Performance Options Plan ’
All shares issued under the ESOP on exercise of options or termination of employment and all options granted under the ESCOP are
detailed in Note 27.
Performance Share Plan

PaperlinX Limited has offered to certain senior management, the ability to receive shares for $Nil consideration at a date in the future
subject to specific performance criteria being achieved.

The following shares have been purchased ‘on-market” and are held in trust:

. 2003/2004 - on 27 August 2003, 4 September 2003 and 11 March 2004, 454,262 shares, 1,689 shares and 534 333 shares
respectively at a cost of $4.8 million,

* 2002/2003 - on 20 Novermnber 2002 and 27 November 2002, 290,000 shares and 810,000 shares respectively at a cost of $5.3 million.

In the event that the specified performance criteria are not fully achieved, the number of shares received by an individual will be

proportionally reduced. Any such shares retained in the trust are available to satisfy future issues under the ESOP

The aggregate amounts of the above items are recorded in the balance sheet as reserve for own shares. The shares are held in trust
until determination of the specified performance criteria. The voting rights attached to the shares are held by the trust, and the dividends
attached to the shares are distributable to the individual executives on advice from the Board.

The'shares purchased have an aggregate fair value of $6.2 million at 30 June 2006 (2005: $6.0 million).

The reconciliation of the number of shares purchased by the plan to date that may be earned as equity compensation by employees, including
executive Directors and executives, over a three-year period subject to the satisfaction of specified performance criteria is as follows:

At At

1July Distributed - 30 June

2005 on Purchased 2006

Balance 1.986.733 - 3000 1,989,733
None of the shares held by the trust at 30 June 2006 have vested. \

At ' At

1 July Distributed . 30 June

2004 on Purchased 2005

Balance 1,883,333 -1 3400 1,986,733




Employee share and option plans {continued}

Performance Rights Plan
PaperlinX Limited has offered to certain senior management rights to receive options over an equivalent number of shares at an exercise
price of $nil at a date in the future subject to specific performance criteria being achieved. The rights are independently valued at the

grant date using the Monte Carlo simulation model. The value of the right is expensed to profit over the applicable measurement-period.:

During the year, the following issues of rights were made: . .

. to receive a maximum of 2,737,070 options over 2,737,070 shares of an exercise price of $Nil (grant date 22 August 2005).
The fair value at the date of the grant was $2.24 per option.

At 30 June 2006, the aggregate issues of rights are:

« 1o receive a maximum of 2,607,450 options over 2,607,450 shares of an exercise price of $Nil {grant date 22 August 2005).
The fair value at the date of the grant was $2.24 per option.

» to receive 8 maximum of 1,275,855 options over 1,275,855 shares at an exercise price of $Nil {grant date 15 October 2004},
The fair value at the date of the offer was $3.27 per option.

+ to receive 3 maximum of 480,290 options over 480,290 shares at an exercise price of $Nil (grant date 15 Octaber 2004). '
The fair value at the date of the offer was $3.32 per aption. .

In the event that the specified perfarmance criteria are not fully achieved, the number of options will be proportionally reduced.

The details of the above offers which have been made to executive Directors of PaperlinX Limited and executives are set out in Note 36.

Performance Option Plan
PaperlinX Limited has issued to certain senior management options at a fixed exercise price at a date in the future subject to specific
performance criteria being achieved. If exercised, the exercise price is recognised in equity. The options are independently valued at the -
grant date using the Monte Carlo simulation model. The value of the option is expensed to profit over the applicabte measurement period.
During the year, the following issues were made:
+ a maximum of 1,022,140 options over 1,022,140 shares of an exercise price of $2.77 {grant date 2 September 2005).
The fair value at the date of the grant was $0.60 per option.
+ a maximum of 9,720 options over 8,720 shares at an exercise price of $4.85 (grant date 2 September 2005).
The fair value at the date of the grant was $0.46 per option.
At 30 June 2008, aggregate issues are:
+ a maximum of 988,260 options over 988,260 shares at an exercise price of $2.77 (grant date 2 September 2005).
The fair value at the date of the offer was $0.60 per option.
+ a maximum of 605,200 options over 605,200 shares of an exercise price of $4.85 (grant date 30 November 2004},
The fair value at the date of the grant was $0.46 per option,
» a maximum of 371,000 options over 371,000 shares at an exercise price of $4.55 (grant date 23 January 2004).
The fair value at the date of the offer was $0.53 per option.
in the event that the specified performance criteria are not fully achieved, the number of options will be proportionally reduced.
The details of the above offers which have been made to.executive Directors of PaperlinX Limited and executives are set out in Note 36,

Segment reporting

Business segments
The consalidated entity comprises the following main business segments, based on the consolidated entity’s management and internal
reporting reporting system.

Segment Description of operations

Merchanting and Paper Trading International paper merchant and paper trader supplying the printing and publishing industry
and office supplies.

Commwnication Papers Manufaciure of office papers, graphic papers, converting papers and other speciality and coated -
papers. .

Packaging Papers Manufacture of packaging papers and industrial papers. Products include kraftliners, sack kraft
and light weight bag and industrial papers, sold predominantly to converting customers.

Corporate and Other Includes stationery and envelopes business and corporate costs.

Geographic segments

The consalidatéd entity comprises the following main geographic segments. In presenting the information on the basis of geographic
segments, segment sales are based on the geographic location of customers. Segment assets are based on the geographic location of
the assets.

Segment Description of operations

Australia and New Zealand Manufacture of communication papers and packaging papers, paper merchanting and paper trading.
MNorth America Paper merchanting and paper trading.

Europe Paper merchanting and paper trading.

Asia Paper merchanting and paper trading.
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(UOTES TO THE ANANCIAL STATEMENTS CONTINUED
AS AT 30 JUNE 2006 .

Consolidated
Segment Segment Segment Segment
result ¥ ravenue assets liabilities
$m $m $m $m
| Segment reporting (continued) <
For the year ended 30 June 2006
Business segments
Merchanting and Paper Trading : '
« Continuing operations 189.1 65,9005 32414 1.163.0
+ Discontinuing operations 1.3 295 19.6 09
190.4 6,930.0 3,261.0 1.163.9
Communication Papers {9.4) 674.4 635.0 118.7
Packaging Papers 5.3 2418 298.4 1.6
Corporate and Other ) {33.9} 94.4 1216 aB.1
Profit before net interest and income tax 152.4 !
Net interest (1) (65.1)
Profit before income tax . 87.3 |
income tax expense ) {21.9) !
Income tax benefit — Australian Tax Consolidation (%) - .
Profit after income tax expense 654
Net profit attributable to minority interests ' - '
Inter-segment sales 12 l52? )
Unallocated assets (deferred 1ax balances) 74.4
Unallocated liahilities ® ‘ 14114
Tetal 65.4 74127 4,390.4 27817+

Consolidated

Segment Segment Segment Saegment

result3}  revenue assets liabilities
$m $m $m $m

For the year ended 30 June 2005
Business segments ! o
Merchanting and Paper Trading 194.1 7,035.3 3.054.0 1,045.9
Communication Papers 21 699.8 6229 124.3
Packaging Papers . 10,0 2429 292.2 413
Corporate and Other {26.1} 100.6 1125 528
Profit before net interest and income tax . . 1801
Net interest 11 ’ 68.5) '
Profit befare income tax 111.8 .
Income tax expense (1) ‘ (219
income tax benefit — Australian Tax Consolidation (1} 77.0
Prafit after income tax expense . . 168.7
Net profit attributable to mingrity interests . ’ {0.1} ¢
Inter-segment sales ) . {504.5)
Unallocated assets (deferred tax balances) 85.2
Unallocated liabilities (B) ! 1,332.8
Total . 166.6 7.574.1 4,166.8 . 2,604.1
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Consolidated
Segment Segment Capital

revenus assets expenditure

. $m $m $m
Segment reporting (continued}
For the year ended 30 June 2006
Geographic segments
Australia and New Zealand 1.351.0 1.471.2 76.3
North America 1,257.8 591.9 214
Europe 46175 2,190.7 239
Asia . 186.4 62.2 04
Unallocated assets (deferred tax assets) - 74.4

Total 7.412.7 4,390.4 122.0

Consolidated
‘Segment Segment Capital

revenue assets expenditure
$m $m $m

For the year ended 30 June 2005
Geographic seqgments
Australia and New Zealand 1,444 .4 14641 66.4
North America 1,011.1 4131 ° 585
Europe . 49452 21477 44.8
Asia 1734 56.7 0.3
Unallocated assets (deferred tax assets) 85.2
Total 7.5741 4,166.8 117.0

Consolidated

Depreciation,

Amortisation

& Impairment Non Cash Capital
Losses!”) Expenses 4 Expenditure!S

$m $m $m
For the year ended 30 June 2006
Business segments
Merchanting and Paper Trading .
* Continuing operations 40.4 (4.3) 478
Communication Papers . 37.0 6.6 57.7
Packaging Papers 12.9 3.1 131
Corporate and Other 14.4 5.1 34
Total 104.7 105 122.0

Consolidated

Depreciation,

Amortisation

& Impairment Non Cash Capital .
Lossest?”) Expenses 4 Expenditure’S

$m $m $m
For the year ended 30 June 2005
Business segments
Merchanting and Paper Trading a1 19.7 52.8
Communication Papers 48.7 139 46.2
Packaging Papers 12.2 47 155
Corporate and Other 129 4.4 25

Total 112.9 42.7 117.0

1) [nterest and income tax expense are not allocated internally to the segments but held centrally.

2 Inter-segment sales comprise sales of paper. which are priced on an arm’s-length basis.

3 The segment result for the individual business segments is the profit before net interest and income tax.
“ The non-cash expenses above comprise the folfowing items:
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NOTES TO THE FANANCIAL STATEMENTS CONTINUED
AS AT 30 JUNE 2006

Segment reporting {continued)

2006 2005
$m $m
* Provisions charge - refer Note 5{b} 344 489
« Net [profitMoss on disposal of praperty, plant and equipment - refer Note 3 (24.4) C R0
* Impact of unrealised [profitiNoss in inventories — refer Statements of Cash Flows 05 {3.2)
105 ] 427
) Capital Expenditure above comprises the following items:
* Addition of property, plant, equipment and intangibles - refer Statements of Cash Fiows 101.4 86.3
* Movement in accruals for property, plant and equipment 06 74
— 102.0 93.7
+ Goodwill in relation to acquisitions of subsidiaries — refer Note 402 9.1 17.1
= Other intangibles acquired on acquisition of subsidiaries — refer Note 402/ 1.2 -
* Property, plant and equipment acquired an acquisition of subsidiaries - refer Note 408 9.7 6.2
1220 117.0
6) The unallocated segment liabilittes comprise the following items:
» Current interest bearing liabilities - refer Note 18 221.7 2666
» Current tax habilities — refer Note 19 9.6 38
* Non-current interest bearing labilities — refer Note 23 1,136.7 | ~1,036.0
* Non-current deferred tax liabilities — refer Note 24 434 334
14114 | 13398
M The impairment losses booked relate to the following segments:
v Industry — Communication Papers - 12.4
+ Geographic - Australia and New Zealand - 12.4

Retirement benefit obligations .

The consolidated entity and certain subsidiaries contribute to various plans that provide retirement, death and disability benefits for
employees and their dependants. The plans cover company-sponsored plans, industry/union plans and other approved plans.

Company sponsored plans

The pringipat benefits are pensions or lump surns for members on resignation, retirement, death or total and permanent disablement.
These benefits are determined on either a defined benefit or defined contribution basis. i

Employee contribution rates are either fixed by the rules of the plan or selected by members from a specified range of rates. In addition
to legislative reguirements, employer companies contribute to the balance of the cost required to plan the benefits as set ocut in the
appropriate fund rules,

- * - . . . N ' -
There exists a legally enforceable obligation on the employer companies to make such contributions as are required under the rules,
but no legal right to benefit in the surplus in the plans.

Where a limitation on the recoupment of surplus exists in any plan, the value of the surplus in that plan is restated as nil.

Govermnment plans
Employer companies participate in government plans, on behalf of certain employees, which provide pension beneflts

There ex1sts a legally enforceable obligatiocn on employer companies to contribute as required by legislation,

Industryluman plans .
Employer companies participate in industry and union plans on behalf of certain employees. ‘

These plans operate on a defined contribution basis and provide lump sum benefits for members on resignatibn, retirement or death.
Employer companies have a legally enferceahle obligation te contribute at varying rates to these plans. '

The following tables set out the details in respect of defined benefit plans only. The defined benefit obligations and the fair value of
the assets have been valued by independent actuaries as at the reporting date.
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Consolidated [ PaperlinX Limited‘-l ‘

2006 2005 2006 2005
$m $m $m $m
Retirement benefit obligations {continued)
The amounts recognised in the balance sheet are determined as follows:
Present value of the defined benefit obligation 604.0 5177 - -
Less: Fair value of defined benefit plan assets (517.8). (395.5) - -
Add: Limitation on recoupment of net surplus positions 1.6 - - -
Net liability in the balance sheet l B7.8 I 122.2 - -
The net liability in the balance sheet is disclosed as follows:
Liabilities 928 122.2 - -
Assets 50 - - -
Net liability in the balance sheet 878 | 1222 - -
Changes in the present value of the defined benefit obligations are as follows: C '
Opening defined benefit obligations 517.7 453.6 - -
Service cost 200 2041 - -
Interest cost 18.7 239 | -l -
Actuarial lossesf{gains) {26.6) 68.1 - -
Contributions by member : 6.0 5.1 -1 -
Liabilities assurmed in a business combination 54.7 - .- -
Exchange differences on foreign plans 288 {36.5) -1
Benefits paid . : {15.3) {16.6) - -
Closing defined benefit obligation | eo40| 5177 - .
Changes in the fair value of plan assets are as follows: .
Opening fair value of plan assets - 3955 373.0 - -
Expected return ) 208 1. 235 - -
Actuarial gainsflosses} 17.0 20.2 - -
Caontributions by employer 16.8 205 - -
Contributions by member 6.0 5.1 - -
Assets acquired in a business combination 53.3 - - -
Exchange differences on foreign plans : 237 {30.2} - - - -
Benefits paid . {15.3) {16.86} - -
Closing fair vatue of plan assets ' 517.8 395.5 - ) -
Less: Limitation on recoupment of net surplus position {1.6} - - -
5162 | 3955 | - -
Expense recognised in the income statement:
Current service costs 200 201 |- - -
Interest on obligation ' 187 239 - -
Expected return on plan assets ‘ {20.8} {23.5) - : -
Past service cost - - - -
| 179 205 - -
Amount recognised in the statement of recognised income and expense:
Actuarial {losses)/gains on defined benefit obligations 26.6 (68.1) - -
Actuarial gainsf{losses) on far vatue of plan assets 17.0 20.2 - -
. 43.86 (47.9) - -
Less tax effect, where applicable {13.6) 14.0 - -
|  300)] 339 - -
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS CONTINUED
AS AT 30 JUNE 2006

Note 39.] Retirement benefit obligations (continued) '

Principal actuarial assumptions:

The pnnmpal actuarial assumptions at the balance sheet date used to calculate the net liability and the pnnmpal economic assumptions
used in making recommendations to determine the employer companies’ contributions are detailed below. -

Censolidatcdlil|_ PaperlinX Limited |

2006 2005 2006 2005

Discount rate 4.25% 10 5.4% | 4.25% t0 5.4% - -
Salary increase rate 1% to 4% 1% to 4% - -
Inflation - 2% to 3% 2% to 3% - -
Expected asset return 4% to 7.5% 4% to 7.5% | - -

. Defined
Ptan benefit  Surplus/
assets obligation [deficit)
Plans as at 30 June 2006 $m $m $m
+ PaperlinX Superannuation Fund (Australia) -~ Fund No. 1 374 387 {1.3)
* PaperlinX Superannuation Fund {Australia) - Fund No. 2 29.8 25.1 4.7
* PaperlinX New Zealand Superannuaticn Fund {New Zealand) 0.8 0.8 -
+ Coast Paper Pension Plan for Employees (Canada) 78 8.2 {0.4)
» Coast Paper Pension Plan for Executive Employees (Canada) 71 9.2 2.1}
* Pension Plan for Employees of PaperlinX Canada {Canada) 56.6 55.3 03
= PaperlinX Pensioenfonds (Nethertands) 105.4 116.3 {10.9}
+ Pension Plan for Buhrmann Ubbens employees with Nationale Nederlanden {(Netherlands) 24.3 243 -
* The Howard Smith Paper Group Pension Scheme (UK) 546 66.6 {12.0)
+ Robert Horne Group Pension Scherme (UK} . 1856 2288 (43.2)
* Robert Horne Paper {Iretand) Ltd Pension & Life Assurance Scheme {Ireland) 7.8 8.2 (0.4)
+ Other post-employment pension plans funded directly by employer companies - 225 {22.5)
516.2 604.0 {87.8)
' Defined

Plan benefit  Surplus/
assaets obligation {deficit)

Plans as at 30 June 2005 $m sm $m
+ PaperlinX Superannuation Fund (Australia) - Fund No. 1 324 381 (5.7}
= PaperlinX Superannuation Fund (Australia) - Fund No. 2 - 257 25.6 0
* PaperlinX New Zealand Superannuation Fund (New Zealand) 08 08 -
« Coast Paper Pansion Plan for Employees (Canada) 8.3 6.7 {0.4)
* Coast Paper Pension Plan for Executive Employees (Canada) 57 74 (1.7)
* Stichting Pensicenfonds Buhrmann {(Netherlands) 97.4 107.4 {10.0)
* Pension Plan for Buhrmann Ubbens employees with Naticnale Nederlanden {Netherlands) 235 234 041
* Howard Smith Paper Group Pension Scheme (UK} 42.6 855 (12.9)
« Robert Horne Group Pension Scheme (UK) 155.6 223.7 (68.1)
* Robert Horne Paper {Ireland) Ltd Pension & Life Assurance Scheme (Ireland) 5.5 7.8 (2.3
* Other post-employment pension plans funded directly by employer companies - 213 (21.3}
3585.5 517.7 (122.2)
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PaperlinX's subsidiaries

PaperlinX Limited and the following specified subsidiary companies have entered into an approved deed for the cross guarantee
of liabilities.

Pursuant to ASIC Class Order 98/1418 dated 13 August 1998 (as amended), these wholly-owned subsidiaries are relieved from
the Corporations Act 2001 requirements for the preparation, audit and lodgement of financial reports.

It is a condition of the Class Order that PaperlinX Limited and each of these subsidiaries enter into a deed of cross guarantee. The effect
of the deed is that PaperlinX Limited guarantees to each creditor payment in full of any debt in the event of winding-up any of these
subsidiaries under certain provisions of the Corporations Act 2001, If a winding-up occurs under other provisions of the Act, PaperlinX
Limited will only be liable in the event that after six months any creditor has not been paid in full. These subsidiaries have also given
similar guarantees in the event that PaperlinX Limited is wound up.

The consolidated Income Statements and consolidated Balance Sheets comprising PapertinX Limited and these wholly-owned
subsidiaries, after eliminating all transactions between parties to the deed of cross guarantee, is set out below:

a4

. 2006 2005

Income statement . $m $m
Profitfloss) before tax ] {59.5) 142.6
Tax benefitiexpense} - 1.0 B4.4
Profit/{loss) for the year (68.5) 227.0
Accumulated losses at the beginning of the year _ ) (70.2} {177.5)
Employee share options and rights 29 23
Adjustrments 10 comply with accounting standards - : : 0.3) -
Actuarial gainsf{losses) on defined benefit plans 6.4 0.7
Dividends paid {78.1) {122.7)
Accumulated losses at the end of the year I {197.8) {70.2)
Balance sheet
Current assets
Cash and cash equivalenis 62.0 55.1
Trade and other receivables . 936.8 1,050.5
inventories . 288.9 3089
Total current assets 1,287.7 14145

" Non-current assets ,
Receivables : : 47 14
Investments : 688.0 689.1
Property, plant and equipment 714.1 685.4
Intangible assets.’ 169.5 180.6
Deferred tax assets 308 327
Total non-current assets 1,607.1 1,589.2
Total assets 28948 3.013.7
Current liabilities .
Trade and other payables 2323 2227
Interest bearing loans and borrowings 148.0 187.5

* Current tax liabilities 6.6 -
Employee benefits . 36.7 374
Provisions 105 i3.0
Total current liabilities ' 434.1 460.6
Non-current liabilities

. Payables 1.3 5.7
Interest bearing loans and liabilities 920.5 878.6
Deferred tax liabilities i7.6 211
Employee benefits 338 333
Provisions . 3.1 2.8
Tota!l non-current liabilities . 976.3 a41.5
Tota! liabilities 1.410.4 1,402.1
Net assets . 14844 16116
Equity
Issued capital 16919 16915
Reserves (9.7) {9.7)
Accumulated losses {197.8) {70.2} ¥
Total Equity | 14844] 18118

|
|
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS CONTINUED
AS AT 30 JUNE 2006 !

PaperlinX’s subsidiaries {continued) '

During the current year, the consolidated entity purchased the following three subsidiaries/businesses:

+ Cascades Merchanting (Canada), effective 1 March 2006; t

* 1st Class Packaging Ltd {United Kingdom), effective 1 March 2006; and

+ Euroadria {l1aly), effective 1 December 200% '

The operating results of these businesses have been included in the consolidated profit from their respective effective dates.

During the prior year, the consolidated entity purchased the Hestbech business in Denmark. The operating results of this business
have been included in the consolidated profit from 1 November 2004. The main activity is distribution of industrial packaging and
office supplies. ‘

The consideration paid and the net assets at the date of acquisition are set out in the table below. '

|
1

Consolidated

2006 2005
! $m $m
Hestbech business | .
* Consideration paid in cash - 13.0
- 13.0
Cascades Merchanting business i .
* Consideration paid in cash : 93.4 -
= Consideration accrued ! 10.8 _
| 1042 -
1st Class Packaging Lid
+ Consideration paid in cash : 7.0 -
* Consideration accrued 09 -
7.9 -
Eurcadria business |
« Consideration paid in cash : . 1.2 -
Total ' 113.3 13.0
The consideration paid comprises the following:
* Consideration paid in cash ' 101.6 13.0
* Consideration accrued f 11.7 -
’ : 11331 130

|
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j
Consolidated ! 2

2006 2005
$m $m

PaperlinX’s subsidiaries (continued) .
Net asset acquired:
Current assets

Cash and cash equivalents . 1.3 - I
Trade and other receivables ’ . 69.1 52 '
Inventories 58.8 4.3
Non-current assets , . '
Receivables 0.2 - '
Property, plant and equipment 9.7 62
Intangible assets - other 1.2 -
Total assets 140.3 15.7 .
Current liabilities : b
Trade and other payables (34.3) 48 '
interest bearing loans and borrowings - capitalised borrowing costs 0.4 -
Income iax payable ; . (0.5 -
Non-current liabilities | .
Provisions {1.3) -
Employee benefits ... . .- - - . L. . {04} 1. . '
Total liabilities | @en (4.8)
Goodwill on acquisition | 91 21, .
Total net assets acquired 113.3 130
Goodwill impact in the current year: (1
Acquisition in the current year - per above .1 2.1
Fair value adjustments in relation to an acquisition in the prior year - 158
Unutilised amount of restructuring provision in relation to an acquisition .- ;
in the prior year written back 10 goodwill - 08
. I
) 9.1 171 |

1 Goodwill arises as it did not meet the criteria of recognition as a separately identifiable intangible asset at the date of the acquisition.

i '
2006 2005
$m $m

Cash flow impact:

Cash paid 101.6 130
1016 130 .,
Cash settlement of amounts accrued in prior period 06 36 -
' 102.2 446
Less cash acquired (1.3 -

Cash flow impact — per Statements of Cash Flows 100.9 I 446

In relation to the above acquisitions, if the acquisition had occurred at the start of the year, consolidated entity revenue and proflt after tax "
on a pro rata basis would be as follows for those acquisitions that were not merged into existing businesses:

]
; B B (Consolidated| j

2006

$m -

Cascades Merchanting :

* Revenue ) %045 |

* Profit after tax 35 1.

1st Class Packaging Lid I
* Revenue 10.2

+ Profit after tax 0.8 :




NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS CONTINUED
AS AT 30 JUNE 2006

PaperlinX's subsidiaries {continued)

Consolidated

subsidiary
Country of interest

Note incorporation 2006 2005
Paper Australia Pty Ltd (1} Australia 100%  100%
Australian Paper Pty Ltd m Australia 100%  100%
PaperlinX Australia Pty Ltd (1 Australia 100%  100%
Paperwealth Pty Lid {n Australia 100% 100%
PP CPC Pty Lid m Australia 100% 100%
Empire Office Supplies Pty Ltd {n Australia 100%  100%
PP ED Pty Ltd {1} Australia 100% 100%
B J Ball Pty Ltd {n Australia 100%  100%
Besmac Pty Ltd (m Australia 100% 100%
Paper Associates Pty Ltd (1 Ausiralia 100% 100%
PPX Australia LP Austiralia 100% 100%
PaperlinX (Europe} Ltd United Kingdom 100% - 100%
PaperlinX Brands (Europe} Ltd United Kingdom 100%  100%
PaperlinX Services {(Europe) Ltd United Kingdom 100% 100%
PaperlinX Investments {Europe) Ltd United Kingdom 100%  100%
PaperlinX Treasury (Europe} Ltd United Kingdom 100% 100%
1st Class Packaging Lid {2} United Kingdom 100% -
The Paper Company Ltd United Kingdom 100% 100%
21st Century Paper Ltd United Kingdom 100% 100%
Powell & Heilbron (Paper) Ltd United Kingdom 100% 100%
Paramount Paper Sales Ltd United Kingdom 100%  100%
Rothera & Brereton (Sheffield) Ltd United Kingdom 100% 100%
Michael Jackson {Paper) Ltd United Kingdom 100% 100%
Grove Paper Company Ltd United Kingdom 100% 100%
Rothera & Brereton Ltd United Kingdom 100% 100%
Paramount Paper Sales {London} Ltd United Kingdom 100% 100%
Lagan Papers Ltd United Kingdom 100%  100%
Dixon & Roe (Birmingham} Ltd United Kingdom 100% 100%
Alba Paper Ltd United Kingdom 100% 100%
Mason's Paper Holdings Ltd United Kingdom 100% 100%
The Mason's Paper Co Ltd United Kingdom 100% 100%
Southern Paper Ltd United Kingdom 100% 100%
Southern Paper Co (Brighton) United Kingdom 100% 100%
Donald Murray (Paper) Ltd United Kingdom 100% 100%
Donald Murray Paper {Bristol) Ltd United Kingdom 100% 100%
Donald Musray Paper {Glasgow) Lid United Kingdom 100% 100%
Donald Murray Paper {Newcastle} Ltd United Kingdom 100% 100%
Dixon & Roe Group Ltd United Kingdom 100% 100%
Dixon & Roe Ltd United Kingdom 100%  100%
Dixon & Roe {Herts) Ltd United Kingdom 100% 100%
The Paper Company No. 2 Ltd United Kingdom 100% 100%
Hopefair Ltd United Kingdom 100% 100%
Jarvis Paper Sales Lid United Kingdom i00%  100%
Ree! Papers Ltd United Kingdom 100% 100%
Somerset Paper Sales Ltd United Kingdom 100% 100%
PaperlinX Cooperatief WA Netherlands 100% 100%
PaperlinX Netherlands Holdings BV Netherlands 100%  100%
BuhrmannUbbhens Holding BV Netherlands 100% 100%
BuhrmannUbbens BV Netherlands 100%  100%
PaperlinX Shared Services BV Netherlands 100% 100%
DRiem Papier BV Netherlands 100% 100%
Tricom Paper International BY Netherlar:mds 100% 100%
VRG Insurances BV Nethertands i100% 100%
Brabantse Poort BV Netherlar:wds 100% 100%
Rhosili Amsterdam CV Netherlands 100% 100%
PaperlinX Netherlands BV Netherlands 100% 100%
Printaco BV Netherlands 100% 100%
Proost en Brandt Holdings BV Netherlands 100% 100%
Proost en Brandt BV Netherlands 100% 100%
Bouwmaatschappij ‘Het Wapen van Amsterdam’ NV Metherands 100% 100%.




[Note 40.{ PaperlinX’s subsidiaries {continued)

RN

Consolidated

45

subsidiary
Country of interest

Note incorporation 2006 2005
Velpa Holdings BV Netherlands 100% 100%
Velpa Enveloppen BV Netherlands 100% 100%
Polyedra SpA - ltaly 100% 100%
Josef Frohlen Papiergrosshandlung — WilliReddeman import - Export GmbH Germany 100% 100%
Deutsche Papier Holding GmbH Germany 100% 100%
Deutsche adp Wilthelm GmbH Germany 100% 100%
Deutsche Papier Vertriebs GmbH Germany 100% 100%
Deutsche Papier Grundstucks GmbH & Co KG Germany 100% 100%
PaperlinX Austria GmbH Austria 100%  100%
PaperNet GmbH Austria 100%  100%
PaperNet GmbH & Co KG Austria 100% 100%
Adria Papir doo Croatia 100% ~ 100%
Budapest Papir Kft Hungary 100% 100%
Tulipel - Comercio de Paperis Lda Portugal 100% 100%
Alpe Papir Trgovina na Veliko doo Slovenia 100% 100%
Dunav Papir D.o.0. (2) Serbia 100% -
Bratislavska Papierenska Spolochost Slovakia 100% 100%
Ospap Velkoobchod Papirem AS Czech Republic 100% 96%
Multiexpo Spol sro Czech Republic 100% 100%
PaperlinX Denmark ApS Denmark 100% 100%
PaperNet Scandinavia AS Denmark 100% 100%
Udesen A/S Grafisk Fagcenter Denmark 100%  100%
CCaCo Holdings ApS Denmark 100%  100%
Aktieselskabet Christian Christensen Og Co Denmark 100%  100%
Corporate Express Denmark AS Denmark 100% 100%
CCaCo Ejendomme AS Denmark S100%  100%
Plus Office AS Denmark 100% 100%
Axelium SAS France 100%  100%
Thomas Papier SARL France 100% 100%
Epacar NV Belgium 100% 100%
Mercator Papier Spzoo Poland 100% 100%
PaperNet Oy Finland 100%  100%
Union Papelera Merchanting SL Spain 100%  100%
Grafiskt Papper Norden AB Sweden 100% - 100%
interpapier AG Switzerland 100% 100%
The Howard Smith Paper Group Ltd United Kingdom 100% 100%
Contract Paper Ltd United Kingdom 100% 100%
Howard Smith Paper Ltd United Kingdom 100% 100%
Precision Publishing Papers Ltd United Kingdom 100%, 100%
Savory Paper Ltd United Kingdom 100% 100%
Trade Paper Ltd United Kingdom 100% 100%
Howard Smith Paper {(Scottand) Ltd United Kingdom 100% 100%
The M6 Paper Group Ltd United Kingdom 100%  100%
Badger Paper Ltd United Kingdorn 100% 100%
Robert Horne UK Ltd United Kingdom 100% 100%
Cogladle Lid United Kingdom 100%  100%
Robert Horne Pension Trustees Lid United Kingdom 100% 100%
Rabert Horne Group Ltd United Kingdom 100% 100%
Adhesive and Display Products Lid United Kingdom 100% 100%
Robert Horne Paper Company Ltd United Kingdoem 100%  100%
W Lunnon & Company Ltd United Kingdom 100%  100%
Glenmore Lomond Paper Group Ltd United Kingdem 100% 100%
Robhert Horne Paper {Scotland) Ltd United Kingdom 100%  100%
Pinnacle Fi'm & Board Sales Ltd United Kingdom 100% 100%
Sheet & Roll Converters Ltd United Kingdom 100% 100%
Transplastix Ltd United Kingdom 100% 100%
Williaam Cox Plastics Ltd United Kingdom 100% 100%
PaperlinX North America Inc usAa 100% 100%
Kelly Paper Company USA 100% 100%
Spicers Paper Inc USA 100% 100%



NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS CONTINUED
AS AT 30 JUNE 2006

PaperlinX’s subsidiaries {continued)

Consolidated

.

) subsidiary
Country of interest

Note incorpor’ation 2006 2005
PPX Investment Corp Canada 100% 100%
PaperlinX Canada {2001} Corp . Canada 100% 100%
PaperlinX Canada Ltd {3) Canada 100% 100%
PPX Canada Corp Canada 100% 100%
PaperlinX Holdings (Asia) Pte Ltd Singapore 100% 100%
Spicers Paper (Asia) Trading Pte Ltd Singapore 100% 100%
Norscan Forest Products Pte Ltd Singapore 100%  100%
Spicers Paper {Singapore) Pte Lid Singapore 100% 100%
Paper Products Marketing (Singapore) Pte Lid Singapore 100% 100%
VRG Paper {Malaysia} Sdn Bhd Malaysia 100% 100%
Winpac Paper Pte Ltd Singapore 100% 100%
Spicers Paper (Hong Kong) Ltd Hong Kong 100% 100%
Paper Products Marketing (Hong Kong) Ltd Hong Kong 100% 100%
Spicers Paper {Malaysia} Sdn Bhd Malaysia 100% 100%
Finwood Papers (Pty} Ltd South Africa 100%  100%
Finwood Properties Pty Ltd . South Africa 100% 100%
PaperlinX Ireland Holdings frefand 100% 100%
Robert Horne Faper (Ireland} Ltd Ireland 100%  100%
Paper Sales Ltd Irgland 100% 100%
Contact Papers Ltd Ireland 100% 100%
Supreme Paper Company Lid Ireland 100% 100%
DM Paper Ltd Ireland 100% 100%
PPX Insurance Lid New Zealand 100% 100%
Spicers Paper (NZ) Lid New Zealand 100% 100%
PaperlinX Investments Pty Ltd {1 Australia 100%  100%
Paper Products Marketing Pty Ltd {1 Australia 100%  100%
Paper Products Marketing (Taiwan) Ltd Taiwan 80% 80%
Pacific Paper Marketing Australia Pty Ltd (m Australia 100%  100%
Paper Products Marketing {USA) Inc usa 100%  100%
PaperlinX (NZ) Ltd 100%  100%

{1} Subsidiaries entered into an approved deed for the cross guarantee of liabilities

{2) Subsidiaries acquired since 30 June 2005
1st Class Packaging Ltd
Dunav Papir D.o.0.

{3) Subsidiaries renamed since 30 June 2005
PaperlinX Canada Ltd (formerly Coast Paper Ltd)

{4) Subsidiaries no longer controlled since 30 June 2005
Enveloppendrukkerij Jet Print BY

Caledonia SrL

MG di Agnetti SrL

D & D Folienservice GmbH

Dirimex Handelsgesellschaft GmbH

Kitnger GmbH Handel fur Siebdruck und Werbetechnik
Spicers Paper {USA) Inc

615145 BC Ltd

Broadworth Ltd

a6
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Other related party disclosures

The ownership interest in subsidiaries is disclosed in Note 40 to the Financial Statements.
There were no other material related party transactions during the year other than those disclosed in Note 36.

Directors of PaperiinX Limited
Directors of PaperiinX Limited wha held office during the year ended 30 June 2006 are:

D E Meiklejohn

T P Park ,

D G Abotomey {resigned effective 31 Decemnber 2005}
AFGuy )

B J Jackson

N L Scheinkeste!

D A Walsh

L J Yelland

The remuneration of Directors is disclosed in Note 36 to the Financial Staterments.

A full analysis of the components of the remuneration of individual Directors is contained in Note 36 and in the Directors'_ Report.
Loans to Directors of PaperlinX Limited in Note 36 total $Nil {2005: $530). This amount comprised Employee Share Plan loans only.

Directors of Subsidiaries
Loans to Directors of subsidiaries $35,000 {2005: $38,000). This amount comprises Employee Share Plan loans only.

During the year, Employee Share Plan loan repayments totalling $4,000 were received from:

BN

D G Abotomey, G C Butcher, C B Creighton, W C Horman, P N Jones, B A Smart, A J Kennedy, J R Peters, A O Knight, P G Holloway, . -

D W K Woodley.
During the prior year, Employee Share Plan foan repayments totalling $78.000 were received from:

P R Waterworth, D G Abotomey, G C Butcher, P N Jones, W C Horman, B A Smart, C B Creighton, A J Kennedy, R L McPherson,

J R Peters, A O Knight, P G Holloway. D W K Woodley and A J Bull.

During the year, Employee Share Plan loans totalling $Nil were advanced.

During the prior year, Employee Share Plan loans totalling '$1,000 were advanced.

The amount of dividends received by PaperlinX Limited from its subsidiaries is disclosed in Note 3.

“The amounts owing from subsidiaries and the amounts owing to subsidiaries for PaperlinX Limited are disclosed in Note 8 and

o

Note 17 respectively. These amounts are non-interest bearing and were impacted during the year by the purchase of a 100% interest

"in PaperlinX Australia Pty Ltd from Paper Australia Pty Ltd for $362.3 million - refer Note 13.

June June
2006 2005
Note 42.| Earnings per share
. Basic eamnings per share {cents} -
+ Continuing operations 145 37.3
+ Discontinuing operations 0.2 -
| 147 37.3
Profit for the year .
* Continuing operations 64.7 166.6
+ Discontinuing operations 07 -
65.4 166.6
Weighted average number of shares (millions) 448.2 4461
Diluted earnings per share {cents) .
* Continuing operations 143 37.1
+ Discontinuing operations 0.2 -
| 145 37.1
Profit for the year
« Continuing operations 64.7 166.6
+ Discontinuing operations 0.7 -
65.4 1668
449.6 4486

Weighted average number of shares {millions)

47




NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS CONTINUED
AS AT 30 JUNE 2006

- Earnlngs per share (continued)

v

1

i .

The earnings per share have been calculated in accordance with Accounting Standard AASB 133 Earnings per Share. This standard
defines the basic earnings per share to be the operating profit after income tax for the consolidated entity attributable to members of
the parent entity for the financial year, divided by the weighted average number of ordinary shares of the parent entity an issue during

the financial year.

The options 1o purchase shares on issue during the years ended 30 June 2006 and 30 June 2005 have not been included in determining

the basic earnings per share,

The diluted earnings per share is calculated in accordance with the requirements of Accounting Standard AASB 133 Earnings per Share,
whereby the options are considered to be potential shares and hence are dilutive in their nature.

The options to purchase shares on issue during the years ended 30 June 2006 and 30 June 2005 have been included in determining the
diluted earnings per share. The impact of this inclusion is the weighted average number of shares on issue mcreases by 3.4 million

shares for the year ended 30 June 2006 (2005: 2.5 million shares).

The inclusion of these options in the calculation of the diluted earnings per share has an immaterial impact as compared to the basic

eamings per share.

Nil options have been issued since 30 June 2006 up 1o the date of this report.
Nil options have been exercised, resulting in the issuing of Nil shares since 30 June 2008 up to the date of this report. In addition,

Nil options have lapsed since 30 June 2006.

l

t

Shares issued since 30 June 2006 up to the date of this report have not been included in the calculation of Ihe basic earnings per

share calculation at 30 June 2006.

Additional financial instruments disclosure

Interest rate risk

The consolidated entity is exposed o adverse movaments in interest rates under various debt facilities.

b

4
The consolidated entity from time to time enters into interest rate swaps that swap floating rate interest bearing liabilities |nto fixed rate

interest bearing liabilities.
Interest rate risk exposures

v

Exposure to interest rate risk and the effective interast rate for classes of financial assets and liabilities is set out below.
Fixed interest maturing in:

Floating More Non- Effective

Interest 1 year 1t05 than 5 interest interest
Consolidated 2006 $m rate or less years years bearing Total rate {1}
Financial assets 1
Cash and cash equivalents 4551 - - - V- 455.1 4.17
Trade and other receivables - - - - 1,550.7 1.5580.7 -
Investments - - - - 141 14.1 -
Financial liabilities
Trade and other payables - - - 1,265.9 1,265.9 -
Interest bearing loans and borrowings 856.7 - - - - 856.7 4.26
USD Notes - - - 165.0 - 165.0 6.75
CAD Notes - 37 14.8 845 - 83.0 7.88
GBP Notes : - - - 2531 - 2531 6.59
Finance leases fiabilities - 0.5 0.1 - - 0.6 8.00
Interest rate risk exposures |
Exposure to interest rate risk and the effective interest rate for classes of financial assets and liabilities is set out below:

Fixed interast maturing in: |

Floating More Non- Effective

interest 1 year 1to5 than 5 interest _ interest
Consolidated 2005 $m rate or less years years bearing Total rata ()
Financial assets 1 x
Cash and cash equivalents 4291 - - - — 4291 2.67
Trade and other receivables - - - - 1,447 1,447.1 -
Investments - - - - 13.3 133 -
Financial fiabilities !
Trade and other payables - - - 1,041.0 1,041.0 -
Interest bearing loans and borrowings 822.6 - - - - 8226 392
USD Notes - - - - - 1599 - 159.9 8.75-
CAD Notes - 3.3 13.2 69.6 L 76.1 7.88
GBP Notes - - - 242.9 = 242.9 6.58
Finance leases liabilities - 0.4 0.7 - - 1.1 8.00

) Includes the effect of applicable credit margins.
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Additional financial instruments disclosure (continued}

Fareign exchange risk .

In relation to recognised assets and liabilities denominated in a foreign currency, the conselidated entity’s policy is to hedge all material
foreign currency exposures. This is done via a natural hedge, such as a similarly denominated receivable or cash balance, or through
forward cover contracts as soon as a firm and irevocable commitment is entered into or known, It is the consolidated entity’s policy to
recognise both the cost of entering into a forward foreign exchange contract and the net exchange gainfloss arising thereon, between the
date of inception and year end, as a net foreign currency receivable or net foreign currency payable in the Financial Statements, This is
calculated by reference to the movement in the fair value of the derivative contract from the date of inception of the contract to that at
year end,

Changes in the fair value of forward exchange contracts that economically hedge monetary assets and liabilities in foreign currencies and
for which no hedge accounting is applied are recegnised in the income statement. Both the changes in fair value of the forward contsacis
and the foreign exchange gains and (osses relating,to the menetary items are recognised as

part of ‘net financing costs’ {see Note 5).

Accounts payabte and interest bearing liabilities, which include amounts repayable in foreign currencies, are shown at their Austratian
dollar equivalents. All material foreign currency liabilities are either fully hedged or matched by equivalent assets in the same currencies,
such assets representing a natural hedge. '

Credit risk
The credit risk on financial assets of the consolidated entity, other than investments in shares, is the carrying amount of receivables, net
of provisions for impairment loss against doubtful debts.

The conselidated entity minimises its concentrations of credit risk by undertaking transactions with a large number of customers and
courterparties in various countsies. There is no material exposure to any individual overseas country or individual customer. ’

In order to control any exposure which may result from nen-performance by counterparties, foreign exchange contracts are only entered
into with major barks with a minimum long term rating of A+ by Standard & Poor's or A2 by Moody's. [n addition, the PaperlinX Limited
Board must approve these banks for use, and specific internal guidelines have been established with regard to limits, dealing and
settlement procedures. ’

The maximum credit risk exposure on foreign currency contracts is the full amount of the foreign currency the consolidated entity pays
when settlement occurs, should the counterparty fail to pay the amount which it is committed to pay the consolidated entity.

Net fair values o ‘ -
Instruments traded on organised markets are valued by reference to market prices prevailing at balance date.

The net fair value of other monetary financial assets and financial liabilities approximates their carrying value.

The carrying amounts and net fair values of financial assets and liabllities approximate each other as at reporting date for both the
company and the consolidated entity. -

The net fair value of foreign exchange contracts are assessed as the estimated amount that the consolidated entity expects to pay or
receive to terminate the contracts or replace the contracts at their current market rates as at reporting date. This is based on independent
market quotations and determined using standard valuation techniques.

For forward foreign exchange contracts, the net fair value is taken to be the unrealised gain or loss at balance date calculated by
reference o current market rates. -

The net fair value of foreign exchange contracts held as at reborting date is a gain of $2.9 miltion (2005: a gain of $0.1 million).
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS CONTINUED
AS AT 30 JUNE 2006

Impact of adopting Australian equivalents to International Financial Reporting Standards ’ -
Explianation {ii} Share based payments !

As stated in Note 1(2), these are the consclidated entity's first
annual consolidated financial statements prepared in accordance
with Australian equivalents to International Financial Reporting
Standards (AIFRS).

The accounting policies in Note 1 have been applied in preparing
the condensed consolidated financial statements for the year
ended 30 June 2006, the comparative information for the year
ended 30 June 2005 and the preparation of an opening AIFRS
balance sheet at 1 July 2004 (the consolidation entity’s date of
transition).

In preparing fts opening AIFRS balance sheet, comparative
information for the year ended 30 June 2005, the consolidated
entity has adjusted amounts reported previously in Financial
Statements prepared in accordance with the previous basis of
accounting {previous AGAAP).

An explanation of how the transition from previous AGAAP to
AIFRS has affected the consolidated entity’s balance sheets,
income statements and cash flows is set out in the following
tables and the notes that accompany the tables,

The following note details the impact of adoption of AIFRS on
the following items:

* Net assets as at 1 July 2004

*+ Profit as reported for the year ended 30 June 2005

* Net assets as at 30 June 2005

There are no material differences in these amounts to those
previously indicated in the Financial Report for the year ended
30 June 2005.

Notes

{i} Defined benefit plans

Under AGAAF defined benefit plans were accounted for on a cash
basis, with no defined benefit obligation or plan assets recognised
in the balance sheets. The AASB 1 election to recognise in full
actuarial gains and losses at transition date through retained
earnings has been adopted by the consolidated entity.

Under AIFRS, the consolidated entity’s net obligation in respect of
defined benefit superannuation plans will be calculated separately
for each plan by estimating the amount of future benefit that
employees have eamed in return for their service in the current
and prior periods; that benefit will be discounted to determine

its present value, and the fair value of any plan assets will be
deducted. The discount rate is the rate attached to AAA credit
rated bonds or the rate attaching to national government bends
at reporting date which most closely match the terms of maturity
of the related liabilities.

The calculated surplus or deficit for each plan is required to be
recognised in the balance sheets with a corresponding
adjustment to retained earnings.

Subsequent to the transition date, the calculated surplus or deficit
for each plan is required to be recognised in the income
statement, except to the extent that it arises in relation to actuarial
gains and losses. Actuarial gains and losses thal arise subsequent
to the transition date are recognised in the balance sheets as an
adjustment to retained earnings.

At 1 July 2004, the impact on transition is an increase in assets
of $2.8 million, and an increase in liabilities of $51.5 million less
the applicable tax effect of $18.8 million resulting in a decrease
in retained earnings of $29.9 million.

For the year ended 30 June 2005, the impact is an increase in
employee benefits expense of $1.0 million plus the applicable tax
effect of $0.1 miillion resulting in a decrease in reported eamnings
of $1.1 million. The impact in relation to actuarial gains and losses,
net of tax is a decrease in retained earnings of $33.8 million.

The cumulative impact as at 30 June 2005 is a decrease in
retained earnings of $64.8 million.

Under AGAAP no expense was recogmsed for options issued to
employees.

Under AIFRS, the fair value of options granted must be
recognised as an employee benefit expense with a coerresponding
increase in equity. The fair value is calculated at grant date taking
into account market performance conditions only, and spread
over the vesting period during which the employees become
unconditionally entitled to the options.' The fair value of options
granted is independently calculated using a suitable valuation
model {currently either the Monte Carld simulation or Black-
Scholes model}, taking into account thi terms and conditions
attached to the options. The amount recognised as an expense
is adjusted to reflect the actua! number of options that vest
except where forfeiture is due to market related conditions.

No adjustments were made for options granted before

7 November 2002. Options granted after 7 Novemnber 2002
remaining unvested at 1 January 2004, will be recognised in the
opening balance sheet through retalned earnings resulting in a
nil impact on transition.

At 1 July 2004, there is a $Nil impact in retained earnings.

For the year ended 30 June 2005, the if'\’lpact is an increase in
employee benefits expense of $2.3 million resulting in a decrease
in reported earnings of $2.3 million.

The cumulative impact as at 30 June 2005 is a $Nil impact in

retained earnings. '

{#ii}) Employee Share Plan loans .

Under AGAAP the interest free loans to employees in accordance
with the terms of the employee share plan were recorded as an
asset and repaid over time via the associated dividend stream.

Under AIFRS, the vatue of such loans is requured o be reclassified
against share capital.

At 1 July 2004, the impact on transition'is a decrease in non-
current assets of $3.4 million and a decrease in issued capital
of $3.4 million. .

During the year ended 30 June 2005, the Employee Share Plan
loans are reduced either by dividends pand on the shares, so

" issued, or in certain circumstances in accordance with an agreed
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schedule of repayments, which does not exceed three years.

The cumulative impact as at 30 June 2005 is a decrease in non-
current assets of $2.7 million and a decrease in issued capital of
$2.7 million,

{iv] Reserva for own shares

Under AGAAP the cost of shares purchased on market, and held
in a trust to satisfy the terms and conditions of the Performance
Share Plan, is recorded as an asset and amortised over the
applicable vesting period. .

Under AIFRS, the cost of the shares are recorded as a negative
reserve and not amortised to profit.

i

At 1 July 2004, the impact on transition is an increase in assets

of $5.1 million (being the accumulated amortisation as at 30 June
2004} to a total of $10.2 million. The reinstated asset armount is
then reclassified in the balance sheet resulting in a decrease in
assets of $10.2 million and a decrease in reserves of $10.2 million.

The increase in assets of $5.1 million less the applicable tax
effect of $1.5 million results in an increase in retained profr'ts of
$3.6 million. The impact of shares allocated to employees is an
increase in reserves of $0.5 million and a decrease in retained
profits of $0.5 million.

For the year ended 30 June 2005, the impact is an increase in
employee benefit expense of $1.0 million less the applicable tax
effect of $0.3 million resulting in a decrease in reported earnings
of $0.7 million. )

The cumulative impact as at 30 June 2005 is an increase in
retained profits of $2.4 million and a decrease in reserves of
$9.7 million.




Impact of adopting Australian equivalents to International Financial Reporting Standards - Dot '

fv) impairment of non-current assets

Under AGAAP the carrying amounts of non-current assets valued
on a cost basis, were reviewed at reporting date to determine
whether they are in excess of their recoverable amount. if the
carrying amount of a non-current asset exceeded its recoverable
amount the asset was written down to the lower amount, with
the write-down recognised in the income statement in the period
in which it occurs. Where a group of assets working together
supports the generation of cash inflows, recoverable amount is
assessed in relation to that group of assets. In assessing
recoverable amounts, the relevant cash flows have not been
discounted to their present vatue.

Under AIFRS, the carrying amount of the consolidated entity's
non-current assets, defined benefit assets, deferred tax assets,

_goodwill and indefinite life intangible assets {brand names) is
reviewed at each reporting date to determine whether there is any
indication of impairment. Iif any such indication exists, the asset is
tested for impairment by comparing its recoverable amount to its
carrying amaount.

The major differences between AGAAP and AIFRS are as follows:

*» the impairment test is performed at a cash generating unit level,
and
= the cash flows must be discounted

Goodwill, which is not amortised under AIFRS and intangible
assets (brand names) that have an indefinite useful life are tested
for impairment annually.

If there is any indication that an asset is impaired, the recoverable,
amount is estimated for the individual asset. If it is not practical
1o estimate the recoverable amount for the individual asset, the
recoverable amount of the cash generating unit to which lhe
asset belongs is determined.

A cash generating unit is the smallest identifiable group of assets
that generate independent cash inflows. Each cash generating
unit must be no larger than a segment.

An impairment loss is recognised in the income statement
whenaver the carrying amount of an asset, or its cash generating
unit exceeds its recoverable amount.

Impairment losses recognised in respect of a cash generating unit
are allocated first to reduce the carrying amount of any goodwill
allocated to the cash generating unit and then to reduce the
carrying amount of the other assets in the unit pro rata based on
their carrying amounts. The discount rate used equates to the
consolidated entity’s pre-tax weighted average cost of capital
being 9.5%.

At 1 July 2004, the impact on transition is a decrease in property,
plant and equipment of $241.5 million less the applicable tax
effect of $58.6 million resulting in a decrease in retained earnings
of $182.9 million.

For the year ended 30 June 2005, the impact is a decrease in
property. plant and equipment of $12.4 million less the applicable
tax effect of $3.7 million resulting in a decrease in reported
earnings of $8.7 million.

The cumulative impact as at 30 June 2005 is a decrease in
property. plant and equipment of $253.9 million less the
applicable tax effect of $62.3 million resulting in a decrease
in retained earnings of $191.8 million.

The impairment losses relate wholly to certain mills in the
Communication Papers industry segment of the Australian Paper
Manufacturing business. The impairment losses arise as a
consequence of lower cash generation due to the impact of
depressed Australian paper selling prices as a combined result
of a strong Australian dollar and an oversupply in global paper
markets.

51

fvi) Income Tax ) !
On transition to AIFRS; the balance sheet method of tax effect i
accounting was adopted, rather than the liability method applied |
currently under AGAAR '
Under the balance sheet approach, income tax on the profit
and loss for the year comprises current and deferred taxes. i
The provision for income tax is the expected tax payable on

the taxable income for the year, using tax rates enacted or
substantively enacted at reporting date, and any adjustments

to tax payable in respect of previous years.

Deferred tax is provided using the balance sheet liability method,
providing for temporary differences between the carrying amount
of assets and liabilities for financial reporting purposes and the
amounts used for taxation purposes. The amount of deferred tax
provided will be based on the expected manner of realisation of
the asset or setttement of the liability, using tax rates enacted or
substantively enacted at reporting date.

A deferred tax asset is recognised only to the extent that it is
probable that future taxable profits will be available against which
the asset can be utilised. Deferred tax assets are reduced to the ' |
extent it is no longer probable that the related tax benefit willbe
realised.

Difference in book value of assets and tax value of assets

At 1 July 2004, the impact on transition is an increase in deferred -
tax liabilities of $0.2 million and a decrease in retained earnings of
$0.2 million.

For the year ended 30 June 2005, the impact is an increase in
deferred tax liabitities of $0.4 million and a decrease in reported
earnings of $0.4 million.

The cumutative impact as at 30 June 2005 is a decrease in

retained earnings of $0.6 million. "

Tax losses o
At 1 July 2004, the impact on transition is an increase in deferred '+
tax assets of $5.9 million and an increase in retained earnings of
$5.9 million. .
For the year ended 30 June 2005 there is no impact. ’ '
The cumulative impact as at 30 June 2005 is an increase in .
retained earnings of $56.9 million. o
{vii) Trade discounts and rebates v
Under AGAAP trade discounts and rebates were brought to v
account in the profit when received or when able to be reasonably |, I
determined.

Under AIFRS, trade discounts and rebates are deducted in ,
determining the purchase cost of inventories. [

At 1 July 2004, the impact on transition is a-decrease in inventories
of $4.7 million less the applicable tax effect of $1.3 million resulting
in a decrease in retained eamings of $3.4 million.

For the year ended 30 June 2005, the impact is an increase in i
reported profits of $0.2 million. '

The cumulative impact as at 30 June 2005 is a decrease in .
retained earnings of $3.2 million. .

{viii) Non-amortisation of goodwill g
Under AGAAR goodwill was amortised on.a straight-ine basis

over the period the benefits are expected to arise not exceeding -

20 years. ;

Under AIFRS, amortisation of goodwill is prohibited and is '
replaced by annual impairment testing focusing on the cash
inflows of the applicable cash generating unit.

At 1 July 2004, there is no impact on transition.

For the year ended 30 June 2005, amortisation expense ‘
decreases by $20.1 million less the applicable tax effect of .
$Nil miltion resulting in an increase in reported earnings of

$20.1 mittion. ‘i

The cumulative impact as at 30 June 2005 is an increase in
intangibles of $20.1 million and an increase in retained earnings
of $20.1 million.




NOTES TO THE HNANBW. STATEMENTS CONTINUED
AS AT 30 JUNE 2006

Impact of adopting Australian equivalents to International Financial Reporting Standards {continued)

{ix) Non-depreciation of non-current assets

Under Australian GAAPR the non-current assets impaired as at

1 July 2004 on transition to AIFRS were depreciated during the
year ended 30 June 2005.

Under AIFRS, non-current assets impaired as at 1 July 2004
whereby the resultant net written-down value is nil at that date,
are not subject 1o depreciation during the year ended 30 June 2005.

For the year ended 30 June 2005, depreciation expense
decreases by $2.2 million tess the appficable tax effect of $0.6
million resulting in an increase in reported earnings of $1.6 million.

The cumulative impact as at 30 June 2005 is an increase in
property. plant and equipment of $2.2 million less the applicable
tax effect of $0.6 milfion resulting an increase in retained earnings
of $1.6 mitlion.

fx) Disposal of foreign denominated subsidiary

Under AGAAR the assets and liabilities of self-sustaining foreign
operations were translated at the rates of exchange ruling at
reporting date. Equity items and goodwill are translated at
historical rates. The income statements are translated at an
average rate for the year which approximates the exchange
rates ruling at the date of the transactions. Foreign exchange
differences arising on wranslation are recognised directly in the
transiation reserve until disposal of the operation, when it is
transferred directly to retained earnings.

Under AIFRS, each entity maintains its books and records in its
functional currency. The assets and liabilities of foreign operations,
including goodwill and fair value adjustments arising on
consolidation, are translated from the entity’s functional currency
to the consolidated entity's presentation currency of Australian
dollars at foreign exchange raies ruling at reporting date. The
income statements are translated at an average rate for the year
which approximates the exchange rates ruling at the date of the
transactions. Foreign exchange differences arising on transiation
are recognised directly in the translation reserve,

There are no expected changes in functional currency for the
Company or its subsidiaries.

All foreign operations are transtated into Australian dellars using
the method described above.

On disposal of a foreign operation, under AIFRS the amount
recognised in the translation reserve attributable to the foreign
operation is included in the calculation of the gain or foss on
disposal and recycled through the current year income statement.

At 1 July 2004, there is no impact on transition.

For the year ended 30 June 2005, the impact is an increase in the
loss on disposal of subsidiaries of $1.7 million and a decrease in
the transfer amount from retained earnings to the exchange
fluctuation reserve of $1.7 million.

There is no net impact on the balance sheet as at 30 June 2005.

xi}) Business combinations

Under AGAAP postacquisition adjustments to goodwill were
permitted to be made in subsequent periods, where appropriate.

Under AIFRS, post acquisition adjustments are only permitted to
he made within a 12 month period from the date of the
acquisition. As a result, any such adjustments booked 10 goodwill
under AGAAP after 31 October 2004 in relation to the acquisition
of the Paper Merchanting Division of Buhrmann NV, is adjusted
against reported earnings other than in specific circumstances.
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The consolidated entity has not elected to apply Accounting
Standard AASB 3 Business Combinations retrospectively and
hence the impact of the above only affects the AIFRS restated
balance sheets as at 1 July 2005 and the AIFRS restated profit
for the year ended 30 June 2005. i

At 1 July 2004, there is no impact on iransition,

For the yvear ended 30 June 2005, the impact is an increase in
expenses of $8.9 miliion less the applicable tax effect of $Nil
million resulting in a decrease in reponed earnings of $8.9 million,

The cumulative impact as at 30 June 2005 is a decrease in
goodwill of $8.9 million and a decrease in retained earnings of
£8.9 million.

{xii) Reclassification of Computer So:ftware
Under AGAAR computer software was generally classified as
part of property, plant and equipment in the balance sheet.

Under AIFRS, any computer software that is not integral 1o the
operation of propeny, plant and equipment is classified as an
intangible asset, where it is continued’to be amertised on the
same basis, )

At 1 July 2004, the impact on transition is an increase in
intangibles of $81.1 million and a decrease in property, plant
and equipment of $81.1 million. '

| .
At 30 June 2005, the impact is an increase in |ntang|bles of
$62.2 million and a decrease in property. plant and equipment
of $62.2 million.

{xifi) Revenue disclosures in relation ro the sale of
non-current assets

Under AIFRS, the revenue recogmsed in refation to the sale of
non-current assets is the net gain on the sale. This is in contrast
to the AGAAP treaiment under which the gross proceeds from
the sale were recogmsed as revenue and the carrying amount of
the assets sold is recognised as an expense. The net impact on
the profit or loss of this difference is nil.

Under AIFRS for the year ended 30 June 2005, the consolidated
revenue from ordinary activities is $11.2 million lower, the
consolidated carrying amount of non-current assets sold disclosed
as an expense is $8.2 million lower and the consolidated other
income is $3.0 million higher. '

xiv} Reclassification of other im:ome.

Under AIFRS, foreign exchange gains are classified as other
income. This is in contrast to the AGAAP treatment under which
such items are classified as revenue.

Under AIFRS for the year ended 30 June 2005, the consolidated
revenue is $0.2 million lower and consolldated other income is
$0 2 million higher.




) % Impact of adopting Australian equivalents to International Financial Reporting Standards (continued) L,
The following table sets out the adjustments to the consolidated entity upon adoption of AIFRS as at 1 July 2004.

Consolidated

Issued Retained  Minority Total

capital Reserves profits interest equity

1 July 2004 . Notes $m $m $m $m $m
Net assets as at 1 July 2004 under AGAAP 1,693.8 (18.7) 137.0 1.2 18133
+ Defined benefit plans (i - - {29.9) - {29.9)
* Employee Share Plan loans {iii} (3.4) - - - (3.4)
* Reserve for own shares ’ h {iv) - - 36 - 3.6
* Shares hetd in trust, reclassification as a ‘negative reserve {iv} - (9.7) {0.5} - (10.2)
* Impairment of non-current assets (v} - - {182.9} - {182.9)
*+ Income tax {wi) - - 57 - 5.7
+ Trade discounts and rebates {vii} - - (3.4} - {3.4)
Total movements (3.4) (9.7) {207.4) - {220.5)
Net assets as at 1 July 2004 under AIFRS 1,690.4 {28.4) {70.4} 1.2 1,592.8

The following table sets out the adjustments to the consolidated income statement for the year ended 30 June 2005.

} . . - - Consolidated ] |
Profit before Profit Profit

interast, tax, Depreciation before net before Income tax Profit after
depreciation and and interest and Net income tax benefit/ income tax
amortisation amortisation income tax Interest expense (expense} expense
30 June 2005 Notes $m $m $m $m $m $m $m .
30 June 2005
(before tax consolidation adjustment) 307.7 (122.8) 184.9 (68.5} 116.4 (24.8) 1.6
Tax consolidation adjustment - - - - - 77.0 770
30 June 2005 under AGAAP 307.7 (122.8) 184.9 (68.5} 116.4 52.2 168.6
+ Defined benefit plans (i} (1.0} - (1.0} - (1.0} {0.1) (1.1}
* Share based payments {ii} (2.3} - (2.3) - (2.3 - (2.3}
* Reserve for own shares {iv} {1.0} - (1.0 - (1.0} 0.3 {0.7)
« Impairment of non-current assets (v} - (12.4) (12.4} - {12.4) 3.7 8.7)
* Income tax {vi - - - - - {0.4) (0.4}
* Trade discounts and rebates {vii} 0.2 - 0.2 - 0.2 - 0.2
+ Non amortisation of goodwill {viii} - 201 20.1 - . 20.1 - 201
* Non depreciation of non-current :
assets impaired as at 1 July 2004 (ix} - 2.2 22 - 2.2 (0.6 16 -
+ Disposal of {oreign denominated
subsidiary {x} (1.7} - {(+.7) - {1.7} - 1.7y,
« Business combinations (i (8.9} - {8.9) - (8.9} - 8.9
Total movemaeants (14.7) 9.9 (4.8) - {4.8) 29 {1.9}.

30 June 2005 under AIFRS 293.0 (112.9) 180.1 (68.5) 111.6 55.1 166.7
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS CONTINUED
AS AT 30 JUNE 2006

}
Impact of adopting Australian equivalents to International Financial Reporting Standards (continued)
The fallowing table sets out the adjustments to the consolidated entity upon adoption of AIFRS as at 30 June 2005,

Consolidated

Issued Retained  Minority Total

capital Reserves profits interest equity
30 June 2005 Notes $m $m $m $m $m
Net assets as at 30 June 2005 under AGAAP 1,694.2 (63.8) 181.1 0.9 1.8124
+ Defined benefit plans (i - - (29.9) - (29.9)
* Employee Share Plan loans {iii) (3.4) - - - (3.4}
* Reserve for own shares {iv} - - 36 - 3.6
* Shares held in trust reclassification as a ‘negative’ reserve {iv} - 9.7 {0.5) - (10.2)
* Impairment of non-current assets (v} - - {182.9) - {182.9)
* Income tax {vi) - ~ 5.7 - b7
+ Trade discounts and rebates {vii} - - (3.4) - {3.4)
Total movement as at 1 July 2004 {3.4) {9.7) {207.4) - '{220.5}
» Defined benefit plans (i - - (1.1) - {1.1)
» Share based payments {ii} - - (2.3) - 2.3}
» Shares held in trust {ivh - - (0.7) - 07
¢ Impairment of non-current assets {v} - - (8.7 - (8.7)
* Income tax {vi} - - {0.4) - {0.4)
* Trade discounts and rebates {vii} - - 0.2 0.2
« Non-amortisation of goodwill (viii}} - - 20.1 - 20.1
* Non-depreciation of non-current assets impaired as at 1 July 2004 {ix} - - 1'6 - 1.6
» Disposal of foreign denominated subsidiary {x} - - - {(1:7) - (1.7
* Business combinations < [xiy - - (8.9) - (8.9
Total movements to profit - - (1'.9) - (1.9)
+ Disposal of foreign denominated subsidiary {reclassification) (x} - - 1;7 - 17
* Repayment of employee share plan loans {iii} 0.7 - - - 0.7
* Actuarial gains/{losses) defined benefit plan (i) - - {33.8} - (33.8)
« Share based payments - {ii} - - 2.3 - 2.3
= Impact of exchange rate movements - 18 {0.7} 0.1 1.8
Net assets as at 30 June 2005 under AIFRS 16015 {711.7) {58.1} 1.0 1,662.7

1

The following table sets out the adjustments to PaperinX Limited at transition to AIFRS as at 1 July 2004 and for the year ending 30 June
2005 comparative period. !
i

Consolidated

Issued " Retained Total
capital reserves profits equity
Notes $m $m $m $m
1 July 2004 .
Net assets as at 1 July 2004 under AGAAP 1,6938 = 34 1,697.2
* Employee Share Plan loans (iiiy {3.4) - - (3.4)
Net assets as at 1 July 2004 under AIFRS 1,690.4 A 34 16938
30 June 2005 '
Net assets as at 30 June 2005 under AGAAP 1.694.2 - 59.2 1.7534
« Employee Share Plan loans {iii) 2.7 - - (2.7)
Net assets as at 30 June 2005 under AIFRS 1,691.5 - 59.2 1,750.7

There is no impact to PaperlinX Limited at transition to AIFRS on the income statement for the year ended 30 June 2005.

t

Events subsequent to balance date

Dividends
For dividends declared after 30 June 2006, see Note 7. l

I

Maryvale Wood Yard Cutsourcing J
The Company has announced conditional agreement to outsource a new wood yard at Maryvale, which will result in one-ofi costs
on the 2007 year of approximately $10 million. ,
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1. Inthe opinion of the directors of PaperlinX Limited {'the Company) L ey

{a) the Financial Statements and notes including the remunération disclosires that aré contained in sections1-3 and sections 5-7+ “th -

of the Remuneration report’ in the Drrectors Report,.set out on‘pages 1.1o 99, are in‘accordance with the Corporations Act 2001 of

including: 7. . e A R R Ak I R -',—r".."’“: DERTOIT T R

i. giving’a trué and'tair view of the frnancral position’ ‘of the Company and the' consolidated entity, s at 30 June 2006 and of their " ! ‘
‘performance, as represented by the results of their operations and their cash flows, for the' frnancral year ended on that date; and |

1

r T e L [

ii. complylng wrth Australian Accountlng Standards and the Corporatlons Regulatlons 2001; and S - '

{b} the rernuneration dlsclosures that are contained i in sectlons 127 of the Remuneration report in the Dlrectors report comply wrth l ;
Australran Accountrng Standard AASB 124 Related Party Disclosires and Corporations’ Regulatrons 2001. 7

() there are reasonable grounds 16 believe that the Company will Be able 1o pay its debts as afid when' they become due and payable I ‘

2., There are reasonable grounds 10 belreve that the Company and the controlled entities identified in Note 36 will be able to meet anv
obllgatlons or liabilities to which’ they 'are or may become sub]ect to by virtue of the Deed of Cross Guarantee between the Company
’ and those controlled entmes pursuant to ASIC Class Order 98/1418 A . R T !

3. The Directors have been grven the' declaratrons requrred by Sectlon 2954 of the CorporaoonsrAct 2001 from the Chref Executrve | - l

[ B S l,,..a,u.,.".r

Officér and. Chief Flnancral Offrcer for the fmancral year ended 30 Jure 20067 ., ' e RN -.«:. . EENK

In accordance with a resolution of the drrectors dated at Metbourne, in the State of Vctorra thrs 21st day of August 2006.: ol '
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FULL ANANCIAL REPORT 2006

All of the paper used in this Report was produced by PaperlinX.

The cover stock is Tablex Embossed lvory Board 280gsm produced with
ISO 14001 environmental certification at Australian Paper's Shoalhaven
Mill in New South Wales, Australia.

The text is printed on Glopaque 80gsm, an offset paper produced with
I1SC 14001 environmental certification at Australian Paper’s Burnie Mill
in Tasmania and the Maryvale Mill in Victoria, Australia.

When you have finished with this publication, PaperlinX encourages you
to recycle it to avoid landfill.




Securities and Exchange Commission,

Division of Corporate Finance, R T .
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List of documents forwarded under cover of this letter to Securities and E%hange‘ £
Commission dated 27 October, 2006.

Tite .~ - L Dated

Ref.
1. | News Release — PaperlinX Full Year Results Web Cast 10 August 2006
2. | Appendix 4E — Preliminary Final Report 22 August 2006
3. | Announcement — PaperlinX Results For the-Full Year 22 August 2006
ended 30 June 2006
4. | Presentation — PaperlinX Results For the Full Year ended 22 August 2006
30 June 2006
5. | Dividend Reinvestment Plan Rules 25 August 2006
6. | Revised Appendix 4E - Dividend Reinvestment Plan 25 August 2006
7. | Appendix 3Y — Change in Director’s Interest Notice 29 August 2006
8. | Appendix 3Y — Change in Director's Interest Notice 30 August 2006
9. | Appendix 3Y — Change in Director’s Interest Notice : 31 August 2006
10, Appendix 3B — New issue announcement, application for 5 September 2006
.| quotation of additional securities and agreement
11| Appendix 3Y — Change in Director's Interest Notice 14 September 2006
12| Announcement :
+ Chairman’s letter to shareholders regarding Annual 19 September 2006 |-
General Meeting ‘
o Notice of Annual General Meeting
¢ Proxy form for Annual General Meeting
s Concise Annual Report 2006 for the financial year
ended 30 June 2006
s Full financial report 2006 for the financial year ended
30 June 2006 .
13.| Advice on Dividend Investment Plan Issue Price 25 September 2006
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PaperlinX Limited
ABN 70 005 146 350
. 307 Ferntree Gully Road
Mt Waverley Victoria 3149
: Tel; +61 3 8540 2211
Fax: +61 3 8540 22565

PAPERLINX FULL YEAR RESULTS WEB CAST

PaperlinX Limited will be releasing its results for the year to 30 June, 2006 to the
Australian Stock Exchange on 22 August, 2006.

A live webcast of the management presentation at 9.30am (AEST) on 22 August
will be available. If you wish to view the webcast you should register at the
Company website www.paperlinx.com at least 15 minutes before it commences.
Registrations can be made from today.

The presentation material to be used will be available on the same web site. An
archive version of the webcast will be available on the web site shortly after
completion. ' ' :

For further information, please contact: -

David Shirer

Executive General Manager
Corporate Affairs

PaperlinX Limited

Ph: + 61 (3) 8540 2302






Appendix 4E

Preliminary Final Report

Appendix 4E
Preliminary Final Report

Introduced 1/1/2003

kil

w3 o=

Name of entity »
PAPERLINX LIMITED ) -
ABN Half yearly Preliminary  Half year/financial year ended (‘current
(tick) final (tick) period'}
70 005 146 350 | | | v | 30 June 2006

Results for announcement to the market
Extracts from this report for announcement to the market (see note 1).

ASM

Revenue (item 1.1)

Net profit for the period excluding Australian Tax
Consolidation attributable to hotders of the parent
(itern 1.18)

Net profit {loss) for the period attributable to
holders of the parent (item 1.13)

down 2.5%

down 27.0%

down 60.7%

to 7.392.3

to 654

to 65.4

Dividends (distributions)

Amount per
security

Franked amount
per security

Final dividend (Preliminary final report only - item
15.4)

This dividend was declared at the date of this report.

This dividend has not been provided for in the
accounts as at 30 June 2006.

Interim dividend (Half yearly report only - item 15.6)

4.5¢

Nil

Previous corresponding period {Preliminary final
report - item 15.5; half yearly report - item 15.7)

12.0¢

Nil

*Record date for determining entitlements to the
dividend, (in the case of a trust, distribution) (see
itern 15.2)

22 September 2006

Brief explanation of any of the figures reported above {see Note 1) and short details of any bonus
or cash issue or other item(s) of importance not previously released to the market:

Refer attached news release.

If this is a half yearly report it is to be read in conjunction with the most recent annual

financial report.

+ See chapter 19 for defined terms.

30/06/06
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Preliminary Final Report

Condensed consolidated statement of financial performance

1

Current period — Previous .
ASM corresponding
) period - A$M
1.1 Revenue (items 1.22 — 1.24) 7,3923 ¢ ! 7,582.9
1.2 Other Income (items 1.25 - 1.30) 273 ! 4.6
1.3 Expenses (items 1.31 - 1.36} (7,267.6) {7,405.1)
Profit (loss) before net financing costs 152.0 182.4
1.5 Financial income (items 1.37 — 1.39) 731 43
1.6 Financial expenses (ifems 1.40 - 1.43) {73.1) ] (75.1)
17 Net finance costs {65.8) l (70.8)
1.8 Profit {loss) before tax 86.2| ' 111.6
!
1.8 Tax benefit/(expense) (21.5){ ' 55.1
Profit {loss) after tax but before profit and
110 oss of discontinuing operations 64.7 166.7
Profit (loss) of discontinuing operations, net of
1.11
tax 07 . -
1.12  Profit for the year - §5.4 166.7
Attributable to
1.13  Equity holders of the parent 654 | 166.6
1.14  Minority interests - 0.1
65.4 166.7
1.15  Profit for the year 65.4 166.7
1.16  Australian Tax Consolidation adjustment - : (77.0)
1.17  Profit for the year excluding Australian Tax 65.4 89.7
Consolidation !
118 Attr?butable to '
Equity holders of the parent 65.4 89.6
1.18  Minority interests - 0.1
- 65.4 89.7
. . Prievious
Earnings per security (EPS) Current period corresponding
peried
120 Basic EPS from continuing operations 45| 473
)
1.21 Diluted EPS from continuing operations - 14.3 | 371

30/06/06

+ See chapter 19 for defined terms.
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Appendix gE

" Preliminary Final Report

Current Period — ASM Previous
Corresponding Period
ASM
REVENUES AND EXPENSES
Revenue
1.22  Sales of goods 7,383.2 7.574.1
Rendering of services:
1.23  Commissions 9.1 8.8
1.24 = Total revenue 7.392.3 7,582.9
Other income
1.25 Insurance proceeds - 0.1
1'.26 Rent 2.0 12
1.27 Other 0.1 -
1.28 Dividends received 0.8 03
1.29  Net profit on disposal of non-current assets (1) 244 3.0
1.30 Total other income 27.3 4.8

(1

Included in the amount in the current year is $16.3 million (2005: $Nil million} in relation to
profits arising on the disposal- of properties under commercial sale and lease back
arrangements. In accordance with the on-going review of the owned properties, it is expected
that further commercial sale and lease back arrangements may be undertaken in the future.

+ See chapter 19 for defined terms.

30/06/06

Appendix 4E Page 3
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f

Current Period — ASM Previous
Corresponding Period
| ASM
Expenses i
|
1.31  Cost of sales 6,027.7 : 6,101.5
!
1.32  Distribution and warehousing 424.4 423.2
1.33  Sales and marketing 348.4 : 380.5
1.34  General and administration 464 9 ! 496.4
i
1.35 Research and development 2.2 ‘ 35
1
1.36  Total expenses 7,267.6 1 7,405.1
1
Net financing costs .
Financial income: _
1.37 Interestincome 5.8 : 4.1
1.38 Net foreign exchange gains 1.5 , 0.2
"4.39  Total financial income 7.3 ' 4.3
Financial expenses: 7 |
1.40 Interest expense {71.0) (72.6)
|
1.41 Less capitalised interest 0.3 -
. ] .
1.42 Other borrowing costs {2.4) . {2.5)
1.43 Total financial expenses {73.1) i (75.1)
|
144 Total net financing costs {65.8) f (70.8)
I
Net interest expense:
145 Interestincome 5.8 \ 4.1
1.46 Interest expense (70.7) ! (72.6)
1.47 Tofal net interest expense (64.9) : (68.5)

+ See chapter 19 for defined terms.

30/06/06
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Appendix 4E

Profit before tax

1.48 Revenue:

1.49  Profit before depreciation, amortisation, net

Continuing operations

Discontinuing operations

interest and tax:

1.50 Depreciation and amortisation:

1.51  Profit before net interest and tax:

Continuing operations

Discontinuing operations

Continuing operations

Discontinuing operations

Continuing operations

Discontinuing operations

1.52 Netinterest:

Continuing operations

Discontinuing operations

1.53  Profit before income tax:

Continuing operations

Discontinuing operations

1.54 Tax:

Continuing operations

« Discontinuing operations

1.55

Profit for the year:

.

Continuing operations

Discontinuing operations

Current Period - ASm

Previous Corresponding

Period
A%m
7.383.2 7,574.1
20.5 -
74127 7.574.1
255.8 293.0
13 -
257.1 283.0
{104.7) (112.9)
(104.7) (112.9)
151.1 180.1
1.3 -
152.4 180.1
{64.9) {68.5)
(0.2) -
{65.1) {68.5)
86.2 111.6
1.1 -
87.3 1116
(21.5) 55.1.
(0.4) -
(21.9) 55.1
64.7 166.7
0.7 -
65.4 166.7

+ Sec chapter 19 for defined terms.

30/06/06
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Preliminarjr Final Report

Consolidated retained prbfits- Current period - ASM | Previous corresponding
' period ASM

Retained profits (accumulated losses) at {58.1) I (70.4)

156 the beginning of the financial period |

1.57 Net profit (loss) attributable to holders of 65.4 v 166.6
the parent {item 1.13)

1.58  Nel transfers from (to) reserves (details if . : ;
material} .

1.58 Employee share options and rights 2.9 ; 23

1.60  Adjustment to comply with AASB 139 (0.3) 5 -
(Financia! Instruments: Recognition and :
Measurement) !

161  Dividends paid (78.1) ‘ (122.7)

1.62 Actuarial gains/ (losses) on defined 30.0 ! {33.9) )
benefit plans

1.63 Retained profits {accumulated losses} (38.2) (58.1)
at end of financial period .

+ See chapter 19 for defined terms.

30406/006
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Preliminary Final Report

Appendix 4E

Intangible and extraordinary items

(c)

Consolidated — current period
Before tax Related tax Related Amount (after
ASM ASM outside tax)
*aquity attributable to
interests members
(a) (b} | ASM ASM

(d)

2.1 Amortisation of computer

software
2.2 Amortisation of brand
© names :
2.3 Amortisation of other
intangibles

2.4. Total amortisation of
intangibles

2.5 Extraordinary items
(details)

2.6 Total extraordinary
items

There was no amortisation of goodwill in the previous corresponding period.

(3

Compariscen of half year profits
. (Preliminary final report only)

3.1 Consolidated profit {loss) after tax
attributable to holders of the parent

reported for the 1st half year (item 1.16 in

the half yearly report)

32 Consolidated profit (loss) after tax

attributable to holders of the parent for the

2nd half year

Total for year

Current year — ASM | Previous year — ASM
353 1325
30.1 341
65.4 166.6

+ See chapter 19 for defined terms.
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Preliminary Final Report
1

- -

Condensed consolidated balance sheets Atend of As shownin | "Asin last half
) current last annual |t yearly report
period ASM report ASM ASM
Current assets ’
4.1 Cash and cash equivalents 45351 4291 289.0
4.2 Trade and other receivables 1,541.8 1,433.2 |1 1,489.8
4.3 Inventories 864.1_ 811.7 : 814.9
4.4 Assets classified as held for sale 19.6 - -
45 Total current assets 2,880.6 2,674.0 |. 2,593.7
Non-current assets !
4.6 Receivables 89 54 |t 5.1
4.7 Investments . 14.1 13.3 | 13.5
4.8 Property, plant and equipment 000.8 0852 | 977.0
49 Intangible assets 421.6 403.7 | 405.7
410  Deferred lax assets 74.4 85.2 | 83.4
4.11 Total non-current assets 1,509.8 1,4328 |, 1,484.7
412  Total assets 4,390.4 4,166.8 | 4,078.4
Current liabilities ‘
413  Trade and other payables 1,172.9 . 1.041.9 l 958.8
4.14  Iinterest bearing loans and borrowings 221.7 266.6 1266.2
415 Income tax payable 9.6 38| 64
4.16 Employee benefits 41.4 40.9 ) 42.6
417  Provisions 13.8 19.8 17.3
418 Liabilities classified as held for sale 0.9 - ! -
419  Total current liabilities 1,460.3 1,373.0 | 1,291.3
[}
Non-current liabilities '
4.20 Payables 931 1198 |- 120.0
4.21 Interest bearing liabilities 1,136.7 1,036.0 | | 1,039.9
422 Deferred tax liabilities 434 334 r 19.4
4,23 . Employee benefits 373 8.9 |, 39.2
424 Praovisions 10.9 3.2 4.5
1
4.25 Total non-current liabilities 13214 1,2311 | 1,223.0
|
426  Total liabilities 27817 2,604.1 | 2,514.3
427  Net assets 1,608.7 1,562.7 | ! 1,564.1
|
' .
f
|

+ See chapter 19 for defined terms.

30/06/06
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Appendix 4E

Condensed consolidated balance At end of As shown in As in last half
sheets(cont) current last annual yearly report
period ASM report ASM ASM
. Equity

4.28 Issued capitat 1,691.9 1,691.5 1,691.7
4.29 Reserves (45.0) (71.7) (66.9)
430 Retained profits (accumulated (38.2) (58.1) (60.8)

losses)
4.31  Equity attributable to holders of

the parent entity 1,608.7 1,561.7 1,564.0
432 Minority interests - 1.0 0.1
4.33 Total equity 1,608.7 1,562.7 1,564.1
4.34  Preference capital included as part - - -

of 4.37

+ See chapter 19 for defined terms.
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Exploration and evaluation expenditure capitalised
(To be completed only by entities with mining interests if amounts are material.

+

1

!

include all expenditure

incurred.} I
Current period A$M " | Previous
corresponding
period = A$M
5.1 Opening balance N/A i N/A
5.2 Expenditure incurred during current period N/A | N/A
]
5.3 Expenditure written off during current N/A \ N/A
pericd i
5.4  Acquisitions, disposals, revaluation ’
increments, etc. N/A ' N/A
55 Expenditure transferred to Development ‘
Properties N/A ) N/A
56 Closing balance .
N/A N/A
) L
Development properties
{To be completed only by enlities with mining inferests if amounts are material) :
Current period ASM | Previous
) corresponding
period ~ ASM
6.1 Opening balance N/A N/A
6.2 Expenditure incurred during current period N/A N/A
. . |
6.3 Expendllure- transferred from exploration N/A , N/A
and evaluation . ;
6.4 Expenditure written off during current '
6.5 Acquisitions, disposals, revaluation ]
increments, etc. ’ N/A ' N/A
6.6 Expenditure transferred to mine properies N/A ' N/A
1
6.7 Closing balance N/A | N/A

+ See chapter 19 for defined terms.

30/06/06
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Preliminary Final Report

Condensed consolidated statement of cash flows

Current period ASM | Previous
corresponding
period ~ ASM

Cash flows related to operating activities
7.1 Receipts from customers 7,431.7 76416
7.2 Payments to suppliers and employees (7,113.9) (7.271.8)
7.3 Dividends received 0.8 0.3
74 Interest received 5.7 4.4
75 Interest paid (69.6) (74.3})
7.6 Income taxes paid {6.1) (36.9)
7.7 Other {provide details if material) 11.2 10.1
7.8 Net operating cash flows 2598 2734
Cash flows related to investing activities
7.9 Loans {advanced to)repaid by other entities (0.9) 0.9
7.10 Acquisition of property, plant and equipment {(101.4) {86.3)
and intangibles
7.1 Acquisition of subsidiaries and businesses (100.9) {44.6)
7.12 Proceeds on disposal of property, plant and 51.1 ‘29.5
equipment .
7.13 Net investing cash flows (152.1) {100.5)
Cash flows related to financing activities
7.14 Dividends paid {77.8) {122.3)
7.15 Proceeds from issues of shares - 04
7.16 Loans {repaid to}/received from other 0.2 (3.1)
persons
7.17 Proceeds from borrowings 1,156.0 669.2
7.18 Repayment of borrowings (1,171.3) (711.3)
7.19 Principal lease repayments - (0.1
7.20 Net financing cash flows (92.9) (167.2)
7.21 Net increase (decrease) in cash held 14.8 57
7.22 Cash at beginning of period 4278 445.0
{see Reconciliation of cash)
7.23 Exchange rate adjustments to item 7.24 11.3 (22.9)
7.24  Cash at end of period 453.9 427.8
{see Reconciliation of cash)

+ See chapter 19 for defined terms.
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b

Non-cash financing and investing activities
!

Details of financing and investing transactions which have had a material effect on consolidated assets and
fiabilities but did not involve cash flows are as follows. ( if an amount is quantified, show comparative
amount.) '

N/A
Reconciliation of cash :
Reconciliation of cash at the end of the period Current period ASM Previous
{as shown in the consolidated statement of cash corresponding
flows) to the related items in the accounts is as Period -~ A$M
follows.
8.1 Cash on hand and at bank 4551 , 429.1
8.2 Bank overdraft (1.2) f (1.3}
8.3 Total cash at end of period (item 7.26) 453.9 ! 427.8 |
Other notes to the condensed financial statements
1
Ratios Current period Previous
corresponding
Period |
Profit before tax / revenue o ' o
9.1  Consolidated profit (loss) before tax (itern 1.2% l 1.5%
1.8) as a percentage of revenue {item 1.7) ‘
- I
Profit after tax / tequity interests 4.1% | 10.7%
92 consolidated net profit (loss) after tax .
attributable to holders of the parent (item |
1.13} as a percentage of equity {similarly :
attributable) at the end of the period (item
4.31}
|
|
)
+ See chapter 19 for defined terms.
30/06/06 : . » ' Appendix 4E Page 12
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Earnings per security (EPS)

10. Details of basic and diluted EPS reported separately in accordance with paragraph 9 and
18 of AASB 1027: Earnings Per Share are as follows.
. Current period Previous
corresponding
Period
Calculation of the following in
. accordance with AASB 1027: Earnings
per Share
10.1  Basic earnings per share (cents})
e Continuing operations 14.5 37.3
« Discontinuing operations 0.2 -
14,7 37.3
10.2  Net Profit _
« Continuning operations 64.7 166.6
« Discontinuing operations 0.7 -
65.4 166.6
10.3 Weighted average number of shares 446.2 ’ 446.1
(millions)
10.4  Diluted earnings per share {cents)
« Continuing operations 14.3 37.1
« Discontinuing operations 0.2 -
14.5 371
10.5  Net Profit
» Contining operations 64.7 166.6
+ Discontinuing operations 0.7 .
65.4 166.6
10.6  Weighted average number of shares 449.6 448.6
(millions)
NTA backing Current period Previous
corresponding
Period
11.1  Net tangible asset backing per *ordinary $2.49 $2.40
security ..

+ See chapter 19 for defined terms.
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Discontinuing Operations

{Entities must report ‘a descriplion of any significant activities or events relating to discontinuing operations in
accordance with paragraph 7.5 (g} of AASB 1029: Interim Financial Reporting, or, the details of discontinuing
operations they have disclosed in their accounts in accordance with AASB 1042 Discontinuing Operations {see

note 17}.) .

12.1  Discontinuing Operations

N/A

!
|
i
'

4

Control gained over entities having material effect

13.1 Name of entity (or group of
enlities)

NIL

13.2 Consolidated profit (loss) and extracrdinary items after

tax of the subsidiaries since the date in the current
period on which contro! was *acquired

13.3 Date from which such profit has been calculated
13.4 Profit {loss) and extracrdinary items after tax of the

subsidiaries for the whole of the previous
corresponding period

Loss of control of entities having material effect

N/A

N/A

N/A

14,1 Name of entity {or group of
entities)

NIL

14.2 Consolidated profit (loss) and extraordinary items after
tax of the subsidiaries for the current period to the date

of loss of control :

14.3 Date to which the profit {{loss) in item 14.2 has been
calculated

14.4 Consolidated profit (loss) and extraordinary items after
tax of the subsidiaries while controlled during the whole

of the previous corresponding period
14.5 Contribution to consolidated profit (loss} and

extraordinary items from sale of interest leading to loss

of control

N/A'

N/A:

N/A

NIA

+ See chapter 19 for defined terms.
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Dividends (in the case of a trust, distributions)
15.1 Date the dividend (distribution) is payable | 13 October 2008
15.2 +Record date to determine entitlements to the dividend
(distribution) (ie, on the basis of proper instruments of
transfer received by 5.00 pm if *securities are not 22 September 2006
+*CHESS approved, or security holding balances
established by 5.00 pm or such later time permitted by
SCH Business Rules if *securiies are *CHESS
approved})
16.3 Ifitis a final dividend, has it been declared? Yes
(Preliminary final report only}
Amount per security
Franked -
amount per Amoupt per
Amount per ity at secuqty of
p security a foreian
security applicable sourge
| taxdsee 1 giigend
. note 4) )
(Preliminary final report only)
15.4 Final dividend:  Current year (30% tax rate) 4.5¢ Nil N/A
- not provided for at 30 June
1565 - Previous year (30% tax rate) 12.0¢ Nil N/A
(Ha!f yearly and preliminary final reports)
15.6 interim dividend: Current year (30% tax rate) 5.5¢ Nil N/A
- not provided for at 31 December.
157 Previous year (30% tax rate) 13.5¢ N N/A

Total dividend {distribution) per security (interim plus fmal)

(Preliminary final report only)

15.8 +Ordinary securities

15.9 Ppreference *securities

Half yearly report - interim dividend (distribution) on all securities or
Preliminary final report - final dividend (distribution) on all securities

15.10 +Ordinary securities (each class separately)

Preference *securities (each class separately)
15.12 Other equity instruments (each class separately)
Refer 15.6 above

15.13 Total

Current year Previous year
10.0¢ 25.5¢
N/A NfA
_ Previous
Current period ASM corresponding
Period — ASM
Not provided Not provided
for at 30 June 2008 | for at 30 June 2005

+ See chapter 19 for defincd terms.,
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The *dividend or distribution plans shown below are in operation.

N/A ;

The last date(s) for receipt of election notices for the : N/A

i
*dividend or distribution plans '
i

Any other disclosures in relation to dividends (dislributibns). (For half yearly réports',_prow‘de details in
. accordance with paragraph 7.5(d) of AASB 1029 Interim Financial Reporiing)
I

NIA A c

Details of aggregate share of profits (losses) of associates and joint venture entities
]

Current period A$M | Previous

Group's share of associates’ and joint corresponding
venture entities”: period — A$M

16,1 Profit (loss) before tax ‘ | N/A LONA
16.2 Income tax . NA | E N/A
16.3 Profit (loss after tax N/A T - ‘ NIA

16.4. (1) Extraordinary items net of tax ‘ - ¢ -

(2) Unrealised profit in inventory N/A N/A
adjustment
1
16.5 Net profit {loss) N/A | - N/A
16.6 Adjustments N/A . NA
16.7 Share of net profit {loss) of associates N/A . N/A

and joint venture entities

+ See chapter 19 for defined terms.
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Preliminary Final Report

Appendix 4E

Name of entity

Material interests in entities which are not controlled entities
The economic entity has an interest (that is material to it) in the following entities. (/f the interest was acquired
or disposed of during either the current or previous oorrespondmg period, indicale date of acquisition {“from
dd/mmdyy") or disposal (“to dd/mm/fyy”).)

Percentage of ownership
interest held at end of period
or date of disposal

Contribution to net profit (loss)

(iterm 1.9)

17.1 Equit Current Previous Current period Previous “‘
i agco:med period corresponding | A$M correspondin y
associates and period g period - '

joint venture
entities

NIL

ASM

17.2 Total

Name of entity

Percentage of ownership

interest held at end of period

or date of disposal

Contribution to net profit (loss)

(item 1.9)

Current Previous Current pericd Previous "

period correspondin | ASM correspondin

g period g period —
A$M

17.3 Other material '
interests -
NIL §

17.4 Total i i

30/06/06

+ See chapter 19 for defined terms.
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Issued and quoted securities at end of current perlod

(Descnpnon must include rate of interest and any redemption or conversion rights togéther w:rh prices and dates)

Category of *securities

18.1

18.2

Preference *securities
(description)

Changes during current

~ period

(a) Increases through
issues

(b) Decreases through
returns of capital,
buybacks, redemptions

Total number

Number
quoted

Issue prlcet
per security
(see note 14)

{cents)

Amount paid
up per
security (see
note 14)
(cents)

N/A

N/A

N.o'}l\

N/A

N/A

N/A

N/A

N/A

N/A

N/A

18.3
18.4

*Ordinary securities
Changes during current
period

(a) Increases through
Employee Share Plan
Issues

- . Exercise of Options
(b) Increase through long
term incentive plan

(c) Decreases through
returns of capital, buybacks

446,182,209

10,000

10,000

3.32

3.32

185

18.6

*Convertible debt

securities (description and -

conversion factor)
Changes during current
period

(2} Increases through
Employee Share Plan
Issues

(b} Decreases through
securities matured,
converted

N/A

N/A

N/A

N/A

N/A
N/A

N/A
N/A

N/A
N/A

N/A

N/A

+ See chapter 19 for delined terms.
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Appendix 4E

Total number Number, Exercise - Expiry
quoted: price Date
- {if any)
18.7 Options (description and Nil N/A
conversion factor)
18.8  Issuéd during current . ]
period
- 1,022,140 Nil 277 N/A
9,720 Nil 4.85 N/A
150,000 Nil 2.77 N/A
1,181,860 '
18.9  Exercised during current 10,000 Nil’ 3.32 N/A
period
18.10 Expired during current 355,390 N/A
period :
18.11 Debentureé (description)
18.12 Changes during current
period
(a) Increases through N/A N/A
issues
{b) Decreases through N/A N/A
securities matured,
converted
18.13 Unsecured notes
(description)
18.14 Changes during current
' pericd
(a) Increases through N/A N/A
issues
(b) Decreases through N/A N/A
securities matured,
converted

+ See chapter 19 for defined terms.

- 30/06/06

Appendix 4E Page 19



Preliminary Final Report

Segment Reporting
(Information on the business and geographical segments of the entity must be reported for the current
period in accordance with AASB 1005: Segment Reporting and for half year reports, AASB 1029:
Interim Financial Reporting. Because enlities employ different structures a proiforma cannot be

provided. Segment information in the layout employed in. the entltys *accounts shouid be reported

~ separately and attached to this report.)

BUSINESS SEGMENTS

t
!

The consalidated entity comprises the following main business segmeﬁts, hased on the
consolidated entity’s management and internal reporting reporting system.

Segment

Description of Opeffations

Merchanting and Paper Trading
Communication Papers

Packaging Papers

. Corporate and Other

GEOGRAPHIC SEGMENTS

. I
international paper merchant, and paper trader
supplying the prinling and publishing industry and
office supplies. )

Manufacture of office papers, graphic papers,
converting papers and other spemahty and coated
papers. |

Manufacture of packaging papers and industrial
papers. Products include krafthners sack kraft and
light weight bag . and |ndustr|al papers, sold
predominantly to converting cus}omers.

[

Includes stationery and envelopes business and
corporate costs. Ty

The consclidated entity comprises the following main geographic segments! In presenting the
information on the basis of geographic segments, segment sales are basedion the geographic
location of customers. Segment assets are based on the geographic location of the assets.

Segment

Description of Operations

Australia and New Zealand

North Arnerica
Europe
Asia

Manufacture of communication papers and
packaging papers, paper merchantmg and paper
trading.

Paper merchanting and paper trading.
Paper merchanting and paper tr_éding.

Paper merchanting and paper trading.
. : i

[

+ See chapter 19 for defined terms.
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Appendix 4E
s ca it Preliminary Final Report
Segment Reporting (cont'd)
CONSOLIDATED
SEGMENT SEGMENT SEGMENT SEGMENT
RESULT (3) REVENUE " ASSETS LIABILITIES
M M $M M
For the year ended
30 June 2006
BUSINESS SEGMENTS
Merchanting and Paper
Trading )
« Continuing Operations 189.1 6,900.5 13,2414 1,163.0
« Discontinuing Operations 1.3 295 19.6 0.9
190.4 6,930.0 3,261.0 1,163.9

Communication Papers (9.4) 674.4 635.0 118.7
Packaging Papers‘ 5.3 2418 ' 298.4 416
Corporate and Other (33.9) 94.4 1216 46.1
Profit before net interesl and 1524
income tax
Net interest {1) {65.1)
Profit before income tax 187.3
Income tax expense {1) (21.9)
Income tax benefit - -
Awustralian Tax Consolidation
(M
Profit after income tax 65.4
expense
Net profit attributable to -
minority interests
Inter-segment sales (2} (b27.9)
Unallocated assets (deferred 74.4
tax balances}
Unallocated liabilities (6} 14114
Total 65.4 74127 4,390.4 27817

+ Sce chapter 19 for defined terms.
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Segment Reporting (cont'd}

SEGMENT
RESULT (3)

For the year ended
30 June 2005

BUSINESS SEGMENTS

Merchanting and Paper
Trading

Communication Papers
Packaging Papers
Corporate and Other

Profit before net interest and
income tax

Net interest (1)
Profit before income tax
Income tax expense (1)

Income tax benefit —
Australian Tax Consolidation

(1)

Profit after income tax
expense

Net profit attributable to
minority interests

inter-segment sales (2)

Unallocated assets (deferred
tax balances)

Unallocated liabilities (6)

(68.5)

|
( 1

CONSOLIDATED

SEGMENT SEGMENT
REVENUE ASSETS

M M

SEGMENT
LIABILITIES
|

M

7,035.3 3,054.0 1,0459

699.8 . 6229 1243

2429 292.2

413

100.6 112.5 . 52.8

{504.5)
85.2

1.339.8

Total

75741 4,166.8 2.'604.1

+ Sce chapter 19 for defined terms.
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Segment Reporting (cont'd)

CONSOLIDATED

SEGMENT SEGMENT CAPITAL
REVENUE ASSETS EXPENDITURE
M $™M M
For the year ended
30 June 2006
GEOGRAPHIC SEGMENTS
Australia and New Zealand 1,351.0 1,471.2 76.3
North America 1,257.8 5919 214
Europe 48175 2,190.7 239
Asia 186.4 62.2 0.4
Unallocated assets (deferred
fax assets) - 74.4 -
Total 74127 4,390.4 122.0
CONSOLIDATED
SEGMENT SEGMENT CAPITAL
REVENUE ASSETS EXPENDITURE
M M ™M
For the year ended
30 June 2005
GEOGRAPHIC SEGMENTS
Australia and New Zealand 1,444 .4 1,464.1 66.4
North America 1,011.1 413.1 55
Europe 49452 21477 44 8
Asia 1734 56.7 0.3
Unallocated assets (deferred
tax assets) - 85.2 -
Total 7.574.1 4,166.8 117.0
+ See chapter 19 for defined terms.
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|
Segment Reporting (cont’'d) \
CONSOLIDATED !
DEPRECIATION NON CASH CAPITAL '
& EXPENSES (4)  EXPENDITURE (5)
AMORTISATION ‘
$M M M
For the year ended '
30 June 2006
BUSINESS SEGMENTS ‘
Merchanting & Paper Trading
« Continuing operations 404 4.3) 47;.8
Communication Papers 370 6.6 57.7
|
Packaging Papers 12.9 31 13.1
Corporate and Other 14.4 5.1 ) 3.4
Total 104.7 10.5 122.0
CONSOLIDATED
DEPRECIATION NON CASH CAPITAL
EXPENSES (4)  EXPENDITURE (5)
AMORTISATION .
M M
For the year ended .
30 June 2005 .
I
BUSINESS SEGMENTS
Merchanting & Paper Trading 411 197 - . 528
Cormmunication Papers 46.7 13.9 46.2
Packaging Papers 12.2 47 15.5
Corporate and Other 12.9 4.4 25
112.9 427 117.0

Total

+ See chapter 19 for defined terms.
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Segment Reporting (cont'd)

Notes

{1) Interest and income tax expense are not allocated internally to the segments but held centrally.
(2) Inter-segment sales comprise sales of paper, which are priced on an arm's length basis.
{(3) The segment result for the individual business segments is the profit before net interest and income tax.

{4) The non-cash expenses above comprise the following items:

2006 2005
M ™M
» Provisions charge 34.4 48.9
«  Net (profityloss on disposal of property, plant
and equipment (24.4) (3.0)
« Other non cash items - refer Statements of Cash
Flows 05 (3.2)
10.5 427
(5) Capital Expenditure above comprises the following items:
« Addition of property, plant and equipment - refer
Statements of Gash Flows 101.4 86.3
+ Movement in accruals for property, plant and
equipment 0.6 7.4
) 102.0 937
+ Goodwill in relation to acquisitions of
subsidiaries a1 171
+ Brands acquired on acquisition of subsidiaries 1.2 -
« Property, pfant and equipment acquired on
acquisition of subsidiaries 97 6.2
122.0 117.0
{6) The unallocated segment liabilities comprise the following items:
« Current interest bearing liabilities 2217 266.6
+  Current tax liabilities ’ 9.6 38
+  Non-currentinterest bearing liabilities 1,136.7 1,036.0
+ Non-cumrent deferred tax liabilities 434 334
14114 1,339.8
(7) Theimpairment losses booked relate to the following segments:
¢ Industry — Communication Papers - 12.4
« Geographic — Australia and New Zealand - 12.4

+ See chapter 19 for defined terms.
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Comments by directors
{Comments on the following matters are required by ASX or, in relation to the half yearly report, by AASB 1029:
interim Financial Reporting. The comments do not take the place of the directors' report and statement (as
required by the Corporations Act) and may be incorporated into the directors' report and statement. For both half
vearly and preliminary final reports, if there are no comments in a section, state NIL. If there is insufficient space
to comment, attach notes to this report.}

1

Basis of financial report preparation |

19.17  Not applicable (Interim report only) ¢

19.2  Material factors affecting the revenues and expenses of the economic enhty for the current
period. In a half yearly report, provide explanatory comments about any seasonal or irregular

factors affecting operations. \

Refer attached News Release

19.3 A description of each event since the end of the current period whuch has had a material effect
and which is not atready reported elsewhere in this Appendix or in attachments, with financial
effect quantified (if possible}.

+

Refer attached News Release

'

19.4 Franking credits available and prospects for paying fully or partly franked dividends for at least
the next year.

At the date of this report, PaperinX Limited has declared an unfranked di'vidend on
ordinary shares payable on 13 October 2006 — 4.5 cents per share on fully paid shares.
This dividend has not been provided for in the accounts as at 30 June 2006.

The balance of the consolidated franking account as at 30_June 2008 was $Nil {2005:
$3.6 million). )

It is expected that any interim dividend in respect of the half year ending 31 December
20086 will be unfranked.

+ See chapter 19 for defined terms. )
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19.5 Unless disclosed below, the accounting policies, estimation methods and measurement bases
used in this report are the same as those used in the last annual report. Any changes in
accounting policies, estimation methods and measurement bases since the last annual report

are disclosed as follows

Change In Accounting Policy

PaperiinX Limited has laken advantage of the election under AASB 1 to not restate for
AASB 132 Financial Instruments: Disclosure and Presentarron and AASB 139 Financial
Instruments: Recognition and Measurement.

There are no adjustments for 1 July 2004 or the financial year ended 30 June 2005 as
previcus AGAAP continues to apply.

As at 1 July 2005, the adjustments to the consolidated entity are as foliows:

+ under previous AGAAP, not all derivatives were recognised in the balance sheet.
On adoption of AASB 139, all derivatives are recognised at fair value on the
balance sheet. The effect on the consolidated entity is to record the fair value of
the derivatives on the balance sheet with a corresponding decrease in retained
eamings of $0.3 million, net of tax of $0.1 million.

+ debt establishment costs which were capitalised and amortised over the term of the
borrowing under previous AGAAP, are recalculated based on the effective interest
rate method and recognised as part of the liability rather than as a separate asset.
This results in a decrease in assets of $4.0 million, and a decrease in financial
liabilities of $4.0 million.

19.6 Revisions in estimates of amounts reported in previous interim periods. For half yearly reports
the nature and amount of revisions in estimates of amounts reported in previous +annual
reporis if those revisions have a material effect in this half year.

Not applicable

19.7 Changes in contingent liabilities or assets. For half yearly reports, changes in conlingent
liabifities and contingent assets since the last * annual report.

Not applicable

+ Sce chapter 19 for defined terms.
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Additional disclosure for trusts

201

20.2

Number of units held by the
management company or responsible
entity or their related parties.

A statement of the fees and
commissions payable to the
management company or responsible
entity.

Identify:

. initial service charges
. management fees

. other fees

Annual meeting
{Preliminary final report only)

The annual meeting will be held as follows:

Place

Date

Time

Approximate date the ‘annua!l report will be’
available

|
|
i
Not applicable’
1
)

Not applicable'
I

Park Hyatt )

1 Parliament Square

East Melbourne .
VIC 3002 !

Friday, 20 October 2006

11.00 am

22 Séptembef 2006 1

+ See chapter 19 for defined terms.
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Compliance statement

1 This report has been prepared in accordance with AASB Standards, other AASB authoritative
pronouncements and Urgent Issues Group Consensus Views or other standards acceptable to
ASX (see note 12).

Identify other standards used Not applicable

2 This report, and the accounts upon which the report is based (if separate), use the same
accounting policies. :

3 This report does give a true and fair view of the matters disclosed (see note 2).

4 This report is based on "accounts te which one of the following applies.

(Tick one) ‘
The ‘accounts have been The ‘accounts have been
v audited. a subject to review.
The ‘accounts are in the . The ‘accounts have notf yet
a process of being audited or a been audited or reviewed.
subject to review,

5 If the audit report or review by the auditor is not attached, details of any qualifications are
attached/will follow immediately they are available* (delete one}. (Half yearly report only - the
audit report or review by the auditor must be attached to this report if this report is to salisfy
the requirements of the Corporations Act.).

6 ‘The entity has a formally constituted audit committee.

=7 e —
A
Signhere: [RENO— Date: 21 August 2006
(Company Secretary)
Print name: James Orr

+ Sec chapier 19 for defined terms.
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Release Time 8.30am Australian eastern standard time
Date 22 August 2006

PAPERLINX RESULTS FOR THE
FULL YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2006

PaperlinX has reported operating earnings (EBIT) of $152.4 million and after tax profit of
$65.4 million for the 2006 financial year. The current result and prior period have been
reported under AIFRS. '

. These results reflect a continuation of the adverse trading conditions experienced in the fiscal
2005 yeéar which impacted volumes, selling prices and margins. The after tax profit of $65.4
million compares with $89.6 million for the year ended 30 June 2005 {(excluding the benefits of
tax consolidation), with profit after tax stabilising in the second half of the year compared with
the prior corresponding period.

. Second half underlying operating earnings showed an improvement over both the first half and
the prior corresponding period, however, rising mill input costs have not been able to be passed
on in paper selling prices and continue to impact earnings.

. Though well below our targets, total average return on funds employed of 6.2% remains in
the top quartile of international paper companies. Operating cash flow of $260 million
benefited from a working capital cash mprovement {excluding currency impacts and
acquisitions) of $88 million.

. Profit on sale of non-core assets has largely funded $25.4 million in one-off costs
associated with key strategic initiatives, resulting in a net loss from one-off items of $4.2
millien.

. Benefits of previously announced strategic initiatives are on track to return over $35 miltion
in 2007 and over $100 milllon in 2009, with the acquisition of Cascades Resources (now
Splcers Canada) and the closure of the number 1 paper machine at Shoalhaven completed
in the past 6 months.

. A final dividend of 4.5 cents per share, unfranked, has been declared. The Board has
activated the dividend reinvestment plan for the final dividend.

PAPERLINX LIMITED AND Year ended 30 June

CONTROLLED ENTITIES 2006 2005 % change
Sales Revenue ™ 74127 7.574.4 (2)
Earnings from Ordinary Activities before interest, income tax, M 2571 293.0 {12}
amortisation and depreciation

Eamings from Ordinary Activities before interest & income tax ™ 152.4 180.1 {15)
Profit from Ordinary Activities before tax M . 873 1116 (22)
Profit from Ordinary Activities after income tax (excluding ATC} M 65.4 89.86 27)
Profit from Ordinary Activities after income tax {including ATC) M 654 166.6 (61)
Key Ratios i '

Eamings from before interest and income tax to average funds % 6.2 6.7

employed )

Working Capital to Sales c % 16.5 16.1

Operating Cash Flow M 259.8 2734

Net interest cover {times) . X 2.3 26

Net debt/Net debt & Equity : % 36.0 359

Earnings per share {excluding ATC) cps—— 14.7 201

Earnings per share (including ATC) ] . Cps 14.7 373

Dividend per share : cps 10.0 255

Note: in this statement, currency is in Australian dollars uniess otherwise indicated.




RESULTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED .30 JUNE 2006 '
Commentary on the Group 2006 Results
Introduction . j

PaperlinX financial results for the year ended 30 June 2006 have been influenced by a centinuation of
challenging external market conditions including global supply imbalances and rising input costs,
balanced to some extent by continued progress on areas within our control, including strategic
initiatives, working capital management and cost reductions. Reported profit after tax of $65.4 million
was well below last years’ $89.6 million (excluding the prior year benefits of Australian Tax
Consglidation), although the underlying second half operating earnings for 2006 was above both the
first half of 2006 and the second half of 2005.

Overall operating earnings (EBIT) of $152.4 million included a range of one-off items both positive
and negative. Profit on sale of surplus property has largely funded the one-off costs associated with
the Group's key strategic initiatives highlighted at the half year results. The net |mpact on reported
profit of these items was a loss of $4.2 million.

Operating cash flow of $260 million included a solid $88 million cash reduction in working capital
{excluding currency impacts and acquisitions). The company was able to largely fund its
restructuring, closure and acquisition costs from internal sources, with the acquisition of Spicers
Canada balanced by reductions in working capital.

Returns for the year of 6.2% on average funds employed, while well below our target levels, remain in
the top quartile among global paper companies.

In the first half result, a range of strategic initiatives were highlighted that are expected to result in a
positive net EBIT benefit in 2007 of over $35 million and at least $100 million per annum of
sustainable incremental contribution to operating earnings in 2009. As shown below, these initiatives
are on track with expectations for net benefits from them unchanged. These benefits will go towards
mitigating continued input cost pressures, and will provide additional upside should there be an
improvement in external conditions. |
Since that time, two additional strategic initiatives have been brought forward: consolidating the
PaperlinX Office Group in Australia, and out-sourcing the Maryvale Wood Yard. ‘These additional
strategic initiatives will incur one-off costs of around $12 million in 2007, primarily relating to
redundancy costs and warehouse consolidations. Both projects are expected to exceed target return
levels on an on-going basis following those initial costs. .

Progress on previously announced Strategic Initiatives:
B . |
- Cascades Merchanting acquisition {Canada): Completed; year 3 target return afready achieved (15%+)

- build economies of scale and realise synergies by growing Canadian merchanting platform.
B i

- Exit of Portuguese market: Completed ' ,

- exiting small pooﬂy performing paper merchanting business.

- Shoalhaven Paper Machine 1 closure: Completed on schedule

- to improve overall operating efficiency by replacing unprofitable products made for the export market
at Maryvale with products that were previously manufactured on Shoalhaven PaperlMachine 1.

Upgrade of Maryvale Mili Paper Machine 1: Complete, uptake improving from slow start
- world class product quality to enhance our competitive position.

- Maryvale pulp mill upgrade: On schedule on budget

- to improve paper quality, reduce pulp production costs replace 80,000 tonnes of imported pulp and
improve our environmental impact by upgrading the current pulp capacity and bleach plant.
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- Netherlands Integration: . Management appointed, integration on plan.

- integration of paper merchanting businesses in the’ Nethgnands {o realise synergies in commercial
print and packaging services.

- The Delivery Co {UK): First site operational és scheduled

- integration of the individual logistics operations of UK paper merchants to optimise customer service,
maximise efficiency and minimise the environmental impact of distribution activities.

- European IT Platform: First implementation completed successfully

- creation of a common IT platform to improve inventory and warehouse control in order to improve
working capital management, deliver a range of other synergy benefits and improve service 1o
customers. .

- Strategic Supplier Alliances: - Progressing as expected
- working with étrategic suppliers to build competitiveness and grow volumes together,

New Strategic Initiatives: ) .
- PaperlinX Office; .Management announced, plans initiated

- combining three Australian businesses which service the office products and stationery market in
Australia to improve our offering and service to customers.

- Maryvale Mill Woed Yard: Conditiona! agreement reached

- Quisourced new wood yard facility for Maryvale Mill in Australia to further enhance the quality and
consistency of pulp to be produced at Maryvale's upgraded pulp facilities.
‘

Paper Merchanting

The Paper Merchanting business achieved earnings before interest and tax of $190.4 million,
down from $194.1 million in the prior year. Earnings include net benefits of $5.4 miilion, where
the profit on sale of surplus property assets have more than offset one-off costs associated with a
number of the strategic initiatives being undertaken in the paper merchanting business.
Underlying operating earnings have been impacted by lower average priceés and soft volumes,
particularly in Europe (the UK and Netherlands) and New Zealand. Cost increases, while
mitigated by management of expenses and other internal initiatives, have also impacted the

results.

Merchanting businesses have continued to produce sound returns in this difficuit environment,
with clear potential upside from any improvements in market conditions. Return on average
funds employed was 11.5%, which is above our cost of capital. Overall expenses were reduced
by 2% as management made good progress against targets. Working capital reductions have
continued, in local currency all major business regions were at lower levels than a year ago.

Operating earnings were impacted by lower earnings in Europe (down 4% in local currency,

including net one-off benefits) and in Australasia (down 13%), balanced by a strong 36%
improvement in North America which reflected the inclusion of Spicers Canada for four months
and the leverage to higher paper prices. Mix benefits included in these numbers include growth
of core brands (+ 8%) and an improved stock sales to indent sales ratio in Europe.

Paper Manufacturing

Earnings from Australian Paper have remained under significant pressure. Operating earnings of - -

$(4.1) million included $17.1 million in one-off charges for the closure of the number 1 paper
machine at Shoalhaven Mill in NSW and Maryvale PM1 commissioning costs, partly offset by
profit on the sale of non-core assets of $3.5 million. They-also reflect the continued impact of
depressed Australian paper prices, oversupply in global paper markets and higher input costs (up
$10.5 million over the past year). Fuel oil costs rose most sharply, up 38%. The current
environment has not allowed these cost increases to be passed on. With paper prices down 4%
on average, and costs up, average margin per tonne of product sold has fallen 4.4%.

7
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Despite the difficult market, management has actively moved ahead on a number of key
initiatives to improve returns from the current unacceptable levels. Previous investments to
enhance the quality of copy paper manufactured at Maryvale Mill have underpinned a 12.3%
growth in domestic volume and over 5 points of market share growth. The upgrade of the
number 1 paper machine at Maryvale Mill has been completed and product is rectaiming market
position though at a slower rate than initially planned. The Maryvale pulp mill upgrade is
progressing to plan. The number 1 paper machine at Shoalhaven Mill was closed in March as
planned with production being transferred to Maryvale Mill. incorporating the new grades has
had some impact on machine efficiency at Maryvale, but this has now largely been addressed. A
conditional agreement has been reached to outsource the Maryvale Mill wood yard, reducing
costs and improving efficiency. Additionally, PaperlinX Office has been launched, combining
three PaperlinX businesses that service the Australian office products and stationery markets.

The net benefit from these initiatives will be to improve returns from our manufacturing business,
though some improvement in the external environment is required to see Australuan Paper

achieve an acceptable return on funds employed. |
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OPERATING EARNINGS

The following table shows, for PaperlinX Limited and controlled entities, Operating Earnings
(EBIT), Sales Revenue and Total Assets by industry segment for the year to 30 June 2006.

EBIT Sales Revenue Total Assets
Jun 2006  Jun 2005 Jun 2008 Jun 2005 Jun 2008  Jun 2005
SM SM M M M M
Industry Segments
Paper Merchanting
Australasia 27.0 311 1,230 1,278 505 532
Europe 1235 1338 4555 4,867 2,187 2,140
North America . 389 292 1145 890 569 382
Total Paper Merchanting . 180.4 1941 6,930 7,035 3,261 3,054
Communication Papers (9.4) 2.1 674 700 635 623
Packaging Papers ' 53 10.0 242 243 298 292
Total Australian Paper @ (4.1) 121 . 916 943 933 915.
Corporate and Other (33.9) (26.1) 95 101 122 . 113
Operating earnings before interest & 1524 - 180.1
income tax
Net Interest ) : {65.1) (68.5})
Income Tax Expense {21.9) (21.9)
Outside Equity Interests 0.0 {0.1)
Inter-segment Sales (528) {505)
Unallocated Assets . 74 85
(deferred tax assets) )
Total . 65.4 89.6% 7413 7,574 4,390 4,167
Notes

{1) 2006 EBIT includes net one-off benefit of $9.4 million. 2005 EBIT one-off cost of $(9.9) million
(2) EBIT includes net one-off cost of $(13.6) million
(3) Excludes benefit of entering Australian Tax consolidation regtme of 377 million

'Underlying Operating Earnings

The reported operating eamings for 2006 and
2005 contain a number of cne-off items. This  asm Underlying Group Operating Earnings
chart helps provide clarity on the trend in 45, . .

underlying operating earnings {(EBIT) after ‘

removing one-off costs and benefits retating to % |

property transactions and costs associated so { '
with implementing strategic initiatives. On this 60 -
basis, the second half EBIT for 2006 is above
both first half of 2006 and the second half of 401
2005. 20 4
0+ T r v
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Working Capital

Net working capital for the Group at June |

2006 was $1277 million. Adjusted for g networking Capitat - Currency Adjusted
currency impact ($53 million increase) and g X
acquisitions ($94 million increase), the net

working capital reduced $92 million. The net 1450
working capital in all major operating regions

decreased as a result of our continued focus 1.350
on this key area. All three components of
working capital improved versus prior
period. 1,150 4

Dec03  Jun-04  Dec-04 Jun-05 ' Dec-05  Jun06

1,250

- -e - -ExAcq’ Trend Net Working Capital

Financial Position

At 30 June 2006, PaperlinX has a gearing ratio of net debt to net debt plus equity of 36.0%,
which is in line with last June and below the Group's target range of 40% to 50%. Interest cover
was 2.3 times. Both of these ratios are in compliance with debt covenants.

Cash generated by operations excluding working capital movement was $172 million. Net cash
flow from operations after working capital movements was at $260 million. Net debt has
increased to $803 million compared to $873 million at the same perlod last year (including an
increase of $64 million due to currency impact). ;

There have been no significant changes in funding arrangements. PaperlinX has an appropriate
mix of long, medium and short term debt, and has undrawn lines of credit available to it beyond
current foreseeable needs.

Capital expenditure in the period was $101 million which was 97% of deprecia‘tion. In the last
year PaperlinX has committed to an upgrade of its pulping capacity and associated facilities at
the Maryvale Mill at a cost of $203 million over the next three years. Total acquisition
expenditure was $101 million, most notably Spicers Canada. PaperlinX has funding available for
its current and planned projects. .

Dividend ‘ :

Directors have declared an unfranked final dividend of 4.5 cents per share representing a 70%
payout ratio. This brings the total dividend for the year to 10.0 cents.

The final dividend will be paid on 13™ October 2006 to shareholders on record as of 22"
September 2006 as being entitled to the dividend. !

Dividend Reinvestment Plan

|
Directors have announced that the PaperinX Dividend Reinvestment Plan (DRP) will be
activated, and will apply in respect of the year's final dividend. A summary of the DRP and an

_election form will be mailed to all eligible shareholders (Austraha and New Zealand only) today.

Closing date for applications to participate in the DRP is 21 September, 2006.

Australian Tax Consolidation
10
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In the 2005 Fiscal year (the prior corresponding period, from 1 July 2004 to 30 June 2005)
PaperlinX recorded a one-off $77 million gain from its election to form a tax consolidation group
in Australia from 1 July 2003. Details have been previously reported.

Australian International Financial Reporting Standards (AIFRS)
These results are reported against the Australian equivalents to the International Financial

Reporting Standards (AIFRS) as issued by the Australian Accounting Standards Board. The
prior corresponding period results have also been restated.

Employees
As at 30 June 20086 PaperlinX had 9,672 employees, down 1.9% versus prior year (excluding the

Spicers Canada business acquired in March 2006) and down versus two years ago. 30% of our
employees are in Australasia, 53% in Europe and 17% in North America.

Safety

The Group's rolling 12 month LTIFR (lost Rolling Quarterly LTIER

time injury frequency rate) has declined by

27% to 5.7, with clear improvement by our.

European businesses since acquisition and
among our mills over the past year. The

12 {injuries per million hours worked)

10
8 _ _ .

MTIFR (medically treated injury frequency j
rate) over the same period has reduced by 5
26%. Safety is a key focus for PaperlinX and ¢
receives significant attention by management
and the Board.

un-01 Jun02  Jun-03  Jun-04  Jun-05  Jun-06

Environmental

There have been significant steps to further improve the overall environmental performance of
our manufacturing and logistics operations around the world. The upgrade of the Maryvale Pulp
Mill and its bleaching process and key projects in a number of our logistics operations to improve
fleet utilisation, improve energy efficiency and reduce waste output will reduce air emissions,
odour, greenhouse gas emissions and waste output as well as provide strong economic benefits.

Our manufacturing operations in Australia continue to increase production and sale of recycled
products meeting the needs of government, business and the private consumer to increase the
use of recycled products and reduce waste to landfill in this country.

During the year Spicers Paper in Australia, US and Hong Kong and Australian Paper's Maryvale
and Shoalhaven Mills have all gained Forest Stewardship Councit (FSC) chain of custody
certification, which will provide customers with greater certainty over fibre supply.

During the year there were no significant breaches of environmental compliance at any of our
global operations.

J—

BALANCE SHEET
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PAPERLINX LIMITED AND

CONTROLLED ENTITIES June 2006 June 2005
Current Assets . $m .2,880.6 ' 26740
Non Current Assets $m 1,509.8 1 1,482.8
Total Assets - $m 43904 ! 4,166.8
Current Liabilties ’ ' $m 1.460.3 . 1.373.0
Nen Current Liabilities $m 1,321.4 11,2311
Total Liabilities ’ $m 2,781.7 , 2.604.7
Shareholders Equity $m 1,608.7 11,5627
Key Balance Sheet Ratios '

Net Debt $m © 8033 , 8735
Net debt to net debt and shareholders equity ' % 36.0 - ' 359
Net debt to shareholders equity % 56.2 55.9
Net tangible assets per share $ 249 2.40
INCOME STATEMENT ;

PAPERLINX LIMITED AND

CONTROLLED ENTITIES 20086
M

Year ended 30 June

7,5741

2005
™M

SALES REVENUE 74127

Operating Earnings before depreciation, amortisation, interest and 2571 , 2830
income tax (EBITDA) ,
Depreciation and amortisation 104.7 ' 112.9
Operating Eémings before interest 152.4 , 1801
and income tax (EBIT) _ ’

Net Interest Expense 65.1 68.5
Operating profit from Ordinary Activities before income tax 87.3 11.6
Income tax expense on Operating profit 21.9' 1 21.9
Cutside Equity Interests ' 0.0 C(0.1)
NET PROFIT AFTER TAX : 65.4 go.6""

1) Excludes benefit of entering Australian Tax consclidation regime of $77 million

RETURN ON AVERAGE FUNDS EMPLOYED " .

12 months
June 06
Merchanting” % 11.5
Auétralian Paper* . _ % (0.3)
PaperlinX Group , Yo 6.2

* before allocation of corporate overheads
M gpiT f average funds employed

12 months

Jun 05

1

11.8
1.4
6.7
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Summary

Market conditions for the year to 30 June 2006 reflected a continuation of the challenging
market conditions that have been seen over the past three years. Structural global
oversupply is the key issue facing the paper industry, and, combined with the weaker US
dollar, has resulted in weak paper prices in markets other than the US. The impact of
these pressures and higher input costs led to the closure of the Shoalhaven Mill number
1 paper machine and similar actions by paper manufacturers around the world. These
difficult conditions have continued into the new financial year.

Capacity reductions in North America have led to improved capacity utilisation in that
region with.improved pricing as a result. European closures and announced closures
have also been reflected in improved capacity utilisation rates and pricing on uncoated
woodfree grades. Solid demand (excluding the UK} and escalating input costs are also
underpinning announced coated woodfree paper price increases in Europe, though
further capacity reductions are likely to be needed to secure the industry fundamentals
into the future. As has been seen in North American and Asian merchanting results,
PaperlinX is well leveraged to the upside if prices increase and as we continue to reduce
expenses and working capital.

Though announced paper manufacturer responses to structural over-capacity and high

“input costs are encouraging, we. beheve it is too early to call a turn for the fine paper

industry globally.

The identification and delivery of strategic initiatives is progressing well, with additional
high returning projects continuing to be identified. Project commitment and funding are
calibrated with our financial capacity at this stage in the paper cycle.

Within our existing business platform, progress is also being made in those areas that
improve earnings mix, secure the merchant role in the value chain, increase customer
satisfaction, and position the company in growth segments. Branded volume growth,
product quality upgrades, an improved stock/indent sales ratio, increased domestic vs
export tonnes and appropriate capacity balancing in Australian Paper, and expansion in
higher growth categories such as Sign and Display and Industrial Packaging all benefit
PaperlinX margins and growth potential. All of these measures improved over the past
year and will continue to receive priority in fiscal 2007 and beyond.

Overall, sentiment in the global paper industry appears be improving on some fronts, but
the current conditions remain very challenging.

For further information, please contact.
Mr David Shirer =

Executive General Manager

Corporate Affairs

PaperlinX Limited

Ph: +61 (3) 8540 2302
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APPENDIX 1 - SECTOR COMMENTARY

MERCHANTING - t
12 months 12 months
Jun 06 Jun 05
Sales Volume ‘000 tonnes
‘Sales Revenue ASM
Eamings before Interest & Tax . ASM ’ 190.4 y 1941

Return on Average Funds Employed % 1.5 - 11.8

. Overall volumes were flat with reduced volumes in the UK, Netherlands and New Zealand,
: and as a result of restructuring in France and Germany. European volumes in the first

quarter were affected by supply issues. These were offset by organ[c gams in North
America and the inclusion of Spicers Canada.

) Return on funds employed was 11.5%, above the cost of capital and at.a similar level to
last year. !

. Operating expenses were 2% below prior year. !

. There was good performance on working capital with a reduction of 8.6% (including the
reductions in Spicers Canada since acquisition), while the working capital to sales ratio for
all key business areas improved in local currencies.

Overall branded volumes have grown 8%, contributing positively to margin' development.
Results include a number of one-off items, both positive and negative, relating to profit on
sale of non-core assets and restructuring costs, primarily in Europe of $9.4 million.

" AUSTRALASIA |

12 months 12 months
Jun 06 Jun 05

Sales Volume ‘000 tonnes
Sales Revenue . ASM
Earnings before Interest & Tax ASM 27.0 ¢311

Australia and New Zealand ,
12 months 1'2 months

Jun 08 Jun Q5
Sales Volume ‘000 tonnes \
Sales Revenue ASM 978 ; 1.026
Eamings before Interest & Tax AtM - 207 y 267
Asia ;
12 months 12 months
Jun 06 Jun 05
Sales Volume ‘000 tonnes
Sales Revenue X M 122 ' 109
Earnings before Interest & Tax SEM 5.1 b 43
Paper Trading : .
‘ 12 months 12 months
Jun 08 Jun 05
Sales Volume ‘000 tonnes '
Commission Velume ‘000 tonnes - 31 285
Sales Revenue ASM - 152 173
Earnings before Interest & Tax ASM : 20 I 1.0

14
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EUROPE
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Following changes to management reporting lines, Australasia has become a new
reporting region including Merchanting in Australia/New Zealand, Asia and Paper Trading.
Overall sales volumes were down 3% with lower volumes in New Zealand and Paper
Trading. Prices across the region remained competitive, but stabilised in the second half.
Expenses have been reduced in all businesses, with benefits from prior period
restructurings. Total expenses were down 9.6%

Significant progress was made on working capital, down 15% on the prior year.

Strong competition and currency relativities have resuited in average selling prices in
Australia being down 0.5% on last year and down 4.7% in New Zealand.

Overall Australian volumes were flat on last year, but New Zealand volumes were impacted
by the competitive situation. The New Zealand market stabilised late in the period.

Asian demand was healthy through the .whole perlod although new regaonal capacity
dampened pricing.

Overall volumes in Asia were up 11% on the back of good gains in market share.

Supplies of paper for sale in Paper Tradmg were constrained by Australian Paper's focus
on the Australian domestic market and output reductions when cash marglns did not justify
exports at mid year.

12 months 12 months

. , Jun 06 Jun 05

NW Europe ) ‘000 tonnes -

UK & Ireland - _ ‘000 tonnes 1,183 1,228

Central & Southern Europe ‘000 tonnes ) 505 494
Total European Sales Volume ‘000 tonnes 2,458 2,534
Sales Revenue ) &M . 2,748 2,828
Earnings before tnterest & Tax €M 745 ] 77.7

* Note (1) Total volume also includes volume from South Africa

The European market was challenging throughout 2006, with the UK market in particular
reflecting the softer economic conditions with overall fine paper market volume down.
Market share in the UK has been held after growing since acquisition.

While average pricing for coated paper was down 4-5%, good performance on product and
business mix mitigated this impact, with our overall price realisations flat.

Total expenses were down 1.8% dnven by strong performance in operating expenses and

‘restructuring benefits.

Three business strategic initiatives commenced lmplementatlon during the year,;

- The Delivery Company — creation of an integrated logistics group' across the
three UK merchants. The project is running to schedule, W|th the f rst integrated
site in Ipswich completed and running smoothly.

- Netherlands Integration — This project is on schedule, Wlth assocnated
redundancies completed and business alignment undemray

- European IT Rollout — installation of a common IT platform across our European
merchant business. The first site for this 3-5 year programme has been
successfully ‘completed in Ireland, and rollout quI progress across the European
businesses in a controlled manner.

This result includes €6.7 million in net one-off gains from the sale of surplus property
assets (€10.8 million) and €4.1 million in costs assomated W|th various restructuring
activities. '

German sales volume was down 8.4% primarily in.low margin indent products with minimal
prof it impact. .
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NORTH AMERICA

12 months 12 months

Jun 06 Jun 05
Sales Volume ‘000 tonnes
Sales Revenue US$M 849 . 662
Earnings before Interest & Tax US$M . 29.6 . 21.7
i

. North American markets benefited from paper manufacturers actions to reduce capacity
over the past few years with prices higher, even in fairly modest market growth conditions.

) Average prices were up around 4%, while margins benefited from sound expense control.

. Volume growth {(excluding the impact of Spicers Canada) of 5% was ahead of the market
as branded and sheeter volumes grew 15% and our differentiated customer offering
improved market share. \

. The successful acquisition of Spicers Canada was completed in March and the sale of the
Western region businesses is progressing to plan. This acquisition has met or exceeded
the year 3 return target of 15% ROFE in its first 4 months of ownership, with strong
earnings performance and working capital reductions. ' |

. Overall working capital increased as a result of the acqunsmon i but underlying
improvements continued, down 18% excluding the acquisition.

-‘:'- - "i*»fk- ) -
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PAPER MANUFACTURING - AUSTRALIAN PAPER .

12 months 12 months
Jun 08 Jun 05
Sales Volume ‘000 tonnes 817 I B840
Sales Revenue ASM 816 943
Underlying Earnings before Interest & Tax ASM 9.5 1241
Asset sales less Strategic Initiative Costs ASM {13.6) ! 0.0
Reported Earnings before Interest & Tax ASM {4.1) ! 2.1
Return on Average Funds Employed % 0.3)° o 14

. Overall eamnings have been under significant pressure due to lower pricing and the inability
to recover cost increases over three years. This remains the key issue for this business.

) Operating earnings include a net one-off charge of $13.6 million for the closure of the
number 1 paper machine at the Shoathaven Mill in March 2006 and Maryvale number 1
paper machine commissioning costs partly offset by non-core asset sales. Excluding this
charge, underlying EBIT was 21.5% below the prior year primarily due to higher input
costs.

) Overall volumes were 2.8% lower as export sales have been reduced and production
constrained where cash contributions were negative. Domestic sales volumes were in line
with last year while exports were down 9.6%.

. The pulp and bleach plant upgrade at Maryvale to improve paper quality, reduce pulp costs
and improve environment performance announced in August 2005 is on track and on
budget. Completicn is expected in fiscal 2008. Returns on this project from the current
higher level of pulp price would be significantly higher than originally envnsaged

) Commodity input costs (primarily oil up 38%) have impacted earnings by $10.5 million.
These pressures have continued, with the cost increases not able to be passed on in
selling price increases at this stage. f

16



COMMUNICATION PAPERS

12 months 12 months

: : Jun 06 Jun 05
Sales Volume ‘000 tonnes '501 . 522
- Australia/New Zealand % . 7% - . 73,
Sales Revenue : _ ASM ‘ 674 7o
Underlying Earnings before Interest & Tax ASM 43 ! 2.1

«  Paper selling prices in the Australian market remain under pressure (down 2% on
v -average) while mput costs rose signifi cantly Average oil costs were up 38% on.the prior
year.

. Domestic sales volumes were up 3% on the prior year iargely due to :mproved salés of

office papers. The key Reflex® brand of copy paper has launchéd a range of néw products
including recycled grades. Total office papers sales were up 13%, with market share
growth.

e The Shoalhaven and Maryvale Mills have received FSC cham of custody environmental
accreditation and will be producing FSC certified grades for the Australian market. Other
mllls are progressing towards certification.

o' Price rises have recently been announced of between 3% and 5% dependlng upon the
grade to begin to recover increased input costs.

PACKAGING PAPERS

12 months 12 months

‘ Jun 06 Jun 05
Sales Volume ‘000 tonnes 316 o 318
- Australia/New Zealand - : % T 77
Sales Revenue ' AZM . 242 243
Underlying Earnings before Interest & Tax ASM 52 10.0

. The Australian linerboard segment was impacted by lower demand from key customers.
The upgrade of the Maryvale Mill number 1 paper machlne was completed during the year
with production meeting target specnﬁcatlons

. High second half exports resulted from slower than expected domestic uptake of sack and
bag paper, though this position is improving.

) Export receipts continue to be depressed by the level of the Australian dollar.

CORPORATE & OTHER

12 months 12 months
Jun 08 Jun 05
Sales Revenue : . ASM ‘ 95 101
Earnings before Interest & Tax ‘ ASM , (33.9) . - {26.1)

. This sector incorporates the tud’or® Group envelope and stationery business and Paperhnx
corporate costs.
. tudor® Group faced. pressure from low priced imports, ‘with reduced pricing affecting
margins. Second half earnings saw a significant deterioration. :
. Underlying corporate costs were at similar. levels to the prior year, however prior year one-
- off benefits were not repeated. .
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APPENDIX 2 — VARIATION ANALYSIS
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Sales revenue was $7.4 billion, a decrease of 2.1% from $7.6 billion in the prior year. The decrease
primarily reflects the combined impact of currency transiation, lower paper selling prices and lower

sales volumes in Europe {primarily due to market declines in the UK).

EBIT was $152.4 million,

including a range of one-off gains and losses. This decrease of 15% compared with the prior year
period mainly reflects external cost pressures, with impact most significant in our Australian
manufacturing businesses. The weak US dollar has continued to depress selling prices globally and

volumes and receipts on exports from Australia.

EBIT VARIATION ANALYSIS BY MAJOR INFLUENCE
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Currency Translation

The currency variation includes the impact on
translation of overseas earnings and the impact on
receipts for exports from Australia. The largest area
of impact over the past year has been the higher
level of the Australian dollar against the Euro
(0.615 in 2006 versus 0.592 in 2005). The average
rate for Australian dollar against the US dcllar was
relatively unchanged, though the US dollar
weakness versus global currencies over the past 3
years has a major impact on global paper pricing.

v

0.50 v T T

Jun-G¢  Jun01  Jun02  Jun03
i 1

Jun-04  Jun-05  Jun-06
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Price/Margins

Paper selling prices have remained weak in
Europe and Australia/fNew Zealand (impacted by
supply/demand) while there were some positive
movements in North America and Asia. Industry
prices for coated paper in Europe and Australia
were down around 2%, while in North America they
rose 2.6%. Since the peak in 2000, prices for
100gsm reels in Germany have fallen 26%. The
impact of lower prices puts pressure on margins
and has been the largest impact on profitability.

Volume/Mix

Volumes in Paper Merchanting were flat, a result of
restructurings and weaker volumes in the UK as
demand eased during the year, as well as the
negative impacts of the Finnish strike restricting
supply and failed mill coated woodfree paper price
increase in Europe in Q4 F'05, offset by organic
growth in North America and the benefit from the
acquisition of $'fers Canada. Woodfree paper
consumption in curope has shown little growth, up
1.1% vyear on vyear, while North American
consumption grew around 3.8% (see chart). Overall
mix provided a positive variance. Mix reflects
changes in paper grades sold, variations in indent
and stock sales in paper merchanting, domestic
versus export sales in manufacturing, and branded
versus non-branded products.

Strategic Initiatives

Price of Woodfree Coated Reels in Germany

€m
900 4

600

Jun-01 Jun-02  Jun-03 dun-04  Jun-05  Jun-06

Woodfree Coated Consumption (‘000 tonnes)

700-‘
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400 r
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. Western Europe
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North America  ———

A net loss of $4.2 million arose from one-off restructuring costs and commissioning costs (total
cost of $25.4 million), offset by profits on the sale of non-core assets (primarily property) of $21.2
million. Highlighting the short payback of a number of the strategic initiatives, a benefit of $13.0

million was delivered in the financial year.
Costs and Expenses

Thé Company has had significant success in the
reducing controllable expenses with total” cash
fixed costs down 1.7% despite inflationary impacts.
In Manufacturing, savings have only been able to
partially —mitigate the increasing cost of
manufacturing inputs, particularly pulp, chemicals
and fuel oil. In Paper Merchanting, expense
reductions against prior period of 2.0% have been
a positive factor. Increases in North America were
incurred from increased commissions on the
increased sales and costs associated with the
opening of additional stores and sales offices.

Australasia

North America
Europe

Total Merchanting

s

Trading
Expenses
% Change vs prior

-9.6%
4.3%
1.9%
-2.0%
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Gearing - Net Debt/Net Debt + Equity

Net interest expense was $65.1 milion 50 '
compared with $68.5 million in the prior year. Target Range 40-50%
Average debt levels for the period were lower,

as a result of reduced working capital levels

and currency translations. 40

Net Interest Expense

Gearing of 36.0% remains below the
company’s target range of 40-50%.

30 4 .
Jun-04 Dec-04 Jun-05 Dec-05 Jun06
i

Taxation Expense

The tax charge on earnings was $21.9 million, consistent with the prior period, which resulted in an
effective tax rate of 25.0% compared with 19.6% in the prior year. The increase in the rate refiects
the shift in regional profit mix and the impact of not booking tax losses in Australia. :

Exceptional ltems :

There were no exceptional items in the current period compared with a $77 million benefit from
entering Australian Tax Consolidation recorded in the ;orresponding period.

. )
Earnings Per Share

Basic earnings per share were 14.7 cents per share compared to 20.1 cents per share in the previous
year excluding Australian Tax Consolidation benefits.

Q-“-l& 13 ‘-r:-‘& .
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PaperlinX Limited

STOCK EXCHANGE RELEASE ABN 70 005 146 350

307 Femtree Gully Road
Mt Waverley Victoria 3149

22 August 2006 : Australia
: Tel: +61 3 8540 2211

Fax: +61 3 8540 2255 -

PAPERLINX 2006 FINANCIAL RESULTS

PaperlinX today announced profit after tax for the year ended 30 June 2006 of
$65.4 million on revenue of $7.4 billion, well down on the prior year. The
underlying second half operating earnings for 2006 was above both the first half

of 2006 and the second half of 2005. Both years have been reported under’

AIFRS with 2005 results restated to match changes in the accounting rules. The
final dividend will be 4.5 cents per share and the Board has activated the dividend
re-investment plan. '

Commenting on the announcement today, PaperlinX CEO Tom Park said, “The
2006 results reflect a continuation of the challenging market conditions that have
been seen over the past three years and have continued into the new financial
year.

“In this difficult environment we are encouraged that the benefits of a number of
our restructuring and development programmes began to flow to earnings in the
second half of 2006. These programmes have involved investing capital and
current earnings to improve returns for shareholders if current conditions persist,
and to increase our leverage to any future improvements in the sector.”

“At the half year results we detailed a range of strategic initiatives expected to
deliver a sustainable net benefit to operating profit of over $100 million per annum
in 2009, building from a net benefit of over $35 million in 2007. " These
commitments are on track, underpinned in 2007 by the successful acquisition of

Cascades Merchanting (now called Spicers Canada) in. Canada, (already

exceeding our year three 15% return target), and the closure of the Shoalhaven
number 1 paper machine.”

“We have now added two new initiatives to our list; PaperlinX Office and an out-

sourced Maryvale Wood yard. Both. of these initiatives are expected to exceed

target returns, with one-off costs in 2007 of around $12 million.”

“Papérlinx will continue to focus on identifying opportunities to improve our

"existing businesses to counter the input cost increases and currency impacts that

were encountered in our manufacturing business over the past year and were
unable to be passed on through pricing. These cost pressures continue into this
financial year.” :

“Our solid operating cash flow of $260 million was supported by continued good
performance on reducing our working capital.”

“Our employees are to be commended for their commitment and enthusiasm to
realise the full potential from the unique PaperlinX business model during this
difficult stage in the paper cycle.”



L
7
<
n
-
L
14
0
<
L
Z

Summary of Result

H

Prof t after tax for the year ended 30 June 2006 was $65.4 million'

Second half underlying earnings (before strategic initiatives costs-and profit on
the sale of non-core assets) were higher than both the first half and prior
correspondmg period. . . :

One-off costs associated with restructuring, closures and acquisitions have
been largely funded internally from the sale of non-core assets and reductions
in underlying working capital. This is reflected in a solid $26Q0 million of
operating cash flow.

Though well below our targets, the current return on funds employed of 6.2%

maintains PaperlinX’s position in the top quartile of global paper companies, -

and is the result of the company’s unique market position, tight cost contro! in
the paper merchanting business and continued reduction in net working
capital (down $92 million versus the comparable June 2005 perlod excluding
currency impacts and acquisitions).

The Paper Merchanting business achieved earnings before interest and tax of
$190.4 million, down $3.7 million on the prior year, including a net $9.4 million
benefit from profit on asset sales over the cost of restructuring and other
charges. The decline in earnings was primarily due to lower average prices
and lower volumes in the UK, Netherlands and New Zealand markets. Overall
volumes were flat with the inclusion of the recently acquired Spicers Canada
for four months (already exceeding year 3 return target of 15%). Working

~ capital was reduced in all geographic regions, expenses were down 2%, and
. the business returned 11.5% on average funds employed (exceeding our cost

of capital) despite weak trading conditions. i
Earnings before interest and tax for Australian Paper were $(4.1) million
including net costs of $13.6 million coming from a combination of asset sales
and costs associated with strategic initiatives. Excluding one-off costs, the
profit of $8.5 million compared with a profit of $12.1 million in the prior year.
While this result continued to show the impact of depressed paper selling
prices and increased input costs, the trend in underlying earnings over the
past three halves shows a more stable base as management actions have
begun to mitigate these continuing negative impacts. ‘

Net debt to net debt plus eqUIty was 36.0%, which is in line W|th last year and

the Group’s target range of 40% to 50%. Interest cover was 2.3 times. Both of

these ratios are in compliance with debt covenants. i

Directors declared an unfranked final dividend of 4.5 centsf per share,
representing a 70%- payout ratio. The Board has activated the dividend
reinvestment plan for the final dividend. Details will be mailed to eligible
shareholders in Australia and New Zealand tcday. .

. .o |
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Business Improvement lnitiatives

Commenting further on the Group’s strategic initiatives, Mr Park said, “Structural
global oversupply is the key issue facing the paper industry, which, combined with
the weaker US dollar, has resulted in weak paper prices in markets other than the
US. The major factors impacting our manufacturing profits in Australia also
include the rising input costs that all industries are facing, and the unique input
cost of rising pulp prices that our industry faces. These factors continue to impact
earnings as we enter the new financial year.”

“We have responded to these pressures, and, when you include our strategic
diversification into paper merchanting, have established a unique platform that
allows us to outperform our sector peers. Qur returns are not where we intend
them to be, however, so we are continuing to aggressively pursue opportunltles
for improvement.”

“The strategic initiatives highlighted here leverage our global platform, improve
our customer offerings, and will lift returns to target levels given more balanced
market conditions. The sale of non core assets has been faster than we had
originally anticipated and this has largely offset the costs of a range of
restructuring and closure costs included in these results.”

PaperlinX stfategic initiatives include:

Cascades Merchanting acquisition (Canada): Completed March 2006; year 3 target return already .
' achieved (15%+)

- build economies of scale and realise synergies by growing Canadian merchanting platform.

Exit of Portuguese market: Completed
- exiting small poody performing paper merchanting husiness.

Shoalhaven Paper Machine 1 closure: - Completed on schedule in March 2006

- to improve overall operating efficiency by replacing unprofitable products made for the export
market at Maryvale with products that were previously manufactured on Shoalhaven Paper
Machine 1.

Upgrade of Maryvale Mill Paper Machine 1: Complete; uptake improving from slow start
- world class product quality to enhance our competitive position.
Maryvale pulp mill upgrade: On schedule, on budget

- to impl‘ove paper quality, reduce pulp production costs, 'replace 80,000 tonnes of imported
pulp and improve our environmental |mpact by upgrading the current pulp capacity and
bleach plant.

.

"‘Netherands Integration: . On plan, integration underway

- integration of paper merchanting businesses in the Netherlands to realise synergies - in
commercial print and packaging services.

The Delivery Co (UK): . First site op_erational as scheduled

- integralion of the individual logistics operations of UK paper merchants to oplimise customer
service, maximise efficiency and minimise the environmental impact of distribution activities.
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Eurcpean IT Platform: First implementation successful

- creation of a commoen IT platform t{o improve inventory and warehouse control in order to improve
working capital management, deliver a range of other synergy benefits and improve service to customers.

Strateqgic Supplier Alliances; Progressing as expecled

L
1
. I
- working with strategic suppliers to build competitiveness and grow volumes together.

!
New Strategic Initiatives: :
|

PaperlinX Office: Plans initiated July 06
- combining three Australian businesses which service the office products and stationery

market in Austraiia

Maryvale Mill Wood yard: ~ Conditional agreement reached i

- Qutsourced new wood yard facility for Maryvale Mill in Australia to further enhance the quality
and consistency of pulp to be produced at Maryvale's upgraded pulp facilities.

1
¥

+

t

For further information, please contact: ' '

Mr David Shirer

Executive General Manager - Corporate Affairs
PaperlinX Limited

Ph: +61 (3) 8540 2302

Editors Note:

'
PaperlinX is the world's leading fine paper merchant, with businesses in Australia, New Zealand,

Asia, North America, South Africa and Europe. Through its Australian Paper division, it is also the
only Australasian producer of high quality communication papers, and a major Australian producer

of high performance packaging and industrial papers. |

Forward locking Statements:

Certain statements in this release relate to the future, including forward looking statements relating to Papemn)( s financial
position and strategy. These forward looking statements involve known and unknown risks, uncertainties, assumptions and
other imporiant factors that could cause the actual results, performance or achievements of PaperinX to be materially
different from future results, performance or achievements expressed or implied by such statements. Neither PaperlinX
nor any other person gives any representation, assurance or guarantee that the occurrence of the events expressed or
implied in any forward looking statements in this document will actually occur and you are cautioned not to place undue
refiance on such forward looking statements . . '

Subject to any continuing obligations under applicable law or any relevant listing rules of the ASX, PaperiinX disctaims any
obligation or undertaking to disseminate any updates or revisions to any forward looking statements in this document to
reflect any change in expectations in relation thereto or any change in events, conditions or circumstances on which any
such statement is based.

e -l
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Final Results 2005 [ 2006

22 August 2006

Disclaimer | |

Forward looking Statements:

Certain statements in this release relate to the future, including forward looking statements
relating to PaperlinX's financial position and strategy. These forward looking statements
involve known and unknown risks, uncertainties, assumptions and other important factors
that could cause the actual results, performance or achievements of PaperlinX to be -
materially different from the future results, performance or achievements expressed or
implied by such statements. Neither PaperlinX nor any other person gives any
representation, assurance or guarantee that the occurrence of the events expressed or
implied in any forward looking statements in this document will actually occur and you are ;
cautioned not to place undue reliance on such forward looking statements. i

Subject to any continuing obligations under applicable law or any relevant listing rules of the
ASX, PaperlinX disclaims any obligation or undertaking to disseminate any updates or
revisions to any forward looking statements made in this presentation to reflect any change
in expectations in relation thereto or any change in events, condmons or circumstances on
which any such statement is based. :




Presentation Sequence

" Introduction and OverviewA |

PaperlinX 2006 Final Result

.

Paper Merchanting |

Paper Manufacturlng

- Summary and Outlook

. Questions and Answersv
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Overview

. Difficult market conditions and rising input costs continued
throughout 2006 in most markets |mpact|ng on Group earnings
overall .

+ Returns have been maintained in the top quartule of global paper
- companies as a result of strategic diversification, tight expense
management and reduced working capital versus prior period

- Key strategic initiatives highlighted at the interim are on track to
contribute over $35 million in incremental operating earnings in
2007 and over $100 mrlllon per annum in 2009. New initiatives
launched.

~« While the overall environment has remained difficult and
conditions have not eased at this stage, mdustry sentiment is
improving with capacity rationalisation and price rise
announcements in Europe the U.S. and Australia.

.
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Macro Economic Environment Challenging
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ncoated Woodfree Paper
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Results For Year Ended 30 June 2006

Reported profit of $65.4 million compare with $89.6 million (excluding
ATC) for the year ended 30 June 2005 reflecting a continuation of the
difficult macro environment facing the paper industry globally

EBIT of $152.4 million (down 15% on prior year) includes one-off gains on
sales of surplus assets mostly offsetting one-off restructuring and closure
costs

Second half underlying operating earnings stabilised versus first half and
prior period
Unable to pass through rising Australian Paper input costs in pricing
Merchant expenses were down 2% on prior year
Net working capital down $92 million (excluding éurrency impacts and
acquisitions) contributing to an operating cash flow of $260 miliion
A range of strategic initiatives are underway to improve returns off this
base:

_ Consistent with our core operating principles and strategic direction

— One-off restructuring costs largely covered by profit on non-core asset
sales (primarily property).

_—m—




Financial Summary

Sales Volume

Sales Révenue
-EBIT

Reported Earnings after Tax {excluding ATC) -

Reported Earnings after Tax (including ATC)
EBIT/Average funds employed A
Net Debt / Net Debt & Equity
Earnings per share {excluding ATC)
Eamingé per share (including ATC)

" Total dividends

' Dividend and Dividend Re-investment Plan

12 months to

12 months to

cps

Jun 2005 Jun 2006
‘000 4,290 4,248
tonnes
$m 7,574 7,413
$m’ 180.1 152.4
$m 89.6 65.4
$m 1666 . 65.4
% 6.7 6.2
% 35.9 36.0
cps 20.1 14.7
cps 37.3 14.7
255 10.0

» Final dividend for the year of 4.5¢ps, unfranked

- Brings total dividend to 10.0cps

- Dividend level consistent with target payout ratio of 70%

* Dividend Re-investment Plan implemented

- Available to all eligible Ausfralian and New Zeala_nd shareholders

- Priced at market, not undérwritten

- Full details being sent to eligible shareholders today.



Other Performance Measures

Improved safety record (LTIFR down 27%, MTIFR down 26%)

-

Environment
- FSC chain of custody certifications
- All paper mills retain iISO14001 environmental accreditation

- Shoalhaven and Maryvale mills achieve FCS chain of custody certification

Member of the FTSE4Good index -

Supplier awards

1",
. |pPaperinx] §
) |

Core Operating Principles

Our Core Operating Principles have provided guidance to improve our

competitiveness and position ourselves for improved returns going forward:

- Strengthen then build off existing business platforms
« Productivity to provide funds to improve sustainability and growth
+ Simplification

+ Actively prioritise activities based on value creation for our customers,
suppliers and for PaperlinX

» Fully leverage our global opportunities

+ Invest in our people and their skills

« Compliance is mandatory

» Results oriented teamwork/success as a team.

12
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Benefits from Strategic Initiatives

- Significant benefits to operating earnings from strategic initiatives
highlighted at the interim result |
- +$35 million in 2007
- +3$100 million in 2009
- These initiatives on track for expected benefits

- Two new strategic initiatives commenced , X
- PaperlinX Office _ »
- Maryvale woodyard outsourcing ‘
- Complements Maryvale pulp upgrade
+ Includes redundancies and redundant asset write-offs

- Net $12 million one-off costs from these in 2007 "~
- Returns above target levels. .

A
H

' 13
. [JpaperiinX] ]

Major Business Initiatives - Restructurings :

1
il

INITIATIVE STATUS
The Delivery Co (UK) 18t site operétional, roll-out on-plan
Netherlands integration Management appointed, packaging

integrated, on-plan
Closure of Shoalhaven PM1 Completed as planned

Exiting unsustainable markets Portugal exited

. .
i
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Major Business Initiatives - Investments |

INITIATIVE . STATUS
~ Cascades acquisition in Canada Complete, 15% ROFE achleved i
small divestments underway %
Europe_an IT platform -~ 1t implementation successful 11
' . i * (Ireland}), on-track s
Growth of own brands 8% growth in merchant brands I
. . T
Rebuild of Maryvale PM 1 _ .Complete; uptake improving from {E*
| - ' slow start _ b
Maryvale pulp mill upgrade ~ On-track / on-cost !
Strategic supplier alliances Alliances established; growth ;
' : _ targeted i
Expansion into complementary Sign and Display / Industrial ,
categones Packaglng growth ' jE
15,/
X
¥

- New Strategic Initiatives L !

Two new strategic prOJects have been initiated ($12 mllllon one-off costs in

|
. b
fiscal 2007) b
: : )
INITIATIVE , STATUS _ IMPACT |i
PaperlinX Office -  Management announced - Builds on strength of three ' N
: » Business plans initiated existing businesses supplying the |

Australian office products and
stationery markets -

Maryvale woodyard - In principle agreement Further enhance quality and i
outsourced -+ Subject to conditions consistency of pulp to be !
produced at upgraded pulp facility {

i

]

|
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Key Financial Measures

12 months 12 months

to Jun 2005  to Jun 006 |

Working Capital $m
EBITDA $m
Operating cash flow : - m
Net Interest cover . X
Net interest expense $m
EBIT / Average funds employed %

Capital Expenditure (excluding acquisitions} $m

Capital Expenditure (including acquisitions})  $m

Net tangible assets per share ' $

Net Debt / Net Debt & Equity %

. . 17 .
- |PaperinX] |

Net Working Capital — Currency Adjusted

1,223 1,277
293.0 257.1
273.4 259.8
26 2.3
68.5 65.1
6.7 6.2
86 101
131 202
2.40 2.49

359 36.0

$m
1,550 4

1,450

1,350

1,250 1

1,150

Dec-03

Jun-04 Dec-04 - Jun-05
--%--ExAcq

Trend

Dec-05

Net Waerking Capitai

'l

18 -
PaperlinX]
R .

Jun-06

'
1
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PaperlinX Gearing o

% Gearing - Net Debt/Net Debt i
0 '

%07 Target Range 40-50% - ' I
|

40

I
30. I l I l

Jun 04 Dec-04 Jun-05 Dec-05 Jun-06

Key Variances to EBIT
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Corporate and Other

12 months 12 months Change

Jun 05 Jun 08 %
Sales Revenue $m 101 g5 {6)
Earnings before Interest & Tax  $m (26.1) (33.9)

Underlying corporate costs were at a similar level to
prior period

Prior period one-off benefits were not repeated

tudor Group faced pressure from low priced imports,

with reduced pricing affecting margins. Second half
performance suffered a significant deterioration.

2 !
- JPaperinX] |

Paper Merchanting — Consolidated Resuit

000 mt

4000

3000 -

2000 -

1000 -

0..

12 months 12 months Change
Jun_ 05 Jun 06 %
Sales Volume : ‘000 tonnes 3,813 3.813 0
Sales Revenue $m 7‘,035 6,930 (1)
Earnings bef;:;re Interest & Tax $m 194.1 . 190.4 (2)
Return on Average Funds Employed % - 11.8 11.5
SALES VOLUME 3m EBIT
200
150 ~
100
50 -
12 mths to 12 mths to 0- 12 mths to 12 mths to

Jun ‘05 Jun ‘06 Jun ‘05 Jun ‘06
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Merchanting - Europe S

12 months 12 months Change
Jun 05 Jun 06 %
NW Europe 792 751 (5)
UK & Ireland 1,228 1,183 (Y]
Central &Southern Europe 494 505 2 '
Total Sales Volume ‘000 tonnes 2,534 2,458 (3)
Sales Revenue ~ €m 2,828 2,748 {3)
Earnings before Interest & Tax €m 77.7 745 (4)

+ European market remained challenging, with UK economy softer than in 2005

+ Lower volume primarily driven by slower UK retail spending, restructurings in France :
and Germany, as well as first quarter supply restrictions due to Finnish strike and '
impact of failed mill coated paper price increase in Q4 of fiscal 2005 ' ;

«  Stock to indent ratio improved (1 pt) and branded volumes lifted (+5.4%)

« EBIT includes €7m of net one off gains more than covering one-off costs associated
with various restructuring activities. o ¥

+ Total expenses down 1.9% driven by strong performance in operating expenses and
restructuring benefits

Working capital continued to reduce with improved performance on all measures

_m—[

Merchanting - North America -

12 months 12 months  Change
1 Jun 05 Jun 06 % '
Sales Volume ‘000 tonnes 416 509 22 '
Sales Revenue US$m T 662 849 28
Earnings before Interest & Tax USSm 21.7 296 . 36

- North American markets benefited from paper manufacturers
actions to reduce capacity with pnces higher, even in fairly modest .
market growth conditions ;

+ Converted and proprietary branded volumes were up 15% across
North America |

» Expenses contained (ex sales commission flow on)
+ Includes Spicers Canada for 4 months i
»  Underlying volume up 5%, sales revenue up 8% and EBITup 17% -

- Total earnings are up 35%, and up 120% over the past two years .
reflecting our leverage to the upside. .'

—_m—




Merchanting - North America continued

+ Coast Paper benefited from a range of internal o
management initiatives to be well ahead of the prior
period, with improved working capital and expenses

« Kelly Paper also had a strong rise in profit with improved
margins as this business continues to compliment the
strong Spicers Paper business in terms of market
penetration in the US

. Reduced working capital combined with improved
operating earnings resulted in a healthy improvement in
returns .

» Acquisition of Spicers Canada completed in March 2006. §
Returns already exceeding year 3 15% target with strong '
earnings performance and working capital reductions.

. 2 ‘i'
o . ' . : . . i

Merchanting — Australasia | ) !

12 months 12 meonths  Change g

‘ “Jun05  Jun0B % !
Sales Volume ‘000 tonnes 873 846  (3) N
Sales Revenue | A$m 1,288 1,231 () S
Eamings before Interest & Tax ~ A$m 31.1 27.0 (13) f
il

+ Following changes to management reporting lines, Australasia has
become a new reporting region including Merchanting in
Australia/New Zealand, Asia and Paper Trading

Qverail volumes were down 3% with lower volumes in New Zealand .
and Paper Trading. Prices across the region remained compentwe i
but stabilised in the second half ‘

« Expenses have been reduced in all businesses, with benefits from X
prior period restructurings N

Signlﬂcant progress was made on working capital, down 15%.

_m—
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Merchanting — Australasia continued

.+ Strong competition and currency relativities have resulted in average
selling prices in Australia belng down 0.5% on last year and down 4.7%
in New Zealand -

« Overall Australian volumes were flat on last year, but New Zealand 3
volumes were impacted by the competitive situation. The New Zealand |
market stabilised iate in the period

+ Asian demand was healthy through the whole period, although new
regional capacity dampened pricing

+ Overall volumes in Asia were up 11% on the back of good gains in
market share, and profits grew by 16%

« Supplies of paper for sale in Paper Trading were constrained by
Australian Paper’s focus on the Australian domestic market and output |
reductions when cash margins did not justify exports at mid year. g

27 1

Australian Papei' - Consolidated Result

12 months 12 months Change
Jun 05 Jun 06 %
Sales Votume 000 tonnes 840 817 (3 8
Sales Revenue ASm 943 916 3) 1
Underlying Eamings before Interest & Tax  AIm . 12.1 9.5 (21)
Net One-off Costs A$m 0.0 {13.6)
Reported Eamings before Interest & Tax A$m 12.1 (4.1)
Return on Average Funds Employed % 1.4 0.3 o
1000 20 b
800 - 15
600 - 10 4——
400 5 E
0 - : -5
12 mths to 12 mths to 12 mths to 12 mths to
Jun ‘05 Jun ‘06 Jun ‘05 Jun ‘06
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Australian Paper - Overall

+ Overall earnings have been under significant pressure due to lower
pricing and the inability to recover input cost increases over three years.
This remains the key issue for this business

» Operating earnings include a net one-off charge of $13.6 million for the
closure of the number 1 paper machine at the Shoalhaven Mill and
Maryvale PM1 commissioning costs offset by non-core asset sales.

» Second half underlying operating earnings stabilised

»  Overall volumes were 2.8% lower as export sales have been reduced
and production constrained where cash contributions were negative.
Domestic sales volumes were in line with last year while exports were i.
down 9% K

+  Commodity input costs (primarily oil, up 38%) have impacted earnings by -
$10.5 million ' !

« The pulp and bleach plant upgradé at Maryvale to improve paper quality,
reduce pulp costs and improve environment performance announced in
August 2005 is on track and on budget. Completion is expected in fiscal
2008. Returns on this project from the current higher level of pulp price
would be significantly higher than originally envisaged. y

29"
1
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Australian Paper — Overall continued

+ The number 1 paper machine at Shoalhaven Mill was
closed on schedule in March 2006

« Overall, Australian Paper will need some help from
external factors, in addition to the benefits from strategic
initiatives, to achieve acceptable returns

+ Price rises have been announced to begin to recover
increasing input costs to hold further margin deterioration.




Australian Paper - Communication Papers

12 months 12 months Change
Jun 05 . Jun 06 %
Sales Volume ' ‘000 tonnes 522 501 {4)
- Australia f New Zealand % 73 78
Sales Revenue $m 700 674 (4
Underlying Earnings before
Interest & Tax $m 21 4.3 105

» Paper selling prices in the Australian market remain under pressure (dowh 2% on
average), while input costs rose significantly. Average oil costs were up 38% on the
prior year.

»  Domeslic sales volumes were up 3% on the prior year largely due to improved sales.
P

of office papers. The key Reflex® brand of copy paper has launched a range of new
products including recycled grades. Total office papers sales were up 12%, with
market share growth.

+ The Shoalhaven and Maryvale Mills have received FSC chain of custody
environmental accreditation and will be producing FSC certified grades for the
Australian market. Other mills are progressing towards certification.

- Price rises have been recently announced of between 3% and 5% depending upon
the grade to begin to recover increased input costs.

_m_f

Australian Paper - Packaging Papers

12 months 12 months Change |
Jun 05 Jun 06 %
Sales Volume ‘000 tonnes 318 316 (1)
- Australia / New Zealand % 77 73
Sales Revenue - .. $m 243 242 0
Underlying‘Earnings before
Interest & Tax $m 100 . - 5.2 (46)

+ The Australian linerboard segment was lmpacted by lower demand
from key customers

+ The upgrade of the Maryvale Mill number 1 paper machine was
completed during the year with production meeting target
specifications

* High second half exports resulted from slower than expected domestic
uptake of sack and bag paper, though this position is improving

+ Export receipts continue to be depressed by the level of the Australian
dollar.

i
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2006 Final Result Summary

+ Net profit of $65.4 million reflects the impact of adverse trading
" conditions, with average selling prices lower in most areas, supply
imbalances remaining in a number of markets, a weak US dollar and
increased input costs impacting on manufacturing

+ Improvements in North America and Asia highlight the upside potential
when pricing stabilises or increases

* Healthy Merchanting ROAFE of 11.5% in historically weak markets
reflects reduced expenses (over 2%) and working capital reductions along
with integration benefits realised

« Strategic acquisitions and small bolt-ons continue to drive value in
merchanting

« Branded volume growth, 'improved stock/indent ratio, increased domestic
copy paper sales all improve mix i,

+ A growing list of strategic projects to improve competitiveness / .
productivity expected to generate sustainable operating earnings benefit = '

+ Restructuring costs funded by ahead of plan asset sales (warehouses)
Dividend reflects a 70% payout ratio, unfranked.

_m—.

Business Outibok - Overall

+ Challenging market conditions continue into the new financial year
- Input costs rising
- overall demand remains modest
- Industry overcapacity {CWF)

+ Continued expense and working capital reductions targeted

« Strong list of productivity/competitiveness projects generated,
resourced and on track, with more being added

- package of initiatives highlighted in February to generate incremental EBIT on track
»  +$35 million benefit in 2007
= +$100 million benefit in 2008

- = Maryvale woodyard and PaperlinX Office new strategic initiatives
»  $12 million in one-of costs in 2007
« Merchanting growth opportunities are being addressed to leverage the
existing global platform and build value

« Announced improvements to industry fundamentals (capacity) and the |
need to recover escalating input costs support announced pricing in f
UK/Europe

+ Focus remains on improved competitiveness, economic profit and b
shareholder returns through the cycle. '

_m—
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Appendices.

Industry Segments

EBIT

Jun 2006
SM

Jun 2005
sM

Sales
Jun 2006
M

Revenue
Jun 2005
M

Total Assets

Jun 2006
M

Jun 2005
SM

Paper Merchanting
Australasia 27.0 311 1,230 1,278 - 505 532
Europe 123.5 1338 4,555 4,867 2,187 2,140
North America 399 292 1145 890 569 382
Total Paper Merchanting 190.4 184.1 6,830 7,035 3,261 3,054
Communication Papers 9.4) 21 674 700 635 623
Patkaging Papers 53 100 242 242 ' 298 292
Total Australian Paper ! (4.1) 12.1 916 943 933 815
Corporate and Other ‘(33.9) {26.1) 95 101" 122 113
_Ope_rati_ng eamings before interest & 152.4 180.1
income tax a
Net Interest {65.1) {68.5)
Income Tax Expense {21.9} (21.9)
Outside Equity Interests 049 {0.1)
Inter-segment Sales 7 {528) (505)
Unallocated Assets 74 85
(deferred tax assets)
65.4 89.6” 7413 7,574 4,380 4,167

Total




Reconciliation of one-off items for 2006

June 2006 EBIT {A$mils) P

As Net Property Business Net EBIT ;
Reported Actions  Restructuring One-Offs  Underlying '
Paper Merchanting
Australasia 27.0 0.0 (1.6) {1.8) 28.6
Europe 123.5 17.7 (6.7} 11.0 112.5
North America 39.9 0.0 0.0 0.0 39.9 o
Total Paper Merchanting 190.4 7.7 (8.3) 9.4 181.0 ‘
Communication Papers (9.4) 1.5 {15.2) {13.7) 43
Packaging Papers 5.3 2.0 (1.9) 0.1 52 I
Total Australian Paper 4.1 35 {(17.1) {13.6) 9.5 -
Corporate & Other {33.9) 0.0 0.0 0.0 (33.9)
Total PaperlinX 152.4 21.2 (25.4) 4.2) 156.6 | .

Australian International Financial Reporting -
Standards (AIFRS)

 Key changes from 2005 Annual Report ‘

EBIT PAT (incl ATC}
Audit FYQ5 Annual Audit FY05 Annual .
Adjustment Report Est Adjustment Report Est o
30 June 2005 under AGAAP o 184.9 184.9 168.6 168.6
« Defined benefit plans (1.0} (0.7) (1.1) (0.3) :
» Share based payments (2.3} (2.3) (2.3) . ‘ {2.3) il"
* Reserve for own shares (1.0} (1.0} (0.7) (0.7) P
* Impairment of non-current assets (12.4) (16.7) (8.7) (11.7} "
+ Income tax . - (0.4} (0.3) “
= Trade discounts and rebates 0.2 - 0.2 - ‘
+ Non-amortisation of goodwill 20.1 201 201 201
» Nan-depreciation of non-current assets : ‘.
impaired as at 1 July 2004 : 2.2 10.2 1.6 ~ 71 B
+ Disposal of foreign denominated
subsidiary .n (1.7) (1.7) (1.7 '
« Business combinations (8.9) (8.8) (8.9) ' (8.8) -
20 June 2005 under AIFRS 180.1 184.0 166.6 170.0 :




. - - -
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This document is not a prospectus. It has been prepared solely for the purpose of
information and does not constitute, nor is it intended to constitute, an offer or
invitation to any person to buy or sell shares in PaperlinX Ltd. PaperfinX Ltd and its
related entities and each of their respective directors, officers and agents (all,

‘PaperlinX’) have prepared the information contained in this document in good faith -
and. have attempted to ensure that it is accurate at the time of preparation.

However, no warranty is made as to the accuracy or reliability of any statements,
estimates or opinions or other information contained in this document (any of which
may change without notice) and, to the maximum extent permitted by law,
PaperlinX disclaims all liability and responsibility for any direct or indirect loss or
damage which may. be suffered by any recipient through relying on anything
contained in or omitted from this document. »

Paperlihx strongly advises any reader to make their own enquiries and to seek

independent professional advice before making.any investment decisions.

PaperlinX Limited - 307 Ferntree Gully Rd, Mt Waverley, Victoria 3149, Australia - ABN 70 005 146 350
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PaperlinX Limited
ACN 005 146 3507

307 Ferntree Gully Road, Mt .Wa;f‘erley

Victoria 3149 Australia

' ' Tel: +61 3 8540 2264

Fax: +61 3 85402291

25 August 2006

Company Announcements Office
Australian Stock Exchange Limited

Level 4, 20 Bridge Street

SYDNEY NSW 2000

Dear Sir / Madam,

- Dividend Réinvestment Plan Rules

Attached are the PaperiinX Ltd Dividend Reinvestment Plan Rules (‘DRP Rules’).

Yours faithfully, |

James Orr
Company Secretary

" .Encl. DRP Rules
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PaperlinX Limited

ACN 005 146 350

‘Dividend Reinvestment Plan

Rules



PAPERLINX LIMITED
DIVIDEND REINVESTMENT PLAN RULES

Definitions

In these Rules, unless the context otherwise requires:

" Board means the board of directors of the Company.

Company means PaperlinX Limited (ACN 005 146 350).

DRP means the Dividend Reinvestment Plan hereby established as varied from
time to time.

Issue Price means the price at which Shares will be allotted or acquired under
the DRP as calculated in accordance with Clause 5.

Holding means a reqgistered holding of Shares in respect of a Shareholder.
Notice of Election has the meaning given to it in Clause 3.1,

Notice of Variation means a notice to increase or decrease the number of a
Participant’'s Plan Shares, or to terminate participation in the DRP, in the form
that the Board from time to time approves.

Participant means a Shareholder some or all of whose Shares are participating
in the DRP.

Pian Shares means the Shares comprised in a particular Holding which are
designated (subject to these Rules} by a Participant as Shares the dividend on
which is to be applied in subscribing for Shares under the DRP,

Record Date is as defined in the Australian Stock Exchange Limited Listing

Rules.

Rufes means the rules of the DRP as varied from time to time.
Shares means ordinary shares in the capital of the Company.

Shareholder means a registered holder of Shares within the meaning of the
Constitution of the Company.

Participation in the DRP

2.1
22

2.3

2.4

2.5

Participation in the DRP is subject to these Rules.

Participation is optional and open to each Shareholder unless excluded under
these Rules.

A Shareholder who is subject to the laws of a country or place other than
Australia may not participate in the DRP until the Board, in its absolute discretion,
is satisfied that such participation will not constitute a breach of the laws of that
country or place, whether or not that Shareholder has received an invitation to
participate or completed a Notice of Election.

The Board may on any cccasion determing that the right to participate in the DRP
shall not be available to a Shareholder having a registered address or being
resident in a country or place where, in the absence of a prospectus, registration
statement or other prerequisite, the offer of a right of election, or parhcnpatlon
would or might be untawful.

The Board may, in its discretion, refuse to permit any Shareholder to participate
in the DRP where that Shareholder elects to participate in respect of:



(a) a number of Shares which is less than 100 or such other number as the
Board may determine; or

(b) partly paid Shares.

Application to participate

3.2

Application to participate in the DRP is to be made on the form prescribed by the
Board from time to time {Notice of Election). Upon receipt by the Company of a
duly completed and executed Notice of Election, participation will, subject to
Clause 3.2, commence from the next Record Date for determining entitlements
for dividends.

The Board may in its absolute discretion accept or refuse any Notice of Election
or discontinue participation of a Participant at any time where the Board
determines that acceptance of the Notice of Election, or the continued
participation by a Participant, may prejudice the effective operation of the DRP or
otherwise be contrary to the laws of any country.

Degree of participation

4.2

43

4.4

4.5

Participation in the DRP may be either full or partial, and a Shareholder must
(subject to Clause 4.4) specify in the Notice of Election the degree to which the
Shareholder wishes to participate in the DRP.

Under full participation, all Shares registered in the Participant’'s name from time
to time, including Shares issued pursuant to the DRP, will be subject to the DRP.

Under partial participation, only that number of Shares as specified in the Notice
of Election by the Shareholder will be subject to the DRP. However, if at the
relevant Record Date the number of Shares held by the Participant is less than
the specified number of Shares, then the provisions of the DRP in respect of that
dividend payment will apply to the lesser number of Shares. Where a
Shareholder is a partial Participant, all Shares subsequently acquired by the
Shareholder, whether under the DRP or otherwise, will only participate in the
DRP to the extent that the Shareholder alters the patticipation level in accordance
with Clause 10.

If a Notice of Election does not indicate the level of participation in the DRP, it will
be deemed to be an application for full participation.

If a Notice of Election purports to nominate a Holding for both full DRP
participation and partiat DRP participation at the same time, the Notice of Election
will be invalid and of no effect whatscever.

Operation of the DRP

5.2

Each dividend which is payable to a Participant in respect of Plan Shares and
which is available for payment to the Participant will be applied by the Company
on the Participant's behalf in subscribing for or acquiring fully paid Shares.

The Company will establish and maintain a DRP account for each Participant.
The Company will in respect of each dividend payable to a Participant:

{a) determine the amount of the dividend payable in respect of the Plan
Shares;’

(b) determine the withholding tax (if any) deductible by the Company in
respect of the dividend payable on the Plan Shares, and any other sum
the Company is entitled to retain in respect of the Plan Shares;




53

54

{c} credit the amount in Clause 5.2(a) and debit any amount in Clause 5.2(b}
to the Participant's DRP account;

{d) determine the maximum whole number of additional fully paid Shares
which may be acquired under the DRP at the Issue Price by using the
amount in the Participant’'s DRP account;

(e) on behalf and in the name of the Participant, subscribe for or cause the
transfer of that number of additional Shares and debit the Participant's
DRP account with the total of the subscription price or the acquisition
amount (as the case may be) for the additional Shares;

[} allot or transfer the additional Shares to the Participant, and add the
number of Shares allotted or transferred to the total number of Shares
comprised in the relevant Holding; and

(g} retain in the Participant’s DRP account without interest, any cash
balance remaining.

The Shares will be aflotted or transferred under the DRP at the Issue Price which
will be the volume weighted average price of all fully paid Shares sold on the
Australian Stock Exchange Limited automated trading system during the five
trading days beginning on the first day of ex-dividend trading in respect of the
relevant dividend, less any discount {not exceeding'10%) determined by the
Board from time to time.

The volume weighted average price referred to above will be calculated by the
Board, or another suitable person nominated by the Board, by reference to
information the Board approves from time to time. The determination by the
Board or some other person nominated by the Board of the Issue Price will be
binding on all Participants.

Shares allotted or transferred under the DRP

6.2
6.3

6.4

6.5

The Board in its absolute discretion will determine, with respect to the operation

‘of the DRP for any dividend, whether to issue new Shares or to cause the

transfer of Shares to a Participant, or to apply a combination of both, to satisfy the
obligations of the Company under these Rules.

if the Board determines to cause the transfer of Shares to Participants, the
Shares may be acquired in the market in such manner as the Board considers
appropriate.

Shares allotted under the DRP will be allotted in accordance with the Australian
Stock Exchange Limited Listing Rules and, from the date of aliotment, will rank
equally in all respects with existing fully paid Shares.

Shares allotted or transferred under the DRP will be allotted or transferred on, or
as soon as practicable after, the relevant dividend payment date and will be
registered on the register where the Participant’s holding of Shares is currently
registered. If the Participant halds Shares on more than one register (one of
which is the Company’s principal share register), the Shares aliotted under the
DRP will be registered on the principal share register unless and until the
Participant requests otherwise. '

To the extent that a Participant holds shares in certificated form, a share
certificate will be issued for the total number of Shares allotted or transferred
under the DRP in respect of each dividend on those Shares. To the extent that a
Participant holds Shares in uncertificated form, a statement showing the total
number of Shares allotted or acquired in respect of each dividend on those
Shares will be issued. The certificate or statement will be forwarded to
Participants as soon as practicable after allotment or acquisition.

vy
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DRP statements

On, or as soon as practicable after, each dividend payment date, the Company
will send to each Participant a statement setting out:

(@) the number of the Participant’s Plan Shares as at the relevant Record

Date;

{b) the amount of dividend payable to the Participant (less any amounts
referred to in Clause 5.2(b)) in respect of the Participant’s Plan Shares;

(c) the amount in the Participant’s DRP account immediately pnor to the
payment of the relevant dividend;

(d) the number of Shares allotted or transferred to the Participant under the
Rules;

{e) ~ the cash balance (if any) retained in the Participant’s DRP account after
deduction of the amount payable on subscription for the additional
Shares; and .

(f) the number of Shares comprised in the Holding after the allotment or
transfer.

Stock exchange listing

The Company will apply for Shares which are allotted under the DRP to be listed

for quotation on the official lists of the Australian Stock Exchange Limited as soon

as practicable after the date of allotment.

Costs to Participants

10.

No brokerage, commission or other transaction costs will be payable by

- Participants in respect of Shares allotted or transferred under the DRP and no

stamp duty or other duties will be payable under present law in respect of Shares
allotted or transferred under the DRP.

Variation or termination of participation

101

10.2

10.3

Subject to Clause 13, a Participant may at any time give a Notice of Vanahon to
the Company:

(a) increasing or decreasing the number of Shares participating in the DRP;
or '

(b} terminating participation in the DRP.
The alteration or termination takes effect from the next Record Date.

If a Participant increases the level of participation in the DRP to full participation,
all of the Participant's Shares as at the date of the Notice of Variation and all
Shares subsequently acquired by the Participant (including Shares allotted or
transferred under the DRP) will participate in the DRP.

If a Participant increases or decreases the level of participation in the DRP to
below full participation, enly that number of Shares specified in the Notice of
Variation will participate in the DRP and no Shares subsequently acquired by the
Participant (including Shares allotted or transferred under the DRP) will
participate in the DRP.



10.4

10.5

11.

If a Participant dies, participation in the DRP will be terminated upon receipt by
the Company of written notice of the death. If a Participant is declared bankrupt
or is wound up, participation in the DRP will be terminated upon receipt by the
Company of a notification of bankruptcy or winding up from the Parlicipant or the
Participant’s trustee in bankruptcy or liquidator, as the case may be. The death,
bankruptcy or winding up of one or more joint helders will not automatically
terminate participation.

Upon termination of participation for whatever reason, a Participant will be taken
to have directed the Company to donate the cash balance (if any) shown in the
Participant’s DRP account as at the date of termination, to a charity or charities
selected by the Board from time to time.

Reduction or termination of participation where no notice is
given

11.2

11.3

12.

Where all of a Participant’s Shares are subject lo the DRP and the Participant
disposes of part of those Shares then, unless the Participant advises the
Company otherwise, the remaining Shares held by the Participant will continue to
participate in the DRP.

Where some of a Participant’s Shares are subject to the DRP and the Participant
disposes of part of that shareholding, then unless the Participant advises the
Company otherwise, the Shares disposed of will be deemed to be Shares other
than Plan Shares. If the number of Shares disposed of is more than the number
of the Plan Shares the disposal will be deemed to inciude all the Participant's
shareholding not participating in the DRP, and the balance will be attributed to
Plan Shares.

Where a Participant disposes of all Shares without giving the Company notice of
termination of participation, the Participant will be deemed to have terminated
participation in the DRP on the date the Company registered a transfer or
instrument of disposal of the Participant's holding.

Variation, suspension and termination

12.1

122

12.3

The DRP may be varied, suspended or terminated by the Board at any time. The
variation, suspension or termination will take effect upon the date specified by the
Board. The Board may give written notice of any such variation, suspension or
termination as it considers appropriate. A variation, suspension or termination of
the DRP will not be invalidated by the accidental omission to give notice of the
variation, suspension or termination t0 a Shareholder and will not give rise to any
liability on the part of, or right or action against, the Board or the Company.

Any suspension of the DRP will continue until such-time as the Board resolves
either to recommence or terminate the DRP. If the DRP is recommenced then
elections as to participation in respect of the previously suspended DRP will be
valid and have full force and effect in accordance with these Rules for the
purposes of the recommenced DRP,

In the event of termination, a Participant will be taken to have directed the
Company to donate the cash balance (if any) shown in the Participant's DRP
account as at the date of termination, to a charity or charities selected by the
Board from time to time.




13.

Application and notices

1341

132

14.

Applications and notices to the Company must be in writing and in such form
prescribed by the Board from time to time {or in such other form as the Board
may accept). - ;

The applications and notices will be effective upon receipt by the Company
subject to:

(a) these Rules;

(b) . inthe case of applications to participate, acceptance by the Company;
and

{c} receipt by the Company before the relevant Record Date for determining
entittements to dividends.

Applications or notices received after the relevant Record Date will not be
effective in respect of that dividend payment but will be effective from the next
relevant Record Date.

General

14.1

142

14.3

144

14.5

146

The DRP will commence on the date determined by the Board.

Each Holding which a Shareholder has from time to time will be regarded as
separate for the purposes of the DRP and the DRP will operate as if each such
Holding were held by a separate person, unless the Board determines otherwise.
Consequently, a separate Notice of Election must be delivered to the Company in
relation to each Holding which & Shareholder wishes to nominate for full or partial
DRP participation, and the Shareholder will be treated as a separate Participant
in respect of each Holding nominated for participation (and a reference to Shares
held or acquired by a Shareholder or Participant is a reference to Shares held or
acquired in respect or on account of the relevant Holding).

Any dividend payable on Shares which a Participant has nominated as
participating in the DRP and which dividend the Company is entitled to retain as a
result of a charge in favour of the Company in accordance with the Constitution of
the Company or other requirement of law, will not be available for the purpose of
participating in the DRP.

These Rules will be binding upon each person who is or becomes a member of
the Company. ‘

Subject to the Constitution of the Company, the Board may implement the DRP in
the manner as the Board thinks fit, and may settle any difficulty which may arise
either generally or in a particular case in connection with the DRP as the Board
thinks fit. Without prejudice to the general powers of the Board under the
Constitution and these Rules, the Board may settle in the manner as the Board
thinks fit any difficulty, anomaly or dispute which may arise in connection with, or
by reason of, the operation of the DRP, whether generally or in relation to any
Shareholder or Holding or any Share or Shares and the determination of the
Board will be conclusive and binding on all Shareholders and other persons to
whom the determination relates.

The DRP, its operation and these Rules will be governed by and construed in
accordance with the laws of the State of Victoria, Australia.-
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PaperlinX Limited

ACN 005 146 350

307 Ferntree Gully Road, Mt Waverrey
Victoria 3149 Australia .
Tel: +61 3'8540 2264
Fax: +61 3 8540 2261

25 August 2006

Company Announcements Office
Australian Stock Exchange Limited - Y
Level 4, 20 Bridge Street
SYDNEY NSW 2000

Dear Sir / Madam,

Revised ASX Appendix 4E
Dividend Reinvestment Plan

An amended Appendix 4E is attached. This includes reference to the Dividend ;'
Reinvestment Plan which was inadvertently omitted from page 16. o

;1téms . - _"__;\ " Answers prowded on22 . [ Rewsed Answers- ]
L e .,.;'.-‘August 2006 lodgement: " -~ - : N
The dw:dend or dlstnbutlon N/A D|V|dend Relnvestment ‘
plans shown below are in Plan (‘DRP’)

operation '

The last date(s) for recelpt of N/A 21 September 2006

election notices for the J
dividend or distribution plans |

There are no other changes to the Appendix 4E which was lodged on 22 August 2006.

Thank you.
Yours faithfully,

James Orr
Company Secretary

Encl. Revised Appendix 4E




Preliminary Final Report

Appendix 4E

Appendix 4E
Preliminary Final Report

Introduced 1/1/2003

Name of entity

Rules 4.3 A

PAPERLINX LIMITED

ABN Half yearly

Preliminary
(tick) final (tick}

Half yearffinancial year ended {'current

period’)

70 005 146 350 v

30 June 2006

Results for announcement to the market
Extracts from this reporl for announcement fo the market {(see note 1).

ASM

Revenue (itern 1.1)

Net profit for the period excluding Australian Tax
Consolidation attributable to holders of the parent
(item 1.18) .

Net profit {loss) for the period attributable to
holders of the parent (item 1.13)

down 2.5%

down ' 27.0%

to 7,392.3

to 65.4

down 60.7% to 65.4

Dividends (distributions)

Amount per
security

Franked amount
per security

Fina) dividend (Preliminary final report only - item
15.4} ) .
This dividend was declared at the date of this report.

This dividend has not been provided for in the
accounts as at 30 June 2006.

Interim dividend (Half yeary report only - item 15.6)

4.5¢

Nil

Previous corresponding period (Prefiminary final
report - item 15.5; half yearly report - item 15.7)

12.0¢

Nil

*Record date for determining entitlements to the
dividend, (in the case of a trust, distribution) (see
item 15.2)

22 September 2006

Brief explanation of any of the figures reported above (see Note 1) and short details of any bonus
or cash issue or other item(s} of importance not previously released to the market:

Refer attached news release.

If this is a half yearly repoft it is to be read in conjunction with the most recent annual

financial report.

+ See chapter 19 for defined terms.

30/06/06

Appendix 4E Page |




APppendix 41.

Preliminal‘_'y Final Report

Condensed consolidated statement of financial perfermance

..

Current period — Previous .
ASM qorrespondmg
period - ASM
1.1 Revenue (itemms 1.22 - 1.24} 7,3923 1] 7.582.9
1.2 Other Income (items 1.25 — 1.30) 273, 486
1.3 Expenses (items 1.31 — 1.36) (7,267.6) | {7.405.1)
14 Profit (loss} before net financing costs 152.0 ’ 182.4
1.5 Financial income (items 1.37 — 1.39) 7.3 43
1.6 Financial expenses (items 1.40 - 1.43) (73.1) (75.1)
1.7~ Netfinance costs (65.8) ' (70.8)
1.8 Profit (loss) before tax 86.2 111.6
|
1.9 Tax benefit/(expense) 215) | ! 55.1
Profit (loss) after tax but before profit and '
110 |oss of discontinuing operations 64.7 166.7
Profit {loss) of discontinuing operations, net of
1.1t
tax 0.7 -
1.12  Profit for the year 65.4 166.7
Attributable to
1.13  Equity holders of the parent 65.4 166.6
1.14  Minorily interests - 0.1
654 | 166.7
1.15  Profit for the year 654 | 166.7
1.16  Australian Tax Consclidation adjustment - (77.0)
1.17  Profit for the year excluding Australian Tax 65.4 89.7
Consolidation
1.18 Attributable to
Equity holders of the parent 65.4 89.6
1.19  Minority interests - 0.1
65.4 89.7
. . Previous
Earnings per security (EPS) Current period corresponding
period
1.20 Basic EPS from continuing operations 14.5 37.3
1.21 Diluted EPS from continuing operations - 143 37.1

+ See chapter 19 for defined terms.

30/06/06
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Appendix 4E

Preliminary Final Report

Current Period — ASM Previous
Corresponding Period
ASM
REVENUES AND EXPENSES
Revenue
1.22  Sales of goods 7,383.2 7.574.1
Rendering of services:
1.23  Commissions 9.1 8.8
1.24  Total revenue 7,392.3 7.,582.9
Other income
1.25 Insurance proceeds - 0.1
- 126 Rent 20 1.2
1.27 Other 0.1 -
1.28 Dividends received 0.8 0.3
1.29  Net profit on disposal of non-current assets (1) 244 3.0
*1.30 Total other income 27.3 4.6

M

Included in the amount in the current year is $16.3 million {(2005: $Nil million) in relation to
profits arising on the disposal of properties under commercial sale and-lease back
arrangements. In accordance with the on-going review of the owned properties, it is expected
that further commercial sale and lease back arrangements may be undertaken in the future.

+ See chapter 19 for defined terms.

30/06/06

Appendix 4E Page 3 '



appenaix grn

Prelimina'ry Final Report

L

Curmrent Period — ASM ; Previous
Corresponding Period
ASM
Expenses |
1.31  Costof sales 6,027.7 ‘ 6,101.5
1.32  Distribution and warehousing 424.4 i 423.2
1.33  Sales and marketing 348.4 380.5
1.34  General and administration 464.9 : 496.4
1.35 Research and development 22 ! 35
1.36 Total expenses 7,267.6 7.405.1
Net financing costs J
Financial income: '
1.37 Interest income 5.8 4.1
1.38 Net foreign exchange gains 1.5 0.2
1.39 Total financial income 7.3 ' 43
Financial expenses: i
1.40‘ Interest expense (71.0) ‘ (72.6)
1.41 Less capitalised interest 0.3 -
1.42 QOther borrowing costs (2;4) (2.5)
1.43 Total financial expenses (73.1) * (75.1)
1.44 Total net financing costs (65.8) l (70.8)
:
Net interest expense: '
1.45 Interest income 5.8 ; 41
1.46 Interest expense (70.7) (72.6)
1.47 Total net interest expense {64.9) (68.5)

+ Sec chapter 19 for defined terms.
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Current Period - ASm Previous Correspc;;c::gg i
A Afm
* Profit before tax )
1.48  Revenue:
- Continuing operations 7,383.2 7.574.1
» Discontinuing cperations 29.5 -
7.412.7 7.574.1 !
1.49 Profit before depreciation, amortisation, net -
interest and tax:
= Continuing operations ' 255.8 ‘ 293.0 I
« Discontinuing operations ' 13 - .
257.1 293.0 B
1.50 Depreciation and amortisation:
+ Continuing operations : | (104.7) {(112.9) '
» Discontinuing operations . . - - i
(104.7) (112.9) |
151  Profit before net interest and tax:
« Continuing operations - 151.1 180.1 ‘
« Discontinuing operations 1.3 - '
' 152.4 ' 180.1 -
152  Netinterest:
« Continuing operations (64.9) (68.5) '
» Discontinuing operations (0.2) - '
{65.1) {68.5) g
1.53  Profit before income tax: . . '
« Continuing operations 86.2 o 111.6 :
« Discontinuing operations 1.1 - g
87.3 111.6 |'
1.54 Tax: ‘ ! I
« Continuing operations . (215) 55.1, ‘
» Discontinuing operations {0.4) - l!
(21.9) 55.1 .
1.65 Profit for the year: E
+ Continuing operations 64.7 166.7
« Discontinuing operations 0.7 - .
65.4 166.7 ‘ |
:' [
+ See chapter 19 flor defined terms. .
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Consolidated retained profits Current period - ASM | Previous corresponding
- period ASM

Retained profits (accumulated losses) at (58.1) (70.4)

1.56 the beginning of the financial period

1.57 Net profit (loss) attributable to holders of 65.4 166.6
the parent (item 1.13) '

1.58 Net transfers from (to} reserves {details if - -
material) '

1.58 Employee share options and rights 2.9 ' 23

1.60 Adjustment to comply with AASB 139 (0.3) ; -
(Financial Instruments: Recognition and
Measurement) :

1.61 Dividends paid (78.1) (122.7)

1.62 Actuarial gains/ (losses) on defined 30.0 {33.9)
benefit plans

1.63 Retained profits (accumulated losses) (38.2) ' (58.1)
at end of financial period

+ See chapter 19 for defined temms.
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Intangible and extracrdinary items

Consolidated — current period

Before tax Related tax Related Amount (after
ASM ASM outside tax)
*equity attributable to
interests members
(@) ) | ASM ASM
{d)
(c)
2.1 Amortisation of computer - - -
software
2.2  Amortisation of brand
names
2.3 Amortisation of cther ) i ‘ ) )
intangibles
2.4 Total amortisation of - - - 1
intangibles
2.5 Extraordinary items - - ' - . -
(details)
2.6 Total extraordinary - - - - -

items

There was no amortisation of goodwill in the previous corresponding period.

Current year — ASM | Previous year — ASM

Comparison of half year profits
{Prefiminary final report only)

Consolidated profit (loss) after tax 35.3 132.5

attributable to holders of the parent
reported for the 7st half year (item 1.16 In
the half yearly report)

3.1

30.1 34.1

3.2 ., Consolidated profit {loss) after tax
attributable to holders of the parent for the

2nd half year

166.6

Total for year 65.4

+ Sce chapter 19 for defined terms.
t
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Condensed consolidated balance sheetd Atend of As shown in As in last half
current last annual yearly report
period A$M report ASM ASM
Current assets
4.1 Cash and cash equivalents 455.1 4291 289.0
4.2 Trade and other receivables 1,541.8 1,433.2 1,489.8
4.3 Inventories 8641 811.7 814.9
4.4 Assets classified as held for sale 19.6 - -
4.5 Total current assets 2,880.6 2,674.0 2,593.7
Non-current assets
4.6 Receivables 8.9 54 5.1
4.7 Investments 14.1 13.3 13.5
4.8 Property, plant and equipment 990.8 985.2 977.0
49 Intangibie assets 421.6 403.7 405.7
4.10 Deferred tax assets 74.4 85.2 83.4
4,11 Total non-current assets 1,509.8 1,492.8 1,484.7
412 Total assets 4,3904 4,166.8 4,078.4
Current liabilities
413  Trade and other payables 1,172.9 10419 | $58.8
4.14  Interest bearing loans and borrowings 2217 266.6 | 266.2
415  Income tax payable 9.6 3.8 6.4
416  Employee benefils 41.4 409 | 42.6
417 Provisions 13.8 19.8 17.3
4.18 Liabilities classified as held for sale 0.9 - -
419  Total current liabilities 1,460.3 1,373.0 1,291.3
Non-current liabilities
4.20 Payables 93.1 119.8 120.0
4.21 Interest bearing liabilities 1,136.7 1,036.0 1,039.9
4.22 Deferred tax liabilities 434 334 19.4
4.23 Employee benefits 37.3 389 392
4.24 Provisions 10.9 3.2 4.5
4.25  Total non-current liabilities 1,321.4 1,231.1 1,223.0
4.26  Total liabilities 2,781.7 2,604.1 2,514.3
427  Net assets 1,608.7 1,562.7 1,564.1

+ Sce chapter 19 for defined terms.
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Condensed consolidated balance’ Atend of As shown in As in last half
sheets(cont) current last annual yearly report
pericd ASM report ASM AfM
_ Equity
428 Issued capital 1,691.9 1,691.5 1,691.7
429 Reserves (45.0) (r1.7) (66.9)
4.30 Retained profits (accumulated (38.2) (58.1) (60.8)
losses)
4,31  Equity attributable to holders of
the parent entity 1,608.7 1,561.7 1,564.0
432  Minority interests - 1.0 0.1
433 Total equity 1,608.7 1,562.7 1,564.1
4,34  Preference capital included as parl - - -
of 4.37

+ See chapter 19 for defined terms.
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Exploration and evaluation expenditure capitalised
(To be completed only by entities with mining interests if amounts are material. Include all expenditure

incurred.)

Current period ASM | Previous
carresponding
period — ASM

5.1  Opening balance N/A _ N/A
| 5.2  Expenditure incurred during current period N/A N/A
| 5.3  Expenditure written off during current N/A N/A
period
5.4  Acquisitions, disposals, revaluation
| increments, etc. NIA N/A
5.5 Expenditure transferred to Development '
Properties N/A ' N/A
5.6 Closing balance -
9 N/A N/A

Development properties '
(To be completed only by entities with mining interests if amounts are material)

Current period ASM | Previous
corresponding
period - A$M

6.1  Opening balance N/A N/A
6.2 Expenditure incurred during current period N/A N/A
6.3 Expendlture- transferred from exploration N/A N/A
and evaluation
6.4 Expenditure written off during current
period N/A | N/A
6.5 Acquisitions, disposals, revaluation
increments, etc. N/A N/A
6.6 Expenditure transferred toc mine properties _ N/A N/A
6.7 Closing balance N/A , N/A
i
+ See chapter 19 for defined terms.
30/06/06 . * Appendix 4E Page 10
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Appendix 4E

Condensed consolidated statement of cash flows

Current period A3M | Previous
corresponding
period — ASM

Cash flows related to operating activities
74 Receipts from customers 7.431.7 7.641.6
7.2 Payments to suppliers and employees {7,113.9) (7,271.8)
7.3 Dividends received 0.8 03
7.4 Interest received 5.7 4.4
7.5 interest paid (69.6) (74.3)
7.6 Income taxes paid (6.1) (36.9)
7.7 Other (provide details if material) 11.2 10.1
7.8 Net operating cash flows 259.8 273.4
Cash flows related to investing activities )
7.9 Loans (advanced to)/repaid by other entities (0.9) 0.9
7.10 Acquisition of property, plant and equipment (101.4) {86.3)
and intangibles :
7.11 Acquisition of subsidiaries and businesses {100.9) (44.6)
7.12 Proceeds on disposal of property, plant and 51.1 29.5
equipment
7.13 Net investing cash flows 7 {152.1) {100.5)
Cash flows related to financing activities
7.14 Dividends paid . (77.8) (122.3)
7.15 Proceeds from issues of shares - 04
7.16 Loans {repaid to)/received from other 0.2 (3.1)
persons
717 Proceeds from borrowings 1,156.0 669.2
7.18 Repayment of borrowings (1,171.3) (711.3)
719 Principal lease repayments - (0.1)
7.20 Net financing cash flows (92.9) (167.2)
7.21 Net increase {decrease) in cash held 14.8 5.7
7.22 Cash at beginning of period 4278 4450
(see Reconciliation of cash)
7.23 Exchange rate adjustments to item 7.24 11.3 (22.9)
7.24 Cash at end of period 453.9 427.8

(see Reconciliation of cash)

+ See chapter 19 for defined terms.
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Non-cash financing and investing activities

i

Details of financing and investing transactions which have had a malerial effect on consolidat;ed assets and
liabilities but did not involve cash flows are as follows. ( If an amount is quantified, show comparative

amoumt.)
’ NIA
" Reconciliation of cash '
Reconciliation of cash at the end of the period Current period ASM Previous
{(as shown in the consolidated statement of cash correspanding
flows) to the related items in the accounts is as Period — ASM
follows,
8.1 Cash on hand and at bank 455.1 429.1
8.2 Bank overdraft {1.2) (1.3)
8.3 Total cash at end of period (item 7.26) 453.9 427.8
Other notes to the condensed financial statements
Ratios _Current period Previous
corresponding
Period
Profit before tax / revenue 0 ) o
9.1 Consolidated profit {loss) before tax {item 1.2% 1.5%
1.8) as a percentage of revenue (itam 1.7)
Profit after tax / Yequity interests 4.1% 10.7%
9.2 consolidated net profit {loss) after tax
attributable to holders of the parent (iterm '
1.13) as a percentage of equity (similarly .
attributable) at the end of the period (itemn )
4.31)

+ See chapter 19 for defined terms.
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Appencix 4E

Earnings per security (EPS)

10. Details of basic and diluted EPS reported separately in accordance with paragraph 9 and
18 of AASB 1027: Eamings Per Share are as follows.
Current period Previous
corresponding
- Period
Calculation of the following in
accordance with AASB 1027: Earnings |
per Share
10.1  Basic earnings per share (cents)
» Continuing operations 14.5 37.3
« Discontinuing operations 0.2 -
14,7 37.3
10.2  Net Profit
s . Continuning operations 64.7 166.6
» Discontinuing operations 0.7 -
65.4 166.6 |
10.3 Weighted average number of shares 4462 4461
(millions) .
10.4 Diluted earnings per share (cents)
» Continuing operations . 14.3 371
+ Discontinuing operations 0.2 -
14.5 371
10.5 Net Profit
« Contining operations 64.7 166.6
¢ Discontinuing operations 0.7 - o
65.4 166.6
10.6  Weighted average number of shares 449.6 448.6 |
{millions) '
NTA backing Current pericd Previous
corresponding
Pericod
11.1  Net tangible asset backing per *ordinary $2.49 $2.40 i
security

+ See chapter 19 for defined terms. .
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Discontinuing Operations

(Entities must regort a description of any significant activities or events relating 10 drscontrnumg operations in
accordance with paragraph 7.5 (g) of AAS8 1029: Interim Financial Reporting, or, the details of discontinuing
operations they have disclosed in their accounts in accordance with AASB 1042: Discontinuing Operations (see

note 17).)

12.1 _ Discontinuing Operations

- NIA

Contro! gained over entities having material effect

13.1 Name of entity (or group of
entities)

NIL

13.2 Consolidated profit (loss) and extraordinary items after

tax of the subsidiaries since the date in the current
period on which control was *acquired

13.3 Date from which such profit has been calculated
13.4 Profit (loss) and extracrdinary items after tax of the

subsidiaries for the whole of the previous
corresponding period

Loss of control of entities having material effect .

NIA

N/A

N/A

14.1 Name of entity {(or group of
entities)

NIL

14.2 Consolidated profit {loss) and extraordinary items after
tax of the subsidiaries for the current period to the date

of loss of control

14.3 Date o which the profit (loss) in item 14.2 has been
calculated

14.4 Consolidated profit (loss) and extraordinary items after
tax of the subsidiaries while controlled during the whole

of the previous corresponding period
14.5 Contribution to consolidated profit (loss) and

extraordinary items from sale of interest leading to loss

of control

+ See chapter 19 for defined terms.
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Dividends {in the case of a trust, distributions)

15.1 Date the dividend (distribution) is payable ] 13 October 2006

15.2 +Record date to determine entitements to the dividend
{distribution} (ie, on the basis of proper instruments of
transfer received by 500 pm if Tsecurities are not
*CHESS approved, or security  holding balances
established by 5.00 pm or such later time permitted by
SCH Business Rules if *securiies are *CHESS
approved)

22 September 2006

15.3 Ifitis a final dividend, has it been declared?

{Preliminary final report only) Yes
Amount per security
Franked
“amount per | AAmount per
. security of
Amount per | security at foreian
security applicable sou rg e
tax (see dividend
note 4)
{Preliminary final report only)
15.4 Final dividend:  Current year (30% tax rate) 4.5¢ Nil N/A
- not provided for at 30 June
15.5 _ Previous year (30% tax rate} 12.0¢ Nil N/A
(Malf yearly and preliminary final reports)
15.6 Interim dividend: Current year (30% tax rate) 5.5¢ Nil N/A
- not provided for at 31 December.
15.7 Previous year (30% tax rate) 13.5¢ Nil N/A
Total dividend {distribution) per security (interim plus final}
{Preliminary final report only)
‘ Current year Previous year
13.8  *Ordinary securities 10.0¢ 25.5¢
15.9  preference *securities N/A N/A
Haif yearly report - interim dividend (distribution) on all securities or
Preliminary final report - final dividend (distribution) on all securities
Previous
Current period ASM corresponding
Period — A$M
1510 +QOrdinary securities (each class separately) Not provided Not provided
for at 30 June 2006 | for at 30 June 2005

Preference *securities (each class separately)
15.12 Other equity instruments (each class separately)
Refer 15.6 above .

15.13 Total

+ See chapter 19 for defined terms.

30/06/06
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The *dividend or distribution plans shown below are in operation.

N/A

The last date(s) for receipt of election notices for the NIA
*dividend or distribution plans

.

Any other disclosures in relation to dividends (distributions). (For half yearly reports, provide details in
accordance with paragraph 7.5(d) of AASB 1029 interim Financial Reporting)}

NfA

Details of aggregate share of profits (losses) of associates and joint venture entities

Current period ASM Previous'

Group’s share of associates’ and joint corresponding
venture entities’: ' pericd — ASM
16.1 Profit {loss) before tax N/A N/A
16.2 Income tax N/A | N/A
16.3 Profit (loss after tax N/A : N/A

16.4 (1) Extraordinary items net of tax - -

(2) Unrealised profit in inventory N/A . N/A
adjustment
16.5 Net profit (loss) N/A ' N/A
16.6 Adjustments N/A : N/A
16.7 Share of net profit (loss} of associates N/A N/A

and joint venture entities

+ Sce chapter 19 for defined terms. . 1
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Material interests in entities which are not controlled entities
The economic entity has an interest (that is material to it} in the following entities. (/f the interest was acquired
or disposed of during either the current or previous corresponding period, indicate date of acquisition (“from

dd/mm/yy") or disposal (“to dd/mm/iyy”).)

Name of entity

Percentage of ownership

interest held at end of period

or date of disposal

Contribution to net profit (loss)

(item 1.9)

17.1 Equity

accounted
associates and
joint venture

entities
NIL

Current
period

Previous
corresponding
period

Current period
ASM

| Previous
correspondin
g period -

17.2 Total

Name of entity

Percentage of ownership

interest held at end of period

or date of disposal

Contribution to net profit (loss)

(item 1.9)

17.3 Other material

interests
NIL

Current
period

Previous
correspondin
g period

Current period
A$M

Previous
correspondin
g period —

17.4 Total

+ See chapter 19 for defined terms.
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Issued and quoted securities at end of current period -
{Description must include rate of interest and any redemption or conversion rights together with prices and dates)

Category of *securities

18.1

18.2

Preference *securities
{description)

Changes during current

period

(a) Increases through
issues

(b) Decreases through
returns of capital,
buybacks, redemptions

Total number

Number
quoted

Issue pricé
per security
{see note 14)

(cents) .

Amount paid
up per
security {(see
note 14)
(cents)

N/A

N/A

N/A

N/A

N/A

N/A.

N/A

N/A

N/A

N/A

18.3
18.4

*Ordinary securities
Changes during current
period

(a) Increases through
Employee Share Plan
{ssues

- Exercise of Options
(b} Increase through long
term incentive plan

{c) Decreases through
returns of capital, buybacks

446,182,209

10,000

10,000

3.32

18.5

18.6

*Convertible debt
securities (description and
conversion factor)
Changes during current
period

{a) Increases through
Employee Share Plan
Issues

(b) Decreases through
securities matured,
converted

N/A

N/A

NIA

N/A
N/A

N/A
N/A

N/A
N/A

+ See chapter 19 for defined erms,
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Total number Number Exercise Expiry
quoted price Date
{if any)
18.7 Options ({description and Nil N/A
conversion factor)
18.8  Issued during current
period
1,022,140 Nil 2.77 N/A
9,720 Nif 4.85 N/A
150,000 Nil - 277 N/A
1,181,860
18.9  Exercised during current . 10,000 Nil 3.32 N/A
period
18.10 Expired during current . 355,390 N/A
period '
18.11 Debentures (description)
18.12 Chéhges during current
period
{(a) Increases through NA | N/A
issues
{b) D.e.creases through N/A N/A
securities matured,
converted
18.13 Unsecured notes
(description)
18.14 Changes during current
period
(a) Increases through N/A N/A
issues
(b) Decreases through N/A N/A
securities matured,
converted
+ See chapter 19 for defined terms.
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-4

Segment Reporting

4

(information on the business and geographical segments of the entity must be reported for the current
period in accordance with AASB -1005: Segment Reporting and for half year repods AASB 1029:
Interim Financial Reporting. ~Because entities employ different structures a pro, forma cannot be

provided. Segment information in the layout employed in the entity's *accounts should be reported

separately and attached to this report.)

BUSINESS SEGMENTS

The consolidated entity comprises the following main business segments, based on the
consolidated entity's management and internal reporting reporting system, '

Segment

Description of Opérations

Merchanting and Paper Trading |

Communication Papers

Packaging Papers

Corporate and Other

GEOGRAPHIC SEGMENTS

International paper merchant and paper trader
supplying the printing and publishing industry and
office supplies. '

Manufacture of office papers graphic papers,
converting papers and other spemallty and coated
papers. .

Manufacture of packaging papers and industrial
papers. Products include kraftliners, sack kraft and
light weight bag and industrial papers, sold
predominantly to converting customers.

Includes stationery and envelopes busmess and
corporate costs. '

]

The consolidated entity comprises the following main geographic segments. In presenting the
information on the basis of gecgraphic segments, segment sales are based ‘on the geographic
location of customers. Segment assets are based on the geographic Iocation*of the assets.

Segment

Description of Operations

Australia and New Zealand

North America
Europe

Asia

Manufacture of communication papers and
packaging papers, paper merchanting and paper
trading. i

Paper merchanting and paper trading.
Paper merchanting and paper tra‘ding.

Paper merchanting and p'aper !'rading.
1
|

+ See chapter 19 for defined terms.
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Segment Reporting (cont’'d)

For the year ended
30 June 2006

BUSINESS SEGMENTS

Merchanting and Paper
Trading

+ Continuing Operations

» Discontinuing Operations

Communication Papers
Packaging Papers

Corporate and Other

Profit before net interest and
income tax

Net interest (1}
Profit before income tax
Income tax expense (1)

Income tax benefit —
Australian Tax Consolidation

(1

Profit after income tax
expense

Net profit attributable to
minority interests

Inter-segment sales (2)

Unallocated assets {deferred
tax balances)

Unallocated liabilities (6)

Total

-

CONSOLIDATED
+SEGMENT SEGMENT SEGMENT SEGMENT
RESULT (3) REVENUE ASSETS LIABILITIES
$M M $M SM

189.1 6,900.5 3,241.4 1,163.0

1.3 295 19.6 0.9

190.4 6,930.0 3,261.0 1,163.9

(9.4) 674 .4 635.0 118.7

5.3 241.8 298.4 416

(33.9) 94.4 1216 46.1
152.4
(65.1)
87.3
(21.9)
65.4

(527.9)
74.4
14114
65.4 7,412.7 4,390.4 2,781.7

+ See chapter 19 for defined terms.
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Segment Reporting (cont'd)

CONSOLIDATED '
SEGMENT SEGMENT SEGMENT SEGMENT
RESULT (3} REVENUE ASSETS LIABILITIES
M $M $M . 5M
For the year ended ‘
30 June 2005 :
BUSINESS SEGMENTS ,
Merchanting and Paper 194.1 7,035.3 3,054.0 1,045.9
Trading |
Communication Papers 2.1 699.8 622.9 11243
Packaging Papers 10.0 242.9 292.2 41.3
Corporate and Other (26.1} 100.6 112.5 ‘ 528
Profit before net interest and -~ 180.1
income tax '
Net interest {1} {68.5)
Profit before income tax 111.6
Income tax expense (1) ’ (21.9)
Income tax benefit — 77.0
Australian Tax Consolidation
(M —
Profit after income tax 166.7
expense
Net profit attributable to {0.1) ,
mingrity interests
Inter-segment sales (2) {504.5)
Unaliocated assets (deferred 85.2
tax balances)
e \
Unallocated liabilities (6) 13398
Total 166.6 7,574.1 41668  2.604.1

+ See chapter 19 for defined terms.
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Segment Reporting (cont'd)

CONSOLIDATED
SEGMENT SEGMENT CAPITAL
. REVENUE ASSETS EXPENDITURE
M B M
For the year ended .
30 June 2006
GEQGRAPHIC SEGMENTS
Australia and New Zealand 1,351.0 1,471.2 76.3
North America 1,257.8 591.9° 214
Europe 46175 2,190.7 239
Asia 186.4 62.2 0.4
Unallocated assets (deferred
tax assets) - 744 -
Total 7.412.7 4,390.4 122.0 .
CONSOLIDATED
SEGMENT SEGMENT CAPITAL
REVENUE ASSETS EXPENDITURE
$M SM M
For the year ended
30 June 2005 '
GEQGRAPHIC SEGMENTS
Austratia and New Zealand 1,444 .4 1,464.1 66.4
North America 1,011.14 413.1 55 '
Europe 4,945.2 21477 448
Asia 1734 56.7 0.3
Unallocated assets (deferred ;
tax assets) - 85.2 -
Total 7.574.14 4,166.8 117.0 ,
'
“.
+ Sec chapier 19 for defined terms. . '
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Segment Reporting (cont'd}

CONSOLIDATED
DEPRECIATION NON CASH CAPITAL
& EXPENSES (4) EXPENDITURE {5)
AMORTISATION
M M M
For the year ended ‘
30 June 2006 .
BUSINESS SEGMENTS
Merchanting & Paper Trading
s Continuing operations 404 (4.3) 47.8
Communication Papers 37.0 6.6 5':/.7
Packaging Papers 129 3.1 . 131
[}
Corporate and Other 14.4 5.1 3.4
Total 104.7 10.5 122.0
CONSOLIDATED
DEPRECIATION  NON CASH CAPITAL |
& EXPENSES (4) EXPENDITURE (5)
AMORTISATION ‘
M M M .
For the year ended
30 June 2005 -
BUSINESS SEGMENTS
Merchanting & Paper Trading 411 19.7 52_.8
Communication Papers 46.7 139 46.2
Packaging Papers 12.2 47 15=.5
Corporate and Other 12.9 44 25
112.9 427 117.0

Total

+ See chapler 19 for defined terms.
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Appendix 4E -

Preliminary Final Report

Segment Reporting (cont'd)

Notes
(1) Interest and income tax expense are not allocated internally to the segments but held centrally.

(2} Inter-segment sales comprise sales of paper, which are priced on an arm's length basis.
(3) The segment result for the individual business segments is the profit before net interest and income tax.

(4) The non-cash expenses above comprise the following items:

2006 2005
™M ™
« Provisions charge 344 48.9
« Net (profit¥ioss on disposal of property, plant , ‘
and equipment {(24.4) (3.0)
« Other non cash items - refer Statements of Cash
' 10.5 427 N
{5) Capital Expenditure above comprises the following items: N
¥
+  Addition of property, plant and equipment - refer \
Statements of Cash Flows - 101.4 ) 86.3 "
+  Movement in accruals for property, plant and L
equipment 0.6 7.4
102.0 93.7
+  Goodwill in relation to acquisitions of
subsidiaries 9.1 17.1
+ Brands acquired on acquisition of subsidiaries 1.2 - ¥
«  Property, plant and equipment acquired on ‘
acquisition of subsidiaries 9.7 6.2 !

1220 117.0 :

{6} The unallocated segménl liabilities comprise the following items:

. Curfent interest bearing liabilities . 2217 266.6

+  Current tax liabilities 9.6 - 38
« Non-current interest bearing liabilities . 1,136.7 1,036.0 L
» Non-current deferred tax liabilities 43.4 334 "
- )

1,411.4 1,339.8

(7) The impairment losses booked relate to the following segments:

s  Industry — Communication Papers - 12.4

« Geographic - Australia and New Zealand . - 124

+ See chapter 19 for defined terms,
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Preliminary Final Report

Comments by directors :

{Comments on the following matters are required by ASX or, in relation to the half yearly report, by AASB 1029:
interim Financial Reporting. The comments do not take the place of the directors’ report and slatement {as
required by the Corporations Act) and may be incorporaled into the directors’ report and statement. For both half
yearly and preliminary final reports, if there are no comments in a section, state NIL. If there is insufficient space
to comment, attach notes to this report.) '

Basis of financial report preparation

19.1  Not applicable (Interim report only) :

19.2  Material factors affecting the revenues and expenses of the economic entity for the current
period. In a half yearly report, provide explanatory comments about any seasonal or irregular
factors affecting operations.

Refer attached News Release

19.3 A description of each event since the end of the current period which has Héd a material effect
and which is not already reported elsewhere in this Appendix or in attachments, with financial
effect quantified (if possible).

Refer attached News Release

b

19.4 Franking credits available and prospects for paying fully or partly franked dividends for at least
the next year.

At the date of this report, PaperiinX Limited has declared an unfranked dividend on
ordinary shares payable on 13 October 2006 - 4.5 cents per share on fully paid shares.
This dividend has not been provided for in the accounts as at 30 June 2006. ,

The balance of the consolidated franking account as at 30 June 2006 was $N|I {2005:
$3.6 million).

It is expected that any interim dividend in respect of the half year ending 31 December
2006 will be unfranked.

+ Sce chapter 19 for defined terms.
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Preliminary Final Report

19.5 Unless disclosed below, the accounting policies, estimation methods and measurement bases
used in this report are the same as those used in the last annual report. Any changes in
accounting policies, estimation methods and measurement bases since the last annual report

are disclosed as follows

Change In Accounting Policy

Papeﬂinx Limited has taken advantage of the election under AASB 1 to not restate for
AASB 132 Financial instruments: Disclosure and Presentation and AASB 139 Financial
Instruments: Recognition and Measurement. ‘

There are no adjustments for 1 July 2004 or the financial year ended 30 June 2005 as
previous AGAAP continues to apply.

As at 1 July 2005, the adjustments to the consolidated entity are as follows:

« under previous AGAAP, not all derivatives were recognised in the balance sheet.
On adoption of AASB 139, all derivatives are recognised at fair value on the
balance sheet. The effect on the consolidated entity is to record the fair value of
the derivatives on the balance sheet with a corresponding decrease in retained
eamings of $0.3 million, net of tax of $0.1 million.

« debt establishment costs which were capitalised and amortised over the term of the
borrowing under previous AGAAP, are recalculated based on the effective interast
rate method and recognised as part of the liability rather than as a separate asset.
This results in a decrease in assets of $4.0 million, and a decrease in financiat

liabilities of $4.0 million.

19.6 Revisions in estimates of amounts reported in previous interim periods. For half yearly reports
the nature and amount of revisions in estimates of amounts reported in previous +annual

reponts if those revisions have a material effect in this half year.

Not applicable

v

19.7 Changes in confingent liabilittes or assels. For half yearly reports, changes in contingent
liabilities and contingent assets since the last * annual report.

Not applicable

+ Sce chapter 19 for defined terms.
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Preliminary Final Report

Additional disclosure for trusts

20.1

202

Number of wunits held by the
management company or responsible
entity or their related parties.

A statement of the fees and
commissions payable to the
management company or responsible
entity.

Identify:

. initial service charges
. management fees

. other fees

Annual meeting
(Preliminary final report only)

The annual meeting will be held as follows:

Place

Date

Time

Approximate date the "annual report will be
available

b

)

Not applicable

Not applicable

Park Hyatt

1 Parliament Square
East Melbourne

VIC 3002

Friday, 20 October 2006

11.00 am

22 September 2006 '

+ See chapter 19 for defined terms.
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Preliminary Final Report

Compliance statement

1 This report has been prepared in accordance with AASB Standards, other AASB authoritative
pronouncements and Urgent Issues Group Consensus Views or other standards acceptable to
ASX (see note 12).

Identify other standards used Not applicable-

2 _This report, and the accounts upon which the report is based (if separate), use the same
accounting policies.

3 This report does give a true and fair view of the matters disclosed (see note 2).
4 This report is based on "accounts to which one of the following applies.
{Tick one) :
The ‘accounts have been The ‘accounts have been
v audited. a subject to review.
The “accounts are in the The ‘accounts have not yet

O process of being audited or O been audited or reviewed.
subject o review. )

5 If the audit report or review by the auditor is not attached, details of any qualifications are
attachedfwill follow immediately they are available” (delete ong). (Half yearly reporr only - the
audit report or review by the auditor must be aftached to this repon‘ if this report is to satisfy
the requirements of the Corporations Act.).

6 The entity has a formally constituted audit committee. '
== /”“"_—
SIgNhere: e Date: 21 August 2006
(Company Secretary)
Print name: James Orr

+ See chapter 19 for defined terms. : .

o
+

30/06/06 o Appendix 4E Page 29







Change of Director’s Interest Notice

Rule 3.194.2

Appendix 3Y

Change of Director’s Interest Notice

Information or documents not available now must be given to ASX as soon as available. Infermation and
documents given 1o ASX become ASX's property and may be made public.

Introduced 30/9/2001.

Name of entity PAPERLINX LIMITED

ABN 70 005 146 350

We (the entity) give ASX the following information under Iisting_rulc 3.19A.2 and as agent for the
director for the purposes of section 205G of the Corporations Act.

Name of Director

David Anthony Walsh

Date of last notice

3 March 2004

Part 1 - Change of director’s relevant interests in securities
In the case of a trust, this includes interests in the trust made available by the responsible entity of the trust

Direct or indirect interest

Indirect

Nature of indirect interest
(including registered holder)

Note: Provide details of the circumstances giving rise to the
relevant interest.

Purchased by Ibmiboom Pty Ltd (on entity
controlled by the director), as trustee of
Mooshnmim SM Superannuation Fund.

Date of change

25 and 28 August 2006

No. of securities held prior to change

20,898 - Indirect

Fully paid ordinary shares

Number acquired

25 August 2006 - 1,752
28 August 2006 - 8,248
Total 10,000

Number disposed

Value/Consideration
Note: If consideration is non-cash, provide details and estimated
valuation

$3.33 per share

No. of securities held after change

30,898 — Indirect

+ Sce chapter 19 for defined terms.
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Change of Director’s Interest Notice

Nature of change On market trade.
Example: on-market trade, off-marke trade, exercise of options,
issue  of securities wunder dividend reinvestment plan.
participation in buy-back

Part 2 - Change of director’s interests in contracts

Detail of contract

Nature of interest

Name of registered holder
{if issued securities)

Date of change

No. and class of securities to which

interest related prior to change
Note: Details are only required for a contract in
‘relation to which the interest has changed

Intéerest acquired

Interest disposed

Value/Consideration
Noite: If consideration is non-cash, provide details
and an estimated valuation

Interest after change

+ Sece chapter 19 for defined terms.
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Rule 3.194.2

Appendix 3Y

Change of Director’s Interest Notice

Information or documents not available now must be given 10 ASX as soon as available. Information and documents .
given to ASX become ASX's property and may be made public. v

Introduced 30¢9/2001.
Name of entity PAPERLINX LIMITED ' e
ABN 70 005 146 350 . :

We (the entity) give ASX the following information under listing rule 3.19A.2 and as agent for the director
for the purposes of section 205G of the Corporations Act. o

Name of Director Thomés Pearson Park

Date of last notice _ 26 September 2005 ;:'

Part 1 - Change of director’s relevant interests in securities
In the case of a trust, this includes interests in the trust made available by the responsible entity of the trust

Direct or indirect interest Direct )

Nature of indirect interest Not applicable

{including registered holder) ’
Note: Provide details of the circumstances giving rise to the
relevant interest.

Date of change 28 August 2006 .
o
No. of securities held prior to change ¢ 70,000 ordinary shares in PaperlinX .
Limited (PaperlinX}, -

« amaximum entitiement to 600,000
potential shares pursuant to the
PaperinX Senior Management Share
Plan;

¢ up to 200,000 performance options to
subscribe for ordinary shares in :
PaperlinX pursuant to the PaperlinX !
Employee/Share Option Plan (subject to '
forfeiture if performance conditions not !
met}, as approved at the 2004 AGM of ‘-

PaperlinX. "

Class Performance options to subscribe for ordinary 't
. shares in PaperlinX g

Number acquired 100,000 '

Number disposed Nil -

¢




Value/Consideration

valuation

Nil for issue of performance options. Options

Note: [f consideration is non-cash, provide details and estimated | gre exercisable (subject to performance

conditions) at $3.11 per option being the
volume weighted average price of PaperlinX
shares for June 2006

No. of securities held after change

e 70,000 ordinary shares in PaperlinX ;

s amaximum entilement to 600,000
potential shares pursuant to the
PaperlinX Senior Management Share
Plan; and

+ up to 300,000 performance options to
subscribe for ordinary shares in
PaperlinX pursuant to the PaperlinX
Employee/Share Option Plan (subject to
forfeiture if performance conditions not
met), as approved at the 2004 AGM of
PaperlinX

Nature of change

participation in buy-back

Issue of performance options under

Example: on-market trade, off-market trade, exercise of options, | PaperlinX Employee Share/Option Plan
issue of securities under dividend reinvestment plan,

Part 2 - Change of director’s interests in contracts

Detail of contract

Performance rights issued to the director under the
PaperlinX Senior Management Performance Rights Plan

Nature of interest

Right to acquire options over ordinary shares in
PaperlinX, subject to satisfaction of certain performance
conditions

Name of registered holder Not applicable
(if issued securities)
Date of change 28 August 2006

interest related prior to change
Note: Details are only required for a contract in
relation to which the interest has changed

No. and class of securities to which -

Not applicable

Interest acquired

365,140 performance rights issued on 28 August 2006

Interest disposed -

Nil

Value/Consideration
Note: If consideration is non-cash, provide
details and an estimated valuation

Nil for issue and exercise of performance rights

Interest after change

845,785 performance rights under the PaperlinX Senior
Management Performance Rights Plan

+ See chapter 19 for defined terms.
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Change of Director’s Interest Notice

Rule 3.194.2

Appendix 3Y

Change of Director’s Interest Notice

Infarmation or documents not available now must be given 1o ASX as soon as available. Information and
documents given to ASX become ASX's property and may be made public.

Introduced 30/9/2001.

_ [Name of entity . PAPERLINX LIMITED

ABN 70 005 146 350

We (the entity) give ASX the following information under listing rule 3.19A.2 and as agent for the
director for the purposes of section 205G of the Corporations Act.

Name of Director

Nora Lia Scheinkestel

Date of last notice

4 November 2004

Part 1 - Change of director’s relevant interests in securities -
In the case of a trust, this includes interests in the trust made available by the responsible entity of the tnust

Direct or indirect interest

Indirect

Nature of indirect interest

{inctuding registered holder)
Note; Provide details of the circumstances giving rise to the
relevant interest.

Shares purchased through Scheinkestel
Superannuation Pty Ltd A/C No. 2

Date of change

29 August 2006

No. of securities held prior to change

36,360

Class

Fully paid ordinary shares

Number acquired

1,615

Number disposed

Value/Consideration

Note: If consideration is non-cash, provide details and estimated
valuation -

$3.33 per share

No. of securities held after change

37,975

Nature of change

Example: on-market trade, off-market trade, exercise of options,
issue  of securities under dividend reinvestment plan,
panicipation in buy-back

On market trade.

+ See chapier 19 for defined terms.
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Change of Director’s Interest Notice

Part 2 - Change of director’s interests in contracts

e

Detail of contract

Nature of interest

Name of registered holder
(if issued securities)

Date of change

No. and class of securities to which

interest related prior to change
Note: Details are only required for a contract in
relation to which the interest has changed

Interest acquired

Interest disposed

Value/Consideration
Note: IF consideration is non-cash, provide details
and an estimated valuation .

Interest after change

+ See chapter 19 for defined terms,
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Rule 2.7, 3.10.3, 3.10.4, 3.10.5

Appendix 3B

New issue announcement,
application for quotation of additional securities
and agreement

Information or documents not available now must be given to ASX as soon as available. [Information and
documents given 1o ASX become ASX'’s property and may be made public.

tnroduced 1/2/96. Origin: Appendix 5. Amended [/7/98, 1/9/99, 1/7/2000, 30/9/2001, | 4/3/2002, 1/1/2003, 24/10/2005.

Name of entity

PaperlinX Limited

ABN

ABN 70 005 146 350

We (the entity) give ASX the following information.

Part 1 - All issues

You must complete the relevant sections (attach sheets if there is not enough space).

1

*Class of *securities issued or to be
issued

Number of *securities issued or to
be issued (if known) or maximum
number which may be issued

Principal terms of the *securities (eg,
if options, exercise price and expiry
date; if partly paid *securities, the
amount outstanding and due dates
for payment; if “convertible
securities, the conversion price and
dales for conversion)

Options

1,271,240 options

Up to a maximum of 1,121,240 Performance
Options having an exercise price of $3.11
(being the volume weighted average price of
PaperlinX shares for June 2006), exercisable
after 3 years, subject to performance conditions
being achieved.

150,000 Options having an exercise price of
$3.11 (being the volume weighted average
price of PaperlinX shares for June 2006) per 1
PaperlinX Ordinary share, exercisable after 3
years.

+ Sec chapter 19 for defined terms.
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4 Do the *securities rank equally in all
respects from the date of allotment
with an existing *class of quoted

+

securities?

[f the .additional securities do not
rank equally, please state:

the date from which they do
the extent to which they

participate for the next dividend, |

(in the case of a trust,
distribution) or interest payment
the extent to which they do not
rank equally, other than in
relation to the next dividend,
distribution or interest payment

5 Issue price or consideration

6  Purpose of the issue
(If issued as consideration for the
acquisition of assets, clearly identify
those assets)

Not quoted

Nil

Options issued to employees pursuant to the
PaperlinX Employee Share/Option Plan

7 Dates of entering *securities into | 28 August 2006 — 1,121,240 Performance
uncertificated holdings or despatch Options
of certificates
4 September 2006 — 150,000 Options
Number
8 Number and “*class of all | 446,182,209 Ordinary shares
*securitiecs quoted on  ASX
{including the securities in clause 2
if applicable)
~ + See chapter 19 for defined terms.
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Number and “class of all
*securities not quoted on ASX
(including the securities in clause 2
if applicable)

Dividend policy (in the case of a
trust, distribution policy} on the
increased capital {interests)

Number

*Class
4,636,670 (included in | Employee share
this figure is 186,730 | options

Performance Options
which lapsed on 8 July
2006)

N/A

Part 2 - Bonus issue or pro rata issue

11

15

16

17

Is  security holder approval
required?

Is the issue renounceable or non-
renounceable?

Ratio in which the *securities will
be offered

*Class of *securities to which the
offer relates

*Record date to  determine
entitlements :

Will holdings on different registers
(or subregisters) be aggregated for
calculating entitlements?

Policy for deciding entitlements in

relation to fractions

Names of countries in which the
entity has *security holders who
will not be sent new issue
documents

Note: Security holders most be told how their
entittements are to be dealt with.

Cross reference: rule 7.7,

Closing . date for receipt of
acceptances or renunciations

+ See chapter 19 for defined terms,
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20

21

"2

23

24

25

26

27

28

29

30

Names of any underwriters

Amount of any underwriting fee or
commission

Names of any brokers to the issue

Fee or commission payable to the
broker to the issue

Amount of any handling fee payable
to brokers who lodge acceptances
or renunciations on behalf of
*security holders

If the issue is contingent on
*security holders’ approval, the date
of the meeting

Date entitlement and acceptance
form and prospectus or Product
Disclosure Statement will be sent to
persons entitled

If the entity has issued options, and
the terms entitle option holders to
participate ot exercise, the date on
which notices will be sent to option
holders

Date rights trading will begin (if
applicable)

Date rnights trading will end (if
applicable)

How do *security holders sell their

entitlements in  full through a |

broker?

How do *security holders sell parr
of their entitlements through a
broker and accept for the balance?

+ See chapter 19 for defined terms.

Appendix 3B Page 4

1/1/2003



32 Howdo *security holders dispose of
their entitlements (except by sale
through a broker)?

33 *Despatch date

Part 3 - Quotation of securities

You need only complete this section if you are applying for quotation of securities

34 Type of securities
(tick one}

(a) D Securities described in Part 1

L

®) All other securities

Enr;q:le: restricted securities at the end of the escrowed period, panly paid securitics that become filly paid, employee
incentive share securities when restriction ends, securities issued on expiry or conversion of convertible securnities

Entities that have ticked box 34(a)

Additional securities forming a new class of securities

_Tick to indicate you are providing the information or

documenis

35 [f the *securitics are *equity securities, the names of the 20 largest holders of the
additional *securities, and the number and percentage of additional *securities held by
those holders

36 D If the *securities are *equity securities, a distribution schedule of the additional
*securities setting out the number of holders in the categories
1-1,000
1,001 - 5,000
5,001 - 10,000
10,001 - 100,000
100,001 and over

37 I:l A copy of any trust deed for the additional *securities

+ Sce chapter 19 for defined terms.
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‘F l ' Entities that have ticked box 34(b)

38

39

40

41

42

Number of securitics for which
*quotation is sought

Class of ‘*securities for which
quotation is sought

Do the *securities rank equally in all
respects from the date of allotment
with an existing *class of quoted
*securities?

_If the additional securities do not

rank equally, please state:

¢ the date from which they do

o the extent to which they
participate for the next dividend,
(in the «case of a ftrust,
distribution) or interest payment

» the extent to which they do not

rank equally, other than in’

relation to the next dividend,
distribution or interest payment

Reason for request for quotation
now

Example: In the case of restricted securities, end of
restriction period '

(if issued upon conversion of
another security, clearly identify that
other security)

Number and *class of all *securities
quoted on ASX (including the
securities in clause 38)

Number

*Class

"+ See chapter 19 for defined terms.
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Quotation agreement

1 *Quotation of our additional *securities is in ASX’s absolute discretion. ASX may
quote the *securities on any conditions it decides.

2 We warrant the following to ASX.

. The issue of the *securities to be quoted complies with the law and is not
for an illegal purpose.

. There is no reason why those *securities should not be granted *quotation.

. An offer of the *securities for sale within 12 months after their issue will
not require disclosure under section 707(3) or section 1012C(6) of the
Corporations Act.

Note: An entity may need to obtain appropriate warrantics from subscribers for the securities in order to be able to give
this warmanty

. Section 724 or section 1016E of the Corporations Act does not apply to any
applications received by us in relation to any *securities to be quoted and
that no-onc has any right to return any *securities to be quoted under
sections 737, 738 or 1016F of the Corporations Act at the time that we
request that the *securities be quoted.

. If we are a trust, we warrant that no person has the right to return the
*securities to be quoted under section 1019B of the Corporations Act at the
time that we request that the *securities be quoted.

3 We will indemnify ASX to the fullest extent permitted by law in respect of any
claim, action or expense ansing from or connected with any breach of the
warranties in this agreement.

4 We give ASX the information and documents required by this form. If any
information or document not available now, will give it to ASX before *quotation
of the *securities begins. We acknowledge that ASX is relying on the information
and documents. We warrant that they are (will be) true and complete.

Signhere: Date: 5 September 2006
(Pirector/Company secretary)

Print name: James K Orr

+ Sce chapter 19 for defined terms.
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Change of Director’s Interest Notice

Rule 3.194.2

Appendix 3Y

Change of Director’s Interest Notice

Information or documents not available now must be given io ASX as soon as available, Informarion and
documents given to ASX become ASX's property and may be made public. .

Introduced 30/9/2001.
Name of entity PAPERLINX LIMITED
ABN 70 005 146 350

We (the entity) give ASX the following information under listing rule 3.19A.2 and as agent for the
director for the purposes of section 205G of the Corporations Act.

Name of Director

David E Meiklejohn

Date of last notice

26 September- 2005

Part 1 - Change of director's relevant interests in securities
In the case of a trust, this includes interests in the trust made available by the responsible entity of the irust

Direct or indirect interest’

Indirect

Nature of indirect interest

{including registered holder}
Note: Provide details of the circumstances giving rise to the
relevant interest.

Purchased by Invia Custodian Pty Ltd. as
nominee for The Meiklejohn Superannuation
Fund

Date of change

12 September 2006

No. of securities held prior to change

67,612

Class

Fully paid ordinary shares

Number acquired

20,000

Number disposéd

ValuelConsideration
Note: If consideration is non-cash, provide details and estimated
valuation

$3.36 per share

No. of securities held after change

37,612

Nature of change

Example: on-market trade, off-market trade, exercise of options,
issue  of securities under dividend reinvestment plan,
participation in buy-back

On market trade

+ See chapter 19 for defined terms.
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Change of Director’s Interest Notice

Part 2 - Change of director’s interests in contracts

Detail of contract

Nature of interest

Name of registered holder
(if issued securities)

Date of change

interest related prior to change
MNote: Details are only required for a contract in
relation to which the interest has changed

No. and class of securities to which

Interest acquired

Interest disposed

Value/Consideration
Note: If consideration is non-cash, provide details
and an estirhated valuation

Interest after change

+ See chapter 19 for defined terms.
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.19 September 2006

Company Announcements Office

. Australian Stock Exchange Limited

Level 4, 20 Bridge Street
SYDNEY NSW 2000

No. of Attachments : 5

Announcement to Market

PaperlinX Ltd lodges the following documents:-

Notice of Annual General Meeting
Proxy form for Annual General Meeting

e e

Yours faithfully,

James Orr
Company Secretary

Concise Annual Report 2008 for the financial year ended 30 June 2006
Full Financial Report 2006 for the financial year ended 30 June 2006

‘PapertinX Limited \
ACN 005 146 350

307 Ferntree Gully Road, Mt Wavedey
Victoria 3149 Australia
Tel: +61 3 8540 2264
Fax: +61 3 §540 2291

Chairman'’s letter to shareholders regarding Annual General Meeting




| PaperlinX'}

PapertinX Limited ABN 70005 146350
Share Registry:

Computershare Investor Services Pty hmned
GPD Box 2975 Melbourne

Victoria 3001 Austraka

Enquiries within Austiatia) 1800 732 867, '
[outside Austratia} +61 39415 4021
Facsimile +61 3 8473 2500 N
weh.queries@computarshare.com A
www.computershare.com :

Dear Shareholder

| have pleasure in inviting you to attend the Annual General Meeting of PaperinX Limited
and enclose the Notice of Meeting, which sets out the items of business. The meeting will be
held in the Ballroom of the Park Hyatt Melbourne, 1 Parliament Square {(off Parliament
Place), Melboume, Victoria 3002 on Friday 20 October, 2006 at 11.00am. Registration will
commence at 10.00am. , Y

Please bring this letter and proxy form with you to facilitate registration. ' ¢

If you are unable to attend the meeting, we encourage you to complete the attached proxy
form. To be valid the proxy form must be returned in the envelope provided or faxed to our
share registry on (03) 9473 2555 so that it is received by 11.00am on 18 October, 2006.

Corporate shareholders who wish to appoint a representative'to attend on their behalf should
complete a “Certificate of Appaintment of Representative”. A form of this certificate may be . :
obtained from the Company's share registry (details above). _ : W

Shareholders are irivited to submit questions to the Company in advance of the meeting. 4
Questions may be submitted in writing or through the Contact Us form on the Paper!unx
website www.paperlinx.com.

| look forward to your attendance at the meeting.

Yours sincerely o

David E Menkle;ohn ' 7
Chairman ‘ v

_Encl:

O3 _X0UOEE

031081_3_2_RUN_RUN/000001/00000 1/



i
y
i

AR M ARG MBS

[IOTICEHORANNUANGEN

L[

G

]

The seventh Annual General Meeting of PaperlinX Limited (the Company) will be held in the Park
Hyatt Melbourne Hotel Ballroom, 1 Parliament Square {off Parliament Place), Melbourne, Victoria
3002 on Friday, 20 October 2006 at 11.00am. Registration will commence at 10.00am.

Ordinary Business

1. Financial statements and reporis

To receive and consider the financial statements, Directors’
Report and Auditor's Report for the year ended 30 June 2006.

2. Election of Directors

To re-elect Directors in accordance with the Company's

Constitution;

(a) Mr A F Guy retires and, being &ligible, offers himself for”
re-election, e

{b} Dr N L Scheinkestel retires and, being eligible, ofiers
herself for re-election.

finformation on these Directors is set out in the attached
explanatory notes.)

3. Remuneration Report

To consider and, if thought fit, pass the following resolution
as an ordinary resolution:

‘That the Remuneration Report for the year ended 30 June
2006 (as set out in the Directors’ Report) be adopted.”

(The vote on this resolution is advisary only)

Special Business

4, Increase in aggregate cap of Non-executive Directors’
remuneration

To consider and, if thought fit, pass the following resolution
as an ordinary resolution:

‘That the aggregate maximum sum available for
remuneration of Non-executive Directors is increased by
$335,000 from $750,000 per year to $1,085,000 per year.’

Voting exclusion statement on item 4:

The Company will disregard any votes cast on this resclution
by a Director of the Company or an associate of a Director.

However, the Company need not disregard a vote if:
——=-itis cast-by'a person-as-proxy for a persen who is entitted-to

vote, in accordance with the directions on the proxy form; or

* it is cast by the person chairing the meeting as proxy for a
person who is entitled to vote, in accordance with a
direction on the proxy form to vote as the proxy decides
(and the acknowledgment box on the proxy form in relation
to item 4 is marked).

The Chairman will vote any undirected proxies in favour of the
resolution.

5. Renewal of Partial Takeovers Provision in the Constitution
To consider and, if thought fit, pass the following resolution
as a special resolution:

‘That pursuant to sections 136(2} and 648G of the
Corporations Act 2001 (Cth} {the 'Corporations Act’}, Rule 97
of the Constitution of the Company is renewed.’

Information for Sharehoiders

Attendance at the meeting and questions in advance

if you are planning to attend the meeting, please bring the
Chairman's letter and proxy form with you to facilitate
registration.

In addition to being given a reasonable opportunity to ask
questions at the meeting, shareholders are invited to submit
guestions in advance. They may be submitted in writing or
through the Contact Us form on the PaperlinX website at
www.paperlinx.com.

Voting

For the purposes of voting at the meeting, the Directors have
determined that persons holding shares in PaperfinX Limited
that are listed for quotation on the Australian Stock Exchange
at 7.00pm in Melbourne on 18 October 2006 will be treated
as shareholders of the Company.

Appointment of proxies

A proxy form accompanies this Notice of Annual General
Meeting.

A shareholder entitled to attend and vote is entitled to appoint
not more than two proxies. A proxy need not be a shareholder.
Where the Chairman is appointed proxy, he will vote in
accordance with the shareholder's directions as specified

on the proxy form or, in the absence of a direction, in favour
of the resolutions contained in the Notice of Meeting.

Where a shareholder wishes to appoint two proxies, an
additional proxy form may be obtained by contacting the
Company's Share Regisirar, Computershare. A shareholder
appointing two proxies may specify the proportion or number
of votes each proxy is appointed to exercise. If a shareholder
appoints two proxies and does not specify each proxy's
percentage of voting rights, the rights are deemed to be

50 per cent each. Fractions of votes are to be disregarded.

To be valid, the proxy form, and any authority under which
the form is signed, must be received by Computershare prior

- to-11.00am, Wednesday, 18 October 2008. Proxies may be |

returned by mail in the reply paid envelope provided or by
hand to 452 Johnston Street, Abbotsford, Victoria 3067 or
by facsimile +61 (0) 3 9473 2555.

By order of Zy

James Orr
Company Secretary

Melbourne
19th September 2006
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A renewal of Rule 97 enables all shareholders to have an
opportunity 1o study a proportional takeover bid and,
specifically, 10 vote on the proposal. it provides a process for
shareholders to express their collective views and to actin a
cohesive manner to both increase their bargaining power in
the face of a proportional bid and to lessen any coercive
effects of the proportional bid. This is important, as a
proportional takeover bid may result in a change in control of
the Company without shareholders having an opportunity to
dispose of all their shares. There is advantage to shareholders
in having an opportunity to prevent a proportional takeover bid
proceeding if they believe that control of the Company should
not be permitted to pass in such circumstances. The very
existence of Rule 97 may impact upon the terms of any future
propertional bid and tead prospective bidders to structure any
prospective proportional bids to be attractive to a majority of
shareholders.

On the other hand, it may be argued that a renewal of Rule 97
reduces the possibility of a successful proportional takeover
bid, therefore discouraging proportional bids for the Company.
It may also deny seme shareholders an opportunity to sell
securities at what they consider to be an attractive price where
the majority of shareholders reject an offer. As a consequence,
shareholders may have fewer opportunities to receive an
attractive price for their shares from persons seeking control
of the Company.

During the period in which the proportional takegver rule has
been in effect there have been no takeover offers for the
Company announced or made, either proportional or
otherwise. As a result, there are no specific examples against
which to review the advantages or disadvantages of the
existing proportional takeover rute for the directors and
shareholders of the Company.

Present acquisition proposals

The Directors are not aware of any proposal by any person
to acquire, or to increase the extent of, a substantial interest
in the Company or to announce a takeover offer for shares in
the Company.

Directors’ recommendation

Directors do not perceive the above or any other possible
disadvantages as justification for not renewing the proportional
takeover approval provisions for a further three years,

Directors recommend that shareholders vote in favour of the
resolution to renew Rule 97 of the Constitution.

Share Registry

Computershare Registry Services Pty Ltd
Yarra Falls, 452 Johnston Street
Abbotsford Victoria 3067 Australia

GPO Box 4768

Melbourne Victoria 3001 Australia

Tel: 03 9415 4000

Fax: 03 9473 2555
www.computershare.com.au

Extract of Rule 97 — Approval of partial takeover bids

97.1 Where offers have been made under a proportional
takeover bid in respect of shares in a class of shares in
the Company the registration of a transfer giving effect
to a contract resulting from the acceptance of an offer
made under the takeover bid is prohibited unless and
until a resolution {in this Rule referred to as an Approving
Resolution) 10 approve the proportional takeover bid is
passed in accordance with this Rule.

97.2 Where offers have been made under a proporticnal
takeover bid in respect of shares in a class of shares
in the Company:

{a) a person {other than the offeror or an associate of
the offeror who, as at the end of the day on which
the first offer under the proportional takeover bid
was made, held shares in that class is entitled to
voie on an Approving Resolution and, for the
purpose of voting, is entitled to one vote for each
of the shares held in that class; and

the offeror or an associate of the offeror is not
entitled to voie on an Approving Resolution.

(b

97.3 An Approving Resolution is to be voted on at a meeting,
convened and conducted by the Company, of the
persons entitied to vote on the Approving Resolution.

97.4 The provisions of this constitution that apply in relation
to a general meeting of the Company apply, with
rodifications as the circumstances require, in relation
to a meeling that is convened to vote on an Approving
Resolution and apply as if the mesting was a general
meeting of the Company.

97.5 An Approving Resolution that has been voted on in
accordance with this Rule is to be taken to have been
passed if the proportion that the number of votes in
favour of the resolution bears to the total number of
votes on the resolution is greater than one-half, and
otherwise is to be taken to have been rejected.

97.6 This Rule ceases to have effect on the third anniversary
of the date of the adoption or last renewal of this Rule.
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PaperlinX Limited

ABN 70 005 148 350 All correspondence to;

Computershare Investor Services Pty Limited
PO Box 4768 Melbourne

Victoria 3001 Australia

Enquiries [within Australia) 1800 232 867
loutside Australia) 61 3 9415 4000
Facsimile 61 3 9473 2553
web.queries@ecomputershare.com.au
www.computershare.com

| &
Mark this bax with an ‘X if you have made any changes to your address detalls (soe reverse) l_

Appointment of Proxy

We being a member's of PapedinX Limiad and entitled to attend and vote hereby appoint

if you are nct appointing the Chaiman of the Meeting

the Chaiman as your proxy please wiite here the full name of the —_—
of the Meetng OR individual o body corporate (excluding the registered
(mark with an ‘X) Securityholder) you are appointing as your proxy.

or faling the individual or body carporete named, or f no indivdual of body corporate is named, the Chairman of the Mseting, as mylour proxy to ect gensrally at the maeting on myfour
hehalt and to vote in accordanca wih the foBowing directions {or € no diections have bsen given, as the proxy sees fit} at the Annual General Meeting of PapedinX Limited to be held in
tha Park Hyatt Mehourne Hotel Ballroom, 1 Padiament Square, Melbourne, Victoria on Friday, 20 October 2006 at 11.00am.

IMPORTANT: FOR |TEM 4 BELOW

If the Chairman of the Mesting is your nominated proxy, or may be appointed by defaull, and you have rot directad your proxy how to vote on liem
4 below, please place a mark in this box. By marking this box you acknowiedge that the Chaimman of lhe Meeting may exercise your proxy even if
he has an interest in the outcome of that item and that woles cast by him, other than as proxy holder, would be disregarded because of that
interest, If you do not mark this box, ang you have not directed your proxy how to vote, the Chairman of the Meeling will not cast your votes on
llem 4 and your votes will not be counted in computing the required majority if a poll is called on this Item. The Chairman of the Mesling intends (o
vole undirected proxies in favour of ltem 4.

. s

Voting directions to your proxy - please mark m to indicate your directions .

For Against  Abstain®

Qrdinary Business Special Business
Re-elaction of Directors

II ttem 2 a) Mr A F Guy

ltem 4  Increase in aggregate cap
of Non-executive Directors
remuneration

*

ltem 5 Renewal of Partial
Takecovers Provision in the
Constitution

ftem 2 b) Dr N L Scheinkestel

tem 3 Adopt the Remuneration
Report for the year ended
30 June 2008

The Chairman of ths Meeting intsnds to vots undirected praxies in favour of each item of business.

* If you mark the Abstain box for a particular item, you are directing your proxy 0ol to vote on your behalf and your votes will not be counted in computing the required
majority on a poll.

PLEASE SIGN HERE  This section must be signed in accordance with the instructions overieaf to enabla your directions to be implemented.

Individua! or Secunlym!der 1 Securityholder 2 Securityholder 3

"3 A p Al e 4 AT W;“éh. AP Eulveheh

Tl B RAEST

Soia Dlral;tnr and Director 7 DLrectanCornpany Secretary

Sole Company Secretary
In addition to signing the Proxy form in the above box(es) please provide the information below in case we need to contact you,
/ /
Contact Name Contact Daytime Telephone Date ‘
B rrx | 19PR N &
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How to complete this Proxy Form

1 Your Address

This is your address as it appears on the company’s share register. If this information is incorrect, please mark the box and make the comection
on the form. Securityhoklers sponsored by a broker {in which case your reference number overleal will commence with an 'x) should advise your
broker of any changes. Please note, you cannot change ownership of your securities using this form.

2  Appointment of a Proxy
If you wish to appeint the Chairman of the Meeting as your proxy, mark the box. If the individual or body corporate you wish to
appoint as your proxy is someone other than the Chairman of the Meeting please write the full name of that individual or body
corporate in the space provided. If you leave this section blank, or your named proxy does not attend the meeting, the
Chairman of the Meeting will be your proxy and vote on your behalf. A proxy need not be a shargsholder of PaperfinX Limited.
Do not write your name or PaperlinX Limited in the space.

3  Votes on ltems of Business
You may direct your proxy how to vote by placing a mark in one of the three boxes opposite each item of business. All your
shares will be voted in accordance with such a direction unless you indicate only a portion of voting rights are to be voted on any

item by inserting the percentage or number of shares you wish 1o vote in the apprapriate box or boxes. If you do not mark any

of the boxes on a given item, your proxy will vote, or abstain from voting, as he or she chooses. U you mark more than cne
box on an item your vote on that item will be invalid.

4  Appointment of a Second Proxy
If you wish to appoint a second proxy, an additional Proxy Form may be obtained by telephoning the Company's share registry
or you may copy this form.

To appoint a second proxy you must:

{a)  on each of the first Proxy Form and the second Proxy Form state the percentage of your voting rights or number of shares
applicable to that form.

{b)  retum both forms together in the same envelopa. :

5  Authorised Signature(s)
You must sign this form as follows in the spaces provided:

Joint Holding: where the holding is in more than one name all of the holders must sign.

Power of Aftomey: to sign under Power of Aftorney, you must have already lodged it with the registry. If you have not
previcusly lodged this document for notation, please attach a certified photocopy of the Power of Attorney
to this form when you return it,

Companies: where the company has a Sole Director who is also the Sole Company Secretary, this form must be
signed by that person. If the company (pursuant to section 204A of the Corporations Act 2004) does not
have a Company Secretary, a Sole Director can also sign alone. Otherwise this form must be signed by a
Director jointly with either another Director or @ Company Secretary. Please indicate the office held by
signing in the appropriate place.

For a member thal is a company, or a company that has been appointed as a proxy, i a representative of the company is to
altend the meeting, an appropriate "Certificate of Appointment of Representative” should be produced prior to admission. A form
of the certificate may be obtained from the Company's share registry or at www.computershare.com.

Lodgement of Proxy

This Proxy Form (and any Power of Attomey under which it is signed) must be received not later than 48 hours before the
commencement of the meeting. Any Proxy Form received after that time will not be valid for the scheduled meeting. Please
allow sufficient time for defivery if you are retuming your proxy by mail.

Documents may be lodged using the reply paid envelope or:

IN PERSON Share Registry - Computershare Investor Services Pty Limited, Yama Falls, 452 Johnston Sireet, Abbotsford VIC 3067 Australia
8Y MAIL Share Registry - Computershare Investor Services Pty Limited, GPO Box 4768, Melboume VIC 3001 Auslralia
BY FAX 61 3 9473 2555

B31081_COUFXE
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PaperlinX Limited

ACN 005 146 350

307 Ferntree Gully Road, Mt Waveriey
Victoria 3149 Australia

Tel: +61 3 8540 2264

Fax: +61 3 8540 2291

25 September 2006

Company Announcements Office

Australian Stock Exchange Limited

Level 4, 20 Bridge Street - ‘
SYDNEY NSW 2000 O

Advice on Dividend Reinvestment Plan (‘DRP’) Issue Price

We wish to advice that the DRP issue price is $3.50.

The issue price is based on the 5 days volume weighted average price of PaperlinX [
Ltd’s securities traded on the ASX from 18 September 2006 (ex-dividend date) to 22
September 2006 (record date). \ '

The new securities issued under the DRP will rank equally with existing securities. The .
DRP securities will be issued on the dividend payment date, 13 October 2006. :

Yours faithfully, !

James Orr .
Company Secretary : : e



